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Introduction

Three events were responsible for shaping this writing venture in my mind, events which eventually led to putting the first words on paper a number of years ago. The first event was the 80th birthday of my father. The date was June 27, 2000, in the new or second millennium according to the Christian calendar. My father was born Christiaan Verstraete in Zwolle, the Netherlands, in the summer of 1920. When he came to visit Alice and I in our Gabriola Island home for a week during May of 2000, he was just a month away from turning eighty. Soon after that visit we became aware that it would be his last. His health took a sudden turn downward, and within months he was committed to a nursing home in Sarnia, Ontario. 


The second event took place twenty-one years earlier, in 1979. It marked the year in which my father completed writing "The Verstraete Venture." This sixty page book celebrated the Verstraete family's immigration to Canada in 1958. Enough copies were printed for each of his six children and eighteen grandchildren. 


The third event was the good news that Alice and I would be grandparents for the first time. Our third oldest, Angela, and her husband Jeff, announced in March 2001, that sometime that year, during the month of October, they would give birth to their first child, our first grandchild.


One Sunday afternoon I sat at Berry Point, one of my favourite spots on earth, at the end of Taylor Bay Road and Berry Point Road on the north shore of Gabriola Island. It is a special place Alice and I love to visit every Sunday after church. Complete with a hot chocolate or a cappuccino, we stare into the divine mysteries of nature's grand vista. The view is spectacular on any day, rain or shine. A nearly two-hundred degree panorama unfolds as the eyes scan the expanse of the Georgia Strait, a body of water that separates British Columbia's mainland from Vancouver Island. To our right and in the often distant haze lies the sprawling metropolis of Vancouver, with endowment lands and buildings of the University of British Columbia gleaming in the afternoon sun. From there our eyes travel along snow-capped mountain ranges that comprise BC's north shore and Sunshine Coast. For a moment the mountains disappear on the horizon as the Georgia Strait flows through the Inside Passage to the Pacific Ocean, only to appear again to our left as the mountain ranges of Vancouver Island form an impressive frame to many spectacular sunsets that grace these incredible shores. To our far left, the growing city of Nanaimo lies sprawled at the base of Mount Benson. A short ferry ride from Nanaimo takes visitors and residents to our home on the rural island of Gabriola. As our eyes strain to catch a glimpse of California bull seals and harbour seals, we hope and pray one day to see a pod of Orca killer whales. Our view is interrupted by the ever present play of sea otters, birds of many a feather, float planes, and the majestic fleet of BC Ferries. It was during one such visit to Berry Point that an idea struck me in the form of a question. "Who would continue writing the next chapters of the Verstraete venture?"


Although the idea of writing such a venture was not new to me, this time it was more than just a fleeting thought. My father had written volume one for his children and grandchildren. Would I dare to attempt to write the next volume for my children and grandchildren? Fortunately, writing is a not a foreign sport for me. From early beginnings in writing including poetry, some of them published, to many hundreds of pages of teaching notes, course notes, journal entries, essays, newspaper columns and other documents, I have been able to fine-tune some reasonable writing skills. I was comforted in my thoughts by a fellow artist and Canadian drawing master, John Gould. He wrote in his memoirs that he had never met a great artist who was not a writer as well. Michelangelo was a writer. When I enrolled at the Ontario College of Art in 1964, Michelangelo became my mentor and has been my mentor ever since I first put pencil and conté chalk to drawing paper. Michelangelo was a prolific writer, having penned some five-hundred sonnets and poems complete with commentary. Somehow, as boastful as it may sound, I felt assured at the thought of writing a second volume of "The Verstraete Venture."

But one probing question remained. Where to begin? 


Could I simply pick up where my father left off in March of 1964, when the Verstraete family officially became Canadian citizens? Somehow I felt a need to backtrack somewhat in order to give my children and grandchildren a greater perspective of the roots that eventually gave birth to many Verstraetes. I needed to return to the country of my birth, Nederland ( Netherlands ), a name often confused with Holland. Holland is the western portion of this small European country as it nestles along the coastline of the North Sea and the English Channel. That western portion is divided into two provinces, Noord Holland, North Holland and Zuid Holland, South Holland, but all of the Netherlands comprises twelve provinces. However, over the years the term Holland has become somewhat generic for describing anything Dutch, which is a word derived from Deutsch, the Germanic name for things German. Dutch is the language of the people of the Netherlands, a language that belongs to the West Germanic branch. People in the Netherlands do not use the word Dutch in their common speech. To a citizen of the Netherlands, he or she speaks Nederlands or Hollands. Confusing, right?


So I decided to begin "in the beginning," specifically April 15, 1945, the date of my birth. The times and circumstances surrounding my birth revolved around the end of World War II. The details of my birth were first published in "When A Neighbour Came Calling," a series of personal accounts of Nazi occupation of the Netherlands from 1940 to 1945, published in 1985 by Paideia Press in Ontario. My personal account was titled, "The Honourary War Baby."

In many ways the story that follows is like one of many maps I have. I love maps. I have many maps: city maps, provincial maps, island maps, continental maps, old maps, historical maps, and my favourite, the Rand McNally Road Atlas, in which I have carefully marked all the highways I have traveled. I have driven many highways that stretch across Canada and the United States. Planning a long drive is a genuine pleasure for me. To map out a journey is an adventure in itself. Great is the thrill when my planning proves to be right and my eyes and mind feast on endless miles of landscape interrupted only by occasional urban sprawl.


Essentially three maps suffice the journey I share in this book. All three overlap as each map is integrally woven into the fabric of the entire journey. There is the map of my earthly journey as husband, father, and member of this great Canadian community. It is marked with many hills and valleys, with smooth and potholed roads. There is also a map of my artistic or creative journey, filled with endless observation and a desire to somehow give voice to the experiences along the way. Then there is the map of my spiritual journey, where words often fail me to describe what I really feel. May those who read these words be reminded and comforted that none on my words are carved in stone. Many were birthed out of human doubt and fear, yet through all the pages runs a scarlet thread that will bring encouragement to those who seek the higher way, where faith and hope are fused into a reality that rises above the mundane, common-sense reasoning of this tired world.


Gerrit V.L.Verstraete, Gabriola Island, British Columbia, 2001

A good night for a story

November was a dark month. By four o'clock in the afternoon the shadows had disappeared and dusk turned into early evening. This night was just another November night. Outside, the clouds had conspired to drench the island in torrential rains. Millions of wet raindrops pelted on the metal roof giving the night its own percussion symphony. Darkness was here to stay with the only hope of lengthening days still months away. Yes, somehow the evening felt safe and cozy. A generous fire was burning in our large woodstove. A kettle whistled upstairs in the kitchen, signalling for its contents to be poured into steaming mugs of hot chocolate and Kalua International Coffee. These were the kind of nights when a good comedy or a National Geographic special could pass away the hours. That is, right after Wheel of Fortune, when Alice and I would snuggle on the sofa and watch Pat and Vana tempt contestants with puzzles and prizes. 


"Oh no! Not another National Geographic special, again?" was the lament of those children who still lived at home. Off they sulked to their rooms to play with video games, listen to music on their boombox, or watch their favourite program on a small portable television I bought over ten years ago.


"Turn that stereo down! Now!"


"And it's NOT music!"


This night, however, was not a night for television. It was a night for a good story.


Somehow the dark night had transported me into realms of facts and imagination. My mind was swimming in details of stories and events of many years ago. If only I had a video camera when I was young. My large collection of family pictures, including some three thousand slides, did not begin until our honeymoon in 1969, two years after we were married. The rest remain as a fathomless collection of glimpses that began pretty well in 1969, the year our first son was born.


Outside the rain continued to pour straight down.


The roof rattled like tiny drums under the avalanche of rain.


The night was dark.


I was interrupted in my thoughts by the tiny form of a grandchild crawling on my lap.


She did not hesitate to make herself very comfortable against my soft and bulky hooded sweatshirt. Or was that my stomach that is soft and bulky?


Regardless, I put my arms around her. Slowly she turned her head to look into my eyes.


"Opa," she asked, "when were you born?"


Somehow I knew my reply would be a lengthy one. To my children that was not so unusual, but for those who have heard me preach, it was somewhat unnerving when they looked at their watch and saw I had been speaking for an hour, and I didn't appear to be any closer to an "amen," than when I started.


However, there would be no sermon tonight.


It's was good night for a story.


I looked her in the eyes and said, "Opa was born in a country far away, thousands of miles from Gabriola Island and Canada, a country with a funny name called Nederland, which gave me Dutch roots."


She didn't seem daunted by the fact I was an alien to these shores, eventhough I had lived in Canada for over forty three years.


"If you promise not to fall asleep, I will tell you the whole story."

The honourary war baby


I was born on Sunday afternoon, April 15, 1945, while a bright and warm sun was shining on the ancient Dutch city of Zwolle. The sun was also shining in the hearts of the city's inhabitants. Church bells rang throughout the city. There was excitement in the streets. People didn't know whether to go to church or catch the latest developments on the street. It was Liberation Day.


Less than twenty-four hours earlier, German occupation troops still rumbled through the city's cobblestone streets, and according to my father ( your great-grandfather I added ), Zwolle was still under German artillery fire. Today, however, Hitler's Nazi troops were gone, driven from the city by the advancing columns of Allied troops, spearheaded by Canadian soldiers. Despite the practise of blowing up bridges over key waterways whenever the defeated Germans left to retreat one more mile, one more county, and one more province, the tide of Allied victory could not be stopped. The bridge that crossed the IJssel River, near the southern limits of the city, had been sufficiently repaired to manage the crossing of troops. Nothing could stop the Canadians now. A flood of Allied troops and relief supplies came rumbling over the bridge. With the flood of people and supplies came a torrent of tears of joy. People everywhere were dancing in the streets. From rooftops, awnings, windows, and steeples, the bright colour of Orange began to appear. Orange has been the official colour of the Royal Family of the Netherlands, the House of Orange, and the proud colour of Dutch people everywhere. The official Dutch flag, however, with its familiar red, white, and blue colours, appeared all over the city as well.


In the midst of all that excitement, I was born.


In the old city quarter of Zwolle stood a large Herenhuis, a house that belonged to a fraternal religious order. The address was Rozemarinstraat 1. It was also the home of my grandparents and parents during World War II. Whenever the frightening sounds of air raid sirens wailed over the city, and the houses shook with the drone of long distance fighters and bombers, my grandparents and parents retreated to the house of their neighbours, tucked behind the Herenhuis on Rozemarinstraat. The reason was a practical one. The Weller family, who were owners of Weller's Glass Wholesalers, had somehow managed to build a makeshift bomb shelter in the wine cellar and storage area of their business, a building which also served as the Weller's family home. It was into this shelter that my father and mother and opa and oma, retreated whenever the threat of Allied bombing raids and German retaliation loomed overhead. God knows how many prayers were said during those raids to ask that the deadly cargo in the skies would not fall on the city. People prayed feverishly that pilots and crew of the Allied bomber command would safely return to their families and friends waiting anxiously at home. However, this sunny Sunday was different. Prayers had been answered at last. Fear had been replaced by renewed hope and joyful anticipation of a better tomorrow. Even though the dangers of bombing missions and street fighting were just hours behind them, the Verstraete family chose to remain a little while longer in their shelter for yet another reason. 


Cornelia Verstraete was about to give birth. 


Dr.Weber, the attending gynaecologist, wore an orange tie for the occasion.


With the liberation of the city of Zwolle, came new life, a new life for a battle-scarred country, new life for a beleaguered city, and new life for Chris and Cornelia Verstraete. The world around them may not have been the best of places to begin a new life, but Chris and Cornelia Verstraete smiled as they laid me, their second baby boy, in a crib fashioned from remnants of an orange crate.


With pride they called me Gerrit, a name also carried by my mother's brother. Gerrit was the second child of Chris and Cornelia, following the footsteps of an older brother, Beert, who had stepped into the world a year earlier on April 2, 1944.


Custom often required that a newborn child be given additional names as well. This custom preserved a tradition of perpetuating family names and loved ones. For many it was an honour to see one's personal name live on in the proper names of their children. I was no exception. However, the search for my other names took an unusual twist. To understand what happened that Sunday, April 15, 1945, I must tell a bit of the story of the times.


By April 1945, World War II was over, at least in the eastern part of the Netherlands. During the following month of May, the remainder of my small European fatherland would be liberated. Times were a mixture of deep emotions with jubilation and freedom overshadowed by pent-up anger and resentment of German occupation. Some parts of the country, especially the major metropolitan areas of the west such as the cities of Amsterdam and Rotterdam, suffered a great deal more than eastern parts of the country. Zwolle is the capital of an eastern province called OverIJssel, a name that means "over" or "on the other side of" the IJssel River, a major tributary of the Rhine and important shipping route to the Atlantic. After Dutch armed forces capitulated early in the war, my father went into hiding throughout the five-year German occupation of Nederland. I always compared my dad's hiding to a form of house arrest, with extremely limited access to outside services and always at great risk to his personal life. If he were caught it would mean being shipped to the work camps of eastern Europe. My uncle Herman who was my father's younger brother, served in the Dutch airforce. When the airforce surrendered, he hid as well in the family home on Rozemarinstraat.

When Allied troops began to fill the streets that sunny Sunday in April 1945, my uncle was one of many who quickly connected with the city's liberators. No doubt their common bond of military duty quickly cut though the awkwardness of liberator and oppressed. The fact my uncle spoke fluent English also helped a great deal. Somehow on that special day, uncle Herman got the thought in his head to introduce a number of Allied soldiers to the Verstraete family. He led two of his newfound Canadian friends through the narrow streets of the old city, past the old stone church, to the Rozemarinstraat.



As I lay in my orange-crate-crib that afternoon, the door to the makeshift bomb shelter and wine cellar opened and through it stepped uncle Herman with two strangers, dressed in combat gear. It was a moment never to be repeated. There stood the Verstraete family, face to face with their liberators, as I, a little baby in an orange crate, looked on. It was a profound moment in the lives of a Dutch family and two Canadian soldiers.


I do not know who it was that suggested a likely solution to the matter of my additional names, but Chris and Cornelia chose to name their newborn son after the two Canadian liberators. I became Gerrit Vincent Leonard Verstraete. It was without doubt a fine way to pay tribute to the gallant men of the Allied command, many of whom gave their lives so that babies like Gerrit Vincent Leonard could have a future of freedom. It was no doubt an unforgettable moment for two soldiers as they stood looking at me, a little baby in a bomb shelter, on April 15, 1945. Vincent Southrow, who spoke French, came from Halifax, Nova Scotia, and Leonard Clampitt, who spoke English, lived in Vancouver, British Columbia. When the war was over, Leonard Clampitt moved in with his mother, who had in the meantime moved to Santa Rosa, California. Although both Vincent and Leonard kept in touch for a while after the war, nothing further is known of Vincent's whereabouts after Leonard's move to California. Leonard's mother, however, moved by her son's namesake in the Netherlands, did something unique and very special. In a way, she initiated her own version of the Marshall Plan, the name given to a massive American effort to rekindle the flames of western Europe's economy that had been devastated and plundered by the Nazis. 


Each year, as close as she could manage to the date of April 15, she sent a handsome birthday card addressed to Gerrit Vincent Leonard Verstraete. In the card was a crisp American ten dollar bill, a huge sum for post-war times. I didn't have a clue as to how much ten American dollars really was. After all, I was just a baby. Like manna from heaven, her contributions were vital to the wellbeing of the Verstraete family. Occasionally she sent a parcel of clothes as well.


Regrettably, contact with Leonard and his mother, was lost when my family immigrated to Canada. Repeated efforts through Canada's Veteran Services and Canadian Legion Magazine have failed to track down either Vincent or Leonard. The last time I tried to contact Santa Rosa city hall was in 1995. They sent me a page out of their phone book. It listed a few Clampitts but none were the Clampitts I was looking for. Nevertheless, Vincent and Leonard's names live on as the "honourary war baby" named Gerrit Vincent Leonard Verstraete, lives to tell others of that special day in April 1945, when two soldiers came calling on a little boy and his Dutch family. On that same day in 1945, the city of Zwolle issued the following proclamation:


" Fellow-citizens! The Netherlands are rising again. The House of Orange returns. Zwolle has been liberated. The Allied armies are in pursuit of the defeated enemy. His unbearable tyranny is a thing of the past. God be worshipped and praised. Let us first of all thank Him in our places of worship and respectfully remember today those who suffered and died for the cause of freedom. With joy and enthusiasm we welcome the Allied forces who have freed us from our yoke. Let us not forget, however, in our rejoicings the sorrow still borne by so many and the difficulties which must be overcome by united cooperation. Three cheers for our native country and long life for the Fatherland. God save the Queen and her House!" ( translated from a document in the city archives of Zwolle, dated April 15, 1945 ).


As I begin to tell this story it seems fitting that I pen my thoughts on the west coast of Canada, home of one of my liberators. Perhaps it is one of the reasons I have always experienced somewhat of a special feeling for Canada's west. These feelings became very evident when Joe Hatt-Cook, my business partner of twelve years during the advertising agency years from 1970 to 1982, took me "home" to Vancouver, his place of birth. We never did make it to Vancouver. One time in 1974, we came close, having obtained a major advertising contract in Edmonton. From there we had planned to rent a car and drive through the Rockies. At the end of our journey we planned to fly back from Vancouver to Toronto. A wildcat airline strike forced us to abandon our trip. Another major advertising contract called us home in a hurry. From Edmonton we drove to Jasper and Banff. Somewhere on the Columbia Icefields Highway between Jasper and Banff we heard on CBC that a wildcat strike in the airlines had been called. As fast as we dared drive, we headed back to Calgary to try and get home somehow, but we missed the last available flight. Every airline was on strike, the trains were booked full, and all busses were occupied. It was an unfortunate way to end a great trip and I did not get so see Joe's west. 


Instead, we drove from Calgary to Toronto, driving "one-way" rental vehicles all the way back. I may have missed the west, but it turned out to be a great way to see the rest of Canada. Joe died of AIDS in 1988, leaving me without his animated tales of Canada's fabulous westcoast, only to experience that coast myself many years later when I moved my family to Gabriola Island in 1993.


I was baptised Gerrit Vincent Leonard Verstraete in Zwolle's Oosterkerk ( East Church ), shortly after my birth. Thus began the journey of my life, first as a young child in the Netherlands and later as a teen and adult in Canada.


"Do you want to hear more?" I asked, wondering if she had fallen asleep.


"Sure Opa," she replied, as she snuggles closer.

( see postscript on page 174, for the conclusion to this unique and true story )
As a child

From 1945 to 1958 were my childhood years. Zwolle was my childhood home. For the most, my childhood was a happy one and memories from those years are content and pleasant. If there was strife in our family home I cannot remember. To the best of my knowledge, my father and mother loved each other very much. Despite tight finances and a growing number of children, there was always food on the table, clothes on our backs, and a roof over our head. I spent most of my formative years as a child living on Abel Tasman Straat where I experienced the coziness and warmth usually associated with large families.


However, before Abel Tasman Straat we lived for a short time in a rowhouse on Enkstraat 62, in a much older section of the city, close to the central canal that surrounded the old city's battlements. Our home was sqeezed between another house and the Queen Wilhelmina School, the elementary school I attended. We shared common walls between our house and the school. It made for some unique childhood fantasies as I dreamt of creating a small hole in the wall to peek into classrooms, perhaps spy on students and teachers alike. For most of the time I played in the street, content to draw chalk pictures on the sidewalk, play with marbles, and occasionally engage in a shouting match with so-called enemies on the other side of the street. 
Our home on Enkstraat was just around the corner of a large Roman Catholic church and a monastery. The large wall that enclosed the monastery's compound butted right up to the sidewalk on Assendorperstraat. We lived just steps from the church. As children we were too small to climb on top of the wall, but with some persistence we managed to locate small peep holes in the brick enclosure. Carefully, using an old nail, we made the holes a bit larger in order to have an unobstructed view of that "secret place behind the wall." It was another world as we viewed monks in long dark robes walking silently through the gardens. Theirs was a strange world to me, the direct result of old rivalries between Catholics and Protestants, a rivalry that meant we avoided each other. After all, they were Catholic and I was a Protestant. Fortunately, my father and mother were not hard-nosed, died-in-the-wool, doctrinal Protestants. For as long as I have known them, they never did have strong denominational ties. My father was genuinely proud of his Catholic connections. In his collection of favourite books, my father always kept a copy of the Catholic prayer book, often reading extensive passages from its many pages. The family business, owned by my grandfather, Chris Verstraete, was a school supply company and bookbindery in downtown Zwolle, with offices and warehouse located in the old Herenhuis on Rozemarinstraat. My father did most of the traveling for the company to drum up sales among the various schools throughout the city, throughout the province, and even to the furthest corners of the Netherlands. Most trips were day trips and after a week of such trips he would stay in Zwolle to fill the orders. Lambert, my dad's younger brother, also worked in the Verstraete family business. They sold art supplies as well. It was the sale of artist materials that brought me right into the inner sanctuary of that old Roman Catholic monastery on Assendorperstraat.


"Come with me," my father said one day. "I need to go and deliver some art supplies down the street." 


He did not say where, just "down the street."


The year was somewhere in the early nineteen-fifties when I began to show a taste for art, specifically drawing. I suppose to encourage me in the first steps of my creative journey, my father thought it wise to expose me to something special. Hand in hand we walked up the street. To my horror, we turned into Assendorperstraat and right up the long stone steps of the monastery. My father was of course completely unaware of my childhood pranks and he did not know that I had engaged in some rather dishonourable practices even as a young boy. Not only had a whole group of us spied on the very monks I was about to meet, we had on occasion entered the Catholic church to look for pennies under the pews. Once we splashed holy water out of a ceremonial basin on to the floor. We consoled ourselves with the fact that Catholics were to be hated, as seemed fitting for a proper Protestant. Somehow as I walked up the steps with my father, the guilt of those activities rose as fear in my heart. To my surprise, however, there was no inquisition, and no one put me on a martyr's medieval torture rack. The monks were very friendly. I was awestruck when my dad and I finally reached our destination, a large room in which a number of monks were working on giant paintings on the wall. My father delivered the art supplies while I stood and stared in wonder of those works of art. The experience also ended my childhood pranks at the monastery. Perhaps my father knew after all. 


Parents have a way of knowing things when children least expect it. 


As the years passed, major family events were limited to outings to the Philipsberg, a place where my grandfather and grandmother rented a cottage during the summer. Located just south of the IJssel river near a small town called Hattem, the cottage offered everything I wanted as a child. There were mysterious forests, a large sand pit in which I spent hours jumping from heights above, and long pathways through endless fields of purple heather. There is where I encountered my first Kabouter, a relative of J.R.R.Tolkien's fabled Hobbits also known as Gnomes. During one of many long walks with my grandparents through the deep dark forest, they pointed to large mushrooms with white stems and bright red, umbrella-like caps with white spots. They said that under these "umbrellas" I could find Kabouters resting from their daily labours - if i was quiet enough. I never did see one, but in my fertile imagination I saw hundreds. My grandfather and grandmother also said that if I remained quiet enough I could hear them singing, and occasionally if I was really lucky, the Kabouters might cross our path herding a group of deer through the forest. 


One summer at the Philipsberg, I volunteered to chop firewood. Somehow the image of swinging a mighty axe appealed to me. However, one small log proved to be rather stubborn. With a mighty cry of courage I announced to anyone who would listen that this log was no match for the mighty Gerrit. I planted my feet firmly on the ground and held the handle of the axe in my hands. With all the energy I could manage I swung the big axe upwards, high into the air, only to land the blunt part of the axehead right on my head. With a thud I collapsed on the ground. My father rushed to my side. I was out cold with blood gushing from my head. Fortunately we had a car and with my head wrapped in towels we made it to the home of a doctor in nearby Hattem. The doctor examined the wound and pronounced it only a "surface" wound. He grabbed a rather formidable looking stapling device and without hesitation stapled the wound together. It was painful, but the bleeding stopped. I went back much humbler to the cottage that night.


One other memorable event that stands out in my early childhood was the first taste I ever had of fine arts, whereas the encounter with the monks in the monastery had only been a brief exposure. The event was my brief introduction to the Dutch painter Stien Eelsingh ( 1903-1964 ) and her student classes at the Hopmanshuis in Zwolle. The year was 1950. I was five years old. 


My journey through visual arts began at a very young age. It was, however, a very humble beginning. No discovery of great genius or child prodigy, but for a simple desire and compulsion to draw. I drew pictures on every blank page I could find and along every border of endless pages in my school textbooks. I was fortunate in that my father sold school supplies, bookbinding equipment, books, and reams of paper. There was always a healthy supply of leftover paper to satisfy a young boy's desire to draw. The extent to which I amused myself with drawing was confined to illustrations of people during the cold winter months skating on the canal outside our home. Knights, castles, and the heroics of Holland's medieval past also were favourite subjects to draw. I cannot remember how many shields I made from cardboard complete with elaborately painted heraldic designs of nobility and valour, but I made many. No child was exempt from Europe's rich medieval past, complete with its myths, legends and colourful history. 


As I said, my earliest memories of drawing date back to the fifties when I attended Stien Eelsingh's  drawing school located in an old seventeenth-century warehouse along Zwolle's many canals. Along with fellow artist Piet Zwiers, she founded Het Palet, a modest group to encourage and promote group exhibitions of drawings and paintings. For one year, my older brother Beert and I, attended Stien's classes and learned how to handle large sheets of paper, charcoal and paint. Although such beginnings at the age of five would perhaps appear to be of great notoriety, being of European artistic and cultural origins that is, especially in the Hopmanshuis of Zwolle, they were in fact nothing to boast about. I was more interested in playing outside with my friends. My youth was spent enjoying childhood, yet I loved to draw. I filled many sketchbooks with drawings depicting a young child's Dutch life. Regrettably, all those sketchbooks have been lost. Fine arts simply did not belong in the home of Calvinists. Even though my parents were members of the Gereformeerde Kerk ( Christian Reformed Church - a Calvinist church ), they were not ultra-religious. Nevertheless, the church only permitted modest Bible illustrations. 


Naked people and other worldly images were just about as close as an artist could get to committing the "unforgiveable sin".


Despite such stifling traditions, one work of art remains to this day as a special milestone in my journey as a young artist. It is the first-ever major piece of art I worked on. Stien Eelsingh masterminded a group project for her young students, including my brother and I. The students' collaborative work was titled "De koningin en the koning" ( The Queen and King ). A photograph of that piece of art, my only surviving work of those early years, is printed in Stien Eelsingh's official biography by Roel H.Smit-Muller ( Waanders Publishers, Zwolle, Netherlands, 1998 ).


There is yet another incident that also stands out from so many childhood memories. A number of us were engaged in a common practise of hurdling insults at other children on the street, kind-of-like verbal warfare. We were not accustomed to fist-fights or other forms of street violence. Instead we just yelled at each other from across the street. Actual fights that resulted in an exchange of blows were rare. One day one such verbal battle erupted on Enkstraat. A small group of about ten children, five on either side of the narrow brick street, began the verbal name-calling. Somehow it turned to boasting. Suddenly I was challenged by my "enemies" to demonstrate I could actually draw. As part of the verbal barrage that filled the street, I had no doubt boasted of my artistic abilities, but the challenge caught me off guard. What I did next I have never been proud of. My father, who had on occasion made some rather excellent drawings, had recently completed a colour pastel drawing of lilies in a pond. He was out on family business, so I grabbed the drawing from a drawer in his bedroom dresser. I took some white pastel chalk and ever so carefully changed the signature of CV (Chris Verstraete) to GV with a simple small horizontal stroke on the C. No one could tell the difference. Moments later I appeared on the sidewalk proudly showing my drawing. The kids on the street were amazed. What a fabulous drawing. The issue was settled and the challenge met. I returned the drawing to my dad's files, making sure to gently erase the small horizontal stroke and change the G back to a C.


As I said, I am not proud of what I did and never did it again. Every piece of art I ever produced from that day on has been one hundred percent original. Therefore the incident does not really qualify as "exposure" to fine art, perhaps "exposure" to forgery.


Nevertheless, my exposure to classical arts, especially drawing, was minimal, although as children we all knew Rembrandt, Vermeer, Frans Hals and others of the world-famous Dutch schools of art of the seventeenth century. However, I did become very familiar with the incredible drawings of a more contemporary Dutch artist. It happened during my school years when I became familiar with the fabulous drawings of Cornelis Jetses ( 1873 - 1955 ), especially his Bible illustrations. Many years later, my father gave me a valuable book of Jetses' artistic contributions. During the fifties, however, art in the Verstraete family was not a priority. Survival was. We were a large, post-war family, striving like so many others to forget the war and rebuild shattered lives. Keeping the family clothed and fed was a formidable task even when we had help from Leonard's mother in Santa Rosa, California.


From pretending to be an accomplished artist and amusing myself with verbal street fighting, living on the Enkstraat also had very serious moments. Such was the case one afternoon when the quiet of the day was shattered by the sound of a screaming airplane engine. A deafening roar filled our small house. Driven by impulsive no doubt still a remnant of a post-war condition-reflex to air-raids, my father pushed the children under the wooden diningroom table. I could see fear in his eyes. Memories of high altitude bombing missions over Zwolle to Germany were still fresh. Many Allied bombers were shot from the night skies during the war years. They all made their bombing runs over the roofs of Zwolle and other Dutch towns and cities to Germany. With engines screaming these wounded aircraft fell to earth. Many a prayer hoped the impact would be outside the city. Not all prayers were answered. Lancasters crashed in thundering clouds that exploded on houses and churches, with hot metal and twisted steel scattering amidst the death of unexploded bombs. My father yelled at us to keep down. He scurried into our small back yard and looked up. The skies were clear, but the screaming engines were so loud we had to plug our ears. It turned out the sound came from the gymnasium in the school which backed on our yard and to which our family home was attached on the street. As quickly as the screaming started, the sound stopped. Then it was silent. We were all shaking. My mother was crying. My dad was furious. Some careless group of mechanics were testing an airplane engine in the gym of the school. No one had been consulted; no neighbour was notified. It took quite a few hours to calm my father down. The scars and memories of World War II would remain as wounds for decades.


However, I would rather end my Enkstraat adventures on a lighter note. That note is a young boy named Flippie Friskorn. He lived just behind our house. Our backyards touched but we did not have a gate to connect the two properties. Flippie was my friend. We spend hours wandering the streets and digging up shells and debris at a neighbouring reclamation project where giant machines sucked mud from wet fields hoping to create dry land for city development. Every day after school I played with Flippie. My younger brother Baldwin was too lazy to get his own friends, so he conjured up tactics to tag along with me and Flippie. I always protested but my mother ordered me to take Baldwin along. I hated her decision to make our twosome a threesome. One day while I walked around the block to visit Flippie, I heard Baldwin running up the street behind me shouting, "mom said you have to take me along." My anger got the better of me that day. In a rare instance of sibling rivalry I beat him up and forced him to go back. I remember the "wounds" of that beating as being more verbal than physical. He might contest that. Needless to say it was his pride that was hurt more than his body. I never really hit him very hard. Yet, he did go back home. 


My reasons for not wanting him along were rather peculiar. The Friskorns always fed me and I didn't think they would feed me if I brought my brother. Like all boys who were growing faster and fatter, I had a big appetite. Our family ate supper early, somewhere around five or five-thirty in the afternoon. My mother cooked plenty of basic food, but I always felt hungry. The Friskorns ate supper late, somewhere between six and six-thirty. I soon developed a foolproof strategy for satisfying my appetite. As soon as we had finished our supper, a meal that usually consisted of boiled potatoes and vegetables with maybe a sausage twice a week, I excused myself to play with Flippie for an hour or so before bedtime. I quickly walked the short distance around the block. Their door had the usual mail slot at ground level, so I got on my knees and shouted through the opening. 


"Flippie, kom je buiten spelen? Hey Flippie, are you coming outside to play?"


The desired answer was guaranteed.


"Its Gerrit!" shouted Flippie's mother as she stood at the top of the stairs.


"C'mon up Gerrit, Flippie is still having supper."


With a quick wrist motion she tugged a long rope that ran along the bannister to a big lock on the front door. The lock clicked and the door swung open. I closed it behind me and ran up the stairs. The Friskorns always greeted me with a big smile. The whole family sat around the dinner table, a table often boasting sauerkraut mashed through potatoes, pork chops or steaming sausages. Flippie moved his chair over.


"Here, you come and sit beside Flippie, " said his mother.


"There's plenty so grab a plate and enjoy yourself."


They were generous people. I don't know if they thought I was some hungry orphan, because if they did, my appearance did not confirm their thoughts. I was a hefty young lad, obviously well-fed and lacking nothing. Perhaps they simply loved watching me eat. And eat I did. With two evening meals under my belt I felt satisfied and ready to play with Flippie.

When I was seven, we left Enkstraat and moved to the Abel Tasman Straat. The street was lined with a series of low-rental townhouses and part of Zwolle's working-class suburbs. With neighbours on either side and neighbours above, our family of eight, inluding mom, dad, three boys and three girls, carved out a modest existence. It was a bright and sunny place with a view over wide fields and canals. My mother had difficulty keeping me indoors and it took bad weather to dampen my enthusiasm for the outdoors. Just hand me a sandwich at mealtime and off I went, back on the street and in the field across the street. My favourite place was along the quiet canal where we skated in winter and sailed little home-made sailboats in summer. I look back some fifty-plus years later and the memories of that place are still pleasant. The Abel Tasmas Straat was a place where I lived a happy childhood. Abel Janszoon Tasman was a Dutch explorer and mariner who lived from 1603 to 1659. He was sent by Van Diemen, the governor of the Dutch East Indies, to explore the waters around Australia. He was credited with the discovery of Tasmania ( later named Van Diemen's Land ), New Zealand, and the Gulf of Carpentaria. Perhaps that explains why so much of my childhood on that street was one big and beautiful adventure. 


I dug forts in the field across from our home. I began with digging a big hole with the help of friends. Then we covered the hole with wooden planks and covered the planks with dirt and sod. All that was left to be seen of our invisible fortress was a small hole. Despite many forts that collapsed either from loose dirt or "enemy troops," at the end of a summer there would be as many as a dozen forts in the field, each flying their own version of royal standards.


If I was not digging forts, or waging war with neighbouring empires, I was begging my father to take me for a ride on his motorcycle. 


My father made his regular excursions throughout the cities, towns and provinces, to sell school supplies for the family business. He was my hero. He looked so tall and stately in his long black leather, full-length coat, his huge riding gloves and goggles. When he mounted his Goggomobile, a large European motorcycle, I beamed as I watched him drive off over the patterned-brick pavement, only to disappear around the next bend in our street. On special occasions I would accompany my father, a treat I cherished as if I had found a limitless treasure. My place was right behind him on the seat of his Goggomobile, where I sat snug between his leather coat and a sturdy backrest. Buried in his shadow and with my thumbs dug deep into the belt of his coat, I got my first taste of distance driving. I was in heaven. As a result, the love of distance driving has always dodged my steps, especially when the cold grip of winter begins to change with the first signs of spring. My father would take me into the schools and introduce me to the principals. I waited until my father was finished with business and then it was on to the next school. For lunch and other short breaks we stopped at one of many roadside cafés that dotted the landscape. My father brought his own sandwiches, a custom shared by most traveling salemen. Together we shared lunch and sipped on coffee and limonade with its syropy-sweet and fruity taste lingering for hours in my mouth. I have always fantasized about owning a motorcycle one day, but as I approach sixty years of age and the weather in British Columbia is motorcycle weather at best for only a few months, I am better left with fantasies of beautiful cars or a large luxury touring van.


Nevertheless, life on Abel Tasmanstraat was special.


Those special moments stopped when my mother had a nervous breakdown. She remained bedridden for over a year. To help with family necessities, I assumed the duties of laundry and ironing my father's many white dress-shirts. They were difficult times for my father as he tried to do his best juggling time between work and family. However, looking back, that painful time seems like a momentary dark cloud, especially when I remember the many years we lived there.


How can I forget the puppet shows I produced for the neighbourhood kids, the many forts I built, and bicycle trips along paths lined with chestnut trees. There were skating excursions along frozen canals and endless hikes through lush fields choked with all sorts of wild flowers, and criss-crossed by a network of irrigation ditches. Only a single plank formed the bridge across any number of ditches. Leap-frogging over ditches or pole-vaulting over them were other favourite sports, often leaving us with soaked boots and socks as we missed the jump.


I was a favourite of the local police as well, but not for reasons one would suspect. 


A few friends and I had devised a plan to make some money. We dug a hole in a field across from our house and set up our business, right along the street. Our retail venture was the manufacture and sale of homemade pancakes. We built a small fire in the sandy pit we had dug, and opened up shop, having secured batter and a large frying pan from my mother. I do not remember what we charged for our deliciously-hot pancakes, but we did brisk business. We were, however, not quite sure whether our retail business was legal. Perhaps we needed a business license or vendor's permit. We had neither. I decided, however, to minimize my risk of being shut down. Every day around mid-afternoon a policeman on a bicyle came riding down the street. He could see me in the distance. He always slowed his bicycle to a halt right in front of my humble pancake stand, while smoke from the small fire trailed out of our sandy hole. He always grinned. The fire was small and safely contained, posing no threat to the surroundings or to the many children who played in the field. The air was filled with the aroma of homemade pancakes. With great ceremony we rolled one of the large flat pancakes into a piece of paper and handed the mouth-watering treat to the policeman. His grin turned into a broad smile as he ate the pan-fried cake. With a widening smile and a cautious "be careful now, you hear," he continued his slow bicycle patrol on Abel Tasman Straat. Today, some fifty years later, my pancake legacy still continues to grow as children and many friends will always remember those special pancakes, made with my "secret" ingredients, ingredients that passed from my grandmother to my mother and to me. To the best of my knowledge the recipe has now passed on to the culinary skills of my children.


In school I was a diligent and faithful student who managed good grades, especially in art. I have kept the official records of my gradeschool accomplishments. The 1953 Rapportenboekje, that is the Grade 2 report of the Koningin Wilhelmina School, sports three successive nines for drawing and where grades were marked from 1 to 10. All other grades for a number of subjects ranged from 6 for singing, to 7 and 8's for academic subjects, and a 7 and 8 for subjects like behaviour and ambition. When we moved to the Abel Tasman Straat, I attended the Elout van Soeterwoude School. From 1955 to 1957 my grades for drawing were 8 and 9. Not to boast of course, yet proud nevertheless, but academic standings in Dutch schools have always been very high for as long as I remember even to this day. Anything over 7 was hard work.


As a teen I attended highschool at Zwolle's David Wijnbeek Secondary School right in the heart of the ancient city and right around the corner of Zwolle's historic Grote Kerk (Big Church) and the famous Peperbus (translated "Peppershaker") church tower. This medieval tower, with its beautiful carillon of many bells that rang over the city's red-tiled rooftops, was a favourite of young and old. The tower had a winding and narrow, stone stairway that led to a precarious observation platform from which I could look over the entire ancient city of Zwolle as it sprawled towards distant suburbs and the forests and pastures beyond. When I visited the tower on our delayed honeymoon in 1969 ( postponed until about 2 years after I was married in 1967 ), I was amazed how steep and narrow the staircase really was and how out-of-breath I was once I reached the top. I still have photographs of my city of birth as seen from high atop the Peperbus. 
However, the church and its tower were not the only downtown attractions. How can I forget Het Automatiek, an automatic coin-operated vending machine attached to a bakery and delicatessen. Imagine putting a quarter in a slot and before my eyes a small glass door opened to reveal its hot and delicious contents inside. Imagine hot beef-croquettes and kidney pastries, french fries and hot sausages, all at the drop of a quarter. No sooner had I pulled the little glass compartment door down and carefully removed the steaming hot delicacy from its little tray, a hand appeared from behind to put another croquette or pastry on the tray. As school friends, we huddled in the small portico that housed the automat, trying to avoid cold and rain, only to share bites of these incredible treats. During the summer, a window next to Het Automatiek sold rich ice cream pressed between wafers or in waffle cones. From Het Automatiek, I turned right to venture down Diezerstraat, the most densely populated street in old Zwolle, where a veritable kaleidoscope of shops, boutiques, ancient apothecaries, eateries, department stores, delicatessen, tobacco shops, and many more venues, were pressed together to cater to every imaginable taste. I could reach Het Automatiek, Diezerstraat, Grote Kerk, and Peperbus, on my bicycle in just about half an hour from our family home on Abel Tasman Straat.


There was, however, one store, a Slagery or butcher shop, tucked behind ancient stone walls of old Zwolle, far removed from the hustle and bustle of downtown. It was a store with very special memories. My mother had bought her meats from this butcher for years. Moving to the suburbs had not curbed her appetite for this man's great meats, including lean and salty rookvlees, which is smoked horsemeat cut in wafer-thin slices. At least once every other week I made the trip on my bicycle to purchase rookvlees, gehakt or ground beef, and leverworst or liverwurst. My reward was a huge piece of sausage cut right from one of many varieties of big and small sausages that hung on hooks from the ceiling. It was a special treat that would last my hungry stomach all the way home.


In addition to many adventures on Abel Tasmanstraat, I had also become an excellent swimmer. But I was not as brave about swimming in open waters as I was about swimming in a pool. Brrrr, all those creatures lurking beneath the dark surface of those canals. I had read about them in local legends and folklore.


Nevertheless, at age eleven on January 31, 1956, I passed another childhood milestone. I obtained my first swimming diploma sponsored by the Royal Dutch Aquatic Society and completed in Het Stilo-Bad, an indoor and heated, Olympic-size pool not far from my home. To complete a swimming diploma I undertook the gruelling task of swimming 75 metres of breastroke, 50 meters of backstroke, and the longest one minute of treading water with hands held upright in the air above the surface. My father and mother were proud of me when I showed them the diploma. At least they could rest assured I would be safe the next time I went swimming.


But I would be remiss if I did not make special mention of endless winter hours skating on the canals across the street and elsewhere throughout the countryside. Frozen smooth and snow-free each year, these canals satisfied my passion to make winter an enjoyable time. When I was strong enough to make the journey to neighbouring towns and medieval villages nestled along our many canals and rivers, I bundled up in woolen scarves, a winter jacket, mittens, a snugly-fitting hat, and a stack of sandwiches in a backpack. Off I went, usually with a group of about five to ten children. With our arms on our backs, we skated with long stately strokes of our wooden runners ( with steel blades ) along frozen canals, mindful of the occasional open gaps in the ice surface. We skated through a winter wonderland accompanied by a pale yellow sun, sun-dried rushes along the shore, gnarly, bent-over willow trees, and the wintry trunks of poplar trees. In every town we passed, we counted on the ever-present, hot-chocolate stands right on the ice to warm our chilled bodies. I left early in the morning often returning frozen and tired after dark. The view from the canals was unique with a wintry horizon partially hidden by dikes along the way, which also served to shelter us from the bitter cold wind. During the summer, we frequently made the same trip on our bicycles along many paths that followed the same dikes or along paved bicycle paths adjacent to highways and so common in the Netherlands. My father and mother had many amorous encounters along those canals while they rode their bicycles between Zwolle where my father lived and s'Herenbroek where my mother worked as a teacher. My mother boarded with my grandparents before she married my dad. s'Herenbroek is a funny name that literally means "a gentleman's pants" ). My father, the gentleman and lover he was, faithfully bicycled the few kilometres to s'Herenbroek, where he waited patiently for my mother to finish work. For fear of starting ungodly rumours, my dad was asked to wait at the edge of the village so that the young school children's minds would not be corrupted by evil thoughts of love and romance. Such was the religious mindset of the times. However, leaving their bicycles leaning against the dike, my mom and dad spent romantic hours along the Ijssel river, while the sun slowly set in western skies, but not late enough to miss supper. My father loved my grandmother's special meatballs, potatoes and gravy. 


Memories are a wonderful thing, especially when they are sweet memories, as no doubt will be the sweet memories of my grandchildren. 


I looked down on my grandchild as she had snuggled a little deeper into my lap. Outside all was dark and stormy. Only a few coffeetable lamps offered relief from the darkness that surrounded us very cozy like.


I wondered if my memories of yesterday would mean anything to her.

The Admiraal family

The Admiraals were my grandmother's side of the family, a side that came complete with an illustrious past, a past that began somewhere in a little place called Hasselt. I do remember, although vaguely, occasional visits to Hasselt, a small rural town just west of Zwolle. It was home to a number of family members of my grandmother, Aleida Admiraal. Hasselt is a picturesque little medieval town with tiny brick rowhouses placed in an orderly fashion along its many waterways. It was an urban planning tradition common to the Dutch watery way of life. Hasselt was also home to a number of family businesses, especially those of shipyards and shipwrights. The town graced the banks of a river that eventually flowed into the North Sea. The Admiraal family were shipbuilders. They built many ships to ply the coastal waters of the Netherlands and to cross the channel to England. I share this brief story of the Admiraal family because of its unique history and special place of honour in the "Verstraete Venture." In fact, I am rather proud of the events that led to the Admiraal legacy. Let me take you back a century or so, during the early nineteen hundreds. Beert Verstraete had married Aleida Admiraal. Beert and Aleida were my grandparents who were both born just two years apart, in 1893 and 1891, respectively. Their lineage continued via a son Christiaan, my father. Two other sons, Lambert and Herman, although married, never had any children.


The 1890's were times when the great powers of Europe were on the verge of war. Europe was in turmoil. A number of alliances were hastily formed to stem the growing tide of revolution and war. Germany had signed a reassurance treaty with Russia in 1887. The French and Russians had declared an alliance as well in 1893. The Boer War between Great Britian and Transvaal began in 1899, and lasted until 1902. The English signed up with the Japanese in 1902, and the English and French concludes an entente in 1904. The Russian-Japanese War broke out in 1904, and lasted until 1905. Austria annexed Bosnia and Herzegovina in 1908. The first Moroccan crisis of 1905, spilled over into a second crisis in 1911. Two wars erupted in the Balkans in 1912, and 1913. On June 28, 1914, Austrian Archduke Francis Ferdinand and his wife were assassinated by Serbians in a political plot at Sarajevo, Bosnia. 


The European continent erupted into the first World War. 



During those turbulent times, the ship-building Admiraal family, married into the Verstraete family. Everyone tried to maintain life and order. The Verstraete family became heirs of the Admiraal legacy. However, the Admiraal story dates back much further than the 1890's, World War I, and the early nineteen hundreds. In fact, records of the Admiraal family date back further than Verstraete's and those of the Van Dam's on my mother's side. Whereas the Verstraete and Van Dam family trees can be  traced back to about the year 1744, the Admiraal legacy begins in 1573, two hundred years earlier and as of today, nearly half a millennium ago. I must confess to a vivid imagination as I recall the events of 1573. My mind conjures up images of swashbuckling buccaneers, tall ships, barrels of pork-in-brine, and adventures to the East Indies. However, I shall attempt to remain true to the details of the story. I hope you will not become too frustrated by all those Dutch names, but the Dutch language is still a special part of my life. My children have often expressed a desire to learn the language, therefore, go ahead and try pronouncing the words.


During the month of October in 1573, Cornelis Dirkszoon ( meaning: Cornelis, zoon or son of Dirk ) suddenly became a national hero, while serving as burgomaster or mayor in the community of Monnikendam, a small town located a few miles north of Amsterdam on the Zuiderzee or South Sea. The events of the day swirled around the Battle of the Zuiderzee, precipitated by a revolt of Dutch citizens against Spanish rule. The Zuiderzee was an inland sea connected to the North Atlantic through the Noordzee or North sea, allowing strong Atlantic currents to buffet the low coastal stretches of fertile Dutch land. Cornelis Dirkszoon must have been a rebel with a cause, namely Dutch freedom, and he must have had a certain affinity for both the sea and sailing because he soon found himself captain of a Dutch warship. His warship was part of a small naval force hastily mustered by the Dutch rebels. In the battle that erupted, Cornelis Dirkszoon's ship captured The Spanish Inquisition, which of all ships, was in fact the flagship of the Spanish fleet. He took as his prisoner De Bossu, enemy commander of the Spanish flagship. It was no small victory. A short while later, the entire Spanish fleet was defeated and destroyed. Following Cornelis' spectacular naval victory, the entire sea battle served as a moral and symbolic victory for the Dutch rebels. For his bold feat of courage and leadership, Cornelis Dirkszoon was honoured with the rank of Admiraal, that is Admiral of the Fleet. His descendants adopted the military rank of Admiraal as a family name complete with a special family crest to commemorate the events of 1573. I could, if I wanted to, sport the name Gerrit Vincent Leonard Admiraal-Verstraete on a letterhead alongside coats of arms of both families. Hey, call me what you will, but I am still rather proud that my journey includes liberators of the 1570's as well as 1945, yet three hundred and seventy-five years apart.


As the nineteenth century progressed, however, the trade of shipbuilding declined for the Admiraal family. The primary reason for the decline was the result of cutting the Zuiderzee's watery link between inland rivers and the North Sea. The town of Hasselt, where most of the Admiraal family lived just west of Zwolle, in effect had become land-locked.


In the mid-nineteenth century a great Dutch engineering feat made that "cutting of watery links" between north and south seas possible. It was known as the Afsluitdijk, a long stretch of dike literally known as "the dike that cuts off," and it ended the Zuiderzee's dominance and turbulent contributions to Dutch coastal life. Instead, this body of saltwater once known as a sea, the Zuiderzee, became a lake to be called IJsselmeer, or "IJssel Lake," named after the IJssel River, a tributary of the Rhine. Zwolle, my city of birth, is located on the banks of the IJssel River. When the Afsluitdijk was completed, plans were implemented to begin draining IJsselmeer, an ambitious project to reclaim the fertile land that lay below the surface of the newly-formed lake. The result was the creation of a number of polders, which are tracts of marshy land, below sea level. In turn these polders were drained and the land reclaimed for cultivation. Dutch engineers built an elaborate network of dikes and pumping stations to keep water at acceptable levels. Typical images of the Netherlands are picturesque windmills, a national symbol of Dutch invention. Windmills served as pumps to manage water levels and as mills to grind all sorts of grains. After many years the slowly drying polders eventually turned a watery landscape into some of the most productive and fertile farmland of these low-lands. I have bicycled and toured by car through polders where fields stretched endlessly flat and rolling, boasting of an abundance of wheat and farm produce, while basking under blue and generous Dutch skies, skies made famous by seventeenth century Dutch masters.


And so ends my story of the Admiraal family amidst the colourful surroundings of a Dutch landscape and its equally colourful history. 


However, as I share this tale, I am prodded once again to dig deep into my memory and find some more stories to tell. In fact, I am somewhat reluctant to leave my past, as I savour the moments I remember once again, even wishing to turn the clock back to simpler days. Those were the days of endless hours of playing safely in the streets of Zwolle and in the alleys and backyards of our neighbourhood. Television had as yet not dulled my imagination and my only venture into modern technology was distribution radio, an early form of state-controlled cable radio. Holland was a free and democratic country and the sparse airways of cable radio were filled with concerts and radio drama. As a family we gathered around a single speaker and turned the dial on the wall to either channel 1 or channel 2. Some of the more affluent folks on the the street owned AM/FM radios complete with banks of glowing glass radio tubes, enabling eager listeners to tune in a variety of radio stations, especially the powerful signals from Germany and France. However, i spent more time with my children's story books and a dusty copy of the official book of provincial legends and folk lore. Those were the days when I could soar in my imagination to the highest heights and the greatest adventures. Regrettably, today's youth cannot even get off the sofa as television and video games have chained them to their seats. "Back then," however, as evening fell and the Enkstraat was still lit by gaslamps and replaced later with electric lights on the Abel Tasman Straat, I retreated into my world of dreams. It helped that my older brother Beert was a master storyteller. Bundled in our blankets, because we had no central heat in those days, Beert invented story after story until we finally drifted off into welcome sleep. 

Ancient memories


My story would simply not be complete if I did not tell one of my greatest adventures ever. Having established the Admiraal family as integral to the history of the Verstraete's, I must move on to the next great chapter of my life, namely that one-of-a-kind adventure called immigration to Canada. Before I do, however, there are a few ancient memories that bear telling. 
Their value lies in giving all who read this story a greater insight into our collective history and an appreciation that as Verstraetes 

our greatest legacy has been and always will be the rich variety of people who together are the aunts and uncles, cousins, nephews and nieces, grandfathers and grandmothers, fathers, mothers, children and grandchildren, who gave birth to each one of us. 


Even though many childhood memories remain alive in my consciousness, some memories are no doubt the typical trials and temptations of any child, and others stand out as special. Perhaps there will always remain a deeper longing in me to return to that time of innocence, a time of swimming in canals and skating on them in winter months, playing soccer on streets paved with bricks, and the legends and traditions that surround my ancient home. I will never forget traditions such as Sinterklaas, a Dutch tradition celebrated every December 5th, and not quite the same as Santa Claus and Christmas celebrations elsewhere. Every year Saint Nick arrived in Zwolle as he stood tall and robed in red on the bow of a large tugboat. His white horse was at his side as was his faithful Zwarte Piet, who was Black Peter, his trusted servant. Legend had it Saint Nik rode his horse over rooftops dropping presents down chimnies. While the generous saint busied himself with presents, Black Peter made his way to the front door of every home. He knocked hard and did not wait for the occupants to open the door. He opened it himself and stuck his gloved hand around the corner. In a split second a cascade of pepernoten, small ginger cookies, tumbled to the floor sending the children scrambling to get a fair share. No sooner had he come, Black Peter left again. Somehow in the commotion, a large bundle of presents appeared. The only present I can still remember is a windup train that ran on a small circular track about two feet in diameter. Sinterklaas celebrations also heralded the start of winter, a time of year complete with its own fond memories.


My mind swirls with picturesque images of frozen canals, stubby, knotty, willows standing eerily against a pale winter sky. Who can forget ancient stone walls of medieval cities, their secret passages, and the torture chambers and grand halls in old castles. As a child I dreamt of knights with swords and shields. I constructed their symbols of chivalry and daring out of cardboard and scrap wood. In my mind I sailed endless rivers and canals, traveling past old stone churches and stately  brick pakhuizen or warehouses that lined canals beside cobbled streets. 


Every Sunday morning our family went to the Oosterkerk, a large church located in the oost or east section of Zwolle. In the afternoon it was time to visit oma and opa, known as grandma and grandpa. She cooked succulent meatballs made of lean horsemeat with a gravy that left your mouth watering for days. I do not recall any of the religious teachings of my youth, other than an overwhelming fear combined with guilt and a shame and unworthiness so typical of orthodox Calvinism. There was an old mariners' song I used to sing as a child. It was a song about sailors from the island of Urk, who were on shore leave and obligated to attend church.  On one particular Sunday, so says the song, they were grateful for the sea's intervention, as yet another Calvinist sermon droned on about guilt and shame. It seemed the pastor of the church in Urk, a small coastal fishing village, suddenly forgot his sermon, because the sea had begun to thunder very loud outside the door of his country church - no doubt to the entire congregation's delight. I lived too far inland to expect any bulderen of de zee, "thundering of the sea," to drown out the droning and condemning voices of my childhood religion. Nevertheless, the sea and people of the Netherlands have a more sober relationship and less religious, a relationship that dates back centuries to ancient struggles between the might of oceans and the resourcefulness of people who lived along its shores. Often the relationship was one of pleasure and sandy beaches crowded with vacationers. Sometimes the relationship was a disaster.


Such was the year 1953, when sudden disaster struck.


Even though I lived quite a ways inland and far away from angry seas and windy shores, I could not escape the weight of a tragedy that struck the Netherlands during January of 1953. I was seven years old, just three months away from my eighth birthday. A massive Atlantic hurricane smashed the coasts of England and the low lands, including the Netherlands. The hurricane thundered up the channel that divides Europe and Great Britain, smashing shores and reaping havoc. Early one fateful morning, church bells began tolling a mournful dirge across the countryside to announce the looming disaster lurking outside Holland's many dikes and along her Atlantic shores. I can still feel a chill down my spine as I think of those church bells ringing ominously in the dark night. Many of Holland's dikes failed and the Atlantic came rushing over farms and through houses. With only a radio to stay abreast of the news, I listened to a national disaster unfold. Over two thousand people, including men, women, and children, died in a single tragic weekend, with over 1500 deaths recorded in the Netherlands alone. I heard the church bells ring in Zwolle. It sent shivers up my young spine. I saw water levels rise to alarming heights in rivers and canals. I feared the dike just across the street from us would burst as water rose precariously towards the top. Everyone in the neighbourhood stood nervously on standby ready to spring into action with shovels, pails, and sandbags. Parts of Zwolle's downtown business and residential areas experienced some flooding but nothing that could not be stopped by sandbags. We were safe on higher eastern grounds, away from the low lands that lay below sea level along Holland's western shores. The people of my homeland, however, rebounded from the tragedy with an even greater resolve never to let the sea win again. Thus began plans for the greatest marine engineering project ever, the Delta Plan, a plan that would eventually control all water flowing in and out of the country's most vulnerable areas that lay below sea level. I was a plan so bold and daring that even the mighty Altantic ocean and Rhine river would have to yield to the Delta Plan's power to stop or control both. 


The only other time I experienced such shivers happened when the Netherlands' civil defense authorities periodically sounded all the air raid sirens throughout the city. This was done to ensure all systems were still working should yet another tyrant invade this fragile and small country I called home. After all, it had been less that ten years since one such tyrant, Adolf Hitler and his German Nazis, had been defeated and the drone of high-altitude bombers finally stopped. To young and old those air raid sirens were screaming voices of pending doom and very painful memories. We strained our ears to listen for the throbbing drone of bombers and fighter escorts. None came. I plugged my ears whenever their cry tore through the city. It's a memory that still haunts me whenever I hear any siren, even today as a fire truck or emergency reponse vehicle or ambulance wails in the dark night on this otherwise quiet island called Gabriola.


Those sirens also drove a relative mad.


I had a very strange aunt who insisted on even stranger birthday presents. When my uncle had worn through his pants, she would cut them off at the knees and stitch them into shorts. I hated those button-fly shorts with a passion. Only suspenders kept them from falling down over my legs. She was equally strange with other clothing items of my uncle. My parents made me wear those horrible uglies, not because they couldn't afford any better, but so as not to hurt my aunt's feelings. I wish they had. But, it was all blamed on "the war." My aunt was mad because of the war. Ever since those ancient memories, I have hated hand-me-downs, for both myself and my children. My children have never worn any aunt or uncle's clothes, or any hand-me-downs, unless the accepted the clothes after a full disclosure of the items in question, absolute free consent of the children, and the fact that the items were nearly new. I still detest buttons and button-flies. I have never visited a recycle depot or thrift store to look for clothing among the hand-me-downs of others, not for me or my children - brrrr.


Despite painful memories of national disasters and air raid sirens, I also experienced my first love. Her name was Titi.


Once during a brief moment of male bravado, when I was about ten years old, I prepared to show my undying love for a young girl in my class. Her name was Titi Meyer. The day dawned sunny and bright as I planned my move. My heart was pounding. Love rose within me. Seconds ticked away. Any moment we would all be seated in our traditional wooden school desks, each desk complete with a little inkwell nestled in a small glass bottle in a round hole at the top of the desk. With the sudden passion of a love-sick suitor, I bent over Titi's desk and blew hard into her inkwell. The ink splattered on her notepaper, on her pretty dress, and all over my face. I stood stunned. It was so unlike me to do such a thing. Despite youthful playfulness and exuberance, I was a normal somewhat quiet child with a big streak of shyness. Why on earth I would think that blowing in a girl's inkwell would demonstrate my love for her, I will never know. The teacher, who no doubt knew I was out of character with my sudden burst of passion, tried to control his laughter. He managed to keep a stern look on his face as the whole class erupted in cheers. Even Titi managed a big grin. Maybe love's arrow had struck home. 


My punishment and the teacher's discipline were gentle. Instead of blackboard duty, endless lines, and penance in the corner of his classroom, he sent me home and told me to go to Titi's parents and apologize. I had no choice but to walk to Titi's home. It was one of the longest and most agonizing journeys of my young life. Titi lived in what seemed like the other end of the city. One day, while twisted in agony, I stepped through the doors of the Meyer grocery store in downtown Zwolle. I found Titi's mother wearing an apron at the back of the store. I had rehearsed my confession over lengthy sidewalks and now the time had come. I swallowed hard and nearly in tears I apologized profusely to Titi's mother. She was so moved by the innocent appeal of this young boy standing in her store, his head looking mournfully at his feet, that she promptly invited me to her daughter's birthday party that Saturday. I couldn't believe my ears. Earlier that week I had embarrased both myself and the love of my life, and now I was invited to her birthday party. Not only was I invited, I was the only boy coming to her party. I learned early that true love can have great rewards despite awkward circumstances and stumbling beginnings.


My love was not reserved for just young girls. I also loved guns.


In 1956, at age eleven, I wrote a passionate letter to the chief of Zwolle's police force, begging him to give me a used revolver, one the police did not need anymore. I had falled in love with American comic books, especially the Westerns. I simply had to have a gun. In true Dutch fashion and with diplomatic courtesy, I received a very personal letter from the chief of police, a letter in which he gently refused my request and diffused my passion for used revolvers.


I have never owned a revolver, a gun, or any other firearm - ever.


Some thought at one time that my destiny was to be one in the performing arts. As a young boy I loved creating puppet shows. Armed with colour pencils and paper, I created elaborate backdrop sceneries for my productions. I constructed a puppet booth complete with a draw-curtain. Somewhere, and I don't remember where or when, I found some puppets. My theatre was a small storage shed behind our house. It could seat about ten to twenty kids. Soon the little theatre was bristling with activity as children from the neighbourhood came to see my puppet shows. Years later, as an adult, I was often "persuaded" to do puppet shows for children during the annual bazaar of the John Knox School in Missisauga. The season of puppet shows ended when television, cartoons, and other children's programming overwhelmed my continuing desire to see little children laugh. Ever since those puppet days I have tried to evoke their laughter through drawing games including storytelling, hang-man, and such special games as "scribbling," which is the art of drawing something recognizable from random scribbles on a page. Sometimes I get on the floor with a little one, as I have done so often with my own children, and draw a spontaneous story as we each take turns at developing the story in cartoon form.


And so ends a cavalcade of memories, many of them yet untold. 

Oh Canada


On June 8, 1958, the S.S.Waterman docked in Quebec City, with The Plains of Abraham looming high above the docks. The S.S. ( Steam Ship ) Waterman was a converted troop and supply carrier of the Holland America Line. It had left the Dutch port of Rotterdam, about a week earlier. As the last of the big cables that moored the S.S.Waterman to her berth fell away from the sides of the ship, large tugs gracefully and silently guided the ship into the Dutch canal that connected the harbour to the sea. On the pier stood hundreds of people, mostly relatives, as the last ties to our fatherland faded in arms that pumped goodbye, with hearts that bled as family and friends disappeared from view, and tears that flowed freely with each farewell blow of the ship's whistle. The journey eventually became a pitching and rolling rollercoaster ride through high seas, with generous portions of fog and cold, in sharp contrast to our balmy and sunny departure from the Netherlands through the English Channel. The ship, however, was a comfortable ship with many lounges, a movie theatre, and plenty of room on deck just to sit and relax or go for a stroll. It was also the S.S.Waterman's last voyage. She had an appointment with a scrapyard right after her trip to Canada.


A month earlier, I had pocketed a pale yellow Dutch and international vaccination certificate which declared me fit for immigration and which was approved by the Municipal Department of Public Health of the city of Zwolle. The certificate was kept safely in my pocket beside my own Dutch passport, which proudly declared I was valid for "de gehele wereld, le monde entier, and the whole world." The Queen's Commissioner of the Dutch province Overijssel, signed the historic document ( at least in my eyes it was historic ), dated April 29, 1958. I was Homeward Bound to a place I would come to love and appreciate as Canada, my new home and native land. Perhaps this new home would also help me find the answer to an apparent paradox. 

As I look back upon my arrival in Canada, why did I consider my journey to Canada, an unknown destination for a young boy of 13, a journey homeward bound? Despite deeply rooted memories in my former homeland of the Netherlands, a fact just recently stirred up again as I watched a documentary on the Netherlands, I have always considered Canada my home. Yet my heart struggles with a longing for the past, a longing that remains rooted in a sense of belonging to history, belonging to yesterday, while another struggle competes for equal attention, namely a longing for tomorrow and a belonging to that grand adventure of another day and another year, when I was very young. I do not dismiss these struggles as a mere inevitability of dual citizenship, but I am a citizen of Canada and not a citizen of the Netherlands. It remains a tug-of-war, however, between images of ancient stone city dwellings and log cabins in remote temperate forests. The inner struggle is painted in vibrant colours over pictures of canals, windmills, turrets, knights in shining armour, and a remote and wild coast of Vancouver Island's Pacific Rim, endless prairies, winding highways through the Northland of Ontario, and the tranquil comforts of a Maritime wooden roadside chapel. Call me a sentimental fool, but could it be I want the best of both worlds, the old and the new, European and Canadian, the civilized and the frontier? Somehow I believe the answer lies in deeper feelings, feelings stirred up by special events along another journey, my spiritual journey. The events of my spiritual jouyrney all point to a mysterious city, a distant past of ancient patriarchs, a fulfillling present of escape into the beauty of drawing and fine arts, and at last a promising future that points to this mysterious city not built by humans hands. It is the eternal City of God.


I may not have been able to put words to those feelings when I was just thirteen years old, nor did I know what the City of God was, but the earthly memories of steaming towards distant horizons during June of 1958, remain as vibrant and promising as they were the day I first sighted a land called Canada. Somehow I believed then and believe now that Canada would a stepping stone towards that mysterious city.


But that was not quite how I saw Canada in June of 1958.


From 1957 to 1963, John Diefenbaker reigned as Prime Minister in Canada. It was a time marked by an unprecedented wave of western European immigration, an immigration encouraged and openly solicited by Diefenbaker's Conservatives. My father regularly received fat envelopes from the Diefenbaker government. Each envelope was filled with brochures about this magical, mystical land of opportunity called Canada. My father began a large scrapbook into which he carefully pasted bright colourful pictures of Rockie Mountains, Mounted Police, indians with spectacular ceremonial dress, gleaming office towers, vast prairies, and the endless bounty of a rich land. So it was in 1958, that Chris and Cornelia Verstraete with their six children embarked on an adventure of a lifetime. I was the second oldest of three boys and three sisters. In order of age, their names are Beert, Gerrit, Lida, Baldwin, Annelies, and Sylvia. A seventh child, Ingrid, was born in 1960, in Wallaceburg, Ontario, two years after our family arrived in Canada. 


It seems providential that my first account of our voyage across the Atlantic Ocean, written in 1977, as a short manuscript of twenty-two pages, was lost a few years later, only to be found again by my daughter Karen. Providential in that I must include the detailed account of our immigration in this story of mine. Fascinated by these early writings, Karen faithfully kept them until I began this account. As I read the pages of that manuscript, it seemed right to include them in Homeward Bound. What follows is their content, beginning on a cold foggy morning somewhere off the coast of Newfoundland.


I suppose even the sun can have one of those careless and lifeless mornings, void of ambition and desire to touch even the humblest forms of life. This was one of those mornings. We all have such mornings and I was no exception. Even the very thought of effort was tiring and depressing. However, I managed to make it to my usual place near the bow of the S.S.Waterman. A thick blanket of fog greeted everyone including myself and all the other early risers. Tentacles of spray and mist spread like gloved fingers through dark troughs between endlessly slow waves. I could barely see. Deck gear stood in grey lifeless shapes stacked against bulkheads. As I looked over the side of the ship I could see the fog roll silently in front of my eyes, parting for but a brief moment to allow the ship to pass through, only to close again moments later behind a frothy wake at the stern. I remember awesome feelings of timelessness and suspended animation that belonged exclusively to the realms of fog and complete darkness. 


A few more passengers staggered into the wet early morning air. They joined me in a silent vigil as we stared into the fog. Tiny drops of water began to collect in our hair and clung to our clothes. Within minutes we looked as wet as all the painted surfaces on the ship. I poked my finger into the grey mist and wrote my initials GV, on the slate-grey side of a ventilation shaft only to see the letters disappear immediately in tiny rivulets down the side. They were joined by others as they ran down together along a slippery hull towards the sea. It was an eerie sight, this small bunch of passengers huddled together like some lost platoon of non-descript soldiers, leaning on the railings of an aging ship, their eyes fixed on nowhere. The weight of their grey and dark-blue duffel coats made them look tired. Inside their hearts, however, burned bright fires of expectation. They were immigrants. I was one of them.


I pulled my coat tightly around my neck as I tried to bury my head deeper into its soft and warm lining. Even though I was only thirteen, memories of that voyage have remained clear in my mind. Despite thick fog and bone-chilling cold, I was lost in my own thoughts, thoughts of a new country that lay somewhere beyond the fog, a country of high mountains, remote wilderness, prairies, waterfalls, and Mounties everywhere.


A sudden blast of the ship's foghorn tore the misty silence to pieces. Everyone on deck was startled out of their foggy thoughts. The blast lingered for a while, as if the ship cried out desparately to the sun to penetrate the morning and bring some light. A brisk wind began whipping the fog in thick and thin patches around the deck of the ship. Portholes had been closed for a few days in anticipation of bad weather. I tried to dig even deeper into my coat. My thoughts wandered to a piece of paper in my coat pocket. Finding a sheltered area on the wet deck, I reached carefully into my pocket to retrieve a folded map. I had spent many hours drawing the map from information collected by my father. The voyage provided ample time in our family cabin to work on the map. I knew we were nearing land and despite a relentless fog I held the paper in an early morning light. The captain had mentioned a few days earlier that we would soon be nearing the southern tip of Newfoundland. I looked on my piece of paper and with a few passengers looking over my shoulders I traced my finger along an Atlantic route towards a red X placed at a watery spot called Cape Race. I had memorized our approach to Canada. First we would dip beneath Newfoundland, pass Cape Race, and enter the endless expanse of the Gulf of St.Lawrence. Passing between the Gaspé Penninsula and the island of Anticosti we would steam our way up the St.Lawrence River. Despite fog and wind, it was the prospect of seeing our new homeland that brought so many up on deck that morning. After ten days of crossing a vast and sometimes rude Atlantic Ocean, as well as many months of preparation for the voyage, we were ready to catch a glimpse of Canada. The captain also informed us that any first sighting would be brief. The next major sighting would not appear until later when we approached the Gaspé Penninsula. He estimated the time of our view of Cape Race would be at about 7:30 that morning. I looked at the watch I had borrowed from my father. It was nearly 7:30 and still the fog persisted with near-zero visibility. 


Once again the foghorn tore through the cold and misty morning. 


Suddenly, as if nature had finally heard the pathetic plea of a lonely ship on a sea of zero visibility, the fog lifted. Grey water spread endlessly before me. The horizon was a bleak line. The ship continued to roll gently over slow waves. There was no land in sight. Had we missed Cape Race? I walked over to the other side of ship only to be greeted by the same empty watery horizon. Behind us lay the receeding blanket of fog; in front just water and no land. Disappointed I returned to the group of immigrants who remained huddled by the railings. I asked a member of the ship's crew if we had passed Cape Race? He muttered something about not knowing or caring as he had passed this way before and it all looked the same to him. He warned me not to run on the wet deck.


Just as I capitulated to my disappointment, and as impatience began to make its presence known, a shout from our group of immigrants broke the silence.


"Look, over there! That must be Cape Race!"


Everyone strained their eyes to catch sight of land. 


I pushed my way through many wet duffel coats to get a look myself. It was, however, a disappointing glimpse. Far away along a pale horizon was a small patch of dark mass that vaguely resembled a bit of land. Was it Cape Race? As I pondered the anwer to my question, the fog returned, wrapping itself around the ship as suddenly as it had disappeared. Amidst a muffled chorus of grunts, inaudible curses, and other not-so-kind words, the passengers left the deck for their cabins and any number of comfortable lounges. The first breakfast call was only minutes away. Fortunately, there would be some consolation in mounds of pancakes, bowls of porridge, plates of eggs, juice, toast, and steaming coffee. I remained on deck a few minutes longer, not willing to accept the fact that my first sight of "the promised land" was a disappointing glimpse. There had to be more. Perhaps the captain had made a mistake. If, however, he had gotten us this far, safe and sound and on course, why would he be mistaken about Cape Race? I consulted my map once more and figured that in a short while we would be able to see the shores of the Gulf of St.Lawrence. I calculated that even if we had missed seeing Cape Race we would soon see the shores of Nova Scotia, Prince Edward Island, New Brunswick, and Quebec, as they were "just around the corner," forming a semi-circle around the Gulf of St.Lawrence. It would be my first awakening to the geography of North America. I was too young to comprehend Canada's majestic expanse using European measures. I had been accustomed to small villages "just around the corner" as I skated along canals and rivers. Therefore, I assumed Canada to appear in the same manner. Not until my first drive across Canada many years later in 1974, did I fully realize how truly awesome and big this country really is. 


Just around the corner is not a matter of mere kilometres. Often it is hundreds or thousands of kilometres and days of driving, such as the distance from Toronto to Winnipeg, a distance not even one third of the country's width. But here I stood, on the deck of a wet ship. After all, I was thirteen years old and a "long way" for a young man's understanding had been trips across the full length of the Netherlands, trips that on my father's Goggomobile or on the trains, would take only two to three hours. I simply had no idea about Canada's vast distances. I thought we had come a long way when we had barely left our Dutch harbour, passed through a special entry waterway into the English Channel, and steamed through the Channel to the edge of the Atlantic. It took only a day to travel that short distance but it seemed like eternity to me. What I did not know was that before me lay the Gulf of St.Lawerence, a huge body of water that spread nearly three hundred miles from north to south, a distance longer than the entire country in which I was born. And this was "just" a gulf, with the bulk of Canada spread for many thousands of kilometres in every other direction, north, south, and west.


When the fog finally lifted completely, a sudden event added a much-needed bright moment to an otherwise dreary day. Although the sighting was distant, the captain announced over the ship's loudspeakers, that whales could be seen off the port side of the ship. I joined the rush to port side. Many people stayed in line for the first breakfast call. They had been disappointed with the prospects of seeing Cape Race and considered it a wise choice to stay below and avoid yet another disappointment. However, as clear as I could see, in the distance were the unmistakable white plumes of breath of a small pod of whales who surfaced regularly as they made their way north. What kind of whales I did not know.


Somehow I felt vindicated. I dismissed thoughts of having missed Canada altogether and stayed on deck for many hours to watch the ship slowly dip its bow into the waves. It was a welcome change from being confined for many days to our family cabin, too sick to care about any land or other sightings. When the noon hour passed I finally returned to our cabin. My father did his best to explain the great distances that lay ahead of us, but he promised that soon we would be able to see the Canadian coastline and the shores of Quebec along the Gulf of St.Lawrence. The best was yet to come. He was right.


When we finally reached the mouth of the St.Lawrence River, having quietly passed Anticosti Island, the view was breathtaking. June had finally dawned in brilliant sunshine and I stood fixed to the deck of the ship. Once in a while I shifted from port to starboard to catch the "other side of heaven," as the view slowly unfolded before my eyes. Even as I close my eyes today, over forty-five years later, I can still see the mountains and steep headlands that plunged into the sea followed by rolling hills that seemed to drip in an abundance of early summer colours. I didn't want to miss a thing. Slowly and deliberately we made our way up the river. It was as if the captain knew there were many on deck who not only savoured the view, but who also had to deal with overwhelming emotions as ten days on a dark ocean finally gave way to a panorama of magnificent splendour. Words could not adequately describe the view. I think the captain envisioned himself as grand marshal of some giant homecoming parade. Flags appeared everywhere. On both sides of the river wound a black asphalt highway, often touching the very shore of the river. For the first time I could see people. They were driving along the highway in big cars. I wondered who they were. Could these be Canadians? Could they see our ship as it slowly pushed its way up the river? Were they waving at me? Could they see me? 


I waved back.


My mind drank in every moment along the great river.


The mountains of the Gaspé Penninsula followed to form a beautiful gateway to our new home. At a point along the river known as Father's Point, a small boat came alongside the S.S.Waterman to bring us our much needed pilot to guide us up the St.Lawrence River.


Thoughts turned towards the future, even if they were the thoughts of only a young man. As anyone who knows me will testify, I am prone to vivid imaginations and fantasies. Therefore my thoughts turned to school, home, and seasons of play. I would probably not go to school anymore so that I could help my father build a log house and cut trees from the forests that bordered a vast wilderness around our soon-to-be family homestead. Of course, we would have to start building right away to be ready in time for the winter's first snow. My mind drifted to a collection of photographs my father had so carefully pasted in an album. He had been very thorough in his investigation of Canada.


"The Canadian government was glad to see us," he said, "and the Dutch government was glad to get rid of us." 


I remember carrying a personal picture of the Honourable John Diefenbaker, Prime Minister of Canada, in my pocket, complete with a hearty welcome to Canada. Actually it was a standard, government-issue, postcard, but I did not care. I must have showed that card to everyone I knew in Zwolle, so impressed was I with the fact that the Prime Minister had personally invited me to come to Canada. Perhaps it accounted for the fact that for many years after I reached voting age, I voted Progressive Conservative. 


Forgotten was the long grey journey across the Atlantic. Forgotten was sea sickness, cabin fever, and nausiating line-ups for meals when we all stood waiting patiently along smelly passageways awash in the foul odours of fuel and lubricating oil of steamy engine rooms. Forgotten were my father's white shirts as they hung on coathangers to dry in our cabin, slowly swaying back and forth with the rolling and pitching movement of the ship. June 1958, became forever etched in my thirteen-year old mind as that memorable day I first steamed up the St.Lawrence River, a day bathed in my mind's eye in deep blue waters, majestic pale-blue mountains, green hills and bright sunny skies with snow-white clouds.


Every mile and moment along the St.Lawrence River was drenched in a fulfillment of dreams I had nurtured for months. Needless to say, the dreams of my father and mother were much less romantic. Theirs were thoughts of survival and the unknowns of a new country, the hidden perils of a new culture, and struggles of a new language. Our only tie with the old Dutch ways was a representative of the Christian Reformed Church, the Canadian version of the Christelijk Gereformeerde Kerk in the Netherlands, to which our family had belonged as long as I can remember. Our Canadian representative was there to help us find a new home, to recommend suitable places for employment, and of course settle us into the nearest church. Most immigrants followed the advice of this church representative. Our representative was especially excited about southern Ontario in a province whose economy was booming because of massive post-war growth especially in the building trades and manufacturing sectors. The only relative we knew was my mother's step-sister, aunt Janny and husband, uncle Izak Jager, who also lived in somewhere in southern Ontario. They had immigrated years earlier. They lived in a new home and boasted continually about Ontario, the province of opportunity.


Our journey up the St.Lawrence River eventually took us to Quebec City, our first port of call. The ship slowly docked below a steep embankment that climbed to a high plateau crowned with historic fields. A couple of small wooden staircases led precariously to the top of the embankment. But these were not for the ship's passengers. The stairs led to The Plains of Abraham, site of the Conquest of 1759, when British forces defeated French forces. In 1791, just thirty-two years later, Canadian Parliament passed the Canada Act which divided French and English Canada into Upper Canada ( Ontario ) and Lower Canada ( Quebec ). We had just docked in Lower Canada. My thoughts were, however, not on Canadian history when the S.S.Waterman docked in Quebec City. My mind was filled with pictures my father had glued in his big Canada scrapbook, pictures of Mounties in scarlet and seated on black stallions. There were photographs of plains indians in full ceremonial costume, a prairie cowboy complete with buckskin chaps and wide-brimmed hat, and grain silos framed on the horizon by those awesome and majestic Rockies. I dreamed that soon I would be there. Canada was a land of fantasy, at least for a thirteen-year old boy. 


Strong gusts of wind did not stop excited immigrants from leaving the ship. They were glad to be on terra firma again. They stood in small clusters on the deck of the ship as they clutched cardboard suitcases. A sudden gust threw a number of passengers off balance. Some fell to the deck. A suitcase snapped open spilling its contents everywhere. The wind caught linens and fine Dutch underwear and tossed them into the river. However, nothing could dampen the spirits of immigrants. Slowly they began leaving the ship. As they walked down the gangway, they turned to wave a final goodbye and then disappeared into the immigration building. I returned to my cabin to read some more from my English/Dutch dictionary.


"How do you do."


"Very well, thank you."


"Where is the bus station?"


I practised and practised. It was hopeless. I could not master English using a Dutch phonetic system. 


"Is this the way to the post office?" 


Sleep soon overcame me. Tomorrow was a new day. Montreal was our destiny and final stop for our ship's trans-Atlantic journey. We arrived around lunch time. The city afforded us some time to walk around in good weather. We spent several hours in a beautiful park. We bought some bread at a local grocery store as well as fresh-baked buns, butter, cheese, and milk. Under a warm and bright sun we enjoyed our first picnic on Canadian soil. Local residents who walked in the park stared curiously at this fresh-off-the-boat family. Maybe we did look rather bedraggled having just gotten off the boat. Some nodded with broad grins, perhaps in memory of their first steps on Canadian soil. A number of pigeons joined our picnic. Not all the Verstraete's had fared too well on our epic journey. Seasickness had affected most of us, some worse than others. A Montreal park was welcome relief from the ocean. By evening we boarded a train for our next destination, Toronto.


"All aboard!"


As we left Montreal's railway yards, evening turned to night. I pressed my face against the window to catch a glimpse of the Rockies. All I could see was the reflection of lightbulbs of the train's interior outlining many silhouettes of tired immigrants and other passengers. Despite vigorous promotion of trans-continental trains and the fabled Canadian silver-bullet, we were destined instead for a slow and rocking ride on a train which had no doubt seen better days. The train was drafty and messy, with dirty washrooms and hard seats. All I remember of the Montreal-Toronto trainride is pitchblack darkness, except for a brief moment when I caught some movement in the trees that lined the tracks. It was a white-tailed deer, my first sight of Canadian wildlife. Sometime during the long night we arrived at Toronto's Union Station. 


Waiting on a nearby platform was the Chicago-Toronto Dayliner, a sleek and silvery train that would take us to Chatham, a city in south western Ontario. The ride would take about three hours to get there. However, this ride was smooth, but too smooth for Lida, one of my sisters. She was simply overwhelmed by too many hours of travel and became very sick. It was a messy night on the Chicago-Toronto Dayliner. At last, the train rolled to a quiet halt in Chatham. 


The night was strange and dark. Bright headlights suddenly caught us in their beams as we stood on the platform. Soon we were shaking hands with two friendly drivers. We were ushered into two large cars that resembled majestic livingrooms on wheels. I remember the dark and warm interior of a 1945 Chevrolet. The others traveled in an older Pontiac. We drove through the night and rolled quietly towards the end of our long journey. Some of the children slept. Both cars finally pulled into a wide driveway somewhere on the outskirts of a mid-size, Ontario town called Wallaceburg. The night was still very dark.

Hot steamy summers and bitter cold winters


The years 1968 to 1964, were the Wallaceburg years, a time of adolescence that still conjures up a kaleidoscope of multi-coloured memories, some good and some bad. I will never forget the morning after our night-arrival. The whole family had been put to rest in a number of beds at the home of Jannie and Frank Bos. Instead of customary linen, the sheets on the beds were flannel, a whole new experience in itself. Perhaps I dozed for a short time or even managed a few hours of deeper sleep, but I was thirteen and determined to be up at the crack of dawn in order to get a first look at my new homeland. Thoughts of mounties and Rockies would not leave my young mind. At last, a few rays of early light filtered into the small bedroom. I climbed on top of the bed and opened the curtains. I was stunned by what I saw. The 1945 Chevrolet was still parked in the Bos' driveway. 


A wave of disappointment washed over me. I stood fixed as I stared upon endless miles of flat emptiness. The Bos family lived at the edge of town, an edge that bordered the rich farmland of south western Ontario. My mind raced to identify and comprehend what I was looking at. Questions formed on my lips. I had left my Dutch homeland for this? This is Canada? 


There must be a mistake.


I made a silent vow as I stood looking out the window, that one day I would leave this place never to return. Not that there was anything wrong with Wallaceburg. It was and still remains a thriving community, a wonderful place for thousands to call home. But, somehow, somewhere, I knew Wallaceburg was not my Canada. In 1964, I fulfilled my vow when I left for Toronto. I may have left Wallaceburg, but Toronto was hardly the Rockies either. 


Wallaceburg was also the time of my highschool years. I was fortunate that my older brother Beert prepared the way to school before me. Even though we had both enrolled in the same grade, grade eight, at the Wallaceburg Senior Public School, Beert, should have been in grade nine. Yet, a local school board deemed it necessary to put him back a year. He was old and wise enough to go directly to grade nine, but that was simply not allowed in Wallaceburg. Despite my father's legitimate claims and proof that Beert spoke English, and that he had already completed a number of years of highschool in the Netherlands, becoming proficient in three languages including Dutch, English, and French, as well as having studied geometry, algebra, math, and science, members of the local schoolboard decided nevertheless to put Beert in grade eight, a place where most students were still struggling with basic math such as calculating percentages. The curriculum of Wallaceburg's public schools was well below European standards. Needless to say, despite his great disappointment, Beert was a quick and eager student. He never did study for a single exam, yet he passed the entire eigth year with honours. I was content to follow in Beert's footsteps hoping the schoolboard would think I was a genius as well. 


When at last grade eight was finished, he had an incredible passing grade, but I was barely above a passing grade. My father continued his protest. However, amidst a flurry of words and stiff opposition, the schoolboard reluctantly allowed Beert to skip grade nine and go right to grade ten. I was passed into grade nine and so, in 1959, Beert and I became students at the Wallaceburg District Secondary School. Teachers and school trustees said Beert would never make it through grade ten and I would find it difficult in grade nine. It had never been done before. I wonder if I have ever forgiven them for such colonial thoughts. Beert not only succeeded in his highschool studies as an A student, he went on to become the school's only Ontario Scholar in his grade thirteen graduating class, an honour for which the school generously praised Beert. I remained an A student as well throughout my highschool years, except for my infamous grade thirteen marks. When in September of 1963, I began my final year in highschool, I also discovered art college. What made that discovery so delightful is that admission requirements for the Ontario College of Art did not require grade thirteen. However, I was already well into my grade 13 year. Did that mean I could quit early? The thought was tempting.


I waited three months before I made up my mind.


Eager at the prospect of going to art college but still in grade thirteen, I applied in January, 1964, for admission into the fall semester at art college. In March I received my answer. I was accepted at the Ontario College of Art.


My grade twelve honours and a modest portfolio of artwork I had sent with the application were the only requirements. They were enough to gain me admission. I was genuinely excited, yet there remained one challenge to overcome, that was, what to do with my grade thirteen? I admit, acceptance into the Ontario College of Art also awakened a bit of a rebel in me. After all, I had nothing to lose. I was already accepted at college, long before the usual rush of applicants at the close of a school year. That attitude became obvious when I discussed my plans with our highschool's guidance counselor. Amidst a great deal of protest from her, I had decided to test the education system's real worth. I asked myself ( and the guidance counselor ) a profound question. Would I be able to pass all grade thirteen's final exams without studying? Was the public education system a real system of learning or just a mechanical world of momentary memorization? Would I be able to rely totally on what I was supposed to have learned during the year, instead of cramming endless textbooks into my head during long nights before each exam with just enough recall to get a decent mark? 


I soon found out if my "theory" was accurate.


In June of 1964, I wrote nine grade thirteen exams. I passed six exams and failed three. Six out of nine is sixty-six percent and failing grade was below sixty. So, technically I had passed my year. At least, that was my math but not the math of a public school board. I failed grade thirteen. Although six out of nine was not enough to pass grade thirteen, I was comforted by the fact that I didn't need grade thirteen after all. I was off to college regardless. It never really mattered either. Art college was a whole new way of studying with a greater emphasis on creating artwork than on memorizing textbooks. I went on to become an honours graduate at the Ontario College of Art, complete with a number of prized scholarships and four years of indepth studies in the arts. Years later I completed a Bachelor of Fine Arts degree as well. I stayed home from grade thirteen graduation celebrations, but somewhere in the quiet recesses of my mind I determined on that graduation day, to vindicate my decision not to study for any grade thirteen exams. My moment came ten years later. In 1974, I organized the entire highschool reunion of ten years. It was in part a vindication and a public claim that this immigrant boy from Wallaceburg, did make it after all. I organized the date, the place, the event, the entertainment, the press, the speeches, everything. I showed up at the reunion with my beautiful wife Alice at my side and a handsome business card that read Executive Vice-President, Folio Advertising Agency Ltd. Folio was the national, Toronto-based,advertising agency I owned with my business partner Joe Hatt-Cook.


Needles to say, I was a local celebrity at least for that one, tenth-reunion night.


And everybody loved Alice.


In fact, I think she stole the whole event.


During my highschool years I earned the distinction of winning only one trophy. It was the Bending Art Award, an achievement award named after the Bending family and awarded for excellence in art. I also won a Certificate of Award and Honourable Mention in 1961 and 1962, respectively, at the Sarnia Science Fair. The annual fair was a popular event sponsored by the Chemical Institute of Canada. One award, in 1961, was in the category of Junior Science where I presented my entry of a superb collection I had built comprising Canadian ores and minerals. In 1962, I won the award for Intermediate Science with my artistic re-creation of ancient man, complete with fossils and a huge relic. I proudly displayed a Mastadon tooth I had borrowed from a friend's father. 


But then came the year 1962. Who can ever forget 1962? 


During grade twelve exams in the fall of that year I was stunned by the assasination of the American president, John F.Kennedy. The school had kept the news quiet until we finished our exam that day. Like millions of others, I sat glued to our television as the world watched the events unfold. I have never felt "American" in any particular way, but that day I shared their pain. Amids tears and silence we sat and viewed the funeral procession down Pennsylvania Avenue in Washington, DC. as it slowly made its way to Arlington Cemetary. As Canadian highschool students, John F.Kennedy held a special place in our hearts. It had only been nine months earlier when a small group of eager highschool students joined the American president in his challenge to get America in shape. Kennedy challenged every citizen to walk fifty miles. In February, 1962, I presented that challenge to all highschool students, especially my classmates, and organized the walk-a-thon while taking advantage of a highschool teacher's convention. Eleven students accepted my challenge. 


We left Wallaceburg around 8 o'clock in the morning and decided to follow Highway 40 to Chatham, a distance of eighteen miles one way. The metric system has not yet been introduced in Canada and all distances were still measured in miles. I had calculated that the mile or so to get out of town, plus the round trip of eighteen miles each way would come close to meeting the president's challenge. Three students did not make the round trip. I was one of the remaining eight who did complete the walk. Together with a few extra miles tagged on in Chatham, the round trip was forty miles. It took twelve hours to complete. But remember, it was February. February in southern Ontario was just like the Arctic. It was bitter cold that month and even colder the day we walked to Chatham and back. Our food was frozen by the time we made our first rest stop. The windchill factor was also very high that day, as bone-chilling winds, well-below zero temperatures, and fine snow, combined in force to drive across the flat farmland that lay on either side of the highway. Often the black-top highway disappeared completely beneath drifting snow, in conditions known as whiteouts. One time we walked right off the road because we could not see the highway. Determined, however, we pressed on. When darkness fell that cold day, eight brave survivors literally stumbled back into town. We ended our challenge jubilant but very stiff. We rested our nearly frozen feet in a hot tub of water at the home of Don Domanski. I still have the pictures from a press clipping to prove it. We were hailed as heroes in both the local media and at school. I remember the cold more than I remember the distance we walked.


Weather was a major influence in my life and the life of my family during the Wallaceburg years, those first years immediately after we arrived in Canada.


Bitter cold winters were new to me, as were hot steamy summers. Having grown up in a temperate climate, conditions such as extreme humidity, long, hot, sleepless nights, and sweat everywhere, were unfamiliar to me as were frozen pipes, driving snowstorms, bitter cold, and uninsulated bedrooms. But they gave me an early taste of the real Canada. That tase was ever so strong on my first job. It was a paper route on a clumsy bicycle in an Ontario winter, and not a small task for a thirteen year old boy. Fortunately my papers, The Chatham Daily News, were a whole lot smaller than the Windsor Star, which was a bulky newspaper that was hard to fold. It was a lot easier to make the traditional paper-toss from my bicycle to the front porch of a customer's house, with the Chatham Daily News. I carried a lot less paper weight during those cold winters and hot summers that the Windsor Star did. My friend Herman Brand had a Windsor Star route. The year was 1963. I made enough that year to pay for a brand new CCM bicycle, complete with carrier. I paid for the bike and carrier at the local Canadian Tire store in seven installments of five dollars.


There is, however, a dark side to my adolescent years in Wallaceburg. 


That dark side was my first experience of the miserly world of capitalism, a capitalism that appeared in the form of farm work. But this is not a slamdunk of farming which will always remain an honourable profession and a great Canadian tradition. I hated working in the fields around Wallaceburg, Chatham, Port Lambton, and Walpole Island, a large native reserve just west of town. Not only did I hate the work, I hated the farmers. And my reasons were justified. These were the farmers who exploited immigrant workers. Many of these farmers were members of the church our family attended. Disguised as people of "brotherly love," the church-going farmers gave my father pittance work when he so desparately needed money to feed, house, and clothe his growing family of seven children. Not that there was little work. There was plenty of work to be done. I can still picture my father toiling away in farmer's fields. My father was a big tall man and working most of the crops meant bending over at the waist hoeing and pulling with his hands close to the ground. It was very hard on his back but he did it faithfully for his family. I on the other hand was young and able. It did not matter if I came home with blisters, a sore back, and grimy clothes. A quick swim in Running Creek, just up the street from where we lived, or a quick hike to the railroad bridge over the Sny River, where waters ran deep and cool, and I soon forgot those endless rows of soya beans, milkweeds, thistles, sugar beets, corn, and those greedy eyes of landowners as they stood and watched their cheap labour slave in the fields. My father did not fare so well. I will never forget the look of pain in his eyes when he bent over rows of tiny sugar beet plants, wielding a short hoe back and forth to thin out the young plants, and leaving one standing about every foot. The sun was burning hot while the sons of church elders, got easier and better paying jobs around town. 


We lived in the church basement that summer of 1958. Every Sunday we had to put all our belongings and furnishings away to make room for Sunday school. After a blistering week of hard labour, my father could not even afford the luxury of skipping church, because the entire congregation would end up in his basement bedroom, pointing accusing fingers at my tired dad. Many times I worked alongside him as we hoed beets, weeded soya beans and corn. Once a year there was a big tomato glut. Back to back we competed with other Dutch families as we picked ripe tomatoes and piled them in large baskets. The full baskets were placed in long rows throughout the field. At the end of the day the farmer came with his tractor and flatbed wagon to pick up the baskets. Piled to precarious heights, these wagons then slowly lumbered their way to Libby's tomato processing plant near town. Many times a wagon collapsed under the weight of its large load, spilling thousands of tomatoes on to the street. A hot sun, muggy temperatures, and millions of flies, made for smelly tomato "soup" on the streets of Wallaceburg when a spill occurred. The fire department had to come to the rescue and hose the street until only a red stain was left on the pavement. Proud tomato pickers boasted of one hundred baskets a day. At ten cents per basket, that meant ten dollars a day. Throughout a tomato season a hard-working family could earn enough money to send mom or dad back home on a trip to the fatherland, or maybe buy a used car, some furniture, or much needed back-to-school supplies. I peaked at thiry-five baskets a day, spending generous time eating tomatoes instead of picking them. With a bit of salt and pepper, they made enviable snacks for a growing young man. While the rest of the workers glared at me as if I were some apparition who hated the work, which in fact I did, I calmly sat between the rows of tomatos sprinkling big, red, juicy ones with salt and pepper often accompanied by my regular lunch of sandwiches or a tin full of pancakes. I always managed to eat many tomatoes before lunch time. How could I ignore such a bountiful provision growing right before my eyes? After all, a handful of tomatoes would not cramp the farmer's profits in any way. It was the farmers, however, who bought the new cars. Yet amidst the back-breaking work of farm labour there was always room for a good laugh, usually at the expense of my brother Beert. 


Beert was not a farmer by any stretch of one's imagination. On his journey to become a leading Canadian and international scholar in classics, especially Latin and Greek, as well as becoming a senior professor at Acadia University in Nova Scotia, he passed for a season through the fields of south western Ontario. Those fields will never forget Beert, nor will the farmers who hired him. Beert's mind was nowhere near crops growing in a field. He was steeped in the glories of ancient Rome and in classical languages. As a highschool student he was brilliant. He had a mind that never ceased to amaze me with endless reservoirs of knowledge. Beert knew everything, except he could not tell a weed from a soya bean. One day a number of us started at the far end of a large field. We each managed three rows of soya beans with one row between our legs and one on either side. With long strides we walked along rows of soya beans pulling the weeds up by their roots. It was a slow walk as most fields were choked with milkweeds, mustard plants, and spiny thistles. Our wages were very low. This particular day, however, was a good day. We managed to made steady progress because the weeds were much easier to pull than the weeds in other, clay-filled fields. As we continued to walk, bend, and pull, we left a field of knee-high and green soya plants gently swaying in an afternoon breeze. Behind us there were no weeds in sight. Neither was Beert. 


Where was Beert? 


Looking back we found him grunting and groaning about half a mile behind us. We marked our spot in the field with our garden gloves and left our place among the rows of soya beans to see what Beert was up to. Why was Beert so far behind? We found him near the beginning of the field right by the access road. There he was, bending over under a hot sun, pulling everything in sight from the ground and up by the roots. A trail of green everything lay at his side with weeds and soya plants piled and wilting on the dark brown soil. It was obvious why he was so far behind. In his blessed absentmindedness he had forgotten that he was supposed to pull the weeds and leave the soya beans standing. As luck would have it, the farmer showed up moments later and immediately fired Beert. I don't think he lost any sleep over the event. He was probably glad to be rid of such plebeian ( a favourite word of his meaning, common ) work, wishing instead to return to his treasured books. We all had a good laugh and resumed our weary task. Perhaps this explains why I never became an avid gardener in my home-ownership years. "Pave it or sod it," became my green motto. 


As I write this venture at my computer and look out my studio window on Gabriola Island, decades later, I manage a big smile because I am looking at half an acre of wild undergrowth, tall cedars and firs, mindful of the annual threat of grass I am obligated to mow for fear of being branded by my island neighbours as one of those "back to nature types." But, my green motto has survived. There is no garden plot demanding vigorous combat with weeds, slugs, deer, and other unwelcome guests. The local fruit and vegetable market is just around the corner.


Wallaceburg's one big claim to fame was Chuck's Dairy Queen, a family owned fast food place just a few blocks from our home and the town's highschool. Never have I ever tasted more succulent footlongs complete with Chuck's own worksauce, a hearty mix of mustard, ketchup, relish, chopped onion, and I suspect, a secret amount of barbeque sauce. Never have I relished the flavours of an ice cold milkshake more than the homemade shakes at Chuck's. I suspected he mixed a bit of vanilla in each milkshake to give it that special taste. Last but not least, there were Chuck's burgers and fries. These were treats that held on to a reputation of real burgers and fries, in a world increasingly flooded with cheap and flimsy mass-production fast-food burgers and flimsy fries. Chuck introduced Wallaceburg to soft ice cream as well, with chocolate or caramel dip. About twenty-five years later in the late eighties, I returned to Wallaceburg with a friend as we went for a long drive, enjoying a summer weekend. Despite my earlier boyhood vow never to return to Wallaceburg, I decided to drop in at Chuck's to relive some of my savoury memories. My friend agreed. At last I found the Chuck's of my memories, but Chuck's was now a charred building standing empty along the street. A fire had closed the place down. Now I will never, never come back, I swore.


The dark side of farm labour also included an even darker side of life in Wallaceburg. That dark side was racism, and again, in our family my father bore the greater brunt of it. We were white, European, Protestant, and a hard-working, law-abiding, church-going family. We were branded "honkies," a name for those newcomers who came to town to take jobs away from Wallaceburg's more celebrated citizens. In fact, there was so much work available, a shortage of labour was actually very real, even though much of the work was seasonal such as farm work and the construction trade. Yet, my father had difficulty finding work and keeping it. No one extended any credit to help us get our feet firmly planted in our new Canadian home. Because my father was such a big man he had some major accidents. Once, while working as a carpenter in the construction of new homes, a scaffold collapsed underneath him. Another time he split his thumb with one mighty blow of his hammer. Yet another time a roof on which he was working collapsed. When cold winter storms raged or there was too much snow on the roof, construction of new houses ground to a halt, sometimes for months. Whether it was an injury or frequent unemployment that affected my father, there was no workman's compensation or unemployment insurance to ensure some form of income for the family. I don't know how and what my father felt in those days as he never let his emotions show. Being a "honky" immigrant was a tough row to hoe, even in prosperous post-war Canada of the nineteen-fifties. Sure, as a teenager I could shrug off the jeers and taunts, and even manage an occasional insult or a not-so-kind finger gesture in return, but I was not reponsible for feeding an entire family. Needless to say, all the children contributed generously to the family's survival treasury with babysitting money, paper route money, and earnings from the farms. We did so gladly and with no regrets. A special demonstration of the children's care was initiated by my sister Lida. It was she, after she obtained an enviable and much cherished, union-pay, full-time job at the Dominion Glass Factory in Wallaceburg, who bought the family's first black & white television. 


In a world of hard immigrant times, television became a refuge. To her dying day, my mother watched General Hospital. My father loved concerts and Wednesday night boxing matches. Time would heal some of the wounds as my father grew to become one of Wallaceburg's leading citizens and founder of the Wallaceburg Bookbinding and Manufacturing Company, a thriving business that still employs many townspeople. My father's European trade, taught by his father and refined at a Dutch tradeschool, was the art of bookbinding in the form of binding standard schoolbooks as well as the fine art of rebinding treasured volumes with ancient leather covers. My father was a master bookbinder with an exceptional knowledge of fine papers. When in the early sixties, some six years after we arrived in Wallaceburg, the bookbinding company reached special status in town, our "honky" immigrant status changed dramatically. My father was now a citizen of town and no longer an immigrant. Owning one of the larger and more prosperous businesses in town made him a welcome guest and customer at every store in town. Store owners coveted my father's patronage. My dad could buy anything anywhere in town, with no questions asked, no credit needed, and a "Yes, Mr.Verstraete, sure Chris, whatever you want sir, just pay me whenever." 


My father's word was as good as his reputation of a hard-working man whose business practises were of utmost integrity, a virtue he acquired from his father as well as the skills of bookbinding. My grandfather once lost his entire company in a huge fire. That was in the Netherlands right after World War One. There was no business or home fire insurance in those days and my grandfather was left with a large debt owed to suppliers and other manufacturers. He visited each of the creditors and on his word of honour alone, with no written and legally-binding papers, he promised to pay back each creditor the full amount with interest. It took my grandfather ten years but he paid every cent back with interest. 


When merchants and citizens of Wallaceburg began courting my father's patronage, he may have felt a momentary satisfaction in "having made it," but it did not erase the years of rejection by the townspeople. My father became bitter towards the town. In 1967, he sold the company to his partner and left Wallaceburg to start all over again in Sarnia just a handful of miles north. He called it Admiral Bookbinding Company, after his mother's family name of Admiraal. Instead of binding large numbers of school and library books he returned to his original artform, that of master bookbinder and the fine art of carefully crafting beautful covers on dusty old books and the careful restoration and rebinding of valuable volumes. He also created a specialty product in the form of handsome and strong three-ring binders which he sold in very profitable quantities to Sarnia's huge petrochemical companies. His binders were far superior to plastic binders and became the standard for all instruction and maintenance manuals in the petrochemical industry. All this my father did, and more, in his large home on Albert Street in Point Edward, a small village attached to the northwest corner of Sarnia, and in the shadow of a large span that "bridged" the St.Clair River between Canada and the United States. Locally known simply as "the bridge," this landmark began its slow incline in Sarnia and crossed Point Edward high in the sky at "the point." To this day it remains a romantic spot where Lake Huron squeezes into the narrow opening of the St.Clair River. Under the bridge and at the point, they sold fabulous french fries. My father and mother, as did I when I visited them, spent many hours at the point, watching huge, empty, and ore-laden lake freighters slowly plow their way up the strong currents of the river. It was always a majestic sight as the huge ships passed beneath the bridge downriver or into Lake Huron. A flotilla of pleasure crafts filled the gaps between lake freighters. I think the view reminded my dad of happy days in the Netherlands, where he often sailed his small boat along the IJssel River, a tributary of the Rhine as it flowed past Zwolle. He also loved sailing along a smaller nearby river called Zwarte Water or black water.


The Point Edward years became his happiest years right up until my mother's death in 1987, followed by his retirement a few years later when he retired both himself and the company he founded, and until his death in 2003.

The devil behind glass


This particular event in my adventure of life is a sad one, sad because it touches on the emotional havoc reaped by the institutional church. I know that much has changed since those early immigrant years, but much remains to be done. The true church offers its members unconditional love, complete freedom, and unwavering assurance. When I venture along the road of faith, I reflect sometimes on the fact that I have been set free from institutional religion and I rejoice in the fact that I have experienced true faith. But sometimes, I am also reminded of the pain so many have suffered at the hands of men who thought themselves to be executioners for God. This story is set in 1959, in Wallaceburg, but to keep this sad story in context, I must go back to the Netherlands, about a year before the end of World War II.


Like most seasons, Autumn of 1959, appeared to be no different than previous seasons. A timely Indian Summer had granted a postponement of winter, and everything seemed to glow in yellow, orange, and sienna. It was a favourite time of the year. Gone were the sweltering summer nights and days, when the air was crowded with pesty mosquitos. Thoughts would turn to baking, sweaters, and piles of smouldering leaves, whose smoke filled the air with a fragrance that can only be described as an Ontario Fall. Autumn was also a time when church elders resumed their devoted task of visiting all the parishioners in town. 


My parents had never been particularly religious, except for the outward appearances of pious duty associated with orthodox Calvinism, that religion of works which permeated Dutch soil during the Reformation of the sixteenth century. To explain how Calvinism had affected my father and mother, I must go back to 1944.


Their church membership in the Netherlands was in the Christelijk Gereformeerde Kerk known elsewhere as the Christian Reformed Church. My mother was a member of the Herformde Kerk known as the Reformed Church. Both denominations had their roots in the stifling doctrines of orthodox Calvinism, a protestant faith associated with the Reformation that swept Europe in the early fifteen hundreds and a time spearheaded by Martin Luther. The Netherlands had become a bastion of male-dominated, reformed theology, which in turn birthed many churches. Now, one would think that with a few minor doctrinal differences, all these different churches of the Reformation would get along. Never. The Dutch churches were notoriously divisive, a cancer that grew over centuries, birthing bitter rivalries over stupid man-made doctrines. My mother, in 1944, a day and age when women had no voice in the church, therefore, had to commit herself to my father's religion. It was all part of a complex religious duty that meant my mother had to "change churches," and leave the Reformed Church to join the Christian Reformed Church. The climate of faith in those days was high in doctrinal correctness and very low in grace and mercy. My father and mother came face to face with the ugly side of religion during an episode in their lives that left bitter scars for decades. My father and mother were married when my mother was pregnant with Beert, my older brother, their first child. In the venacular of common speech, they "had to get married," which for the uninformed meant they had sex before marriage. Their love for each other was never in question. 


It happened one year before World War II ended. 


God only knows what emotions ran rampant in the lives of people whose daily existence was plagued with fear, doubt, and terrifying Nazi oppression. When my mother was much older she continued to have nightmares about allied or German bombers flying low over the house and a crushing fear of bombs that threatened to fall before they reached their target. The news was frequently filled with accounts of allied fighters and bombers that didn't make it because of enemy anti-aircraft fire, mechanical failures, and inexperienced crews. My mother's fear was very real. So were the fears of my father, my grandparents, and everyone else who lived in western Europe. No doubt, love and affection provided a moment's escape from terror. In their wartime anxieties many people turned to each other for comfort and hope. My father and mother were married in 1944, and they remained deeply and devotedly in love with each other until my mother died in 1987. 



Neverthless, the church, rather than showing some grace and mercy, or any compassion and forgiveness, insisted the entire world must know about my father and mother's indiscretion, their "sin" as the elders called it. First, they were required to confess their adulterous affair before the elders of the church, who amidst the smoke of their heavy Dutch cigars, no doubt made them recall every juicy detail of their amorous encounters somewhere along the dike between Zwolle and S'Herenbroek, a small rural village where my mother was employed as a gradeschool teacher. But forgiveness behind closed doors was not enough for the church. In addition to private confessions, my parents were publically humiliated when forced to confess their sin before the entire congregation. And it was a very large congregation too. My father never forgot the humiliation and he always bore the scars of their "brotherly love," in the form of bitterness and sarcasm. Whenever he told me the story, his voice would grow cold like steel. Yet, miraculously, he did not abandon his religious upbringing. Mom and dad faithfully attended church, paid their dues to meet church budget requirements, and said the Lord's Prayer at meal times. It was all religion. Not until some thirty-five years later would they discover the difference between the Christian religion and true followers of Jesus Christ. The discovery set them free.


Now I'm back in the late fifties.


And so, on a dark Autumn evening in 1959, the elders of the Wallaceburg Christian Reformed Church arrived at the Verstraete residence on Forhan Street. The meeting was usually a formal one. The family sat around the diningroom table. A brief prayer was said followed by what can best be described as an interrogation. Looking back, it seemed those elders really enjoyed their self-proclaimed position of authority, and they loved to use that authority to pry into family matters that were none of their business.


And so the interrogation began that evening.


"Gerrit, you were seen in the movie theatre last Friday evening. Is that correct? 


They had "caught me" going to a Brigitte Bardot movie. Keep in mind that in those days, whwn any part of a movie appeared to be somewhat risky, such as a brief nude scene, of which there were very few and never full nudity, the projector lens automatically went out of focus. All you could see was a blurred image with no detail. Such was the case of nudity in this particular Brigitte Bardot movie. Brigitte Bardot was the reigning sex idol in Europe during the nineteen fifties. No preacher ever spoke about white-collar crime, corporate crime, spousal abuse, or substance abuse, but sex, my God, it bordered on the unforgiveable sin. So, I was caught seeing a movie which in its approximate hour-and-a-half length had only one nude scene that lasted no more than ten seconds. In fact, I remember the scene as a quick peek through a keyhole to watch a woman stand up in a bathtub. The whole image was a big fuzzy blur. 


I managed a daring reply as the elders waited for my confession anticipating the usual denial during times when their questions seemed so probing and personal.


"Yes," I replied, "but, it was your son who was there also. He watched the entire movie as well including the fuzzy nude scene, and it was he who no doubt saw me and reported me." 


My reply fell on deaf ears and they quickly changed the subject.


"Have you been reading the Bible regularly?" they asked everyone


We all nodded an obligatory yes.


My father replied, as he always did, with a monotonous, "yes!" 


My father was very familiar with these home visitations, having served as elder himself in the church. That evening he chose not to be controversial. This would be a peaceful evening. There would be other times to deal with the bitterness in his heart towards religious duty. Tow the party line and get it over with, was his attitude. Serve the customary coffee and pound cake and be gone. Such would not be the case, however, that Autumn evening in 1959.


A few months before the visit of the elders, as I have mentioned earlier, my sister bought the family's first television, a small black and white unit. Colour had not yet been developed. I can even remember when television was first invented. A neighbour on our street in Zwolle had bought a television. As children we would hide in the hedge behind their house and carefully peer through the window to catch a glimpse of this incredible wonder. I found it hard to believe, what's this, moving pictures right in your own home?


But here we were in Canada, years later, in new country, a land of milk and honey and a land of television. When the Verstraetes sat down in front of their new set, it was an escape from the rigours of early immigrant life. Somehow, life on Forhan Street in Wallaceburg had a silver lining. We were so enamoured by our new television, I do not recall ever fighting over programs. My mother watched General Hospital in the afternoons. My father watched boxing and nature programs, and in between we filled our time with Hockey Night in Canada, The Jack Benny Show, The Honeymooners, The Three Stooges, and other more serious fare.


That fateful night, however, was the only time I ever saw my dad turn on our visitors. 


The two elders of the church were still seated around our diningroom table, their interrogation almost over. As if inspired by the Spanish Inquisition, a historic event that still brings painful memories to the Dutch national conscience, one elder stretched his bony arm and pointed a jabbing-stiff finger at the new television set in our livingroom. His lips quivered and with a voice as authoritatively religious as he could muster he hissed.


"The devil is in that box!"


We were stunned.


His condemnation stung like the bite of an angry hornet. Suddenly we felt as if we had been accused of the grossest of sins, the sins of Sodom and Gomorrah. Would we go to hell because we owned a tv? My sister had worked hard and long honest hours at the Wallaceburg Dominion Glass Factory. The set was fully paid for. Fearfull thoughts raced through my head. Would my father fall on his knees and beg for forgiveness? Would our brand-new television be thrown on Calvin's trash heap of man's utter depravity along with the thousands of art treasures that they judged as ungodly? But my father stood up to speak.


His words were simple, powerful and non-negotiable.


I will never forget what he said. He turned to the elder and spoke in an icy voice.


"Don't worry, in our home the devil is behind glass." 


Somehow the answer lost impact when translated from Dutch, because in its original use, "behind glass," meant it was harmless. 


Then my father abruptly dismissed the elders, assuring them that the devil was not about to escape from behind the glass of our television set, and be set free to torment the Verstraete family. In the 1950's, television picture tubes were still safely mounted behind a thick piece of plate glass. It was double protection. Even if the devil escaped from the picture tube, he'd still be stuck behind a formidable plate-glass barrier.


The following year we had different elders for home visitation.


Not all home visitations were bad. Many were friendly and hospitable.


I continued to see the elder's son at the movies until I moved out of town to the big city.


"Nothing is new under the sun," said Solomon. So, enough of this sad tale.

Sgt. Rock of Easy Company


My second venture into the world of art, the first being my childhood art lessons at Zwolle's Hopmanshuis in 1950, dates back to the locker-lined hallways of the Wallaceburg District Secondary School. In 1960, during the early months of grade nine, I was introduced to a formidable character. He made such an impact on me and every other young boy, that memories of his exploits lasted well into adulthood. He became the inspiration for endless sketches and miriads of doodles in the margins of my school textbooks. During tedious science classes he filled my head with thoughts of great adventures. He was my solace when I felt rejected by fellow classmates, especially a young girl I dared not talk to. He was flights of fancy and unbridled imagination when history lessons droned on and on. Every young boy I knew in highschool belonged to his special group. 


He was Sargeant Rock of Easy Company, that notoriously brave band of American GI's who nearly single-handedly fought the entire Nazi regime. 


Sgt.Rock was a comicbook hero. 


All of us young boys belonged to his Easy Company.


Whenever a new comicbook issue arrived it was quickly circulated among the boys in WDSS. I could not afford to subscribe to the comicbook, but those who could were generous in lending the slim editions to everyone. Later, I became a collector of Sgt.Rock and Easy Company comicbooks.


I learned very quickly how to draw fighter planes, tanks, artillery, bazookas and the ever present graphic representations of BLAM, WHAM, SLAM from exploding shells. More than anything else, Sgt.Rock was cool. Nothing phased him. He had nerves of steel, the kind every young boy wished he had. He walked unscathed from all enemy ambushes. He tore the sides off an enemy bunker with the single toss of a hand grenade. He could fire a cumbersome machinegun from his hip. Sgt.Rock was every fatherless boy's father, every homeless boy's family, and every frightened boy's rock of peace. Often, in the absence of comicbooks, we gathered other students to create our own situations for Sgt.Rock. His exploits filled the margins of my school textbooks and endless pages in my three-ring binders. I was the group's faithful illustrator of our boyhood fantasies.


Soon I earned a reputation as a pretty good cartoonist and illustrator. My reputation was godsent, because my artistic talent became a convenient bridge to peer acceptance and social life in highschool. When I entered grade nine, I was terrified to socialize with anyone in school. I never hung around long enough after school for fear of being discovered as Dutch or Christian Reformed. Drawing gave me a bridge over which to cross that terrible divide, and venture into the domain of "those Canadians" as Dutch church people called them. Being "Canadian" was thought of as some social disease deserving of anyone who was not Christian Reformed. No doubt it was also part of a complex defense mechanism of early immigrants to deal with being labelled a honkie or a religious foreigner. Reverse racism is therefore a better word to decribe the protectionist attitude of an immigrant church. However, not willing to accept the church's verdict of my highschool friends, I dared to enter into the camp of "Canadians." I found the reception overwhelmingly friendly. 


Before grade nine was finished, I had become a real hit with my drawings. My popularity also carried me into forbidden areas such as cheating in science classes. Everyone knew that for my zoology and botany notes I created beautiful drawings. If only those drawings could be seen when writing a test. Therefore, during exam time I sometines drew plantcells, hydra, exo and endo skeletons, and diagrams about photosynthesis, all big enough for everyone to see. When the supervisor was not looking, I held the drawings up hign for all to copy. I am not proud of such antics, and fortunately I did it only for one big exam and just a few tests, but it demonstrated the extent to which I wanted to show my gratitude for being accepted by "those Canadians." 
Sgt.Rock cartoons, however, were a safer avenue with which to explore peer acceptance. He became commonplace in my textbooks and notes as well as the textbooks and notes of others.


But the grandest finale of my artistic popularity was reserved for two specific events during the schoolyear. These events were the autumn and spring dances held in the school gym. What made both events so special was the fact I was not allowed to dance. After all, such godless activity, so I was told once again by church elders, would lead to serious sin and the eventual collapse of my moral character. I never did understand how dancing with Janet Dugit, Cheryl Christopher, or Ginny LaPointe, could ever lead to moral decadence. I never did dance with them for fear of some holy curse falling upon me. Who knows, with home visitation only weeks away, perhaps the elder's son had been on the lookout outside the movie theatre. Yet, in my mind I was confused about the church's dance doctrine. What could possibly be wrong about dancing with Janet, Cheryl, and Ginny? They were such gentle sweet spirits and dancing seemed like so much fun. I wondered whatever happened to all of them. 


Even though I was not allowed to dance, I was as popular as the Homecoming Queen or Red Feather Queen. My popularity, however, was not based on any prowess on the dance floor. Instead my popularity had its source in my art. I had been asked to join the social-convening committee of the highschool's student council. The committee's sole responsibilty was the organization of highschool dances. By accepting my position, I netted the highly visible task of creating huge colour chalk murals on the blackboards of our school's cafeteria. One can imagine my excitement as day after day leading up to the big dance, I stood in front of the cafeteria crowd drawing my chalk wonders. And they were big, very big, covering an entire wall. My dance was in the art of chalk drawing. I created the magic of Hawaii, the pulse of a big city, or whatever dance theme the committee chose, and I created masterpieces in vibrant yellows, greens, oranges, red and blues. I could not dance but I sure could draw.


Catapulted to fame I could at least talk to Janet Dugit, Cheryl Christopher, and Ginny LaPointe. They were also members of the yearbook committee as was I. As a result of my blackboard masterpieces, I was asked to become art director for the school's yearbook. I did so for two years. During 1963 and 1964, Actiana, as was the title of our yearbook, was graced with many drawings of  school activities, cartoons, and other pertinent illustrations. For the yearbook of 1964, I obtained permission from Hanna-Barberra in Hollywood to use their famous Flintstones characters as subjects for my drawings. Actiana 64 was filled with images of Fred, Barnie, Wilma, Betty, BamBam, and Pebbles. A copy of the Actiana 64 yearbook became the largest entry in my portfolio of drawings which I submitted with my application for enrollment at the Ontario College of Art. 


From Hopmanshuis in Zwolle, to highschool dances and yearbooks at the Wallaceburg District Secondary School, my art was about to undergo a major change, namely that of formal training. In September of 1964, I began my fine art studies at the Ontario College of Art.

Fleas in my journal


John Gould, a fellow honourary member of the Drawing Society of Canada, once said that he never met a serious artist who did not write. The great Renaissance master, Michelangelo, was a prolific writer as well, crediting some five hundred sonnets to his name. 


Before I leave Wallaceburg for my next chapter in this Verstraete venture, I must share another special episode in my teenage journey, an encounter with fleas. As I remember this special moment, my soul is flooded with many warm memories, memories I had carefully recorded during that time.


My earliest memories of the art of writing were a thick journal I kept during the years I worked on a weekly bread route for Canada Bread. Gordon Spiering, who was a friend of the family, had offered me the job of assisting him with a large bread delivery route on Saturdays. The job meant getting up at 5 am every Saturday not to return home until some time around 6 pm. I earned ten dollars for the day's work, plus all the baked goods in the truck that I could eat. In addition, Gord taught me how to drive a truck, especially the art of driving a delivery truck over treacherous country roads during Ontario's infamous winters. When I turned sixteen, he felt confident to let me do the whole route by myself. By about 5:15 in the early morning, Gord's bread truck rolled up the driveway in front of our house. Together we drove straight to the depot where we loaded all sorts of breads, hamburger and hotdog buns, pies, cookies, donuts, sweet jelly rolls, biscuits, chelsea buns, and all the goodies that drove a hungry, sixteen-year old boy mad. After the truck was loaded, we were off to Cozy Corners Restaurant just a few blocks away. It was truly a cozy place where Gord and I filled up on eggs, toast, bacon, and coffee. Sometimes sales where not too good and we just had coffee. I also packed a generous lunch. I made my own sandwiches and earned quite a reputation for making great sandwiches, so great in fact, that Gord would eat half of them and in turn reward me with anythng I wanted from the truck. It was a good arrangement. We drank plenty of coffee along the way as the route, which covered three towns and over one hundred miles of country roads, did not lack coffee shops. Sometimes, especially during bitter cold winter months, I brought a thermos of hot soup. I had given up my paper route because I could earn much more on the bread route. Gord, who was very familiar with the hardships of our immigrant family, because his parents were immigrants, at the end of a long day would pack a large box full of buns, breads, donuts, and other baked goods knowing these could not be kept for the weekend to be sold on Monday. The box was a welcome sight every Saturday night when I came home. Some members of the Christian Reformed Church had hearts of pure gold. Gord and his wife Mary were two such saints. All these memories and events were carefully recorded in a large journal I kept in the truck. As both of us were not needed to carry the large breadbasket to the customer's door, we alternated our duties between filling up the basket in the truck and knocking on the customer's door.


While Gord left the truck to service a customer, I wrote in my journal. 


Our route took us far into the countryside surrounding Wallaceburg and as far away as the town of Dresden. Many customers were farmers. Often, after months of writing in my journal, I read the pages again and again to dream of one day writing a book about my bread route journeys. Suffice it to say the journeys were full of adventure, laughter and tears, joy and pain, as we experienced so many events every Saturday. I cannot begin to recount them all. I worked on that Saturday bread route for five years, until I left Wallaceburg to attend college in Toronto.


One Saturday, a few months after I began my job, I gathered the courage to ask Gord a question that had burned in my mind for weeks.


"How can you stand being among all these delicious baked goods all day, and not eat any of them? Doesn't it drive you mad?"


He simply smiled and said it was easy. Seeing my bewilderment, he made one of the most generous offers I have ever had. 


"Tell you what, Gerrit, you give me both your delicious sandwiches, and you can eat anything on the truck, all day - anything."


I was shocked. Anything? All day? 


" Are you sure Gord? I can eat a lot you know?


"I am sure, so why not start now," he replied.


So I did!


Somewhere on a country road just outside town I began opening the baked goods. First I warmed up some small mincemeat pies in the truck's cab heater. Gord had rigged a little door on the truck heater so he could open it up and heat up special treats. If you have never traveled in a drafty delivery truck, bumped over snow-covered country roads, while a small blizzard howled outside, and you had to open and close the big side doors of the truck every time you came to a customer, letting icy winds gust through truck and flesh, you have never experienced the bone-chilling cold I experienced on the bread route. Despite winter boots, a warm coat, scarves, woolen hat, and thick gloves, the cold permeated us by about 11 am. The work day did not end until about 5 pm. Then it was still a long drive back to the depot, to unload and finally make it home by 6 pm. Gord's little heater-oven invention was nothing short of a miracle.


Soon my mouth was stuffed with mincemeat pies. From the little pies I graduated to glazed donuts. I ate the whole box. Gord just smiled. I waited untill I had finished serving a few customers only to resume my excursion through the truck's baked goods. I did not, however, waste any food. I finished eating whatever package I opened. We had agreed on that. I was not about to open a box, eat one and leave the rest for Gord, or leave the box's contents to dry up somewhere in the back of the truck. I made sure not a crumb was wasted. The strawberry jellyroll was particularly delicious.


I began to worry whether I would bankrupt Gord.


"Are you sure, it's OK to eat all this stuff?" I asked.


"Just keep on going," said Gord. " If we run out we'll go back to the depot."


He must have known that would not be necessary and that I would soon reach the climax of my eating binge. I do not remember how long it was before I was truly full. I do think that Gord was surprised how much I managed to stuff into my hungry body, but he just smiled. Somewhere along a deserted country road that ran quietly between farms, I turned sweaty and a ghostly pale. Gord recognized the symptoms and immediately pulled the truck off to the side of the road. I opened the door hoping a blast of cold air would help. It did not.


I staggered out of the truck, not even caring to zip up my coat. My feet sank into a snowdrift along the side. I bent over and for the next agonizing eternity I vomited until I was sure my stomach and intestines had exited my body. When I was done, I stumbled back to the truck. I sat down on the inverted crate that was my co-pilot's seat and sighed. Gord closed the door. I looked up at him. He sat there grinning.


"You knew that was going to happen didn't you?" I stammered.


He just grinned and nodded. I managed a weak smile. 


"You'll never be tempted again," he said. 


"From now on you will be very selective about what you eat on this truck. In fact, most of the baked goods will just seem like products-for-sale to you, and no longer a temptation and feast for hungry eyes. I know, believe me I know. I did the same thing myself about a month after I started this bread route."


I felt strangely comforted. Gord was right. For five years it never bothered me again. In fact, we preferred my homemade sandwiches a whole lot more. 


The eating episode was given special attention in my journal.


I made long and detailed entries in my journal. The stories would one day make riveting chapters in my book I thought, but not as riveting as the story of one customer just outside the town of Dresden. He was an old man who lived by himself on a large sheep farm. He had made arrangements with Gord that about once a month he would buy all the stale stuff Gord had on the truck that day. He paid cash every time. He only asked that we would come into his house with the bread basket and go through the ritual of showing him all the stale baked goods we had. He seemed to like the idea of shopping from a basket. When he finished examining all the contents of our basket, he emptied the whole basket on his kitchen table and insisted he pay full retail price. He did not expect bargains. We did not argue. I often wondered what went on in that place when I saw Gord leave the truck and enter the man's house whenever it was that time of the month. I just stayed behind and wrote in my journal until one Saturday in May, when Gord said, "now it's your turn!"


It is difficult to imagine what was about to take place. The cliché, "you should have been there," was very appropriate for this experience. I grabbed the loaded bread basket, a wieldy wooden basket some two by three feet long and about ten inches deep, which could carry a lot of weight. To balance myself while I walked with the basket I stuck my left arm through the wide handle. Over time and with practise, I actually became very good at wielding the basket. Once it served as protection from a large yard dog who cornered me in a narrow laneway between a farmer's house and his garage. There I stood at one end of the passageway, basket over my arm and in front of me, lowered to just above my knees, while the dog stood growling at the other end. He pounced and I lowered the basket. He bit the basket and withdrew growling. With the basket still in front of me and the dog jumping and biting the front of my basket I knew I would be safe until I turned to swing myself and basket through the backdoor of the house. For a brief moment my legs were exposed. Suddenly the dog leaped and rushed forward, but he hit the door instead of me.


"Don't mind King," said the farmer's wife in the kitchen, as I tempted her with all our freshly baked goods. "He don't harm nobody. He's all bark and no bite."


She never did see the chewed-up front of my basket. She bought a lot that day. I managed to escape the same way I came, as King chewed some more off the basket. Once a very dangerous dog was so ferocious he bit my large boot and got his teeth stuck in the rubber. I dragged him and my basket back to the truck. The dog wouldn't let go. I grabbed a piece of flat iron we kept in the truck for just such a purpose. I clubbed the dog untill he let go. I think he was dead, but I did not stick around to lament his demise. I never saw that dog again. We encountered many extremely dangerous farm dogs on our route. They ran loose and wicked, chasing cars and trucks. They were especially fond of those who dared to come out of their vehicles to walk up the driveway. Gord and I were no exception. 


Here I was, however, once again ready to cradle the bread basket over my arm, and ready to meet my next challenge, the old sheep farmer. Fortunately there were no dogs. Gord stayed in the truck to update his sales journal.


Slowly I walked through a narrow gate at the front of the yard. An old dark house loomed before me, the kind you see in horror movies. Why would Gord ask me to go, I asked myself? Was this another object lesson as was the eating binge a few months before?


I carefully negotiated my way through sheep, dogs, chickens, cats, and critters too filthy to recognize. The yard was cluttered with broken farm equipment, old leaky barrels, hub caps and other car-parts strewn among generous portions of what looked like brown earth, but whose odour said otherwise. I walked up the steps manouvering the basket in front of me, not knowing what could possibly jump out at me once inside the house. The house had no door. I stepped inside and noticed the only difference between outside and inside were some dark bare walls. Sheep, dogs, cats, and critters, were everywhere. Gord had said to go to the room at the back. There I found the old man. He looked every bit the recluse I had imagined or had read about in books or seen in movies. He was very old and bent-over, appearing frail and weak and sitting in an even older armchair. He motioned me to come closer. At first I hesitated but as I looked more closely, he was not a victim of some social disease, or some poor hapless soul destined for welfare and a lonely demise. Despite his filthy sweater, long sticky straggly hair, old gumboots, and a chipped pipe, he appeared to be a whole lot stronger than at first glance. His eyes were clear, bright and friendly. With a motion of his arm he swept aside everything on an equally filthy table to make room for my breadbasket. He pointed to the basket and then to the table. Up until this moment he had not spoken a word. 


I put the basket square in front of him and began my sales pitch. I moved my hand over a stale collection of freshly baked apple pies, soft and sweet jelly rolls, chocolate donuts and a stack of bread that threatened to tip my basket. He motioned to me again to empty the basket on the table. He said little except to ask, "how much?" 


I answered as quickly as I could add up all the figures.


He put his right hand deep into his pocket and pulled out the biggest, fattest bankroll my teenage eyes had ever seen. He could barely hang on to the roll of bills. There were hundreds, fifties, twenties, tens and fives, all tightly rolled into a bundle. As he began to peel off the required number to pay for his purchase, a number of large fleas crawled from between the bills. They were cattle fleas of the big kind, and very visible to the naked eye. Even in that dark room I could see many of them crawl from the roll of money on to his hand. He didn't seem to care as he continued to count his money. I shuddered as he reached to give me the bills. It was a large amount for a large purchase and Gord would welcome the sale that Saturday.


I took the bills and dared not look to see if any of the fleas had made the trip from his pocket to my hand. I did not put the money in my pocket. I held the money in my hand. I closed my fist hoping whatever fleas were trapped in the money would not escape. The basket was empty. I tried graciously to make a quick exit. Were those fleas following me? I looked in the basket, but it was empty - no fleas. I threw the basket in the truck banging the sides against the steel door, making sure I was able to dislodge any remnant flea before we filled the basket again. Gord burst into laughter. I checked all my clothes, my hair and my shoes. No fleas. Yet somehow, as I began to recount the event in my journal, I felt a great need to scratch myself. Had those fleas made it to my clothes after all, perhaps even into my journal, to remain there until I would rewrite the events of that day in my upcoming epic novel? In words those fleas did make it into my journal, but in kind I hoped they were far away. Never again I thought. That man remained as Gord's own customer from that day on. Brrrr. Scratch, scratch.


But this story had an unfortunate ending.


Two years later, while having a coffee with Gord somewhere along the route, someone broke into the truck and stole some baked goods as well as my journal. Baked good I understood, but a journal? Perhaps the thief thought there was money stuck between the leaves of the book, but that was unlikely. We kept all our money in a large leather pouch we carried on our belts. There were no valuables in the truck, only bread and baked goods. I was devastated because there were many great stories in my journal, stories I had collected over three years and enough material for a very interesting book one day. So great was the loss, I lost all interest in journaling. I did not even bother to try and recall all those special memories and to record them again in another thick journal. For weeks I checked nearby garbage bins to see if the journal had been discarded. To no avail. It was lost forever. Only a handfull of memories remained, and "fleas in my journal," was one of them.

Toronto bound


My mother gave me a special letter she had written just before I left for college. I was not to read that letter until I was settled in Toronto and attending classes at the Ontario College of Art. On a sunny day in late August of 1964, I boarded the train for Toronto and art college. The train had barely left the station in Chatham, Ontario, when I opened my mother's letter. Peter de Haan, my roommate while attending college and I, were settled comfortably in the vinyl seats of our train. We watched the landscape outside our window pick up speed. Soon images of towns, farms, fields and the noisy bells of railway crossings, flashed past us in quick succession. I had no idea what my mother had written and I suspected no more than a mother's personal goodbye to a son who had left the family nest to join my older brother who had left home a year earlier. I carefully unfolded the single page that had been stuffed into a small envelope. But this was not some sentimental goodbye. In her letter she spoke of nothing else but a strong warning to watch out for the wicked women of the city, those women who would no doubt lure an innocent and unsuspecting young man like me into their Jezebel clutches. After all, it was my money those women were after, my mother wrote. Inwardly I laughed. Even though she was serious, I could not help smiling at her needless concern. My treasure chest was a modest bank account in which I had deposited barely enough money for my first half-year stay in Toronto. I had already pre-paid my entire first-year's tuition leaving very little for the year's other expenses such as rent, art supplies, food, transportation and clothing. My first order of business, once I arrived in Toronto, was to apply for a student loan to take care of the other half of the schoolyear. The wicked women of Toronto would find slim pickings in the pockets of this young man from Wallaceburg. Plus, I didn't even know what wicked women looked like. I had never seen a hooker before. Peter and I arrived at Toronto's Union Station by mid-afternoon. I was glad he was with me as prospects of being in such a big city all by myself were frightening. Regardless of what advice people offered two young men leaving for college, the culture shock of moving from a town of ten thousand to a metropolis of over a million was extreme. Any support along the way was welcome. Peter was a great support to me as I was to him during our first months in Toronto. We became good friends. 


Peter had taken a sudden interest in the Ontario College of Art when he discovered I had enrolled there. He had a passion for drawing anything and everything mechanical, especially cars. I knew Peter from the years we belonged to the same church youth group in Wallaceburg. When I discovered his awesome collection of Mechano sets, we soon became friends and spent many Sunday afternoons in his family garage, building huge mechanical structures. His parents agreed that OCA would be Peter's post-secondary choice as well.


The September air in Toronto was thick with foreign experiences for the two students from Wallaceburg. I remember looking like a tourist as we strained our necks to stare up the sides of tall skyscrapers and as we dodged thousands of cars that roared up and down University Avenue. The distance from our new home to the college was a short walk. On a previous occasion, intended as a fact-finding mission, Peter and I had hitchhiked the distance from Wallaceburg for a quick visit to Toronto. During our brief stay, we soon found an apartment, an L-shaped room ( like the old movie title ) to be exact. Our room was so close to the college, we could see the buildings from our window just half a block up the street. It was a prime location because it assured us we would not get lost in the big city. Carrying our suitcases, we left Union Station and walked up University Avenue to Queen Street. As we turned left it was only two very short blocks to McCaul Street, where stood the Ontario College of Art. Behind the college and sharing valuable space with the Art Gallery of Ontario, was The Grange, a park of beautiful old trees and wrought iron fences. John Street ran right into The Grange. On the third floor of an old, dirty-brick row-house, just steps from The Grange we found our L-shaped room, which was nothing more than a small dingy room with a double bed, a rickety old round table, four chairs, a dresser, and a table with a two-burner stove on it. The window ledge outside our only window served as a makeshift refrigerator. As long as cooler temperatures prevailed, we kept bottles of milk and cheap wine precariously perched on that ledge. Redemption came in the form of absolute security being able to see the college from our window. Across the street was a large building that housed the University Settlement Pool. It was our little miracle on John Street because our own bathroom facilities were horrible. Student admission price for the pool was just twenty-five cents including long hours of swimming and hot showers. Our first night in the L-shaped room turned out to be an unsettling experience. The air outside was warm and humid; the room was stuffy. We kept the window wide open and all through the night our room was filled with the noise of sirens, screeches, and squabbles up and down the street, yet this would be our home until the first summer break. We were living in the heart of the city, an area stretching east to west from Yonge Street to Spadina Avenue and south to north from King Street to Dundas Street. To my surprise and despite all the noise, somehow I felt at home. It did not take us long to familiarize ourselves with the multicultural neighbourhood of family restaurants, antique shops, and tobacco stores, all huddled together in a mixture of residential and retail space. I will never forget those formative years at the Ontario College of Art. I never strayed far from living downtown, at least not until a year after I was married. I grew to love that core of cornices, porticos, verandas, brick buildings, awnings, and tiny little patches of green lawn strung like patchwork between structures of steel, concrete and glass. Toronto in 1964, was a special place to be. It was home.


The city of Toronto was also in a time of transition from a sedate conservative city of bankers and blue-collar workers, to an international centre of arts and culture.


It was also a time of transition for Toronto's youth, as a relatively genteel beatnik crowd soon made way for the carnage of Britain's Carnaby Street, precipitated by the onslaught of the Beatles, those "Fab Four" of John, Paul, George, and Ringo. That year the Americans elected L.B. Johnson as President. He was a big blustering Texan who soon ordered an escalation of conflict in Vietnam in a war that began ten years earlier in 1954, and a war that had grown into a no-win, politically expensive and humiliating defeat for the Americans. Many Americans became consciencious objectors-turned-draft-dodgers who streamed north to Toronto. The air was thick with protests, hippies, and a kaleidoscope of colours. South of the border, racial tensions and burning ghettos threatened to tear the American fabric apart. The air became tainted with the acrid smells of marijuana. In the midst of all this change we stared out of our John Street window, just a young man and his friend from Wallaceburg, that small farmtown in south western Ontario, where the only conflicts were an ongoing war between the Wallaceburg Red Devils and the Brantford Indians, as each team fought in often bloody combat for the coveted lacrosse trophy, as well as the struggle between church and state, as to whether I could dance with Janet, Cheryl, or Ginny.


From our window I could see and hear the sights and sounds of a changing city.


Below gathered Toronto's newest citizens - the love children of the sixties.


Four years of study at the Ontario College of Art immersed my body and soul in the culture of these love children. In many ways I became one of them even though I had little time to participate in any of their activities. I was not a disillusioned student. I loved my studio and social time at art college. I had a passion for artistic study. They were good years.


"What the world needs now is love sweet love," wrote Burt Bacharach and Hal David in 1965. San Fransisco had Haight-Ashbury where everyone shouted, "hey, dig all the beautiful freaks!" Toronto had Yorkville where we shouted "hey, dig all the beautiful freaks!" Yorkville was a string of coffeehouses, boutiques, galleries, and obscure eateries. Yorkville had become the centre of a Canadian universe where life was "where it's at!" It remained that way for at least seven years until my first venture into business with Joe Hatt-Cook. As owners of Folio Productions, later Folio Advertising Agency Ltd., our first office was located on Yorkville Avenue. We had a groovy business address, the envy of many other creative shops. It was in our Yorkville office where I painted psychedelic designs on the bodies of dancers in the rock musical HAIR, a musical that had swept New York and now was about to leave its mark on Toronto. Our creative shop handled all the publicity and advertising for HAIR.


Yorkville was synonymous with shoulder-length hair, paisley shirts, colours of every rainbow, headbands, and body paint. The trip was simply, "wow man!" Love was in the air, at least the commercial kind whose word love translated into cash for a lot of hippie merchandise, both legal and illegal. In Strawberry Fields and Yellow Submarines we floated down Toronto's streets hoping the dream would never end. Even though I was caught up in the mainstream of social change in the sixties, I spent most of my time making every hour at the college count. OCA was home and I loved the atmosphere, the students, and the instructors, some of whom were Canada's genuine drawing masters, who I would encounter again much later in my life when I founded the Drawing Society of Canada. I graduated with honours from the Ontario College of Art in the Spring of 1968, just a year before the infamous Woodstock gathering of 400,000 young people. 


While the world around me revolved in a kaleidoscope of psychedelic colours, all-night dances at Club 888, endless journeys on Toronto's fabled public transit known as the "Red Rockets," those maroon electric trolleys that navigated the city through every warm spring and rustic fall, and the endless parade of hippies and wannabees on Yorkville, I spent full days in class and in the studio, leaving just enough time for a quick lunch and the trip home after school. Evenings were mostly occupied by finishing school projects. I was never much of a social creature other than among a select group of students who had become dear friends. Somehow I have managed to remember names like Dave Findlay, Marina Stoklasa, Rod, Johnny Alexander, Jan, and Katherine ( "Kit" ) Harding. College was serious business and I knew that one day I would need the AOCA diploma to enter the world of graphic art and fine art. No Beatle, no "joint," no protest march, no picket sign, were worth squandering years of hard work at art college. 


It was difficult to select highlites from those four years, as they were exciting and good years, some of the best of my life, despite a Toronto that was crumbling into the free-everything social batter of post-modern society.. But who can forget names like the Beatles, the Stones, Bob Dylan, Jimi Hendrix, Buffalo Springfield, Timothy Leary, and Cream, just to name a few of my contemporaries. The sixties also turned Toronto's youth to drugs. My only encounter with drugs was one small puff of marijuana as it bubbled through wine in a water pipe. I didn't even bother to inhale the putrid smoke. Much ado about nothing I thought, as I returned to my usual, every-day, working-man's cigarette. Although I was acutely aware of the changing times and in some way could not avoid its influence on my student life, I did not float along with the crowd in their mainstream of drugs, free love, and alcohol. Fine art studies at the college was not some laid-back, "hey man," affair. Creativity was then and is now hard work. I loved the discipline of hard work and the result was a thorough grounding in the traditions of art, both past and contemporary.


I met some incredible people along the way, despite a regret that my religious upbringing nearly crippled me as a social being. After all, better not get too close to those "Canadians," especially at an art college, a place synonymous with paganism and heathen culture, at least in the minds of so many religious people. God knows what you may pick up. Fearing for my eternal life while at art college and the wrath of the elders, I stayed on the fringe of social contact, except for a few friends. As in highschool, I still didn't go to dances until Johnny Alexander, who was a first-year art college student from Jamaica, taught me how to dance. However, it remains a regret that I never had the courage to maintain long-lasting friendships with some very special people. So, wherever you are, Johnny, Jan, Rod, Dave, Gail, Rick, Peter, Marina, Katherine "Kit," and all the others? God bless you. May we meet again one day and re-live the long nights in the student lounge, where we solved all the world's problems, as well as remember the times we walked together downtown with a quick stop-over at the local corner bakery for a liverwurst-and-cheese on a kaiser, and the quiet strolls down philosophers' walk at the University of Toronto, somewhere between my college and the Royal Ontario Museum, where we attended art lectures. How can I forget late night travels on streetcars, the fabled Red Rockets, just to see a friend safely home, or to help a friend in need. One such friend was a classmate who needed encouragement in a desperate way. She wanted to commit suicide simply because she had allowed her work to become such a backlog, she saw no way out. Failure would have been not only a personal disaster, but a shameful return to family and friends in Winnipeg. I stayed with her all afternoon and night as we poured over endless projects, with barely enough time for a bite to eat, yet enough time to catch up all her work. When morning came, somehow the sun seemed warmer as we took the subway to college. We were both very tired but I felt assured she had survived the ordeal. She passed the assignments and successfully completed her Foundation Year, only to quit college soon after and return to Winnipeg. Many more special memories remain locked away, not in secret, but in some form of a timewarp that may someday permit me to share them with others. 


Sometimes I wish I could turn the clock back and do art college all over again.


If I may boast for a minute longer, I was a good and faithful student, well liked by both student body and faculty. I made the best of my four years of study, earning me a number of scholarships, an honours graduation, and the coveted bronze OCA Medallion for Proficiency. When times permitted I have often returned to the streets and city blocks of downtown Toronto, a place filled with good memories. Whenever I return to my college roots and I walk the streets around the old buildings, memories of people and events flood back. I owe much to a great art instructor who taught me to observe life and in my observations discipline my mind to remember people, places, and events. It all began in a college studio class called "Field Research," taught by the renowned Canadian painter Carl Schaefer. Field Research were fancy words for the art of observation. He taught me this art of observation through endless drawings completed en plein air, or on location on the streets in and around the college and downtown Toronto. Everywhere I looked I found objects to draw. I filled many sketchbooks with drawings of trees, old brick houses, factory sites, close-ups of structural details, alleyways, garbage cans, and piles of boxes behind a store. I made drawings of pipes, ships in the harbour, construction sites, and heaps of stuff whose indentities escape me, yet all to be found within blocks from the college. Again with great regret, none of these sketchbooks have survived, but the discipline of observation did survive. I tapped into those roots of observation of long ago once more in the late nineties, when I began filling sketchbook after sketchbook with the people and faces of Nanaimo's coffeeshops. As I write this account, four such sketchbooks contain over two thousand faces in quick-sketch form, all because Carl Schaefer taught me to see with artist's eyes.


But no one could prepare or discipline me for what I saw one October evening.


The event took place while attending the Ontario College of Art, and stands out miles above all the other events of my college years. It happened on October 31, 1964. 


The occassion was a Halloween party organized by two young men I had gotten to know at a church group in the "uptown" Eglinton and Yonge area of Toronto. Even though I considered church attendance was not a requirement of personal faith, but rather because I was expected to attend, my attendance nevertheless was sparse, yet not sparse enough to miss Tom and John. Tom Herman and John Koops were two young men with good careers and a penthouse-like suite in a large apartment building in "uptown" Toronto, on Broadway Avenue. They loved to entertain. We got along very well from the day we first met. John was a fabulous cook. For a young and usually hungry college student with limited funds and a regular diet of canned goods, this friendship was an answer to prayer. John cooked up an extravaganza of sumptuous dishes. His generous and frequent offers to join them for dinner were too good to refuse. In exchange I gave them endless hours of attention as we talked the night away in pursuit of dreams, philosophy, and the usual male boasting of rich exploits and business ventures. We spent our time looking over the city from his high-above-the-masses balcony. When other young people joined us, we burned candles and sat on the floor among fishnets and other collectables. We gathered as young men and women of the sixties, to discuss life, politics, art, love, and of course the church. That October evening in 1964, was no exception, except we had a theme for the night. John and Tom had decided to throw a big Halloween bash, a costume party the likes of which would remain the "talk of the office" for weeks. Wherever it was the two worked, this was to be the party of parties, or at least so they thought. 


Costume parties, however, were never high on the list of my priorities. I neved did like getting dressed up. Perhaps it was because I spend some of my childhood years being "dressed-up" in my uncle's hand-me-downs.


"What shall I wear? " I remembered asking John.


"Just come as you are," John replied.


"Just as I am? But what about my costume?"

 
"Come dressed as an 'artist'. That will be your costume!" said John.


I had forgotten how much the "artist" had become a thing of stature and image in the Bohemian years of post-fifties Toronto. To have artists as friends was the "in-thing" to have. John and Tom and most of their friends were career people, office people to be exact, who were caught up in a world of capitalist pursuits. Peter and I were the real thing, so they thought. We were art students, so we attended their party dressed in our regular, daily college-wear, only to lead the others to believe our corduroy pants, bright-coloured shirts, black Beatle-boots and sheepskin coats, were the "costumes" of real-life artists. The party turned out to be a real success. 


Sometime during the evening the apartment doorbell rang. 


"You want to get the door, Gerrit?" shouted John from somewhere in the middle of a group of noisy party-goers.


"Sure thing, John."


I stood up, feeling somewhat light-headed because of a drink called a "Black Russian," but clear-headed and sober enough to open the door and stand face to face with my future.


My life would never be the same again.


There in front of me, framed by the open door, stood my future.


She was beautiful, blond, and with the most inviting smile I had ever experienced. 


Something happened the moment I saw her.


It took but a microsecond for me to realize something had actually happened. I stood there staring, frozen in time and in love. 


John came to the door and gave the young woman's date a welcome handshake, only to turn to her and embrace her with a big hug. He seemed awfully friendly with this young woman. What, competition already?


Then he turned to me and said, "Gerrit, I'd like you to meet my sister, Alice!"


Deep within the confines of my heart, amidst vain attempts at social contact, amidst the memories of fear of ever being liked by a girl, and amidst hopeful signs of social healing among college friends, I found the silent courage to believe she was the one. As if a sudden summer rainstorm had disappeared as quickly as it came, gone were nineteen years of inhibition and bashful shots at friendhips with girls. I shook her hand and welcomed her to the party. I felt as if I was suspended in space. I knew beyond the shadow of a doubt I was sober. Black Russians were not playing games with me. I saw no one but her. Everyone else at the party was swallowed up in the revelry. I wanted nothing more that to get to know this Alice.


She smiled back as she entered the apartment. Soon I found her talking with Peter, my roommate, as well as with other partygoers.


It turned out that her "date" was only a ride to the party. 


I breathed a sigh of relief. 


My mind began its lovestruck calculations.


So far, no boyfriend. I would deal with Peter later. First things first. Alice and I got to know each other as best as we could that night. We talked and talked, me more than she. What else is new eh? But she enjoyed our conversation. I don't remember how soon after I said "hi" that evening, just to get her attention. Then I told her that I loved her, and I do know it didn't take long to realize my love-struck condition. True love has a tendency of being right the first time. I had never had a girlfriend and no doubt I was a bit over-zealous that evening. In fact, I had no real idea who this Alice was. She had just broken up with a young man from Hamilton. She was hurt but free. Perhaps I was overzealous, perhaps I was just too lovestruck to care, but in words I cannot even remember, I told her that night that I had fallen in love with her. The next morning, I shared the events of that evening with Peter, reminding him to back off any hopes he had for getting to know this Alice too. He must have known I was determined and serious, because he remained respectfully distant from that moment on. Yes, we remained good friends, but a classic "love triangle" never developed. 


I was in love.


I knew it and I spared no time in telling anyone who would listen.


Within days everyone at OCA knew I was in love.


Alice was not as quick to reply. Even though her response was a genuine and warm "I like you very much," I would have to wait many months for the words I longed to hear. 


About six months later, as Alice and I walked along Dundas Street in the early hours of an April evening, a late-winter dusting of snow began to drift gently into the soft light of streetlamps. We walked hand in hand, intent on having dinner together and catching a movie at the Imperial Theatre. My thoughts drifted with the falling snow as time stood still. I was with Alice and nothing else mattered. It was also 1965, my twentieth birthday.


On the corner of Dundas Street and University Avenue, in the light of a tall overhead streetlamp, with gently drifting snow, and yes for all you romantic movie lovers, that's really what happened, she turned to me and said, "I love you Gerrit."


But, I must return to close the tale of my college years.

The OCA Years

My four years at the Ontario College of Art, and my young adult journey through Toronto for what would be the better part of nearly thirty years, were times of genuine growth and experience. Gone was the closet environment of a small south western Ontario town and gone was the intimidation of so many of the town's people who had made me feel like an immigrant, and not as a welcome addition to the Canadian family. Toronto was the end of ever feeling like a second-class citizen again. Be assured, I did not condemn the entire town of Wallaceburg. I had friends who were good friends and I knew people in town who were truly wonderful people such as the Brand, the Woodrow, and the Spiering families. It was more a feeling, an overall prevailing mindset of inferiority and intimidation, that left me after I started to attend art college. A new mindset was birthed in Toronto, a mindset of knowing deep inside I never belonged in Wallaceburg. I have always loved the big city and to this day, despite its screaming pace of life, I will visit Toronto and walk again and again those same streets that were my home during the mid-sixties, especially the streets immediately surrounding the Ontario College of Art and mere blocks from Yonge and Queen.


During four intense art college years, I spent long days in the classroom-studio creating project after project in a range of work that spanned from sculpture, painting, and drawing, to photography, two and three dimensional design, and packaging design. My first year at OCA, identified in the school calendar as "Foundation Year," was a broad mix of artistic experiments spread over four quarters and designed to allow every student an overview of visual arts. At some time during the year the college's faculty hoped I would gain a better understanding of what direction in art I really wanted to take. The choice was broad because second, third, and fourth year programs were available in Drawing and Painting, Advertising, Industrial Design, Interior Decorating, and Sculpture. Peter chose Industrial Design and I chose Advertising. It was also a good time to go to art college. The early and mid-sixties were years that preceded the infamous academic rebellions that plagued our college as well as other universities. However, and despite those rebellious times, I enjoyed college years because the college's governors and faculty remained committed to an arts curriculum of highest calibre. I chose Advertising because it seemed the best choice if I were to ensure some form of employment after graduation. However, Advertising was not a curriculum resigned totally to the pursuit of marketing and selling products and services. The Advertising curriculum at OCA in the sixties included such classics of fine art as drawing and painting. My three years of study at OCA, following Foundation Year, also included the other classics of academic and studio courses, studio courses such as anatomy, life drawing, costume drawing, painting, perspective, design, illustration, layout, lettering, photography, techniques, typography, and a healthy portion of art lectures and projects facilitated at the Royal Ontario Museum. To this day I consider my four years at OCA, just before the rebellions hit, to be the most valuable of art studies a person could possibly get anywhere in Canada. 


Throughout my college years I was recipient of a number of awards to complement the standards of my work at the college. These awards included the brewing giant's "O'Keefe Brewing Company Scholarship" in 1966, the "Rolph Clark Stone Limited Scholarship" in 1967, and the "Ontario College of Art Medal for Proficiency" in 1968. Graduation year in 1968, also awarded me "Admakers '68," a special recognition by The Advertising & Sales Club of Toronto. When at last my formal art education was completed in May 1968, I received the coveted appointment to Associate of the Ontario College of Art for successfully completing, with honours, four years of study. The appointment was confirmed by a handsome diploma that bears my name.


It is now thirty-five years after graduation ceremonies, but I remain proud to carry the initials AOCA, Associate of the Ontario College of Art, behind my name.


Another significant milestone during the OCA years, was the 1968 college yearbook. According to a long-standing college tradition, the yearbook was always designed by fourth year honour students. Therefore, in keeping with this tradition, a group of ten fourth-year honour students were asked in September of 1967, at the beginning of the 67/68 academic year, to submit designs for the 1968 college yearbook. I was one of ten students asked to submit such a design. 


To design the yearbook of an art college was no small task. Not only was it a challenge whose reward was prestige and recognition, the team who would eventually complete all the work to produce such a yearbook was pretty well guaranteed their fourth year grades. In fact, the design and production of OCA's yearbook was a fulltime, hands-on project that lasted nearly seven months, with printed copies arriving just before year-end in April. There would be little time to do anything else while working on the yearbook. The yearbook tradition had an additional honour for one specific student. The student whose design was chosen was given the honour of serving as art director for the whole project. His production team included all the other honour students who had submitted designs. I was truly honoured to be selected to submit a design, but the creation of an entire yearbook weighed heavy on my conscience. Many of my fellow students who were selected, rose to meet the challenge with exceptional zeal. Soon their ideas began to fill sketchbooks in enormous quantity. And they were great ideas. I, however, drew a blank. Perhaps it was the sheer intimidation of an entire yearbook or my need to be somehow unconventional, or just plain "different" that kept me from producing a single idea for the book, but ideas remained frozen. Nevertheless, as ideas of the other nine flourished like flowers in a spring meadow, my stream was dry. Some of the design concepts were very handsome. But this was 1967, and the Ontario College of Art was steeped in the throes of a flourishing post-modern era where abstraction, abstract expressionism, and minimalism were beating the romantics, the realists, and the impressionists to the post. It was also a time of tremendous social upheaval. The sixties were in full bloom, and people were captivated by new experiences of vibrant colours and a freedom of creativity never seen before. Life became a virtual arts explosion that rivalled the less fortunate explosion of drugs and sex, which clouded the exuberance of so much creativity. My mind was flooded with questions of relevancy and impact of a proposed yearbook. How could any art college ever stand tall and unique in such a flood of artistic expression and social change? Pragmatically, how could the design of our yearbook ever stand out as my personal portfolio of work amidst the hundreds of art college and art school graduates who would soon roam the streets of Toronto, hoping to find a sympathetic art director and a job? Whether my ideas would be selected or not, the design and production of this yearbook would in fact be my most prized example of student work in my portfolio. The deadline for design submissions approached fast. One student was nearly finished with an elaborate mockup of the entire book. I felt overwhelmed, yet inside my heart I knew the answer lay somewhere else. Despite art's voluptuous developments during the sixties, OCA still had many traditions and conventions. As was the case in every college and university, the yearbook was one such tradition. Blue gowns and caps for graduation ceremonies were other traditions. All of them, however, appeared to be out-of-date. Perhaps I could not change the convention of gowns and caps, but I could aim to change the convention of a yearbook, if my design was selected. But how? The deadline for submissions was only days away. All the other students were putting finishing touches on their design presentations. I had yet to put any ideas on paper.


At last, with hours to spare, I arrived at a breakthrough. 


I had an inspiration.


The night before all designs were due, I worked until early hours of the morning. Finally I knew what do do. My answer was inspired by one of the most popular designs of the day - the poster. The poster had become a hallmark of art and advertising popularity in the sixties. Wherever a wall offered a few spare feet of space, posters sprang up everywhere. Music groups were some of the most prolific consumers of posters. Everybody wanted a poster. Everyone wanted bright, colourful, design-y posters. A concept began to grow in my head.


With a stockpile of coloured felt markers and a huge layout pad, as well as a pot of coffee and some loud music, I began to design a series of posters, each representing a department of the college. My prsentation suggested a poster for each of the college's many department with a proposal that each department would design its own poster, as directed by my fellow students who were part of the team. It was a brilliant cooperative idea I thought. My presentation included the tradition that I remain in charge as overall art director to ensure my design concept was followed exactly. So I began drawing poster after poster in a flurry of quick feltpen layouts. One of my favourite studio classes was advertising design, where I was taught the techniques of feltpen rendering for newspaper and magazine layouts. I felt right at home as page after page of my layout pad filled with bright colours and bold designs. My design for each poster was simply a concept to "sell" the idea of my yearbook or yearposter to a jury of OCA faculty and Toronto designers. 


My yearbook was not a book.


My yearbook was a collection of posters.


To "bind" the whole collection of posters together in a "book," I created an impressive mat-black mailing tube with a bright label that wrapped like a red-and-white barberpole design around the tube. At one end of the label was a photograph of a trumpet to herald this unique design concept. When I slowly turned the mailing tube around, the label ended with a photograph of a reclining nude. Now all I needed to do was sell the jury. I don't remember how late it was, or how early in the morning, but at last, exhausted from all that flurry of creativity, I rolled nine large poster ideas into a black mailing tube and carefully glued the long label to the tube. 


When our morning of decision came, I and nine other students sat with nervous expectation outside the college's large boardroom, waiting to make our respective presentations, and each clutching our prized possession in a portfolio in our laps. I was last as the order of presentations was determined alphabetically. I think I had my first taste of eternity that morning as hours crawled slowly by. Keith Rushton's design was the favourite to win. His design was an elaborate book with sumptuous art-nouveau designs and lots of contemporary graphics. It was a masterpiece. For a moment I entertained all sorts of doubts about my presentation, but I remembered the zeal with which it was birthed at the last hour. Finally, when my turn came, it was the shortest presentation they had ever seen. Eight jurors sat around the table, expecting a presentation of yet another book with a page by page description of the design's merits. With some degree of theatrical drama I admit, I rolled the tube on the table making sure each juror saw the trumpet photograph slowly wrap around the tube to end at the reclining nude. They didn't know what to expect. I didn't say a word. Then I carefully removed the posters from the tube and spread them on the table. My words remained simple. I made sure they understood I was proposing a design concept that would involve the participation of others and not just feature my design alone. I proposed a collaborative creative work rather than a solo work. The jurors showed no reaction and gave me a genuine but polite thank you. I felt relieved and figured Keith had won. But, at least I would be on his production team. The other students were suprised that I lasted such a short time. The atmosphere in the hallway where we waited outside the meeting room remained tense. Regardless of Keith's great design, Russel and Stan each had submitted excellent ideas as well. About twenty minutes later, the jury of faculty and designers met with us and with great enthusiasm announced my design as the winner. 


Everyone was shocked, especially me, first because my design was so unconventional and perhaps too daring, and second because I had spent so little time actually making a mockup of my design. It appeared as if I had snubbed all the others students who had spent so much time doing so much work to create a yearbook. 


Nevertheless, I was appointed art director and given the task of appointing my team. As an offering of peace and friendship I went first to Keith Rushton who was noticably shocked and irritated. I assured him my design was in no way superior to his. It was the concept of something bright and new instead of a book, that sold the jury. I asked him to join the team. When the moment finally settled, everyone readily agreed to join the team. We were given a large room below the auditorium's stage and within days our production and design team met to plan the next seven months. News spread through the college like wildfire. Gerrit Verstraete had won the design competition. The college would have posters for a yearbook? Groovy Man! 

Immediately, and with permission from the college I sent a news release to the major Toronto daily newspapers and got good press coverage of the unique event. Despite a few mishaps and some minor personality irritations, the 1967/68 yearbook, or yearposters, under my direction, became an award winning design and a showcase for the college. The final product was a great success and gave OCA a much needed boost of favourable public opinion as many remembered 1968, as the year of "the great OCA sit-in." Our unique yearbook brought international recognition to the college and the team that put the project together, including myself as designer and art director of the entire project. A special award was given to the College and its revolutionary yearbook when my design was selected to be included in an ambitious international project called, "Graphic Design Canada," a retrospective touring exhibition that traveled throughout Canada and Europe, sponsored by the Society of Graphic Designers and the National Design Council. The yearbook itself was awarded entry as well as the designs of four individual posters. Keith Rushton's design was one of the individual poster designs selected. He was a happy and vindicated man. Another of the four posters selected was my personal design for OCA's Advertising Department. "Graphic Design Canada" was also published in book form that same year. I basked in the recognition of my work. It was the first time in my life I had been duly recognized for a creative work. It was a long way from another competition I won in highschool, when I was the only Wallaceburg resident who entered a design for the official crest of the Sydenham Valley Conservation Authority. It was a good design and I won. But because I was the only entry the SVCA did not give me the winner's prize. Instead they gave me a pair of cheap chrome cufflinks in a dusty box. I didn't even own a shirt with French-cuffs. I can still remember how disappointed and insulted I felt. But this yearbook was no cheap cufflinks. I was thrilled with the honour that I had won. I was equally excited I could share the glory with a great team of fellow students who worked so hard to make the whole project a success.


The entire yearposter project allowed me to work inside and outside the college for the better part of a school year, giving me hands-on experience working with photographers, typesetters, film and plate makers, and Rolph Clark Stone Limited, the prestigious Toronto printing company who printed our posters and mailing tubes. I came well within budget and took advantage of the opportunity to print a number of extra copies for myself, about two dozen, which I used as my personal portfolio to send to art directors in Toronto's design studios and advertising agencies. There were enough left over to send to a few New York companies as well.

It was the best portfolio I could have ever hoped for. I was proud of my work throughout the entire project. Local press was enthusiastic and somehow the Ontario College of Art was no longer branded with the label of a hangout for rebellious youth. Instead, the college's fine art image remained intact as the quality school it had always been, and still able to produce world-class designs.

The Great Ontario College of Art Sit-In

"The Great Student Sit-in Swings On," blazoned the full-page headline of the Friday, February 23, 1968, edition of the Toronto Telegram. The photograph accompanying the story was dramatic. Spread over the full width of a page, it showed a mass of students gathered in OCA's auditorium. In the centre a number of students were playing their guitars. Most were smiling. The caption read, "Some students play guitar, others play cards or Chinese checkers as the Ontario College of Art student sit-in attracts 600 demonstrators to the combination cafeteria-auditorium yesterday." I was my first taste of the media's abilility to manipulate truth. 


The story itself began with a sub-head of, "500 still boycotting their classes." The story was written by Robert Sutton, a Telegram staff reporter. 


The furor all began when OCA principal Sydney Watson fired long-service teachers Aba Bayefsky and Eric Freifeld, whose appointments commented Watson, "were impossible." Both Bayefsky and Freifeld claimed secret deals were being forged by college management to drastically alter the drawing and painting curriculum. Both were summoned to the principal's office and given sealed envelopes in the presence of all department heads and a student council representative. Inside the envelopes were their dismissal notices. Drawing and painting students alleged that their number of hours of instruction were to be cut to a point in which the course would become meaningless. Principal Watson denied any such secret curriculum deals and the fight was on. Many claimed the resulting protest had the support of eighty percent of the student body. Student leaders from the University of Toronto, York University, Ryerson, Centennial College, and Glendon College, agreed to meet and offer support for the OCA protest. Brian Switzman, vice-president of the Canadian Union of Students, pledged support of other student-faculty groups. The "sit-in" was on, after all, this was the sixties and sit-ins were very popular. 
Principal Watson faced angry protesters and mass picket lines according to the newspaper report. The truth, however, was that only about 120 members of the drawing and painting department objected to the administration's curriculum changes. These 120 represented no more than ten percent of the college's 1030 students. In fact, the whole process of curriculum change had been democratically presented by the student council as part of an overall reform proposal. Drawing and painting students, however, were not represented because drawing and paintings students, by their own choice, had remained absent from participating in the student council. For some reason they did not want to be part of the democratic process for curriculum reform. 


The student protest did not fare well with Toronto's business community either.


One Toronto design firm jumped at the opportunity of free publicity by publically claiming that OCA graduates were worthless. Hugh Spencer of Arthur & Spencer Ltd., sympathized with the student uprising and pronounced, "I can't afford to hire Ontario College of Art graduates because they are of no commercial value." He made another even bolder claim that OCA "had become isolated from the mainstream of life." It was a cheap shot based on media hype about a protest that was essentially the doings of a small group of students who had chosen not to resolve matters democratically. Most students featured in the impressive photograph of that day's Telegram knew little about what was going on. Most students were in the auditorium only to have lunch and no doubt as an added attraction, enjoy a rather festive break in current events. Many students, as well as members of management and faculty and other college associations, condemned the demonstrations. 



When a protest march was organized to travel to the Ontario Legislature just a few blocks from OCA, the event drew many students simply because it looked like an anti-war demonstration complete with a ceremonial black coffin. It was "in" to march in any anti-war demonstration during those years. It made for good media as well as a great way to spend an afternoon away from classes. Some thought the unexpected revelry of the protest would get a spot in Canada's history books. We never got that spot. Most of us have forgotten the march. 


I was too busy with my yearbook.


I was able to recall all these details with accuracy because I still have that page from the Toronto Telegram in my personal files. My experience with media manipulation was educational to say the least, because at the time, I knew many of the students in the photograph and they were not protesting. They were having lunch. It was more like a "mass eat-in," an event that occurred in our college every noon hour. If you look carefully at the photograph, there are three students standing at the back of the "Great Sit-in." They were Barry Grant, a female student whose name escapes me, and myself. The three of us were on our way to the yearbook production room under the stage. The only way to get there was through the auditorium. 


We were frozen in a press photographer's attempt to create an impressive panorama for a protest that never really was. About a month later, despite reports by a local businessman that the college was "bankrupt of thought in the curriculum," as he boasted that his five European-trained designers employed by his firm were far superior, the Ontario College of Art, that infamous rebel art school, presented the local, national, and international design community, with an award-winning yearbook that silenced many critics and boosted each OCA graduate's chance to get a job and build a successful career in the visual arts.

Swiss Chalet and the Imperial Theatre


Amidst a very busy schedule of studio work and study at OCA, I was able to spend at least every other Saturday with Alice. Usually, she came to the city from Burlington, just west of Toronto. Our dates were wonderfully simple and romantically predictable. I lived just a few city blocks from a downtown Greyhound bus terminal at Dundas and Bay Street. By late afternoon Alice arrived and as we stood and embraced each other on the bus platform, it seemed like an episode from one of those hopelessly romantic, Hollywood, black & white movies. Momentarily caught, as if in the viewfinder of a motion-picture camera, we held each other. Around us the noise and clatter of buses, pedestrians, luggage carts, and PA systems, just didn't seem to matter. Puffs of steam and exhaust filled the air. Short of having a sunset to ride into, we held hands, walked close together, and headed towards Yonge Street. One large block over and about half a block up Yonge Street was the city's first and only Swiss Chalet Restaurant. Today the restaurant is a national chain bearing little resemblance to the actual Swiss Chalet on Yonge Street in 1965. Complete with decor and a staff dresscode that somehow made you think of the Swiss Alps, the restaurant was our favourite spot "on the strip." It was huge. Tables and booths had plenty of room for my long legs, and the food was generous and delicious. How can I ever forget their chicken dinners, great fries, and "Swiss Chalet sauce" for dipping. Over thirty years later, Swiss Chalet opened in Nanaimo, British Columbia. I knew the manager Mark Timpson, because he had worked for me as master chef in charge of a luxurious buffet diningroom at the Chemainus Theatre. The day I told Mark my story of the first Swiss Chalet on Yonge street, happened to be the day the manager from head office in Toronto was visiting Nanaimo. I got to tell him my story as well. He was so overwhelmed, he told all the staff about our dates and offered my entire family dinner "on the house". 


Yonge Street was a busy, charismatic, and vibrant place in the sixties. You could not take a single step without avoiding sixties rock music pouring from loudspeakers everywhere. Every other establishment, at least so it seemed, was a café or club. After dinner we walked hand in hand down Yonge Street towards the Imperial Theatre. The Imperial was a grand movie theatre in the style and tradition of theatres long ago. Years later the Imperial would capitulate to a number of multi-screen, shoebox enclosures, a far cry from the original Imperial. But in 1965, the Imperial was imperial indeed. After we walked a modest incline at the entrance of the theatre, we came upon a huge staircase that wound majestically up the side of a grand foyer to land on a spaceous second floor. There we found our favourite spot snuggled reasonably close to the back. Yes, I admit, in the darkness of that theatre we stole many a kiss. Being of Dutch, meaning frugal background, however, I also made sure I caught most of the movie. After all, I did pay for the feature. Needless to say, Alice was worth every dollar. I remember that the whole affair of dinner and a movie for two was just about ten dollars. After our movie we made our way to the nearest subway stop from where we rode north to the end of the line only to catch a bus to where Alice's brother John lived. Usually I dropped Alice off, hoping to see her again the following morning when I took her back to the bus station. Sometimes she stayed a bit longer and we went to church together. We had perfected the art of sitting upright in our pew, looking perfectly pious, yet able to hold hands without being detected by those "devil-behind-glass" elders. Occasionally, when a date got too late and busses were no longer running, or we just missed the last one, I stayed at John's place as well. There was always a decent couch to sleep on. I remember feeling particularly daring knowing that Alice was sound asleep in the next room - with the door closed.


Even though I often shared my joys of meeting Alice with my classmates, our relationship remained very private. After all, Alice still attended highschool in Hamilton, while I was a college student.


Those rare times when my friends at OCA got to meet Alice, were very special. It seemed as if the entire class had fallen in love with her. Perhaps it was the novelty that she was neither a fellow student nor an artist. No doubt it was her blond hair, her shy disposition among all these college students, and her youthful looks, that captured their hearts. She was only sixteen when I first met her. As an artist I was caught up in a student's world of artistic temperament, forever philosophizing about the world's woes and our creative solutions to solve every problem. They were heady years. Alice seemed untouched by our artistic rhetoric and therefore had a sense of innocence about her, which made her even more attractive. Our favourite rendezvous was the Royal Ontario Museum. On a couple of occasions, her highschool class made the trip from Hamilton to Toronto, for a tour of the ROM. Both times fell on a Monday, precisely the day I had lectures at the museum as well as hours of drawing artifacts deep within the bowels of the museum's galleries. Lunch as usual, was in a crowded cafeteria-style room in the basement of the ROM. There our eyes would meet. Under the cautious and watchful glare of her teachers, Alice introduced me to her school friends and I introduced Alice to my college friends. For a brief moment cultures clashed as long-haired, hippy and "artsie" types, met clean-cut, well-groomed highschool types from the Hamilton District Christian Highschool. One can imagine the consternation the next day at school when Alice was asked to come to the principal's office.


"Who was that young man we saw you with at the ROM?" the inquisitors pried.


"Do you not know it is school policy that you cannot fraternize like that?"


"But he is my boyfriend," answered Alice. 


Gasp-choke-catch-my-breath sounds eminated from the pricipal.


He breathed heavily. 


"He is your boyfriend?  


"Do your parents know? And who is this young man? He looks a lot older than you."


"Sure, my parents know him. They approve of our dating. He is Gerrit Verstraete and he is a confessed member of the First Christian Reformed Church of Taunton Road in Toronto, and a student at the Ontario College of Art."


A collective sigh heaved through the room. At least the principal was assured that despite this young man's "artsie" look and long hair, Gerrit Verstraete was one of the chosen, the predestined few. As an added bonus, the principal, and by noon no doubt the entire teaching staff, were assured, Gerrit Verstraete was also Dutch. 


Praise God he wasn't one of those Canadians.


In the weeks and months that followed, whenever I was caught daydreaming during studio sessions in college, or when I sat staring in the school's front hallway, pretending to read the student union newspaper, they knew I was probably somewhere in my thoughts in Burlington. They walked past me and smiled. It was so obvious I had fallen in love.


I have often thought of those days and wondered why in God's plan, life after college had to change and become complicated. College life was innocent and simple. Falling in love was like flying with the eagles far above "the maddening crowd." Even though there were some rough moments when funds ran out and my next bursary had not yet been approved, there always were Alice and my friends for comfort. I also did not relish the thought of leaving Alice at the schoolyear's end to return to my summer job in Wallaceburg. Whether my school friends fought or got along, or when my best friend betrayed me, as well as stole my banjo, the OCA years were a bit of heaven on earth. Life was simple. Fellowship with friends and fellow students was warm and generous. The college was small enough that we all got a real sense of family. Most were in the same predicament with never enough time to finish projects, never enough sleep to keep up with weekends and parties, and never enough money. A few had rich parents. Their sons and daughters came to school in fancy cars and threw lavish parties. Most of us, however, were artists in every sense of the word: broke, in need of a decent home-cooked meal, and always looking for less expensive art supplies. Yet, they were good years.


As complicated as life became with children, mortgages, jobs, traumas and triumphs, and as uniquely blessed they all were, the OCA years stand as a very special "season" in my life. For four years I enjoyed my season of growing up as a young adult, free from the tethers of home and a Dutch immigrant church, and free to experience the pounding heartbeat of city life. My thoughts still wander to Yonge Street, Swiss Chalet, City Hall, and the infamous "Archer" sculpture by Henry Moore. I still fondly remember downtown alleyways as I explored and sketched my way through "field research" classes, Chinatown, the Imperial Theatre, the Grange Park behind the college, endless hours at the Royal Ontario Museum, "philosphers' walk" at the University of Toronto, and the Art Gallery of Ontario. Fish and chips from any of the curbside vendors and rumbling rides on TTC's ( Toronto Transit Commission ) Red Rockets, I will never forget. I also thoroughly enjoyed a week each year at the Royal Agricultural Winter Fair. For one glorious week we were released from all studio classes to spend days sketching at the Royal Agricultural Winter Fair, held each fall on the grounds of the Canadian National Exhibition. Each day was special. Each day meant comradery with fellow students as we traveled in groups. Each day we spread ourselves over the fair grounds to sketch and paint horses, cattle, wagons, vegetables, butter sculptures, old horse carriages, farm equipment, and crowds of willing people. OCA students were as much a feature attraction during that week, as were all the blue-ribbon competitions. The following week, we all gathered our bundles of sketches and submitted them in a bulky portfolio to be marked by a group of art instructors. Unless a student purposely chose to waste his or her time and take the week "off," it was virtually impossible to get a bad grade. Favourable grades were first of all determined by the degree of ambition and commitment we demonstrated in producing a week's volume of sketches. Quality of work, although important, was not nearly as important as quantity with a clear demonstration that we spent the week observing and learning. During the sixties the Royal Agricultural Winter Fair also featured many displays of free and delicious food as well as demonstrations by a variety of consumer product companies. I never packed a lunch because the fair's merchants offered plenty of free pizza slices, farmers' sausages, buttery deserts, and freshly-squeezed orange juice, from an abundance of kitchen-gadget demonstrations.


Some students created virtual masterpieces by producing huge oils and watercolour paintings instead of a bundle of sketches. They too received good grades. But I was not as confident in my early years as a student artist. Without any family or church support for the arts, I was too preoccupied to think career and getting a decent and well-paying job than to concern myself with the true heart of an artist. That would have to wait another twenty-five years. Yet, I threw myself into the joys and challenges of the annual winter fair. Each year my portfolio of work earned a resounding A. Sadly most of those drawings were lost or destroyed.


On the first day of college in 1964, I attended a lecture at the Royal Ontario Museum. After the lecture we were instructed to go to the Oriental displays and find a place to squat on the floor. For the rest of that morning we had to sketch ancient Chinaware, with the intent of painting a finished "plate" at home and on our own time. I was petrified. What if all these students were really good and I had only imagined my artistic skills based on some highschool yearbook and some coloured chalk murals on the cafeteria blackboard? Would I be able to face the embarrassment as all these student Michelangelos, da Vincis and Rembrandts, were to see my first feeble attempt at art? I did not dare draw a single line on my paper. After an hour of fumbling with my art supplies, I got up enough courage to walk around and look at the work of the other students. I breathed a big sigh of relief when I saw the quality and skill of their work.


"I can do that," I said to myself.


Confident I could match their abilities, I set out to sketch my plate. The next day I finished the drawing in shades of blue guache. Trembling I handed in my first assignment of my OCA adventure, and the first of hundreds of projects and assignments to follow during the next four years. 


My China plate in blue received an A.


Since graduation in 1968, I have often returned to my college home. Somehow I could never quite leave the place. Call me an old romantic, but for the first time in my life, during the four years I attended the Ontario College of Art, now the Ontario College of Art & Design, I tasted the joy of creating a work of art and the pleasure of knowing I could make things beautiful. Whether I parked my car in front of the college or just around the corner at the University Settlement Building, where I used to swim and shower during my college years, it was as if I could walk back through time. I will always remember the swing of certain hallway doors and the look and feel of each floor as various departments took up residency there. The cafeteria has not changed much. Perhaps my foil and wax projectile is still stuck on its ceiling.


During the years when I owned an advertising agency I got to know David Owen Campbell, a special OCA instructor and Canadian drawing master. He was teaching evening life drawing classes and I needed a place to draw. We became friends and every Wednesday evening I joined his group to draw the human figure. He was then and remains to this day an excellent instructor. The opportunity to draw with David was a welcome relief from the hectic life of owning and running a business, a business that managed some twenty-six employees, with offices in Toronto and Ottawa, and a production schedule that made my infamous year as editor and designer of the college's yearbook look like childsplay. No sooner had five o'clock rolled around when I closed my office door. Within minutes I changed from suit, jacket and tie, into bluejeans and an old sweatshirt. Lacking a phonebooth in which to change I nevertheless changed from "adman" to "artman." I was careful not to schedule heavy meetings for late afternoon on Wednesdays. Quick to jump in my sporty Chevy Camaro, I left the office parking lot and made it within five minutes to my favourite mom-and-pop fish & chip store. Shortly afterwards I raced downtown, with the aroma of fish and chips filling my car with great appetite. I had to get to the college no later than six o'clock. The reason of course, was a practical one. After six, parking was not only plenty but free. However, if you came just five minutes too late there was not a parking spot to be found within blocks. Proximity to the Art Gallery of Ontario meant that on most nights Torontonians were cruising the streets looking for a spot to park in order to attend the latest exhibition of fine art at the AGO. Precisely at six I parked right in front of the college. That left a luxurious hour in which to savour my fish and chips and listen to the radio. "The World at Six" on CBC always had interesting stories. After all, next to home, my Camaro was a sanctuary where I spent many hours commuting back and forth to my downtown office, as well as endless hours of driving to Ottawa, New York, Michigan, Buffalo, and throughout southern Ontario. Flying was simply not a preferred choice of travel, for reasons I will explain later in my "Mid-Seventies Crisis". 


The evening session with David and his students started at seven o'clock. Three hours later I left the building satisfied I had spent three quality hours of exhaustive figure drawing. For those who think drawing the human figure is a vain pursuit of art and at best an opportune time to stare at naked bodies, their lack of understanding and appreciation of the rigours and disciplines required to draw the most complicated yet most rewarding of all subjects, namely the human form, is evidence of an uncultured mind. I was taught during my OCA years, that if I could master drawing the human form, I could draw anything. I have lived to draw the human figure professionally for over three decades. My instructors were right. I can draw anything, with or without models, from memory or from direct observation. Later, as I spent many years drawing countless hundreds if not thousands of colourful cartoons for audio-visual presentations to be used in our ad agency's well-known "business theatre" productions, I came to fully appreciate my hours of drawing on Wednesday evenings and the discipline of quality art training at college.


I must close this chapter about the Ontario College of Art, for fear of slipping into some endless dream from which I choose not to awaken. Many stories and people remain locked in the files of my conscious and sub-conscious. Many I hope will continue to surface as a testimony to a time in my life worth every breath I gave it. Most assuredly, there were difficult times during those college years, but the years following OCA somehow managed to weed these times from memory, leaving only a bountiful harvest of good thoughts and memories to fill the picture albums of my student life. As I awake from my dreams, life continues to knock on my door. There is still much work to be done, masterpieces to create, spiritual truths to teach, and disciples to counsel, as well as budding artists to encourage, a wife and family to love and cherish, friends to love all over again, and all good reasons to wake up from my nostalgic slumber. To sleep is a waste. I aim to live and love my daylight hours to the fullest of my ability and strength, God helping me.

December 16, 1967

A Special Canadian Centennial Project

I want you to imagine this day like an Impressionist painting, as if Van Gogh or Cézanne had brushed thick strokes of vibrant colours onto a canvas lit by a brilliant sun. December 16, 1967, dawned as a very special day in my life. It was the day I married Alice Koops, the same year during which Canada celebrated her one-hundredth birthday. The day of our wedding was a palette of rich colours whose texture was the emotions and feelings that ran freely through our veins that day. Our wedding was about as homegrown as one could get. Together, we had planned this day for many months hoping somehow to manage on the smallest budget possible.  Alice's father first objected to our wedding because I was still in college, about halfway through my fourth and final year of study. He was convinced marriage would adversely affect my studies. I assured Lukas and Aleida Koops that my fourth year was guaranteed to be an honours year because of my work on the art college's yearbook. My parents, Chris and Cornelia Verstraete, had already given their blessing months earlier. Alice began to buy bridal magazines leaving copies strategically placed on the family coffeetable. It took a while, but soon the tide turned towards genuine enthusiasm about our marriage. Alice was the last of six children in her family to get married; I was the first of seven. Alice's parents would have no one left to talk to besides themselves. My father and mother still had four at home and two away at college. Alice's maid-of-honour was her highschool friend Jill Vokes and my best man was my college chum, Peter de Haan. 


To ensure we met our budget, we designed and baked our own wedding cake. Alice's sisters created the dresses for the bridal party, except for Alice's wedding dress which she bought at Eaton's department store. Peter's ensemble and my groom's suit were rented tuxedos. The service was held at the First Christian Reformed Church on Taunton Road in Toronto. Our pastor was Dr. Remkes Kooistra, a learned man and true friend of college and university students. He even made the trip downtown to visit Peter and I in our barren, third-floor, L-shaped room on John Street, during our first year at OCA. The entire wedding party was a joyful bunch of bridesmaids, flower girls, ushers and ringbearers, who were most of Alice's nieces and nephews, including Alice-Linda, Irene, Annette, Debbie, Luke, Richard, and Kim. My youngest sister Ingrid was the only Verstraete in the bridal party. My entire family lived in Wallaceburg, some three hours driving distance away, which would have made involvement in the wedding ceremony impractical. Everyone assembled for the momentous event. I was so thrilled at the prospect of marrying Alice, I in

vited as many college friends and classmates I knew to the wedding. Those who were part of my photography class became unofficial photographers for the day. I bought a bag full of film and told all of my photography friends to bring their cameras and shoot as many black and white pictures as time allowed. They gave the exposed film to me after the wedding. Alice's brother-in-law, Jake Ronda was the official photographer. Most of his pictures ended up having red eyes.


Little Debbie, the ring-bearer, promptly lost control of the rings that had been fastened to a small satin pillow. As she entered the church, one ring fell off the pillow and rolled a long, noisy and zigzag path along the floor until it was ceremoniously scooped up by one the the attendants. In the end, we assembled a large number of wonderful candid shots of the wedding. The most impressive of all pictures was a black and white shot of Alice and I walking down the isle, as husband and wife, and led by Dr. Remkes Kooistra towards the exit of the church. It looked like one of those unique press photographs from the journalistic archives of Life magazine. Despite the fact that the "official" photographs all suffered from "red-eye," at least in these black and white pictures, the bride was beautiful. As an Impressionist painting, she was beautiful in her white dress adorned with soft white daisies, the official flower of the wedding. The bridal party was dressed in royal-blue velvet and the maid-of-honour in a royal-blue velvet, aqua-blue "empire-waist" dress. Empire-waist dresses were the height of British pop fashion in those days. All the young female stars of the music industry wore them. Alice bore an uncanny resemblance to British pop singer, Marianne Faithful, with her long blond hair and wide bangs cut straight just above the eyebrows. I must admit, I looked rather dashing too in a black tuxedo and long hair. My long hair touched just above the collar and was still of conservative length by the day's standards. It would grow much longer in the years to come. Peter managed to smile despite his brown shoes which were no match for his black tux. He had simply forgotten that black tuxedos usually require black shoes. Fortunately everyone looked up at the handsome couple coming down the isle. Perhaps most visible in the crowd that Saturday afternoon was a young man in a grey and black Beattle jacket. He flashed a large camera as he shot frame after frame. He was David Findlay, another roommate during the OCA years. One pew over sat one of my special friends, Katherine "Kit" Harding. The church was quite full and smiles were everywhere. Dr. Kooistra used the event to preach a rather unconventional sermon perhaps hoping to touch the lives of so many art college students in his church for the occasion. 


The wedding ceremony was followed by a reception in the church basement. Everyone was welcome and tables were laden with coffee, tea, soft drinks, and endless trays of rich and creamy, mouth-watering gebakjes or Dutch pastries. Immediate family was invited to a special dinner at a local restaurant, a steak house I think, somewhere on Bloor Street East. To keep the alcohol budget at a minimum, I had mixed a huge vat of alcohol and fruit juice to make a potent punch which I poured into a large vinegar jug made of green glass, and which stood in its own wicker basket. It was so large and heavy, it took two people to lift. It turned out to be quite an art to lift and tilt the jug to keep the punch bowl full. I had bought the jug at Toronto's Kensington Market, giving our wedding that artistic, bit-of-a-hippie, look. Years later the vinegar jug became a penny bank until the day we emptied it and somehow got rid of the vinegar jug as well.


Someone had spread rumours that certain plans were afoot to sabotage the honeymoon, at least to the extent of attempting to play some rather bizarre pranks on us. Anticipating the worst, we kept our honeymoon destination a total secret and threatened any effort to boobytrap the car with the wrath of Lukas Koops, Alice's father. All concluded without incident. Tired but happy, we both changed into our "going-away" clothes, said farewell, and headed towards the open road. 
It was a bright and starry December night as we slowly made our way north on highway 427. Our first stop was a luxury hotel right on the highway in Barrie. What a special way to end the day by falling asleep in each others arms. 


The next day, after a small breakfast, we headed for Huntsville and its rustic Limberlost Lodge. The road was clear, but everywhere was evidence of a typical Ontario winter. Snow, ice, barren trees, and a pale sun that managed to cast a yellow light over the hilly landscape, led our way to Limberlost Lodge. It was an old but beautiful lodge built with huge timbers and posts. It was the week before ski season opened. Everyone was busy getting the lodge ready with a full complement of staff and supplies. I think we were the only guests that week. Of course that meant royal, red-carpet treatment. They were thrilled at having a honeymoon couple at the lodge. We had rented one of their cozy log cabins, off in the woods, near the main building. The cabin was luxurious, with lots of room framed by old timbers, pine furniture, and the coziest open fireplace that kept us hypnotized with a never-ending and blazing fire. We spent five glorious days getting to know each other intimately. We took long walks along pristine, winter-wonderland roads, through paths in the forest, and along a frozen lake. Alice had taken her skates and as she skated along the cleared portions of that frozen lake, I stood and watched and cheered. Between pale sunrises and spectacular winter sunsets we planted seeds of peace and joy that would last for decades. Dare I mention the frequent trips to the diningroom where sumptuous meals were served just to us? As I remember that warm and intimate honeymoon and as I write these words, I realize it has been over thirty-five years since that special wedding day. 


Many couples make the mistake of whirlwind honeymoons, believing that if they do not see the world now, they will never see the world again. Planning and living through a wedding is stressful regardless of how well intended all participants are. When it is over, most if not all, are glad it is over. For Alice and I our wedding was no exception. The thought of flying to some European or Caribbean destination and all its accompanying panic and travel details was too much. Instead we chose a quiet log cabin in Ontario's wintery northland, amidst trees, evergreens, and friendly fieldmice, who had made our cabin "home" as well. Often, as we lay in bed, or sat snuggled in front of the fire, our little friends would scurry up the side of the stone chimney to disappear somewhere in the rafters. 


When we returned, we made our little love nest in a small basement apartment on Lyons Avenue, just off Eglinton in Toronto's Italian west end. In our small kitchen we had breakfast together and every day we kissed each other goodbye as Alice left for her job at Valentine Travel Service and I left for college to spend yet another day in the room below the stage to work on the OCA yearbook. Sometimes Peter would come over for dinner. Sometimes Barry Grant came for dinner. He introduced us to Black Russsians, a heady but tasty drink that makes your head spin and your nerve-ends tingle. Alice had some trouble trying to avoid our landlady on laundry day. Our landlady was a friendly Italian mama. She loved the idea of having this special young couple in her basement apartment, hoping it would perhaps inspire her forty-five year old son, who still lived at home, and who desperately needed to get out and get a wife. Every laundry day we shared her old washing machine. Every laundry day she came downstairs to "talk to Alice," who didn't understand a word of the lady's feeble attempts at English, choked by a heavy Italian accent. After a year on Lyons Avenue we found a small studio apartment in a newer building on Bayview Avenue, just a block away from Valentine Travel Service and walking distance from grocery stores, shops, boutiques, and a bus stop to hustle me downtown to college. I remember those early years of our marriage as a very special time when we did everything together. Friday evening was laundromat evening. We both carried our bundle of laundry to the laundromat nextdoor to a big supermarket. As our clothes tumbled and dried, we did our weekly grocery shopping including Friday night's special treat, homemade pizza. At least we thought it was homemade, when in fact it came in a box and all we had to do was mix the ingredients, heat the oven, and spread an extra measure of spicy pepperoni over the otherwise pale Kraft pizza dinner. Nevertheless, it was our special meal together as husband and wife, newlyweds on a unique adventure called life. Our only contact with the world of entertainment was a small black and white television set that sat on an old chair in a corner somewhere. Occasionally our meagre budget allowed for an evening of Swiss Chalet and the Imperial Theatre. Our transportation was Toronto's fabled "Red Rockets," and the Subway, except for those rare occasions when Lukas Koops lent us his car. He was particularly generous when Alice and I wanted to visit my family in Wallaceburg.


We were in love and have been ever since. It seems ironic that after thirty-five years of marriage ( and counting ) and six children, we can see that time coming when it will be just the two of us again. Only this time we own a washer and dryer, and the pizzas are truly homemade, with a reputation that has earned Alice a measure of fame prompting one of the children to burst out loud, "mommy, your pizzas are still the best." The incident took place many years ago at a Mother's Pizza restaurant that we loved to visit. Mother's Pizzas were great but according to Wendy, mom's were better. When the staff heard my daughter's claim, they just stood there and smiled.

The Only Available Door


The late sixties were times when young art students, who graduated with hopes of creating a budding art and design studio, loved to choose "funky" names for their businesses. I was no exception. I got together with nine such graduate students and rented a fourth floor loft on 74 York Street in the heart of downtown Toronto. We called our budding art and design studio, "The Only Available Door" graphic studio. Perhaps it was youthful enthusiasm or simply ignorance of competition and other business matters that made us think we were "the only available door," the only place we believed where Toronto's advertising establishment could buy the latest and greatest of commercial design. 


There we stood, posing for our first of many publicity photographs in Marketing Magazine, a publication committed to the advertising industry in Canada. Side by side we all stood on a fire escape some four stories up from the ground just behind our building. Our famous OCA yearbook posters had been hastily taped to the old brick wall behind us, and together with a large sign that said "The Only Available Door," the press photograph was complete. Holding on to the metal railings of that fire escape were Rod Brandt, Ken Boyd, Alec Toth, Stanley Marshall, and I. The black and white photograph along with a major press release made it into the June 7, 1968, issue of Marketing Magazine, the industry's bible. We were the full-time artists in our studio business, with five additional part-time artists, who did not appear in the photograph. All of us were veterans of the 1968, OCA yearbook.


I made a bold claim in that article that. 


"We graduated on Friday," I said, "spent the weekend cleaning up this loft, and on Monday, out we went with our portfolios, looking for business." 


The fourth floor loft on 74 York Street had been vacant for some time, and pigeons had entered through broken windows to make frequent use of the interior. It took major elbow grease and twenty gallons of white paint to clean and cover the entire loft, a space occupying some two thousand square feet. The front area of the studio was our "commercial" space, complete with a number of large drafting tables, a work table, storage space, a client meeting area, and three of the grandest windows overlooking York Street and downtown Toronto. The Toronto Dominion Centre at that time was only one tower. A second tower came later. At the corner stood the old Metropole Hotel and across the street was the most incredible corned-beef-on-rye place we could have ever imagined. The back of our studio space was for fine arts, especially drawing. One night a week, we all stayed to enjoy fellowship and life drawing. Sometimes we came on weekends to paint together. The back of the studio served to keep our drawing skills fine-tuned as well as to continue building on our foundation of fine art, especially important now that we had entered the world of commercial art. George Pastic, an art director at McCann-Erickson's infamous Group X was very generous in his praise of our group.


"This group has a strong bent of creativity - they're fresh in their approaches to everything, perhaps they're even a bit rebellious. Whatever it is, they have a quality of excitement in their work that makes it excellent."


These were flattering words, but we soon discovered that actually getting advertising design assignments and contracts was a lot more difficult than we thought. We were not "the only available door" in town. There were many design studios and freelance designers and good ones as well. We spent days and weeks talking about a major breakthrough, hoping to build confidence while our pens remained silent and our drawing tables collected dust. Within a few weeks after our much publicized beginning, five artists left the studio to make a better living elsewhere. Then came our first contract. We were commissioned to design a poster for The Camp Boulderwood Fund, a local fundraising effort for some summer camp I cannot remember. The price tag for our commission was twenty-five dollars. We were so eager to do the work, we must have given our client a thousand dollars worth of ideas. If only we could have billed him for that much. A few weeks later, however, came the major break we had hoped for. It came from George Pastic, our friendly art director at Group X, who had been so kind with words in our first press release. 
Group X was a trendy design group within the large national advertising agency of McCann-Erickson. George Pastic asked us to design a complete corporate and retail image for a very upscale fashion and accessory store in the Bloor and University area. The place was called The English Sheepskin Shoppe. One can only imagine our enthusiasm, and George was not disappointed. We were successful in creating a wonderful image that did much to promote sales for the clothing retailer. Our designs were printed on everything in the store. The English Sheepskin Shoppe was followed by a number of design projects that ranged from retail to manufacturing, including all the graphics for El Zorro, a large downtown nightclub. Studio work, however, was not enough to sustain the lives of four artists. Alec Toth, Ken Boyd, and I, were married and our wives were looking forward to some sort of income from the studio. Alec had children as well, and we were all desparate to make a living. After rent, utilities and supplies, there was very little left over to divide between the four of us. In the Spring of 1969, just about a year after we began, Alec and Ken left as well for jobs elsewhere. That left Rod Brandt and I to continue the journey together. 


To help make the change less painful, we changed the name to OAD Studios, borrowing the initials of our original name, but making the studio sound a whole lot more traditional and less pretentious. We vacated our huge fourth-floor loft and settled into a comfortable and reasonably new commercial townhouse on Clarence Square, just a few blocks from downtown and a stone's throw from Cooper & Beatty Typesetters, one of our major suppliers. It was a timely and profitable change. No longer the young upstarts fresh out of college, we were determined to be more business minded. It worked. The number of assignments began to increase. When Alice and I decided it was time to draw an actual salary, especially since our first child Jeffrey was expected to make his grand entrance in a few months, both Rod and I made the switch from unpaid workers to paid staff. The change went smoother than we had anticipated. No sooner had we settled into our jobs as paid artists, when the next major change shook our lives. Clarence Square was a small and beautiful commercial area tucked between the rumbling railroad yards of Canadian Pacific Railways and King Street, just east of Spadina Avenue. The square had many trees that filled our day with green leaves, gentle breezes, and filtered sunlight. It was a quiet square. Our studio was spaceous and comfortable and with only the two of us there, it made for long productive days as we designed our way through a variety of advertising assignments. Spring was followed by summer and OAD Studios continued to design away the hours creating newspaper ads for Toronto's major dailies, magazine ads, package designs, corporate brochures, annual reports, and record album covers. Record albums were a unique aspect of the business we sort of "fell into" because next door was a record producer. He had a number of associates who were agents and promoters for a rapidly growing music industry in Toronto. These were the days of rock and roll. Bands sprang up overnight to fill the vacancies in a string of coffeehouses and clubs throughout the city. I met so many musicians and bands, from folk to rock, from solo artists to large bands, I cannot begin to remember their names. Our policy was cash up front as the future of each band was as unpredictable as the clubs they played. It was a lot of fun and we created some very special graphics. Summer on Clarence Square turned into fall. It turned out to be a spectacular autumn season that year with more than a change of colours in the trees to mark the season. 


The next change that was about to shake us was the end of OAD Studios.


My life was about to take one of the most dramatic turns ever, not in the form of a natural progession of business success and growth, but through unlikely circumstances that were perhaps the most unusual reasons for this turn of events. 


It happened just before our son Jeffrey was born in November of 1969. 


The circumstances were unlikely because they involved Alec Toth, a former partner in the studio and a fellow art college graduate. He and Ken Boyd were the last artists who had left us in the spring of that year. Both had gotten good jobs in the city and in advertising.


Alec was now working at a major advertising agency. He had quickly risen to the position of art director, a position that necessitated farming work out to outside designers. Most large advertising agencies contracted their design work out to large and small studios in town. Sometimes an art director could increase his income by developing a personal list of clients and doing the work himself, outside of the agengy. It was called "moonlighting." Alec moonlighted. When he couldn't manage the clandestine workload, we became his source for all the artwork he needed to satisfy his personal clients. The layouts and designs we did for him for newspaper and magazine ads, generated hundreds of dollars for our studio. The work was steady and the pay was good. 


One day, he came to the studio and handed us a major contract for advertising design work for Esso. Typical of moonlighting, however, the work was not directly for Esso. It was for another small creative boutique in Toronto who were one of Alec's personal clients, and whose name was Folio Productions. Folio had had been contracted by Imperial Oil of Canada to create promotional work for Esso, the Canadian petroleum giant. I had never heard of Folio Productions, even though Esso was a household name, but the creative boutique was Alec's personal client. We dealt only with Alec, our former partner, and not with Folio Productions. We were what was known as a "third party" in the verbal contract. This time, however, our work amounted to thousands of dollars and we were grateful to Alec for the opportunity to prove our worth to such a major client. One day, during a rush to get everything done, we were asked to deliver our designs direct to Folio Productions, rather than to our former partner's home. There simply was not enough time to deliver our work the usual way. I made the delivery myself. We were thrilled to receive nothing but praise from the people at Folio Productions. They loved our work. After that special delivery, we returned to Alec's more familiar clandestine operations of home deliveries of our design work, including more designs for Folio Productions and Esso. Eagerly we submitted our invoices. Soon it would be payday and a big one it promised to be. We had been on time with all our work and within budget. Things coudn't be better. Our invoice policy was standard industry practise - net thirty days. For dependable clients we sometimes stretched our invoice policy to sixty days.


Thirty days came and went.


Then months passed, and we had not been paid for our work for Esso. Invoices added up to thousands of dollars. Thirty days stretched to sixty to eighty and to one hundred and twenty days - four months and no pay. Constant phone calls to Alec assured us that as soon as Folio Productions paid him, we would be paid. Little did we know that moonlighting was not always the most reliable way of getting paid on time or getting paid at all. Time passed but no money. I couldn't understand the delay. After all, Esso was a reputable account who would not permit such indiscretions as late payment to tarnish their image, would they?


Finally, I got upset and decided to take charge. 


Alec had not been paid and Alec no doubt had left us dangling in the middle. Who did these people at Folio think they were anyways? I got on the phone and asked for the president of Folio Productions. I was put in touch with Mr. Joe Hatt-Cook. I spoke to him in firm words asking him why he was holding up payment, and could he possibly be more business-like and understand our urgent need for funds. One can imagine my humbling and embarrasing silence when Mr.Hatt-Cook said Alec, our former partner, had been paid months ago. I was furious realizing we had been had, but not by Joe Hatt-Cook or Folio Productions. Alec had betrayed us. My conversation with Mr.Hatt-Cook froze in silent time. The phone went still. I thought as fast as I could for an appropriate reply. I swallowed hard and offered a genuine apology. Then I did something that surprised both myself and Rod, who was listening to my phone call. I decided to cut out the middle man. I was no longer obliged to remain loyal to Alec and his personal list of clients. Whether his moonlighting would expose him, I didn't care. Without hesitating I made my pitch to Mr.Hatt-Cook, 


"Look," I said, "you love our work. Your client Esso is happy. I sincerely apologize for what I said because the matter is not between OAD Studios and Folio Productions. It is between us and that once-upon-a-time friend Alec. So how about we cut out this middleman and deal directly with each other? I'll come over to show you our entire portfolio, if that's allright with you?" 


His answer was a polite, but "sure, come on over."


I phoned our former partner and told him what he had brought upon himself. Folio Productions was now fair game and we were determined to get the client. He was not too happy but couldn't do much about it for fear of being exposed for his moonlighting at the agency where he worked. An art director who was caught moonlighting was immediately fired. He promised to pay the outstanding invoices and he did. But I had made up my mind about Folio Productions. 


I got on the subway and headed for Toronto's fabled Yorkville Avenue, where Joe Hatt-Cook had his offices. When I reached the address of Folio Productions my heart began to beat rapidly. This was show-time, or should I say showdown time? Joe Hatt-Cook was a warm and courteous man. Before long, our previous telephone encounter was forgotten as we poured over the large portfolio I had brought along. Within minutes of meeting each other we both knew it was a dream come true. I was missing a senior partner with established connections in the professional advertising world. Joe was that person. Joe was missing a dedicated and creative art director who could work fast and efficiently, and who had a keen sense of business management and a strong work ethic. I was that person. To test the potential of a future working relationship, we decided to tackle a major project together. Joe had been contracted to produce the upcoming sales meeting for Imperial Oil. Things couldn't have gone better. Everything in the multi-thousand dollar project went smooth. Everyone got paid on time. Then Joe Hatt-Cook introduced me to his business partner Fiona McCall, whose specific talent and contribution to Folio Productions was publicity and public relations. Together they approached me and offered me a partnership in Folio Productions. It sounded too good to be true.


"Without Rod?" I asked. 


"Without Rod," they said. 


They needed one art director not two. They wanted an equal working partner and not just another employee. Joe and I had already had many discussions about a future advertising agency and a top-of-the-line creative shop. I was not convinced Rod would fit in anyways, plus the opportunity was a dream-come-true for Alice and I, and soon-to-be Jeffrey. Nevertheless, it was a tough decision. Rod and I had gotten along well and he was a good partner. However, it was I who did all the hustling for work and all the business presentations. I knew Rod still lived at home with his parents and his overhead expenses were small. Our split would not be a financial disaster for Rod. But, I was married and expecting our first child just weeks away. This was an opportunity I could not miss. It pained me to tell Rod that we would have to part. He was not only a wonderful partner, he was a quality human being, and a good designer. Needless to say, he was very upset and decided he would not carry on the name and work of OAD Studios on his own. Nevertheless we wished each other well. We shut the studio down, divided all the equipment and supplies, and parted. I agreed to finish the lease on our premises so that Rod could leave without any financial pressures. I said he could approach as many of our OAD clients as he wished. I would not compete for our former clients as the work that lay ahead of me at Folio Productions was more than enough. I never saw Rod again.


Joe and I spent the next year working on many projects. We became an inseparable creative team. He was the writer and I was the designer. We worked together on all creative projects and success followed upon success. Days and weeks slipped into months. Alice gave birth to Jeffrey Lyon Verstraete, on November 7, 1969, and I was a happy man. My annual personal income doubled. Joe, Fiona, and I, were wonderful partners. On November 15, 1970, an official announcement of our partnership ran in Marketing Magazine and the Financial Post. Soon after we decided to change our business name to Folio Advertising Agency Ltd., and we became a major contender in the Toronto world of advertising agencies.


Even before formal partnership papers were signed, I took up temporary space on Yorkville Avenue in addition to my space on Clarence Square. Then I fell headlong into one of the most visible projects of my career. Fiona McCall had landed the publicity and promotion contract for the rock musical HAIR, which was about to make its debut at Toronto's Royal Alexandra Theatre. Soon it became obvious that the space at Clarence Square was no longer suitable. I needed to be on Yorkville and with Joe and Fiona, every day. But commuting through downtown Toronto was a nuisance and the Yorkville offices were too small. However, until we moved to our new space in another town house on Nicolas Street, I had no choice but to spend valuable time commuting between Clarence Square and Yorkville Avenue, and at the same time try to keep up with the work load of HAIR. Somehow I managed. One creative assignment for HAIR was my introduction to the power of publicity. Many cast members of HAIR came to our Yorkville offices to be interviewed for publicity stories, press photography, and other related public relations assignments. One bright and creative day, Fiona masterminded the idea that one particular aspect of the musical HAIR could possibly generate immense publicity. 


The musical had a small nude scene. 


By today's standards that scene of nudity was nothing, but by the standards of Toronto theatre in those days, it was everything. The nude moment was a very brief frontal, topless-only part, as two actors stood motionless in a barrage of strobe lighting. One would have to be very attentive and on time to catch the brief glimpse of a bare breast. Nevertheless, it was the stuff media died for. 


Fiona had arranged for a major press conference and gala affair at the O'Keefe Centre, the other big theatre in Toronto. She had "leaked" to the press ( she was good at that ) that there might be nudity at the gala and press conference, because she had invited the lead actors from HAIR to make an unexpected appearance. The whole media event would take place in the grand foyer of the O'Keefe Centre. The day of the event arrived with lots of buzz and expectation in the air. Rumours of nudity swirled. The lobby was filled with black-tied men and gowned women. Diamonds and gold sparkled everywhere. The who's who of Toronto's theatre world were there, as were the media. Fiona had arranged that at a strategic moment during the festivities, the two lead actors from HAIR, a male and female, would slowly descend down the grand circular staircare that wound into the lobby. They would be dressed in long black and hooded robes, giving the place a gothic air of mystery. As the assembled guests did not know who these black figures were, the mystery would intensify as the two descended down the stairs and music from HAIR's "Age of Aquarius," filled the lobby. The press however, had been warned to be ready as soon as the music started. They were ready. The plan was that suddenly and with great fanfare, the actors would stop on the stairs, and in plain sight of everyone throw off their robes, revealing totally nude bodies underneath. It would be the biggest media event in Toronto's theatrical history and I was in the middle of the action. What the guests and media did not know was that I had spent nearly the entire day body-painting both actors. I painted long swirling lines, Paisley designs and other graphics, in vibrant, day-glow, fluorescent colours, over their entire bodies. Each colour was carefully applied over a tight-fitting bodystocking in such a way, that the designs masked obvious body parts such as breasts and genitals, yet the paint meticulously followed the contours of male and female anatomy. The nudity of the actors was in fact an illusion created in paint and I was the "master" artist. Everything was colourfully hinted at, but nothing was actually visible. All nudity was carefully and artistically hidden in the overall effect of my life-size paintings. But the effect was electric. The artwork was real and magnificent. 


When the moment came, the crowd literally gasped as the two actors, with great gesture and drama, threw their robes on to the stairs. The sounds of "Age of Aquarius" filled the foyer and came rolling down the stairs. There they stood, male and female figures, fully "naked" and totally covered in bright psychedelic colours over every square inch of their bodies. Necks turned. Eyes strained. Cameras whirred. Flashes popped and shutters vibrated. Before the audience could discover the actors were not really nude, both actors picked up their robes and with flair and pomp, robed themselves as they turned around and climbed back up the stairs. The whole event was a huge success. I was a celebrity. We had dazzled everyone and offended none. We made it big on the front pages of all the Toronto dailies. HAIR went on to become a smashing success.


The end of OAD studios and my new partnership in Folio Productions, now Folio Advertising Agency Limited, marked the beginning of an exciting, coller-coaster ride of creativity. Many years lay ahead with numerous adventures in marketing and advertising as executive vice-president of Folio Advertising Agency Limited, an adventure that would last fifteen years. In fact, not only did Joe and I become close friends, we drew straws each year as to who would be president of the agency. Neither of us cared too much about titles and thought the matter rather humerous. After all, we were a sucessful team and that's what mattered. Joe drew president and after a year we decided we'd keep it that way. I was content with my title as executive vice-president whose functions were primarily creative director and general manager of the agency. In time we would have over twenty-five employees, own a beautiful building in downtown Toronto, and an office in Ottawa as well.

The Family Years


I would be amiss if I left an impression that my personal life revolved only around a professional career as advertising executive and fine artist. Just because I have called the next chapter, the "Folio Years," my journey was nevertheless a period of time perhaps better explained if I were to call them the "Family Years" as well, including in those advertising agency years that very special account of my family life. Despite the fact I have chosen to tell both family and Folio years separately, the journey of career and family were a closely knit alliance of all the experiences of life. I must emphasize as well, that never in all the professional years of my career did I sacrifice my marriage and family for some vain-glory of an upwardly mobile career. Even the industrial giant, GM, General Motors, whose president I made cry one evening, could not make me bend my knees in servitude to business at the expense of my family. I remember the incident as if it just happened yesterday. Our advertising agency had been given a lucrative contract to complete some major advertising designs for GM. Their marketing manager, with whom we dealt on a regular basis, was a pushy, self-centered man, whose idea of success was servitude to the company twenty-four hours a day, seven days a week. He was a true slave. One Friday he phoned me to ask if he could have the next set of design concepts on his desk by Monday. That meant working overtime, something I was always reluctant to do because I had a theory about business that proved to be fact, a fact that affected my decisions not to work overtime if it could be avoided. After some thirty-five years of business observation, I stick with my original conclusion, a conclusion I made back in the seventies, and a conclusion that applied to the General Motors incident as well. That conclusion was that nearly all "rush" jobs and production "panics," are either the result of gross mismanagement of time, or the result of little men playing power games with rank-and-file working class men and women. My man from GM was the latter. I asked him the reason for his "rush," a rush he was quite prepared to pay overtime for. 


His anwer was curt. 


"I need it on Monday because I say so. I am the client." 


I responded quickly. 


"Do you need the work, " said, "simply because you say so or because you have other deadlines to meet?" 


He was quiet for a moment, so I continued. 


"Do you really want me to say to my four children and wife, hey, forget dad for the weekend. He's got other things to do, like satisfying a client with no apparent reason for the rush?" 


When I recall the incident I cannot help but wonder why I was so assertive. At stake was a major contract and a big client. In the advertising industry the name GM as client wielded great powers. We were a small agency and for a moment I thought I had lost my cool and as a result lost the job and the client. To my surprise, the GM marketing manager backed down and said he really didn't need the designs untill the end of the following week. I took a deep breath and sighed with relief. A week later, we delivered him the best creative he had seen in years. We made him look like a hero and the campaign was a success. As a result, the following year we were contracted to do one of the most prestigious events of the corporate world, the official retirement party for the president of General Motors Canada. Yet, through the entire overtime incident, all I could think about was not only my obligations to our growing family but also the joy of having a family. We employed twenty-six people in our Toronto office and five in our Ottawa office. I was the only staff with children. Even though I was somewhat of a novelty among my co-labourers, not one of my staff ever considered Alice and the children a liability to my creative journey or a detriment to my management skills, especially since I was their boss. In fact, they were the best bunch of co-workers who wholeheartedly supported my family ventures and willingly looked at all the family pictures in which Alice and I celebrated life with the kids. 


Now the family years.


Alice and I were a family. As a family we did all the family things we were expected to do, and we thoroughly enjoyed doing them, especially when we drove to Sauble Beach.


No family destination has as special a place in our hearts as Sauble Beach. Whenever we could, and as often as we tried, whether it was spring, summer or autumn, we packed groceries, inflatables, towels, bathing suits, diapers, blankets, coolers, camera, film, and more, in our trusted van. In the early morning hours we strapped still sleepy kids into their car seats, to head north to the spectacular and sandy shores of Lake Huron. The drive took just over two hours and was well worth the constant, "are we there yet's." Sauble Beach is the northernmost of three awesome Great Lakes beaches. I have frequented all of them. First came Ipperwash Provincial Park with its wide beach on which I could drive my car. Then came Pinery Provincial Park, a camper's paradise. Due north along Lake Huron and well beyond the town of Southhampton, there was the small town of Sauble Beach, a friendly place that boasted a public beach that rivaled Miami Florida. Sauble Beach was famous for some of the most awe-inspiring sunsets, mouthwatering French fries and southern-fried chicken sold right on the beach, and of course endless golden sand that was like velvet to our feet. Lake Huron was always clear, always cool, and always refreshing. We usually managed a long day basking in the sun, playing in the water, and running on the beach, interspersed with generous picnic lunches and snacks. When the day was over we were a tired but very happy family reluctant to make the long trek home. During the summer months we often rented a cottage at Sauble Beach. No General Motors or any other client could ever take that away. We were a family.


Alice and I were blessed with four children during those years. Jeff was born in 1968. Wendy followed in 1972. Then came Angela in 1976, and Karen in 1979. Suzanne and Matthew did not arrive until years later in 1984 and 1987. Together, Alice and I learned the art of parenting, one step and one child at a time, with our only trusted companion, Dr.Spock's, "Baby and Child Care." That book fell out of favour many years later because some childcare gurus proposed that children need nurturing not discipline, forgetting that one is impossible without the other. Contemporary childcare also began to shift towards toxic doses of freedom for children. Discipline became a dirty word. I still believe that most of those gurus or "experts" never had children themselves, or their families were so small that between careers and daycare, the sum total of their child-rearing experiences was very little. They may have been gurus but they were not experts. 


Many years later as pastors, when Alice and I began counseling people in life-skills and spiritual matters, someone asked me, "what qualifies your wife to be a counselor?" 



"Six children!" I replied.


I don't know why they did not ask what qualified me as a counselor. Probably because most knew I had a college degree.


Another favourite place for the whole family was Alice's parent's cottage on Little Bald Lake in the Kawartha region just northeast of Toronto. The nearest village was Bobcageon and the nearest city Lindsay. I soon learned my oldest son loved fishing and one of the earliest photographs I have is of a little boy standing on a dock by the lake, holding a small sunfish on a line. It was a proud moment. Despite the fact that the cottage's doorways were too small for me, the beds too short and lumpy, and often the mosquitos too aggressive, the cottage was a lazy, laid-back place where time stood still except for the children's demands for hot dogs, hamburgers and gallons of Koolaid. A small aluminum boat with a little motor was tied to the dock. It gave us access to Little Bald Lake and Big Bald Lake. Just a short walk from the cottage was a large swimming pool that belonged to the cottager's association of the area. Somehere in my dusty past there is a large painting I made to commemorate a moonlit night over Little Bald Lake. 


When Jeff was born in 1969, we lived in an apartment on Manor Road in Toronto, right on the corner of Bayview Avenue and upstairs from Valentine Travel Service, the travel agency which Lukas Koops, Alice's father, owned. We bought our first family home a year later. It meant a move to the suburbs, but in the Metro Toronto region the "burbs" were just another part of the greater metroplex. Hopefully the move would mean nothing more to me, a city boy since birth, than a minor culture shock. We bought a new but modest, semi-detached home on Playford Avenue in Clarkson, a bedroom community that later amalgamated with the communities of Streetsville and Port Credit to become Mississauga. The drive downtown to my office was a forty-five minute commute . Within a few years, the whole area was nothing more than one great metropolitan mass. When we outgrew our home on Playford Road, we were able to sell the place for a good profit and buy a new and detached home on a tree-lined, orderly street in Port Credit. Our new family home was on Pine Avenue just a few houses from Lake Ontario. Our street ended in a little park right by the water. Even though we moved a lot, we never left the metropolitan area until our great migration to Gabriola Island, British Columbia. Other street addresses were Chalkdene Grove, Gatineau Avenue, and Mesa Crescent. When I muse over the many adventures of our family and the joy of experiencing life with so many children, my favourite places, the ones that were really "home," were Pine Avenue and Gatineau Avenue. I have over three thousand slides that chronicle our happy family years.


After we moved to British Columbia, however, I felt we could never put roots down again as a family. The move was so great and left so many friends behind, we were literally without roots, except for our spiritual roots which remained deep and strong. The children did not put down roots on Gabriola either, but soon began to call all of British Columbia "home," a sentiment I shared as well. The oldest two children, Jeff and Wendy, never really lived on Gabriola. The next two children, Angela and Karen, left home a few years after we moved to Gabriola, leaving only Suzanne and Matthew. Suzanne also longed to get off the island and Matthew, well, he truly became an islander. Then Suzanne moved into Nanaimo and all we have left at home is Matthew.


Needless to say, we were a family and we were a diverse family. Each child was a unique person and as we saw them grow up, we realized how much joy there was in watching our children grow up to be who they are, rather than what we wanted them to be. Sure, we raised them, disciplined them, fed them, clothed them, housed them, and above all loved them, and still do, but we recognized that each child would eventually have to chose his or her own path towards tomorrow. Both Alice and I agreed long ago that the best parenting philosophy has been to teach our children to be independent and free thinkers with a will of their own. That included spiritual choices, even though we have taught all our children about the Kingdom of God, and encouraged each and everyone of them to embrace that kingdom. Following in the "footsteps of mom and dad," and the Kingdom of God, would always be their freewill choice and not a mandatory one, even when we disagreed with our children's choices. Neither did we ever attach benefits and conditions to our footsteps. Whatever blessings we could bestow on any of the children we did so unconditionally. Family heirlooms and whatever inheritance may await them will never be on the condition that they did it our way.


I would be presumptuous to begin to describe each child in detail for fear of doing injustice to their personhood and forgetting what they may consider important things, I might have dismissed as minor incidents, yet they were nevertheless major to them. I write these words looking back with regret that times have passed too quickly. Were you to ask me, "would I do it all over again?" I would have to reply, "yes!" I could never imagine peace, joy, and happiness, without Jeff, Wendy, Angie, Karen, Suzanne, and Matthew, or without Alice.


That is not to say we had our "moments." Every real family has their moments. Some were joyful moments beyond words, other terrifying beyond description. 


Image the terror one night when Alice and I returned home from visiting friends, only to find our front door wide open. It was late at night and very dark. Jeff and Wendy had been in charge, a task to which they rose often with great capability and absolute trust. All had gone well and the kids had gone to bed on time.


We pulled into our driveway late that evening to find the front door wide open. A stiff wind blew outside. Rain threatened. Instinctively I dashed inside and checked the bedrooms first. Everyone was accounted for except Angela. She was gone. We searched everywhere. Words cannot describe the feelings of a parent when panic threatens to choke mind and emotions  because a child is missing. From thoughts of momentary separation in a busy shopping mall, to slipping out of sight on a busy beach, or going too close to deep waters in a lake, to outright disappearance, the cold icy grip that locked on my heart was horrible. Within seconds my mind recalled every abduction story, and every movie and television program whose ratings depended on violence and abuse. Angie was nowhere to be found. We prayed hoping to overide our fears with God's calm. At last we found her. She was under her bed and sound asleep, thoroughly wrapped in her big fluffy duvet that somehow had managed to fall off the bed on the floor. Like any child yearning for a safe warm place, Angie, in her sleep, had somehow inadvertently "followed" the duvet, only to curl sleepily inside its deep folds of warmth. What a sigh of relief.


I also remember the time a neighbour's child came running into our house. 


"Jeff has hurt himself and it's serious." 


We dashed across the street and found our son with a deep gash in his leg. Somehow the makeshift rope and pulley he had assembled to stretch from a friend's house to a tree in the neighbour's backyard, had given the kids a bigger joyride than they bargained for. The ride was too fast to control. When his turn came, Jeff found himself speeding uncontrollably towards the tree. Not only was the tree a formidable obstacle, it has a huge rusty nail in its trunk. Jeff hit the tree at full speed and jammed into the nail broadside. I had to fight back tears as his little boy figure sat on the doctor's table. 


"This will hurt a bit," said the doctor as he began cleaning the wound and stitching it. 


I think Jeff was more brave than I was.


I don't know who cried the loudest.


But such is my pain and anguish when children hurt, especially when they are my own children. That feeling has never left me and to this day when I see a child in pain, I hurt. Often that hurt turns to anger when I realize it was an adult or some playground bully who caused the pain. Sometimes I forget to forgive and "turn the other cheek," and I jump into the situation. Once I grabbed an older kid's arms as he tried to bully a younger kid. I threatened to hold him pinned to the wall until he grew old and gray, reminding him I was infinitely bigger and stronger than he was. I endured a barrage of foul insults, but I just pinned him harder to the wall. In the end he conceded loss and I let him go. 


One day I received a call from Queensway Elementary School. 


"Karen has fallen in the gym and she's really hurt." 


Could I come over quickly. 


I drove the six or seven kilometres in about two seconds. It still angers me when I think of the complete incompetence of the school, a very large school with all sorts of resources but no brains. Karen had fallen badly on a slippery gymnasium floor. The fact she slipped instantly into shock should have warned the teachers. Instead, they had carried Karen to the nurse's station, not even wondering if she could move or not or was in need of a stretcher. The designated school nurse simply ordered Karen to lay on a bench. No one called 911. You can imagine the scene when I arrived. I found a frightened little girl, my little "booboo" ( that's what I called Karen ), in complete shock. But, thank God, her dad was on the scene. Here came this big, six foot, four-and-a-half inches tall dad, carrying his precious girl in his arms to the van to take her to the hospital. Everyone cheered except Karen. She had gone into shock. Regrettably, the hospital was a display of total incompetence as well. In my heart I knew something was wrong with my Karen. She has stopped crying and just stared into space, whining softly, and frozen in shock. I carried her into the hospital's emergency ward. Remember, I was not crying "foul" in school and hospital simply because it was my child who was hurt and I wanted so bad to stop her pain. No, even when I think about it objectively, years later, it was borderline stupidity the way both institutions handled the accident.


I said to the desk nurse, "get this child in Xray - NOW! She's badly hurt!"


The nurse on duty groaned: "name please, address, phone, are you the father of the child, do you have an OHIP card, etc.,etc.,?" 


I answered angrily. "Yes, but that can come later. Help my child."


I threatened to take matters into my own hands. After all, I knew a lot about hospitals having worked as an orderly in one of the biggest hospitals during my student years. Not only that, I had been a patient myself with kidney stones, an infected appendix, twice a broken arm, a pulled back, and a groin injury, not at the same time of course.


They sat Karen in a wheelchair and there she remained for two hours while we waited for a doctor and Xray technician. This is a big metropolitan hospital whose name I will not mention. All my efforts to expedite matters failed. At last they came for Karen. Amidst horrible cries of pain they tried to straighten her legs for the Xray machine. I still can feel the rage I felt when that hospital totally ignored my daughter's cries. When it was all over, the verdict was in. She had a broken leg. The fracture was major. She spent many weeks in a large leg cast. I tried to remain forgiving to the school and hospital. I have very low tolerance for incompetence, especially when basic first-aid is not even regarded as necessary in a large school, and hospitals are too busy "feathering" their own beds through management and union negotiations, to tend to the needs of a small child whose need was painfully obvious. All my professional training said: "use the media you know so well, and get even." All my faith said, "its not your battle to fight." Faith won.


Among our family moments of angst and helplessness also stand the monuments of laughter and unbridled joy. Jeff was a super paperboy. He loved soccer as well. Wendy took to liking ballet and hanging out with her friend, also a Wendy, but a Van Ravenstein. Angie and Karen were content to play in our family backyard pool during the hot and muggy days of summer. Angie had a knack for parading up and down the beach as if on some Parisian runway for fashion models. She grew up tall and slender with long legs. Karen loved a pail, a shovel and lots of beach sand. She loved eating the sand even more. We graduated our children from cloth diapers to those incredible disposable ones. Concerns for the environment took last place in light of years of diaper pails whose pungent odours crept everywhere through the house. We couldn't just throw them in a washing machine either. We first had to soak those smelly cloths, then wash them. All our children were breastfed and lived to tell about it. Alice and believe it's the best thing for a child. Yes, I even envied some of those intimate moments between Alice and the children as they were so lovingly nursed. 


From first sounds, to first words, to first steps, the journey of our family was a living experience of joy the way it was meant to be. Of course we can remember sleepless nights when fever ruled our young household, and babies who puked all over themsleves and us, or when a little bottom exploded so much that a thick and yellow mustard oozed from even the most sophisticated of disposable diapers. Then there were the times of pottie-training, graduation from liquids to solids, favourite junk foods, and not-so-favourite vegetables. But we always blessed our food with prayer. Again, they all survived.


I suspect that our children, when they read this book, will first of all look for any mention of their names in the text. Have I exposed some hidden secret or displayed some embarrasing moment of the past and for all to see? No, I have not. They will be hard pressed to find any such secrets. In fact, I did not intend to write to any great length about any of our children. After all, some day it will be their turn to add to the Verstraete venture the account of their own lives. Suffice it to say, however, that each child has engraved in our conscience unforgettable memories. These memories are the stuff of which special people are made, and our children are special people indeed. Each one is an individual in his or her own right. No two are the same. It also remains a mystery as to which "side of the family" we can attribute any of their characteristics. I must not be too quick or too hasty to point the finger at the Koops family, and credit their legacy through Alice with such undesirable characteristics as an ingrained determination, independence, stubborness and a downright argumentative spirit often displayed in the Koopsies. Nor can I point my finger at more desirable and refined cultural attributes such as academic prowess and leadership qualities, only to conclude they must be Verstraete's. I do know that when I consider math and the sciences, Alice's side of the family must take full credit. Alice's father was a genious with numbers. When I examine the roots of our musical and artistic talents, I concede that these appear to have greater presence in the Verstraete family. My father was a European master bookbinder. My mother was a poet, author of books for children, violinist, and gradeschool teacher. Even though my father's side of the family listed a lengthy heritage of ship builders and related trades, my mother's side boasted of accomplished Dutch fine art painters. There was, however, a certain Théodore Verstraete, who was a renowned Flemish naturalist painter, who lived from 1851 to 1907. 


When translated into the unique fabric of each of our children I see the writer, poet, and philosopher, in our oldest son Jeff. Is there a teacher hidden beneath his gentle demeanour? Wendy in turn, is a master in her own right of the complicated twists and turns of business and office management. Is there a community leader hidden beneath her organizational skills? Angela continues to excel in the fine art of music, with voice and piano, with specific application in the area of worship leadership in the church. Is she a pastor-in-waiting? But then she's busy with hubby Jeff and daughter Haley, our first grandchild. Karen definitely has her father's artistic genes with a cross-over between visual arts, voice and music. She denies the connection but I detect a smile in her voice. At last, someone who will walk in my footsteps? But then, she has a pastor's heart as well, like Alice's. Suzanne displays a real passion for writing. However, that quality is better left hidden in secret journals and diaries for now. Her ambition has not ruled out some professional place in television, motion picture, and music video production either. A next-generation Spielberg perhaps? Matthew seems to display mathematical skills whose only expression at present are in a mastery of video games. Like Jeffrey, he also has a desire to play sports, specifically skateboarding, yet he finds time to discipline himself in learning to play electric and acoustic guitars. Will he walk in Alice's footsteps? Come to think of it, when I think of all our children and their talents, Alice and I have everything we need to manage and operate an "in-house" national arts organization and world-wide ministry. Would that Masterpeace Fine Art Studio and the ministry of the Christian Communications Centre could employ them all and give each the freedom to excel in whatever talents they have been given. Is that not the secret dream of every father and mother? 


I would be amiss if I forgot to mention Benny. 


Alice and I have never been dog lovers, but when the opportunity came in the late nineties, to look after Wendy's little Benny, we had nothing but affection for that friendly pooch. It helped a lot of course that Benny did not shed hair. He also ate well and responded favourably to just about every "treat" imaginable. He was perfectly trained. Except for an occasional hairball, he never dirtied the floor, soiled the carpet, or messed up the furniture. In Wendy's words, Benny has always been a "good boy." 


I must speak, however, about one peculiar characteristic of all of our children, at least the ones who managed to survive those awkward teens. Our children developed or inherited a knack for bringing strangers home. I know Alice's father was prone to doing the same thing, but I do not recall my father or mother ever exhibiting such hospitality. Somehow, our children managed to discover the needy, the homeless, and the fractured young souls of a disfunctional world. What usually began as friendships soon turned into co-dependencies. Visits turned into sleep-overs and family meals. Many were completely foreign to the idea of a family that ate and prayed together. To the best of my knowledge, our children have lived in peace with one another and have loved each other as true brothers and sisters. There have never been "family fueds" in our home. For many of the strangers who came into our house, this phenomena called "a real family of love and peace," was something very new and a pleasant experience. 


It was a total surprise to Donna.


For a season Donna came to us and soon we became "mom" and "dad". Wendy brought Donna home one day. She was an aboriginal girl from a native band living on Bear Island, near North Bay, Ontario. She and Wendy were classmates. The Bear Island band council deemed it suitable to send Donna south to Mississauga to attend school. We witnessed Wendy and Donna grow up together through all phases of rebellion and obedience, complete with white, black and purple hair. They remained friends for many years. Donna had become part of the family. One weekend Donna ran away. Wendy had a hunch she went back to North Bay. When I volunteered to drive all the way to northern Ontario to find Donna, Wendy's face lit up. It became a wonderful bonding journey between father and daughter. We found Donna. However, she had decided to stay in North Bay. At least the friendship was still secure, only now "visits" were by phone. How much later I do not remember, but one day Donna returned to the metropolitan Toronto area for a a season, but her roots were in northern Ontario. In the end, however, Donna went back to her native home and stayed on Bear Island to raise a family. 


On yet another day, Wendy came home with Katherine. That was over ten years ago and to this day she is still our special "adopted" daughter and we are are "mom" and "dad". She was barely sixteen when she came into our family. Slender, with a south European complexion, Portugese to be exact, and long black hair, she certainly was no Verstraete. We were destined to remain blond or light brown, with blue or brown eyes complete with an occasional blend of darker hair, and an overall fair complexion, the northern European kind. Katherine and Wendy became inseparable friends with ambitious plans to live their lives together forever, marriage or no marriage, career or no career. Many years later Katherine became the subject of three large drawings I completed in my island studio. How can I ever forget her laughter and her generous hugs. There were others who came "home" to our cozy and loving family, but Donna and Katherine I remember most vividly. Eventually, as the whole family moved west, Katherine came to British Columbia as well. Yet, British Columbia could not keep her for very long. Soon she moved back to Ontario. Wendy remained in British Columbia.


Perhaps, as the old proverb once said, "the apple did not fall far from the tree."


After all, I brought people home as well during our family years.


There was Tony, who I had met on a mission trip to Mexico. He lived with his mother in Mission, British Columbia. He was a bright and energetic young man who excelled in the art of dressing in-style, and "looking good" with the times. He joined us to help with the church we planted in Missisauga. His mission was to be a youth worker as well as assist our praise and worship team of which we had none at the time. We had high expectations of Tony, but soon, however, his mission changed from ministry work to a fancy for our oldest daughter, Wendy. Things did not turn out according to Tony's plans and he left for his home province. 


Some years after Katherine came into our family, a young woman from Jarvis moved in. 
Her name was Bernice Stegenga. She began attending a young adults group in the church where I was an elder at the time. Within a matter of months, I ended up with a special ministry to our young adults and as church elder, I was given charge over all young people. The group had grown from a handful to over seventy. When word got around that my group was a lively and charismatic bunch, young men and women started to attend from near and far. Bernice was an "out-of-towner" from Jarvis, deep in tobacco country and farm heartland of south western Ontario. She was considerably more mature in her walk of faith compared to the other young adults. She also had a fabulous singing voice. She became a wonderful friend of both Alice and I, and one day she approached us with the news she felt God's leading to join our family and assist us in our ministry work. A few weeks later she joined the happy Verstraete clan to assist in our ministry and specifically to help Alice with homeschooling our children. She was a blessing to all of us and soon became an inseparable part of the family, as much as any of our children. Her room in the basement was a menagerie of books, sewing implements, decorator items, and a big old wooden dresser. When our journey turned west, we gave Bernice the freedom to choose to stay in Ontario or feel welcome to join us in our next faith adventure. She chose west. We towed her car behind a large moving truck as our little convoy threaded along the Trans Canada Highway towards British Columbia. The year was 1993. 


We made a comfortable "home" for her in a little wooden cabin right behind our rented house, amidst the tall trees and dense forests of Gabriola Island. It was a cozy cabin just steps from our family diningroom, hot showers and the only washroom. It was also a cabin inhabited by too many spiders - big fat ones. Spiders, however, gave way to country charm when many deer visited our backyard just outside Bernice's cabin window. I must confess it will require another volume of the Verstraete Venture to recall all the adventures with Bernice, so I will encourage her to write her own account. All in all, and many years later, she's still part of the family, and our friendship continues to be an unforgettable adventure with Bernice, an adventure that began an even greater chapter when she met David Dewinetz, who at that time was owner of the island supermarket and a die-hard fishing and hockey enthusiast. Alice and I will never forget their January wedding as bride, groom, friends and family, stood in our livingroom for a special ceremony. Dave installed outdoor spotlights complete with motion detectors to ensure the wedding guests would not trip in the dark as they made their way to our livingroom-turned-wedding-chapel.


Even though our natural family began moving our by the late nineties, our spiritual family kept growing. Wendy and Jeff eventually made their home in Nanaimo. Angie went off to Bible college. Then she met and married Jeff Jaggard in 2000, and moved to Colorado Springs. Karen fell in love with fellow islander Doug Jordan and they were married in 2002. Their home is Nanaimo as well. However, other precious names, perhaps only known to Alice and I and a few close to us, also became part of the family. These were and are a number of special people over whom we were given charge for a season. For many that season is still in full bloom. I risk inadvertently omitting some of them, but Alice and I will never forget such people as Jim, Joanne, Gary, Colleen, Greg, Sandra, Nancy, Dan, Alisha, Kathryn, Nathan, Jessica, Carla, Bernice, Dave, Bonnie, Denny, Lorraine, Al and the other Lorraine, Dennis, Terry, John, Jane, Brenda, Bob, Ken, Tammy, Wayne, Karyn-grace, Ethyl, and Victor, just to name a few, as well as precious children such as Ciaran, Sarah, Katie, Claudia, Timothy, Shekinah, Daniel, Coulten, Jessie, Nathan, Malissa, Jake, Hannah, little Sarah, Josh, Courtney, Dustin, Drew, and all the rest of our "children" in Gabriola's Church On The Rock family. How blessed I am to remain in love for as long as I have breath, in love with a family that keeps on growing. 


In July 2001, Alice and I became godparents and legal guardians to Ciaran, Alisha's daughter. Sometimes I feel guilty because I forget my own brothers and sisters, all of whom live in Ontario, except for my older brother Beert, who lives in Nova Scotia. I have the closest relationship with my two brothers, Beert and Baldwin. But I am comforted by the words of Jesus who when told his mother and siblings needed Him, said, "who is my family?" as He turned to His extended family, His friends and disciples. Ours in an extended family whose struggles and defeats, whose joys and pains, and whose challenges and victories, are a daily part of my life. When all our children including our extended ones, face a wild and frightening world they often call or come home for the comfort of a home-cooked dinner, prayer, and words of encouragement. That is family, every one of them. When Alisha's mother died too young on January 14, 2002, her pain became our pain as Alice and I, as well as a others in our fellowship, nurtured her through the sorrow of losing a mother. Her joy became our joy when tears turned once again to laughter. That too is family. 

The Folio Years

The Folio years were thirteen collercoaster years of creativity and adventures in marketing and advertising. When my business partner Joe Hatt-Cook reflected on the "ride" during an ill-fated business trip to Alberta and British Columbia, he penned a special quote in a beautiful book with thrilling text and spectacular photographs of Canada's mountains. Shortly after the trip he gave me the book. It belongs to my treasure of fine books. 


He wrote: "To a loved and respected friend and partner in celebration of a happily recalled adventure," - Joe. The year was 1978. Joe died ten years later in 1988. 


The adventure was ill-fated because it was cut short by a sudden wildcat strike by airline personnel. I have mentioned this adventure earlier in this account, but there are more details worth sharing. We had finished our business in Alberta and rented a car to drive through the Rockies. We had planned to reach Vancouver in a day or so. Vancouver was Joe's birthplace. He had always wanted to show me his spectacular home province. From Vancouver we would eventually fly home. Because CBC Radio was a client of ours, we drove through the awesome Rockies with the car radio tuned to a local CBC frequency. It was my first-ever trip through the Rockies. Needless to say, the experience was breathtaking. Somewhere on the Columbia Icefields Highway between Jasper and Banff, we heard about the sudden wildcat strike at the airlines. We had a major contract waiting as soon as we got back to Toronto and time was of essence. Joe and I decided to cut our trip to Vancouver short to try and catch one of the last flight from Calgary back to Toronto, but we missed the Air Canada flight by twenty minutes. Within hours the only eastbound trains were full as well. Not quite sure about what to do next, we booked a suite in the Calgary Inn to ponder our predicament. To help our thoughts, we dined sumptuously on lobster, steak, and fine wine. The next day we decided to take a bus back to Toronto. It was the only mode of public transportation left to serve the hundreds who were stranded in Calgary. 

I did not welcome the thought of traveling home on a bus. Who was to know what sort of people would choose to sit right next to me? I could not fathom forty hours on a bus with a family of screaming kids or some hapless soul for whom deoderant was against his or her religion. Every available bus was conscripted. The terminal in downtown Calgary was a mass of people jostling in line to get a ticket and a seat.


When there were only twenty of us left in the bus depot, management announced they had run out of buses. Joe and I had only one choice left. Somehow the choice stirred every driving nerve in me. Therefore, not to be daunted by the setback, we took a cab to Hertz car rentals and booked a big Chrysler Imperial for the journey home. With a series of one-way, "drop-off" cars between Calgary, Regina, Winnipeg, and Toronto, we drove over three thousand kilometres home. All our "one-way" rental cars turned out to be big V8 cruisers. Sometime during a starry night somewhere on the vast prairies between Medicine Hat, Alberta and Swift Current, Saskatchewan, I stopped the car to catch a little shuteye. I loved long distance driving but traveling through the night was a new adventure. Joe had fallen asleep long before, as he lay comfortably stradled over a big front passenger seat. I pulled the car over on the shoulder of the road and turned the engine off. I was asleep within seconds. I cannot remember how long I dozed but the sun had risen over the horizon. It was the distant rumbling of a freight train that woke me. I sat up and peered into the early morning. In the distance, a long train of grain cars snaked lazily through the early morning prairie. 

In addition to prairie trains and starry nights, the drive also offered another "first."


For the first time in my life I saw the incredible and fabled spectacle of northern lights, the aurora borealis of Canada’s north, when we entered Ontario sometime into yet another night when we crossed "north of Superior," near Thunder Bay and Nippigon. The entire trip became our "happily recalled adventure," as Joe had said, and my first of many drives across this great land called Canada. The passion to drive has never left me and to this day I dream of "going across" one more time. The next time will be my tenth trip. I have wondered if I my real calling was to be a truck driver or some cross-Canada courier, and that somehow I have missed it by being and artist and embassador for the Kingdom of God. Not really, but it made for some wild fantasies.


To chronicle the impressionable Folio years might risk boredom and the wrath of my family, yet the years constituted one of the most productive seasons of my life, a season of creativity in design, writing, and fine arts. It was a season of which I am proud and a season of invaluable sowing of "good seed," despite the “tares” that threatened my growth as husband, father, young artist, and member of the business community. For that reason I think it is OK to include a number of memorable highlites from those proud Folio years. These are the highlites that still bring back many memories of events that somehow contributed to the life and times of a man named Gerrit Verstraete, who along with his wife Alice and six children, hopefully have made some impact on Canada, an impact without vain imaginations as to whether this impact was large or small, profound or obscure. At best the impact has become the lives of many special people we have been privileged to touch. We have touched them with our commitment to sound values of marriage and family, a sorely-tested faith, and a contribution to Canada's art history. At worst the impact has been the mistakes we have made, complete with wrong choices, not-so-noble ambitions, and misguided attitudes. It is my belief that by the grace of God, somehow the best has swallowed the worst, and what remains is a glimpse of our abundant lives as a family, an abundance to which the Folio years added richly.


The chronicle begins with a recollection of the day I made the president of that multi-national giant, General Motors cry. 


During the years I owned this national advertising agency called Folio, I received one of my most memorable projects ever. General Motors Canada asked if we would create and produce a special retirement celebration for their outgoing president. We were asked to do this special project, because we had gained quite a national reputation for what Joe and I had aptly named "business theatre". Business theatre were full-length theatrical productions mixed with marketing presentations to introduce new products and services. The biggest corporations employed our "business theatre" creative services. Chrysler, Dupont, Toyota, Mazda, Imperial Oil, General Motors, Campbell's Soup, Molson Breweries, Air Canada, Canadian National Railways, just to name a few, were clients who used our business theatre. This special retirement celebration for General Motors of Canada promised to be very special indeed. 

We planned a big party with a star-studded cast of Canadian entertainers and actors, complete with an original script and music score for the occasion. The president was kept informed about every step in the process. What he did not know, however, was that after some careful sleuthing we discovered that this powerful business executive had a very private secret. The secret was his passion for greasy-spoon burger and fries. Frequently he left GM’s offices to venture incognito into downtown Oshawa where he spent lunch at a local family restaurant that happened to make the best burgers and fries in town. He always sat at the end of the counter and on the same barstool. Far from the maddening crowds of fancy business lunches, he enjoyed his secret burger and fries. After lunch he quietly slipped back into his spaceous executive office to resume the day's business affairs. Nobody, not even the restaurant's owner, knew who this special lunch-hour visitor was, but the president's executive secretary did know. It was she who had to cover for the covert lunches of her boss. When Joe and I continued to press for personal stories that would help make the celebration special, it was she who confessed the secret of the president's whereabouts during those mysterious and solitary lunches.. 


As soon as we discovered this secret we went to work on a special mission. With a little help from some generous cash, we managed to persuade the restaurant owner to agree to "retire" the infamous barstool. We bought him a brandnew replacement. During one special moment in the evening's celebration, and with great pomp and pageantry, a beautiful actress and singer named Dina Christie walked on stage. The president was asked to join her. He joined her on stage feeling somewhat flattered by the presence of the tall blond woman at his side. She left him centrestage wondering what would happen next. Then she took the barstool from the wings. It had been covered in gold and red ribbons. Slowly she walked towards the president, as she told his story in a tender love song. With great ceremony she presented him the barstool. He just stood there and cried. 


We had made the president of General Motors of Canada cry. He was overwhelmed by the fact we had taken such special and meticulous interest in him that even the smallest detail did not go unnoticed. 


The invoice for our business theatre presentation was paid immediately. It pays to make the president of General Motors of Canada cry.


Between the years 1968 and 1982, and despite a busy career and growing family, I did manage to create somewhat of a body of artwork as well. This was in addition to thousands of layouts for magazines and newspapers, and endless paragraphs of advertising copy. This body of artwork consisted primarily of oil and watercolour paintings along with a number of acrylics. Most of the work I have given away. Twice, during my student years, I paid for my apartment rent with a small painting. Although I have managed to keep a record of most of the paintings, I did not follow up on any of them, and as a result I have lost complete contact with the whereabouts of each individual piece. For that reason I do not know where these paintings and drawings are today. My business partner Joe, had a substantial collection of my work totalling about fifteen pieces. However, after his death in 1988, the works disappeared, or at least were divided among family and friends. A number of paintings were also part of the corporate collection of Folio Advertising Agency Limited. When, after my departure from the business world in 1982, and Joe's death in 1988, the advertising agency was terminated, whatever paintings of mine were still around, they seemed to have suffered the same fate as Joe's personal collection. Let me be quick to add however, that some of the work I created during all those years, perhaps some dozen works, I am not too proud of. It's probably a good thing that they have disappeared. Not that these works were controversial or adversarial, instead they were simply of poor quality. Nevertheless, a body of work it was, and a body comprising forty-seven acrylic paintings, thirty-two oil paintings, fifty-three watercolour paintings, and twenty-six finished drawings. In addition there were five hardbound volumes of sketches. My studio was a spare bedroom in our family home. When our small family continued to grow that spare bedroom became a child's room, resigning me to the basement along with my carpentry tools and extensive wine collection. As I mentioned before, these were also the years during which I got to know Canadian drawing master David Owen Campbell, whose weekly evening drawing sessions at the Ontario College of Art & Design I attended. All in all, creatively speaking, they were good years. At times I miss them.


On November 7, 1969, our firstborn, a son, Jeffrey Lyon was born. Three years later, on a wintry February 6, 1972, a second child, Wendy Carolyn was born. 


One of the more prestigious assignments during the Folio years was an invitation to redesign Performing Arts In Canada, a Canadian arts magazine, whose founder, publisher, and editor-in-chief was George Hencz. From 1973 to 1977, I not only redesigned the magazine, but designed many of its colourful arts covers. Nearly twenty years later, in 1994, during my brief, two-and-a-half year tenure as Executive Director of the Chemainus Theatre on Vancouver Island, I met up again with George Hencz. He was still publisher of Performing Arts & Entertainment Magazine, its new name. Too many years had passed to connect again with George, but we did share some wonderful stories and memories of those years. We wished each other well to part once more for an undisclosed season. My memory is flooded with dinners at The Hunter's Horn restaurant on Avenue Road in Toronto, a restaurant owned by George, where we spent all our executive meetings to discuss the next issue of the magazine. Despite some initial inhibitions towards this whole new world of performing arts, which had become a major source of income for the agency, I welcomed the attention I received for my work. I met some incredible performers along the way, from principal dancers of our national ballet to internationally acclaimed actors, movie and television stars, and the business and political elite of Toronto and canada. They were heady days to say the least. It was at this time I also began writing poetry.


In addition to painting, commercial art, and business management, I relished the times I could withdraw into my head and write poetry.


In 1976, one of my poems, "The Argument," was published by the renowned Coach House Press in an anthology titled, "This is my best." 1976 was also the year our third child, when Angela Myriam was born on July 8. 


That same year three poems were selected by the Yearbook of Modern Poetry, published by Young Publications in Knoxville, Tennessee, USA. The selections were three untitled short poems. Then in the summer of 1977, Quarry Magazine published "the Groundhog and the Eagle," a poem I had written about my philosophy of management. Not until three years later did I venture again into publishing poetry. The publication was a series of thirty poems I had written during the eight years after my nervous breakdown in 1972. The collection was published by Admiral Press, a company my father owned. I gave my poetry book the title of "Mid-Seventies Crisis," and deposited copies of this very personal collection of thirty poems in the National Library of Canada. Except for an occasional poem that appeared in a newspaper or magazine, I did not publish any further work until 1998, when the Poetry Institute of Canada published "Island Impressions," an anthology of Canadian verse. My poem "the city of tomorrow," appears on page 126. In addition, I am listed in the 2000 Millennium edition of "Who's Who in Canadian Grass Roots Poetry," also published by the Poetry Institute of Canada. 


On August 8, 1998, I began writing "The City," as an epic poem about my personal search for the city of God. It is a poem, which at the time of writing this account, comprises over twenty-three stanzas written over a period of four years. I do not know when I will finish writing "The City," because my spiritual journey in search of this elusive city continues to this day. 

Staying with the topic of publishing, I will never forget another milestone of the Folio years. It was a personal achievement as well. I was asked to become involved in the publishing of "35 Years - A Tribute to Canada." The tribute included an impressive catalogue to accompany the exhibition of Canadian art of Dutch heritage, sponsored by the Canadian Netherlands Business & Professional Association. The exhibition was held in late summer of 1980, at the Harbourfront Gallery in Toronto. Opening night was a gala event officiated by P.W.Jalink, embassador of the Netherlands, with a reception hosted by E.Van Kessenich, Consul General of the Netherlands. Not only did I design the entire catalogue, which was printed by Baker Gurney and McLaren Press Ltd., the exhibition featured two of my early paintings, one a large oil painting titled, "Rolling Laker," and the other a large acrylic canvas titled, "Puzzled Woman." It was the first public showing of my artwork.


Just one year before this unique exhibition, I was appointed to design the official coat of arms for the municipality of Point Edward, Ontario, to commemorate the municipality's centennial. My father was one of Point Edward's celebrated residents who so generously volunteered my name when the matter of the municipality's coat of arms was discussed in a town council meeting. My design remains Point Edward's official coat of arms to this day. 


That same year, on the nineteenth day of September, in nineteen-hundred and seventy nine, during the ninth hour, our fourth child, Karen Elizabeth was born, weighing nine pounds and nine ounces.


Oh, those Folio years! 

There's still so much to remember, the tears and the laughter, the victories and disappointments, and the times of personal and family growth that have made these years unforgettable. I regret not being able to share the fruit of those years with Joe. What a "happily recalled adventure," it would have been. Perhaps heaven will allot us time to recall the times we had together and the business partners and friends we shared.
Mid-Seventies Crisis
1971, was the year in which I experienced one of my most memorable, although not most pleasant, highlites of the Folio years. 

It was the year I suffered a major nervous breakdown. 

The breakdown happened in the spring of that year as we geared the agency up for another episode of business theatre, specifically the annual Molson Brewery sales show. It promised to be an extravagant production that would take months to create and yet only one day to perform. Joe had pioneered the concept of theatrical business meetings, during the mid-sixties while writing television commercials and sales promotion films at a large advertising agency. When I joined Folio in 1969, we were able to add an even greater dimension to our business theatre, in the form of multi-media presentations on slides, video, and film. Huddled in our modest space on 61 Nicholas Street in Toronto, we began the seemingly endless process of writing scripts and drawing storyboards. Scripts and storyboards were our first steps in creating a business theatre presentation for Molson Breweries, an annual sales meeting that was turned into a professional production complete with musicians, a cast of dancers, actors, comedians, and a miriad of audio-visual technical support, stage and set design, and all sorts of displays, sometimes spilling over right into the lobby of major hotels where each show was held. The entire show was carefully integrated into the management and corporate presentations of each client. CEO's, presidents, marketing and sales managers, interacted with cast and crew to create a vibrant and novel way to present next year's corporate marketing and sales plans. Because our advertising agency was deeply involved in Toronto's traditional performing arts world, we were able to create business theatre productions that rivaled some of the biggest stage shows in Toronto. Whenever we were asked to "put on the Ritz," we did it with small and large productions. I have mentioned before that our clients were the biggest names in Corporate Canada. Spring of 1971, dawned with the hustle and bustle of the annual Molson show. There was excitement in the air because it was a big budget production. It meant a handsome profit for the agency.


Already my studio space at the agency was beginning to look like a war zone.


Judy Hodgkinson was my faithful and trusted assistant who spent many hours at her drafting table managing the production details of a slide show that accompanied the Molson sales meeting. Some of the more “exotic” locations for our business theatre included major Toronto and Montreal hotels, exclusive locations such as Chateau Montebello just east of Ottawa, the Brock Hotel in Niagara Falls, as well as a one-of-a-kind show at a sprawling beef-barbeque ranch complex in Red Deer, Alberta. In addition, we created traveling versions of business theatre that toured Canada on converted trains and semi-trailers. The audio-visual portion of this year’s Molson sales meeting numbered somewhere in the neighbourhood of three-hundred slides, of which at least one-hundred were original cartoons. My cartoons had become a favourite of corporate management as I created these drawings in a bright and colourful technique using felt design-markers. I had developed my design-marker techniques at art college, where I learned to handle these small stubby markers quite effectively to create large and small magazine and newspaper ad layouts. These markers, known as "magic markers," were filled with pigment and a pungent ether, which I inevitably inhaled as I worked long hours over layout pads of large white paper. It made my head throb. Some thought I had dropped into the world of post-sixties psychedelic drugs, getting "high" on a daily basis, when in fact I was only "doing my job" creating endless felt-marker cartoons for business theatre and layouts for our other clients. But the "high’s" did not last long. Within minutes of stepping into my car to drive home and rolling down the windows, the high’s vanished. Nevertheless, the Molson show had many such high’s.


Pressure to complete the show was beginning to mount. I dealt with the pressure in my usual fashion through the art of making many things-to-do lists and non-stop hard work.


Deadlines were coming faster and faster.


Another ten full-colour cartoons done. Ninety to go.


One evening and one of many more such evenings to come, everyone decided to stay late in order to work on the show. Joe wrote page after page of script re-writes. I cartooned my way through hundreds of slides and Judy planned all the photography of my cartoons as well as other product and stock photo slides. The night was getting long. Somewhere around ten o'clock we called it quits. It was time for a big dinner at Le Baron's Steak House on Yonge Street, just a few steps around the corner from our offices.


Dinner with Joe and Judy was always a pleasant affair. Joe made great dinner conversation as he seemed an inexhaustible reservoir of juicy advertising agency stories. He knew every copywriter and creative director in town. Judy talked about Michael. She had become terribly fascinated by this young man who claimed to be an artist. He lived a few hours northeast of Toronto in the small village of Havelock. Her fascination with this young artist was more the result of his rather Bohemian existence in an old cabin in the woods. I contributed to our dinner conversation with my usual menu of topics such as fine arts, my growing family, and a slow adjustment to living in suburbia.


Sometime during the course of dinner I began to feel faint. I only had a single beer or wine, so I knew it was not the alcohol. The food was of highest reputation. Le Baron Steak House was an excellent, five-star, restaurant. 


Not knowing what to do, and fearing a need to vomit, I excused myself to go to the washroom. The washrooms were situated in a small foyer at the bottom of a staircase one floor down. These were classy bathrooms.  Everything, including the decor, was the best. As I made my way down the stairs, I knew I wouldn't make it to the washrooms. Suddenly I was overwhelmed by a terrible sense of panic. It was an attack I could not stop. I did not vomit. Instead everything froze. I managed to collapse in a heap at the bottom of the stairs. I remember laying there for a long time. Wave after wave of frozen terror tore through my body. It was as if an electric current was out of control and I couldn't find the "off" switch. I panicked but I could not move. I was unable to speak. Needless to say not only did I feel horrible, I was a bizarre sight lying at the bottom of the stairs.


A number of people came down the stairs to use the washrooms. In what seemed like a typical noir scene from an old black and white B movie, they stepped over me to attend to their private needs. No one offered help. No one notified the restaurant owner or the police. If I had looked like a common drunk, passed out in a stairway, it would have been completely out of character for this upscale restaurant, and sufficient reason to call management. But no one did.


An eternity passed before the attack subsided long enough to go to the washroom. I looked in the mirror to see an ashen-grey face. After I splashed some water on my face I joined Joe and Judy upstairs. They asked if I was OK. I said yes. Needless to say, my appetite was gone. I tried to explain what had happened, but failed. It must have been all that tension of creating yet another business theatre show, I concluded. Pressure of this kind was quite new to me and somehow I had not yet learned to adjust, I thought. Bidding my farewell, I excused myself and went home. It was about a forty minute drive and for a while the cool night air made me feel a lot better. Without warning the attack struck again somewhere along Bloor Street West. I pulled the car over to the side of the road. Near home it happened again. Terrified, I arrived home at last. I was in a cold sweat. Bed or sleep was no comfort. Throughout the night, wave after wave of electric terror kept me awake. In the morning I thought the drive into work would help. I made it to the office, but by mid-morning I couldn't take it anymore. I just sat at my desk shaking all over and terribly afraid. Was this a heart attack? I was only twenty-six years old.


I phoned my family doctor to make an appointment and asked Judy to drive me there and home. My doctor lived in Mississauga, less than a hour's drive from my office. Judy took one of our yellow cab slips to cover the ride back into Toronto. Our agency had an open charge account with Toronto’s Yellow Cabs. It was a whole lot more convenient that trying to find a parking spot in downtown Toronto where many of our business appointments were. Once Joe took a Yellow Cab all the way from Toronto to Windsor and back, a four hour drive one-way, giving him enough time to write an incredible script in the back of the cab with a manual typewriter on his lap, just in time for a major presentation to Ford Motor Company. We got the contract. The resulting business theatre production went on to become a real success.


I made it to our family doctor and he saw me right away. No waiting this time. No reading of ancient National Geographic magazines and old copies of Reader's Digest.


He was very frank. 


"You are suffering a nervous breakdown," he said. 


"It appears to be a big one.” He added, “for this is not just some isolated anxiety attack." 


With the verdict fresh from his lips, he prescribed tranquilizers, a major dose of 10 milligram tablets of Valium, with instructions to take three a day - one in the morning, one at noon, and one just before bedtime. I had never had a tranquilizer before and the experience was rather euphoric. I felt instantly healed, except for that nagging fear in my head. 


My other business partner, Fiona McCall, introduced me to Dr.Mary McEwan, one of Toronto's most fashionable psychiatrists. Dr.McEwan had become a favourite of the business community because of her matronly and laid-back style of psychotherapy. When the attacks continued, my family doctor approved an increase of Valium dosage to four tablets a day. In addition, he prescribed a heavy-duty sleeping pill named Dalmane 30, also a tranquilizer and especially usefull for those times when I needed to travel for business. Many days I ended up with a dosage of 40 milligrams of Valium and 30 milligrams of Dalmane. In between tranquilizers, I continued to consume reasonable amounts of Scotch liquor and wine. After a long day at work, I looked forward to a strong drink and a number of glasses of wine with dinner. My reaction to alcohol was always a mellow one. I had no idea of the risks involved in swallowing this dangerous mix of alcohol and tranquilizers. I just sat and read, or watched late-night television until I was relaxed enough to sleep. I saw Dr.McEwan every Thursday morning. With the help of medicine and therapy I managed to complete all the work for the upcoming Molson show. The show was a success. 


After a week or so of recurring and frequent anxiety attackes, the nervous breakdown seemed to have stabilized. My anxiety attacks, although regular and at least once a week, were under control. I truly believed all would pass within a short period of time. Yet, I did remember my mother who had a nervous breakdown that kept her bedridden for a year. I was just ten years old when that happened. She was thirty-seven. I can still remember how her nervous breakdown affected my young life. While she lay in bed, my household duties during her illness were suddenly increased to include cooking family meals and ironing my dad's white dress shirts. But that was over sixteen years ago. Despite my nervous breakdown, I was not bedridden. I could still work and manage my share of family duties as well. With a "little help of my friends," as the Beatles once sang, I was comforted to know my little friends' presence was carefully assured with a plenty supply in little pill bottles in my attaché case, in my desk, in the glove compartment of my car, in the medicine cabinet of my home, and in a small crush-proof pillbox in my pocket. I truly believed I could manage the pressures of a growing business, a growing family, and a growing passion for life. But, this was one time I was very wrong.


Instead, however, I became imprisoned in a long and terribly dark nightmare that lasted ten years. Six of those years were spent in therapy with regular visits to Dr.McEwan. All ten of those years were filled with forty to seventy milligrams of transquilizers each day. My family doctor and Dr.McEwan had assured me these tranquilizers were non-habit forming. I proved them all wrong. I was hooked.


Yet, despite this long and terrifying nightmare there were moments of peace.


One of the few moments of peace during those terrible years, were my frequent visits to Toronto's waterfront. Whenever I could manage to steal away from my office, I took a bag-lunch and twisted my way through Toronto's downtown streets to end up at the waterfront. There I sat watching seagulls, small craft, sail boats, and Centre Island ferries, while I wrote my thoughts in an endless stream of poetry. Eight years later, I threw most of the poems out. I kept thirty poems and published them in my first collection, titled, "Mid-Seventies Crisis."


It was also a time when I developed a chronic fear flying.


Somehow, I don't think this is the time to recall too many tales of anxiety-ridden days and the terror that reigned at night. Too many were an embarrassment, others the actions of a fool. However, I shall confess three such tales to emphasize the severity of my depressed state. 


The first tale took place in Winnipeg, Manitoba.


Our advertising agency had been invited to pitch GWG Jeans, a major account and national brand-name bluejean manufacturer, whose Canadian headquarters were in Winnipeg. These were the days of bell-bottom pants, denim jackets, brightly-coloured shirts, and long hair. The account would make us one of the hippest agencies in town. Together with one of our account executives, I was scheduled to make a major presentation on a Monday morning in Winnipeg. We had worked hard on the creative and media presentation, and it was good. I booked an Air Canada flight for Sunday afternoon. The flight was estimated to last three hours. I was terrified the whole trip. Flying had become the ultimate anxiety attack, the ultimate panic. Although I had managed to avoid all accounts in our agency that required flying to meetings, the Winnipeg meeting I could not avoid. Not to sidetrack from this story, but as a result of my fear of flying I missed out on one of the most lucrative deals we ever did get. We had been asked to create a major political media campaign for the government of Bermuda. Instead, Joe went to that fabled island paradise of Bermuda to sit on a resort beach with his notes, his typewriter and a phone, to map out a strategy for the government's upcoming election. It was a rich contract and Joe, needless to say, "suffered" the luxury of being waited on hand and foot, all at government expense. I could have gone, but I was afraid to fly. My solace was my new Camaro, which I chose to drive in order to serve accounts as far away as New York city. 


Winnipeg, Manitoba, however, was too far to drive and would prove to be a sore test of my frayed nerves. Dr.McEwan, my psychiatrist, had given me her home number just in case I needed help. With the support of extra tranquilizers and a number of stiff whiskeys, I landed in the windy city, white-knuckled, sweating, and in pain. We took a cab to our hotel at Portage & Main, in downtown Winnipeg. Norman, my account executive who accompanied me on this business trip, decided to go to his room and get an early night's sleep to be fresh for the following morning's meeting. I was wound up tighter than a snaredrum. I took a Dalmane 30 tablet to sleep. To no avail. I was determined not to phone Dr.Mary McEwen. Instead, I paced the hotel room floor. By midnight I could stand it no longer. I got dressed, put on my winter coat, and left the hotel to go for a long walk. It was cold outside, a notorious characteristic of Winnipeg early in any year. Spring was still a long way off. The wind at Portage & Main was biting and frigid. This was my first visit to Winnipeg and I was not familiar with my surroundings. I walked all night. By six o'clock in the morning I stumbled back through the hotel door and into my room. I took a quick shower and swallowed a shot of whiskey. Norman was up by this time and he came to my room. Together we went downstairs for breakfast. He ordered eggs and smoked kippers. I managed bacon, eggs, and lots of strong coffee. At precisely nine o'clock we were facing an expectant group of managers and VIP's in GWG's generous boardroom. I was not nervous about the presentation. In fact, I felt very confident as years of experience had proven Joe and I were creatively "right on the mark" virtually every time. It was a good feeling. I opened the meeting with some cordial greetings and proceeded with my presentation. About two minutes into my presentation, severe anxiety and panic struck with a vengeange, probably the result of an overdose of tense flying, tranquilizers, alcohol, and lack of sleep. I began to sweat and immediately panic set in. Without hesitating, I did one of the most remarkable things I have ever done - remarkable, yet amusingly tragic. I'll never forget what I said as I turned to the president of GWG.


"Sir," I said in my panic, "I don't feel very well. Could I please borrow your car and get some fresh air? Norman will continue with the meeting." 


I must have looked sick enough to shock him, because he gave me the keys to his car. His face was shrouded in absolute bewilderment. I fled the room in panic and found my way to the building's huge parking lot. There, in the VIP section of the parking lot, stood his brandnew Lincoln Continental. The president of GWG had given me the keys to his car, one of the largest and most luxurious cars on the market. Within seconds I collapsed on the rich leather seats. I passed out and when I awoke I was groggy and disoriented. It took a few moments to dawn on me what had happened. I got out of the Lincoln, straightened my shirt and tie, pressed my suit with my hands, and walked back into the boardroom, much to the surprise of everyone. The meeting had started at nine sharp. It was now eleven o'clock. Norman had been brave and he did his absolute best. I acted as if nothing had happened and gave the president his keys. I assured him I had not even left the parking lot. He looked relieved. As impressed as they were with our creative and marketing presentation, we did not get the account. Joe understood. It was a most remarkable quality of his, given he could blow up over the smallest and most insignificant issues like a spelling mistake or a "widow" in typesetting. Widows were stumblingblocks to Joe. These typesetting "widows" occurred when the end of a typeset line formed a white space instead of flush right type. I know, “technicalities,” but it demonstrated how volatile Joe could be over small matters. However, GWG was a big matter, yet he understood. Joe had been and still was in therapy as well, just like me.


The second tale took place on an Air Canada flight.


Once, en route to a number of meetings in Ottawa, I had another anxiety attack as the Air Canada flight began to taxi in preparation for takeoff. Seeing the Toronto International Airport terminal disappear through the window I panicked. I crushed a Valium between my teeth for quick results and swallowed hard. The panic increased. I turned to Joe who was quietly reading the Globe & Mail. He smiled and said nothing. Suddenly I signaled a flight attendant and when she came to my seat she bent over to ask what it was I needed. 


"Can you stop the plane?" I gasped with short breaths. 


"I am having an anxiety attack!"


The flight attendant remained calm. 


"Sir," she said, "we cannot do that. We are scheduled for takeoff in a minute or so, but rest assured the flight is only twenty minutes." 


She was generous. She smiled. The flight was thirty minutes. I closed my eyes and alternated between holding my breath and breathing deeply. When a short while later the captain announced we were preparing to land in Ottawa, I slumped back relieved. Joe had finished reading the Globe & Mail. The meetings went well and we made good money that day. After a big dinner at a downtown restaurant, we flew home. The flight was uneventful. I was too tired to have another anxiety attack.


In addition to a terrible fear of flying, my other phobias included heights, clients on top floors in tall buildings, elevators, rush-hour traffic, hotel rooms higher than the second floor, churches, and meeting rooms with no windows. All of my phobias were control issues. I hated being out of control as well as not being in control of everything and everyone around me. 


The third tale took place in the boardroom of the National Ballet of Canada.


During an impressive meeting with the Celia Franca, founder of the National Ballet of Canada, Wallace Russell, the ballet's general manager, a number of board members, and even a principal dancer, I stood up to present the ballet their new campaign for the upcoming Christmas season's Nutcracker production. It was a beautiful presentation with some of the best creative I had ever produced. Short of any manifestation of "ooohs," and "ahhhs," we were successful in selling the entire campaign. Suddenly panic struck in the window-less boardroom. I took a deep breath, excused myself, and left the meeting to Joe. I walked out and went home. They all understood, a most remarkable quality of the entire performing arts marketplace. One of the reasons I loved working on creative projects for performing arts clients was the pleasure of meeting many of Canada's finest performers. A number of them visited my office regularly. Their names don't matter in this story, but suffice it to say they were nationally acclaimed actors of stage and screen. They seemed to have a whole lot less inhibition about confessing their emotional frailties and were willing to share their often anxious professional and personal lives, much more so than the stiff upper lips of Toronto's corporate world.


But I must share a fourth tale that took place en route to Stratford, Ontario.


I took Alice to a première performance at the Shakespeare Festival in Stratford. When we got there some two hours later, I realized I had forgotten my tranquilizers. I panicked and we drove home to get them. Alice was very disappointed as we headed home to get the infamous Valium pills. Once the pills were safely in my pocket, I offered to drive back to Stratford to see if we could still make it in time for Act One. Fearing I would be foolish enough to speed, she declined. She did not want to challenge the highways and try to get back to Stratford in time for Act One, Scene One. It would have been a four hour return drive. We missed the entire performance and an opportunity to have an enjoyable, relaxing evening together.


I am by no means proud of these tales. I did not include them in this account to somehow manufacture some bête noir persona for my creative character. I share these accounts because in those days, anxieties and nervous breakdowns, all "head problems" for that matter, were frowned upon and presumed solved, especially for men, by a swift kick in the rear and some honest elbow grease. When a friend of mine broke his leg, he got lots of sympathy as he hobbled around with crutches and a big cast. I had a “broken head” but no cast. Sick in the head meant crazy. Men, who felt as if they were going crazy, and who for fear of being discovered they were vulnerable, would get tranquilizers from the doctor, and yet they let everyone know those pills were not tranquilizers. They were muscle relaxants. After all, tranquilizers were for crazy people and unstable women.  I often wondered what would have happened if I had a large cast on my head. People would surely sympathize with my predicament, wouldn’t they?


"What's the matter with you? What happened? Here let me help you. What's wrong?"


"Oh, just head problems……?”


Nevertheless, these anxiety attacks and a nervous breakdown were as real as any flu or other illness. Too many have suffered needlessly because social stigma kept them from getting the help so readily available. I am sounding political so I will quit.


As I recall these events, I am desperately trying to think of more humorous encounters with anxiety and panic. There were none, at least none that I can remember. Suffice it to say, they were ten long and difficult years. Yet, throughout those years I managed to work hard at keeping up a brave front. Alice was a tremendous support. Without her, the journey would have been unimaginably more difficult. I continued to manage the growing agency. We had offices in Toronto and Ottawa and a total staff of over thirty. I loved my wife and children. I kept my fears under control, yet throughout the pain there were also many sublime moments of joy and passion as I watched my children grow up.


There was, however, a special passion that developed during those years, a passion that has remained an integral part of my life to this day. During the early months of my nervous breakdown, I developed a love for the open road. It became the ultimate escape, especially when I took to that road in my new Chevy Camaro.

Call of the Open Road

"Break One-Oh for the Cannonball!"


I was southbound on New York Interstate 81. 

The bypass around Syracuse, New York, was quicker than expected. It was there I heard the unmistakeable voice of the Cannonball, a deep voice made of rusty nails and gravel. We were both heading in the same direction, the Big Apple, New York City itself. I had a large client in New York. Their offices were located in Saddlebrook, New Jersey, just a short distance from downtown New York. The Cannonball drove a big rig and I drove a brand new Camaro. Our next truckstop was in Binghamton. I had just bought a CB radio, and even though by 1972, the airwaves were already filled with too many users, I still managed to enjoy conversations with my trucker friends. They were and always have been welcome companions on the open road, especially during long drives, drives I have become famous for. There was nothing like an all-day, all-night drive from Toronto to New York and years later from British Columbia to Ontario. 

I tried one more time to contact by good buddy with "Break One-Oh for the Cannonball."


"Go ahead, you got the break," replied the Cannonball. 


"Ah, ten-four," I continued. "You got the one Big Gee, and we be doin’ southbound on 81. First heard you in Buffalo town. What's your twenty?" 


His gravely and rusty voice growled. 


"Just passed the 120 marker. Brush your teeth and comb your hair. There's a Smokey in the grass taking pictures." 


I heeded his warning and slowed enough to hit the legal limit as I passed a highway patrol car in the median. He was “taking pictures” with his radar.


Our conversation was joined by a number of other truckers, and soon I was part of a convoy heading for New York. As his voice roared over the radio, a picture began to grow in my mind. The Cannonball had to be over six feet tall with big arms, kinda like a mountain man, tough as nails. In Binghamton I pulled into a large truckstop. The night was late and dark. As I got out of my car, the prospect of a hearty hot dinner loomed before me. Suddenly, a huge black rig pulled into the parking lot. The rig was a eighteen-wheeler with a miriad of lights that made the whole affair look rather ominous. We called them “Christmas trees.” On the door of the cab was written in silver and red letters, "Cannonball." I stood frozen in my tracks. Should I introduce myself as Big Gee? What if he was a crusty sourdough? The door to his cab opened and out climbed the Cannonball. He couldn't have been more than five foot five. I swear he had to sit on a stack of phonebooks to look out the window to see the road. He was kinda wimpy looking with a blotched red face. This was no Cannonball. I ate my burger and fries alone.


I started long distance driving essentially out of necessity. The agency was doing a lot of work in Ottawa, and I soon discovered the drive was a spectacular one. Often Joe would fly and I picked him up at the Ottawa airport. After a few years, I managed to handle most of the Ottawa accounts myself, at least most of the time. In 1974, when we bought Ardiel Advertising Limited, Canada's oldest advertising agency, the deal came with an office and staff in Ottawa. The scenic drive along the 401 east to Kingston and then north on Highway 15 to Ottawa, became a bi-weekly affair. The routine was simple. Catch traffic out of Toronto before rush hour to arrive in Ottawa around dinner time. I always stayed in the same place at the Talisman Motor Inn. Once I settled in my room, I ordered room service, watched some TV, and reviewed my material for the next day. In the morning I met with my Ottawa staff, reviewed account performances, and checked the books. By ten in the morning I was at our first client and between ten and five that afternoon I usually managed to see all our big accounts such as External Affairs, the National Capital Commission, Dustbane Enterprises, Modern Building Cleaning Corporation, and Flakt, a large international engineering company. 

Being a government town, Ottawa's rush hour was early, somewhere around three in the afternoon. Usually, by the time I left Ottawa for home, it was after five and the roads were quiet. After a quick stop at the Balderson Cheese Factory to buy big chunks of delicious cheddar and Gouda ( Alice and the children loved fresh cheese ), I was on my way home. Sometimes I drove back the long way, along Highway 7, savouring every moment as I drove into the setting sun. These were moments of extreme peace and joy, moments I would relive over and over again as the years accounted for well over one million kilometres on Canadian and American highways. But I have stopped counting the miles and kilometres.


Most distance driving was the result of clients who were located outside Toronto who, combined with my fear of flying, necessitated driving there and back. I looked forward to each drive. From shorts business trips to Ottawa and Saddlebrook, New Jersey, to family trips in Washington, DC, and to sandy beaches on the Atlantic Ocean, in such special places as Carolina Beach, Cape Hatteras, Kill Devil Hills, and Atlantic Beach, my mind became a treasury of wonderful images and experiences. Despite the occasional intrusion of an anxiety attack, the trips were a genuine escape from the fears of life. 


One wet and grey November Friday, in 1975, I phoned Alice from my office and asked if she could arrange for a babysitter that night and for the entire weekend. It was a wonderfully impulsive moment. Our neighbours agreed to look after Jeff and Wendy. They were really good kids and easy to take care of. We headed for the interior of North Carolina and Pennsylvania, managing to drive through the heart of coal mine country, the Great Smokey Mountains, and the Appalachians. However, I did panic when we decided to take a guided tour of limestone caverns. When the guide began his presentation of stalagmites and stalagtites, barely a few feet into the bowels of that dark dank cave, I panicked and left. Alice finished the tour while I waited outside, glad to be above ground.


I am neither a mechanic nor very knowledgeable about the inner workings of the automobile, but throughout my years of driving I have developed an appreciation for beautiful cars - that is, an artistic appreciation. My taste for beautiful cars had its roots in the design of the car, not the perceived public image that came with it. I never believed I would get a statuesque blond when I bought a new muscle-car. Many automobiles are impressive works of art. During my art college years, my friend and roommate Peter De Haan, often asked me to help him design and draw concept cars, a requirement of his industrial design course at art college. I was well acquainted with the incredible flow of line and shape, the forms, and the highlites of great automobile design. Nevertheless, taste is a personal thing and my taste in cars has remained as such - very personal. For eighteen years, between 1969, when I bought my first car, a used Ford Mustang, and 1978, I traveled over 550,000 kilometres, consuming the highways in a succession of cars that included the Ford Mustang, two Chevrolet Camaro's, a Mercury Cougar, a Volkswagen Beetle, a Dodge Colt stationwagon, a Pontiac Safari stationwagon, a hilarious Volkswagon bus, a full-size Ford Van, a delapitated Toyota Corolla and a shiny white Ford Thunderbird with a T-Bar roof. Most of the time we had two cars. One was my personal business car, the others were family vehicles. It does not take rocket science to figure which was which. In addition to this lot, I occasionally rented a car for long trips.


The biggest and first of many long trips took place in 1978, when I drove across Canada with Joe. I have shared the account of that trip in my previous pages of "The Folio Years." From there I have traveled throughout Canada and the United States. As I write this venture, I have two distance adventures still to complete. One is a stretch of highway between Los Angeles, California, and Dallas, Texas. When I drive that stretch one day, I will have completed a "circle-tour" of the North American continent. The other adventure that remains is Alaska, a plausible adventure now that home is British Columbia. It will take some time, however, to persuade Alice to come along and join me in this Alaskan driving adventure. She would rather take the "Alaska Cruise" option to visit what is now called "the last frontier" of this spectacular continent.


The next fourteen years, between 1978 and 2001, I have driven at least another 500,000 kilometres including seven trips back and forth between Ontario and British Columbia. Alice joined me on many of these excursions. Some, such as Disneyland and Universal Studios in California, were with the whole family and later with Alisha and her daughter Ciaran, our godchild. Alice and also managed a roundtrip to Colorado Springs in 2003. I ponder the impact of all that driving as I read about my former business partner Fiona McCall, her husband Paul Howard, and daughter Penny, whose highways have been and are the open seas. The Monday, July 9, 2001, edition of the Toronto Star announced in full colour their departure for yet another sailing adventure. This time it was a two year trip around the world in their vessel Carpe Diem. I am, however, resigned ( with pleasure ) to the open road in my series of "vessels" that now include a 1987 GMC Safari Minivan with over 380,000 km on it, and a brief five-year season during which I owned a 1982 cadillac Fleetwood as well. After the Safari Minivan was totalled in April of 2001 by a speeding driver, a generous friend gave us a 1996 Ford Aerostar XLT Minivan.


For me, the open road is like defrag.


When I became computer friendly, I learned about a command called "defrag." As I commanded my computer to defrag, the entire system whirred, buzzed and groaned a lot amidst flashing images on my screen and a pale blue-green graphic with lots of little boxes with dots in them. As the computer searched all my files, it carefully rearranged them in the most efficient order. This defragged the computer and made it work better. I can best compare the process to a rearranging of my three-drawer home file cabinet. After months and years of pulling files out of the cabinet and putting them back in no particular order, I needed at times to go through all the files to keep important ones I used regularly up front, to keep research and record files in the middle, and to put distant-use, for ‘future consideration” files way behind the others. It was a good time to clean out individual files as well as throw out redundant files. All these files were spread over the contents of my three-drawer file cabinet, with the most used files in the top drawer. 


Distance driving is my mental process of defragging the brain. The long and short distance trips remain my most reliable time to think and re-think programs, projects, and dreams. I cannot possibly begin to recount the many drawings and paintings that have been birthed during these drives. Probably most of my work, especially the philosophy of my creative journey, have their roots in distance driving. Some people fly, some sail, and others hike. I drive. A dear friend, Jack Jagt, thinks of one day fulfilling a dream of climbing Mount Kilimanjaro, the highest mountain in Africa, a towering 19,565 foot peak in north east Tanganyika. He will be sixty years old in 2002 and his doctors have said "no" to the dream. I can still say "yes" to my dreams of driving.


I dream of the Alaska Highway through British Columbia, Yukon, and Alaska to Anchorage. To complete my American adventure, my dreams also take me to the San Bernadino Valley outside Los Angeles, California, through Arizona and New Mexico, and to the Dallas, Ft.Worth metroplex in central Texas. Now that Angie and Jeff, and their daughter Haley, our grandaughter, live in Colorado Springs, I will need to make that pilgrimage too. We did in 2003. That leaves only Newfoundland and Prince Edward Island to complete my all-Canada tour. PEI now has a bridge so there is hope yet. Newfoundland will require either a flight to St.John's or a car ferry from somewhere in northeastern Quebec or Labrador. 


I have been to the Arctic as well, but I did not drive. I flew to Rankin Inlet in 1992, because there were no roads north from Winnipeg to take me there. On March 3, 1992, I was made a member of Canada's Northwest Territories, in the Order of Arctic Adventurers, North of 60º Chapter. The official certificate says: "having demonstrated the initiative, integrity and bold adventurous spirit of the true Arctic explorers who have crossed the 60th Parallel."


Perhaps I love to drive because the call of the open road is also a shadow of yet another journey, namely that journey in search of a city not built with human hands, the city of God, which are the glimpses of eternity that I have seen through the eyes of faith in distant vistas and panoramic landscapes as I travel Canada's highways and the highways of our neighbours “south of the border.” These glimpses are recorded in my epic poem, “The City.” 

I will never forget the Columbia Icefields Highway, between Lake Louise and Jasper, Alberta, or Highway 79C between Kelowna and Merritt, British Columbia. To these roads to freedom and the highways "North of Superior," as well as to scenic drives in Nova Scotia, Quebec, and the old King’s Highway in Ontario, I owe many a teary-eyed moment when I consider my future in the Kingdom of God.

With the price of gas these days, one may argue for the economics of such long drives, and as the years pass, I need to break up those all-day, all-night, and all-day drives with reasonable rests in good hotels. But I still dream of a luxury touring van like the one my dad used to have. I told him if he ever wanted to sell that silver Dodge Ram van, to let me know. It was in mint condition. But, without telling me, he traded it in for a Volkwagen Jetta. I was angry for a while but started dreaming soon after of my own touring van.

Clothes make the man

It is hard to imagine that I have survived some of the most spectacular reforms and revolutions in the fashion industry. When I left Wallaceburg for Toronto in 1964, to attend the Ontario College of Art & Design, fashion for a young man of nineteen was no more than conservative pants in non-descript browns and greys, short and long-sleeved shirts in prints and patterns, and a windbreaker jacket. Within weeks of arriving in the big city of " T-O," I bought a dark navy-blue corduroy school jacket. I could not afford leather. Emblazoned on the back were large white letters, declaring to all who saw me walk down the street, I was student at the Ontario College of Art. On one upper sleeve were the initials OCA, on the other the graduation date of 68. The jacket was lined with a red plaid fabric. I still have that jacket. It hangs reverently in my closet. But in September of 1964, my new image had begun. My persona of "artist" was birthed. I'll never forget the day I returned for a visit to my family in Wallaceburg. I strutted proudly down main street showing everyone I was no longer a member of this farmtown tribe. Soon afterwards the image was completed with black leather jackboots, brown corduroy pants, a black turtleneck, and a beautiful sheepskin jacket with a soft imitation-fur lining. I let my hair grow very long. Under my arm I carried the telltale OCA vinyl drawing portfolio, and below the portfolio a metal toolbox dangled precariously from my hand. I could not afford the handsome and professional black presentation portfolios or the beautiful brown wooden painter's box that many other students sported through the city and on subways and streetcars. Nevertheless, phase one of my make-over was complete. It lasted until 1968. 


During the summer of 1968, my hair length was extended to below the neck and rested on my shoulders. It was an image fitting for the up-and-coming success of a new kid on the block of commercial design studios. I wore white polyester bellbottom pants, green and orange silk shirts, and a large shiny olive-green scarf with a gold clasp. On my left hand I wore both a wide gold wedding ring and a solid silver designer ring. My watch was stretched over a wide maroon leather wrist strap. A tan polyester "Safari Jacket" completed the upper image of my wardrobe. On my feet I wore either my high-cut maroon or black "Beetle Boots." When I attended business meetings I usually toned down a bit to include tweed jackets, dress-shirts with wide and bright ties, an occasional wool pull-over or my favourite bulk-knit sweater. Regardless of my outlandish or conservative wardrobe, I was a stickler for cleanliness and hygene. My clothes were laundry-fresh at all times, pressed and very clean. I always wore deoderant and a special aftershave or cologne, that made both Alice and many others exclaim, "you smell nice, Gerrit." I loved smelling nice. Still do. I have never appreciated those who advocated natural body odours, especially when those odours were down-to-earth, medieval versions of neanderthal spice, you know the type, old leather mixed with clothes that never see a washing machine, and the accumulated smells of day-old and week-old sweat and other body odours. Phase two lasted until 1974. 


By 1974, I began to settle at last into a post-Carnaby Street era of T-shirts, blue jeans, and sweatshirts for casual wear, and three-piece suits for business attire. Fine wools replaced polyester and colours became quieter and more peaceful. My hair was trimmed to below the ears and all-in-all, the image was really me. I felt very comfortable the way I dressed and looked. Dress suits hung in the closet where I kept them for business meetings and official functions, but it took many years to get rid of two favourite articles of clothing, remnants of the phase two years. They were a handsome, custom-made, burgundy leather, hip-length, sleeveless, leather vest or "waistcoat," and my rust-coloured, custom-tailored "Edwardian" suit. I admit, I looked pretty impressive as a six-and-a-half foot adult, dressed in my rust-coloured wool suit with a long tapered jacket that flared over the waist in typical Edwardian waistcoat fasion, and tightly tapered pants that clung to my legs just above a special pair of beautiful, high-soled, burgundy leather boots.


Today, however, as I spend most of my time in my island studio, my wardrobe has been reduced to jeans, black and brightly-coloured T-shirts, big and bulky sweatshirts and running shoes. A double-breasted suit hangs in the closet, left there after my daughter Angela married Jeff Jaggard in July of 1999, and waiting for the next daughter or son to be married. The suit reappeared from the closet on February 23, 2002, when Karen married Doug Jordan. Shoulder and winter seasons are my favourite, stretching from late September to early May. I love to bury myself in my denim jacket, line it with a hooded sweatshirt, and top it with a wool sailor's cap or black baseball cap, which along with the standard-issue jeans and high running shoes amounts to hase three of the artist formely known as hippie.


I would be remiss, however, if I did not add the fact that I had an accomplice during all these phases of my fashion world. Her name is Alice, my wife. She was seen on many occasions and for many years to wear halter-tops, mini-skirts, fishnet nylons, and a beautiful "Mary-Ann Faithful" hair style with long straight blond hair. She may be too shy to admit it, but she turned heads of many a man, but those turns did not affect her. She was and remains a stable woman of great self-confidence. However, as the years were frequented by many months of maternity wear, somehow the image of a mini-skirt and pregnancy did not fit her style. She has remained blond for most of her life, with varying degrees of shades, as well as a brief interlude of brown. Lately, copper-coloured hair seems to look very nice on her. 


One might argue my need to account for such a descriptive wardrobe in an autobiographical account of my life, but then you have not have been in our living room on dark winter evenings when we pulled out the family slides, to know why this account is most suitable. To the sheer delight of everyone, we gawk and laugh at the images, so much so, that thirty years later we still want to see the slides every winter. And when we do, we nearly fall off the sofa laughing as slides appear with dad sporting his phase cwo clothes, and mom in her bra-less, tanned and blond years. We may have said in those days, "foxy" and "groovy," but my children and any guests present quietly admitted, "pretty cool."


And why not! The fasion industry may have succeeded in convincing consumers that clothes make the man or the woman, but despite the illusions, it feels good to dress in colours and fabrics that accentuate the costume of life. After all, my career as an advertising executive and my personal journey as a fine artist, were and continue to be steeped in a palette of rich colours, an array of bold design and composition, not to mention a battery of techniques, and a never-ending supply of surfaces to draw and paint on. I cannot escape the colours that surround me, the textures that please the skin, the shapes that appeal to my eyes, and the joy of putting them together in a drawing, a painting, a poem or some other writing, or even in a "fashion statement" that has hopefully matured through three phases, to be me.

A New Life
The year I began writing this account of my life was the year in which I also celebrated an event of perhaps as great a joy as the day I married my wife Alice in 1967. It was twenty years ago, during the summer of 1981, that I was "born again." Even though that little phrase "born again" has caused more confusion than I care to remember, I nevertheless experienced a dramatic new birth. Regrettably, I have seen the words "born again" waved like a magic wand in my face as if "born again" was some celebrity status, or some ID card for special club membership. Others insist that after one has repeated a short "sinner's prayer," presto, one has arrived into the hallowed halls of spirituality, no further repairs needed. Some even go so far as to stress that being "born again" is the same as church membership. That little phrase launched an entire evangelism movement in which people spent more time counting the numbers of those who "got saved" than preparing those new to the faith for life in the Kingdom of God. For some, if one could not pin the event to an exact day and hour, one was not really born again.


Regardless of misleading interpretations of being "born again," what exactly did happen in 1981, when I was born again? One of the simplest answers is to say an event took place that radically changed my life from one of inability to a life of ability. In other words, what I could not do before, I now was able to do. But how? By giving my life to someone who would not only help me, but turn the very course of my life around. He is none other than Jesus Christ. But how you ask? How did I experience a spiritual rebirth in a temporal life?


Permit me to try and explain.


Suffice it to say my life was an overwhelming example of inability. Needless to say, I was able to provide for my familty. I was able to do my work, build a national advertising agency, serve the community in numerous volunteer service organizations, and along with my wife raise our children. My life included a journey on the road of fine arts, as well as mundane tasks of cutting the lawn and shoveling snow. All these I could do. Precisely what was I so un-able to do? I was unable to deal with the real effects of a major nervous breakdown which resulted in depression, anxiety, fear, pressure, and ultimately a fear of death. 


I will never forget the many anxieties of those terrifying years from 1971, to 1981. Some of those anxieties I have already shared. To prevent my inabilities from seriously affecting my abilities I took Valium each day, additional sleeping pills at night, as well as a generous supply of alcohol and tobacco. I have already explained some of the terrors of that time, so I need not go into further detail to explain the horrible nights of panic, the paralyzing effects of an anxiety attack, and the grinding fear of another nervous breakdown, like the one I suffered in 1971. Then there was the numbing consolation of alcohol, only to wake up and realize I didn't escape the day's gauntlet. It was still there, waiting for me just as it was yesterday.


One summer night, I came to a grinding halt. My finely-tuned system of coping began to crumble. I had known about Jesus Christ, God, and the Bible, because I grew up in a religious home and church environment. But the truth of a personal relationship with Jesus I had never experienced. That summer night I lay at the foot of another nervous breakdown and I made a desperate attempt to reach out to God. I didn't pray a formula. I didn't follow a procedure. I simply buried my face in my pillow and gasped, "Jesus, help! Come into my life!" 


I began to sob uncontrolably as He came into my life. How? I didn't really know how during that moment, but it was His Spirit who came into me and birthed in my heart and in my mind, an awareness that something awesome, something new, had taken place. 


I must begin, however, in Sauble Beach.


Sauble Beach remains in my memory as one of the most incredible places on earth. The beach, situated on Lake Huron's sandy eastern shores along Ontario's Bruce Penninsula, may not compare in grandeur and size to the Pacific West coast, but for memories it outstrips all other ventures. It was at Sauble Beach where I saw my children grow from tiny tots into young women and young men. All that amidst soft sandy beaches, clear cool water, fish-and-chips, and spectacular sunsets. There were many days when my skin trembled from a day's exposure to the sun only to be kissed by cool evening breezes off the lake. Despite years of tranquilizers, anxiety, and pain, Sauble Beach always was a place of retreat. The summer of 1981, promised to be yet another great summer in our rented cottage. There was, however, one major difference. After ten years of tranquilizers, I suddenly got fed up with being enslaved to them. In part, this was because I had always believed Dr.McEwan and our family doctor, who said Valium was not addictive. Now I realized they were wrong. I had been addicted to a large dosage of pills for ten years. I was disappointed with myself. I felt a failure. Therefore I made a decision that our holiday at Sauble Beach would be a perfect time to "kick the habit."


I began my total withdrawal on Saturday, August 8, 1981. A careful record of my decision was kept in my sketchbook journal as each day came and went. Torrential rains had fallen all day as we left for Sauble Beach. By the time we entered Bruce County, the rain had stopped, yet threatened to start all over again as it clung in large shredded clouds, looking like long hurried rags soaked beyond saturation, passing from town to town as we threaded our way north. The usual drive of two-and-a-half hours, took nearly twice as long.  Orangeville was a lunch stop-over, and when we finally stepped into our cottage at four in the afternoon, we were glad to have made it. The kids were terrific throughout the entire trip. Jeff was eleven, Wendy nine, Angela five, and Karen two. The following Sunday morning a lazy sun began to make brief appearances. Winds climbed with the temperature. In my sketchbook I wrote: day one without tranquilizers. After a good day and a good barbeque, complemented by some good home-made white wine, a Spanish white from 1978, the day quickly settled into an early retirement. Both Karen and Angie fell out of bed twice. Our bed was two feet too short and the mattress was lumpy, but for the rest of the night everyone remained peaceful.


Monday was a day of sun, sun, more sun, and sunburns. I was and still am amazed when I look on a beach crowd, how many young people try to look old and how many old people try to look young. I was thirty-six, Alice was thirty-three. Day two without tranquilizers became a major event as the van needed to have its brakes repaired, an unwelcome and unplanned expense. Alice and I did a lot of talking, a practise very common to our journey together. The size of our family, now four children, was a favourite topic. Not until 1984, and 1987, when Suzanne and Matthew were born, was this energetic topic put to rest. But the day was not over yet. My heart skipped more than one beat as I opened the cottage door only to find Karen right behind it. I couldn't catch her. She fell down two concrete stairs. As if her pain and bloody bruises were not enough, supper was fly-ridden and in the distance, thunder rumbled to signal more rain on my parade. Tuesday was more of the same weather but fortunately there were no more accidents. On Wednesday Alice burned her arm in the steam of an electric kettle and the brake repair on the van totalled one hundred and six dollars. As the wind settled down in the evening, I began to feel pressure rising. It had been four days without a single tranquilizer. 


By now I would have taken at least sixteen of the little yellow helpers. While I taught my children to draw figures and objects during a makeshift workshop in the cottage, I was reminded of a dream I once had in 1968, a dream to be an art teacher. Thursday afternoon, after a pancake breakfast, the threat of more rain, and memories of better days, things began to close in on me. I could not stop thinking about six days without tranquilizers. At one in the afternoon I capitulated and took half a pill, 5 mg of Valium. I felt terribly guilty. Guilt crept through every vein in my body. The next few days included short excursions to "The Old Indian Church," a Weslean Centenary church built in 1891, on the Saugeen Indian Reservation in Southhampton, just a short drive from Sauble Beach. I went by myself to draw and paint. Sitting in the sun on the sloped hills just beside the church, offered not only a magnificent view of the Saugeen River as it slowly snaked towards Lake Huron, it also offered some relief from the pressure. The result was two beautiful watercolours. More rain followed. On Sunday I took another Valium. Another on Tuesday. On Friday, two weeks after we came to Sauble Beach, we finally "broke camp" for home. Both Alice and I agreed the vacation was a success. I was left, however, with my private pain of having failed to "kick the habit." Was I destined to spend the rest of my life enslaved to those miserable little demons?


Early on Saturday morning of August 22, I slipped into another big anxiety attack. 


The clock said 2:00 am. Outside it was still night.


I panicked as it felt like a repeat of my nervous breakdown ten years earlier. I woke with a jolt and sat upright, terrified. The room started to spin and everything began to fade before my eyes. Was this judgment for not having taken Valium? Should I have kept my regular daily dosage? It seemed all systems were backfiring. I thought death was imminent. This was real and not imagined. Like the dying white spot as it diminishes on an old black & white television when turned off, so I felt my life slipping from me.


I woke Alice. My voice trembled.


"Please pray for me, I am dying," I blurted out at two in the morning. 


She did. The terror stopped instantly. 


Suddenly I knew what to do.


I cried in my pillow as I asked Jesus to come into my life.


Immediately I became aware that someone else was there with me, even though I could not put words or clear thoughts to the awareness. I needed comfort, help, assurance, and a feeling that life had far greater goals than just earthly accomplishments, as wonderful as those may be. That is when I felt His presence. Jesus compared the experience to being "born again," in other words, starting all over again with a brand new life and a life with Him. In the weeks that followed the effects of my new birth were obvious. Where I had fear I now had assurance I would not die. When anxiety came I knew I could talk to someone who did not judge me or ridicule me for having feelings that others thought to be just imaginary. He knew my nervous breakdown and anxiety attacks were as real as the leaves on trees in midsummer. I discovered I could talk to Jesus just as I would talk to a friend. When I needed strength for some big decisions I could find peace were there was none. He became as real to me as my best friend. Even in His physical absence, His spiritual presence was nevertheless tangible and very real. I developed a great thirst for truth. I became a disciple in His Kingdom and a student of the Bible.


Six months after that special experience, I threw out all my pills, all my alcohol and all my tobacco. As I write about these events, I realize it has been over twenty years since I had any of them. Needless to say, today's problems still spill over into tomorrow and life is not free from disappointments, accidents, and other "thorns in the flesh." But one thing I know for sure, after twenty years of being "born again," I really don't mind if others don't quite understand what the words mean, or what others may think my "experience" was, such as just some emotional release or existential high. 


Some may think that was the day I got all religious. Others treat the experience as a passing fad. Neverthless, I was there the night it happened. Alice was there as well. I was there during that summer night in 2001, when I could not quit a ten-year, never-ending battle with drug dependency. I was in my bedroom that night, when through Jesus I could. I was there the night He set me free. No one can take that away - ever.


It was time to start a fresh new sketchbook on this new day in my life.

On the Back Burner

I have always prefered sketchbooks with a black hardcover. Sometimes I have bought the big 11 X 17 kind and other times, when I felt like being less visible as I sketched in public, I used the smaller 6 X 9 size. My primary tool for drawing has been the favoured black Pentel pen, and when I could no longer find these, I chose an extra-fine point, permanent "Sharpee" marker. One of the perils of fine art has been and still is that as soon as you have mastered a specific medium, someone decides to discontinue the item because capitalist pursuits of profit say the product is no longer "marketable," and death came to yet another fine art medium. For example, jet-black Wolff’s and Conté carbon pencils, some of my favourite tools and ones I have been using for thirty-eight years, have become virtually extinct. Somehow, however, I have managed to find a substitute but the originals have often been the best compared to any substutite. So, I continue to sketch whenever I find opportunity. A number of these black sketchbooks fill my shelves, where they remain as a mute testimony of my journey through life and the arts. In one particular sketchbook is the daily account of the weeks leading up to my rebirth in 1981. The experience of that rebirth on August 22, 1981, left me with a hunger and thirst I had never known before. It seemed as if nothing else mattered, not even my art. I put away my pencils and paper, my canvas and paints. Any attempt to fill pages of a new black sketchbook were in vain. Instead, my hunger and thirst led to a highspeed trip through the Bible. Never before had the Bible, and a special book it is to say the least, that has survived skepticism, ridicule, and extraordinary scrutiny, been so fresh, so vibrant, so full of life. I devoured its pages. When I discovered audio and video teaching tapes by a cavalcade of preachers and teachers, I could barely find enough time to absorb all of them. Thoughts went through my mind as to how all this would affect my life as husband, father, businessman, and artist.


Life at home became a great joy. Tensions of anxiety and fear were rapidly fading away. A new season had begun; an old season had passed away. Alice and I found time to discuss all our new discoveries. We met with a small group of people who were experiencing the same hunger and thirst, including my younger brother Baldwin and his wife Lucy. We met as often as we could to share our lives. All of us became conference junkies, traveling to far away cities just to catch the latest "on-fire" man or woman. It was a wonderful time of learning. It left no time to draw or paint, but somehow that did not matter either. 


Therefore, I decided to make a deliberate effort to put my art on the back burner. I simply could not do both, art and spiritual growth, yet, deep in my heart I knew that my art would one day experience a rebirth as well. The year was 1982, and not until five years later would I pick up a pencil again. When I did, the result was a renewed passion for drawing that eventually grew into a fulltime experience. First, however, there were what I have called "the centre years." 


On a bright winter day in February of that same year, I stopped my car along the side of a country road. I had been to visit a client in Keswick, just north of Toronto. The fields were covered in bright-white snow. The sky was a deep blue colour and high in the cloudless expanse hung a pale yellow sun. Just over six months had passed since my spiritual rebirth and it was beginning to show even at the advertising agency. Many noticed I was changed man, not that I was trying to convert anyone. Even the troubes we used to have over tight business finances vanished. Clients paid on time and we paid our bills on time. Next door to my office was the old and beautiful Deer Park Anglican Church. We shared a parking lot with the church. Some of my staff were somewhat puzzled when my version of a "wet lunch" no longer meant wine and food, but instead I went next door to the church to be alone with my Creator and feed on His presence. To this day I have a suspicion that God had a hand in this, especially when He opened up doors of opportunity years before to buy Canada's oldest advertising agency and merge it with our company. My new and expanded agency took up space in the former agency's office building, a building which we also bought as part of the acquisition. And where was the new building located? You guessed it, right next door to the church on number 4 Lawton Boulevard in Toronto’s St.Clair and Yonge Street business district.


The meeting with our Keswick client had been a success. I had secured another major contract and not only was the weather bright, so was the financial outlook for that year. As I drove back to Toronto, I felt a matter press so hard on my conscience I could not bear it any longer. Somehow, somewhere, I felt a growing sense that I was to leave the business world and enter the world of fulltime ministry. Advertising I knew, but I had no idea about what was commonly called "ministry," meaning a fulltime occupation of teaching and preaching. 


I had not shared my feelings about leaving the business world with anyone, not even Alice. The feelings were so new to me I just did not know what to do with them. However, instead of anxiety, fear and pain, these new and unfamiliar feelings brought a sense of freedom and excitement. I sat on the hood of my dark blue Camaro and pondered the sky, the sun, and a vast blanket of snow. I don't know how long I sat there, but my thoughts seemed to drift endlessly. Then I spoke some of the most peculiar words I have ever spoken. Throwing caution into the wind and not really knowing if anyone was listening, I said: "God, you know I am Dutch. If that is you, and you want me to leave the business world and enter into the ministry, I would like to have three confirmations." 


From my childhood I remembered an ancient tale of Dutch captains who established their rule over the merchant ships in their charge, by repeating a special request three times. If the captain said it three times, whatever he spoke became scheepsrecht, or ‘ship’s law,”to become a new law of the ship while at sea. Sitting on the hood of my Camaro that cold but bright February morning, I asked God to make it absolutely clear I was "hearing a call." So, I asked for three confirmations.


Within a period of two months, three clear confirmations made my calling scheepsrecht. 


I was to leave the business world and enter into the ministry. I told no one of my peculiar request because I wanted the confirmations to be pure without anyone tampering with my request through persuasion, self-fulfilling prophecies, wishful thinking, and others who "wanted to help." One of the confirmations came from Bernard Warren, a trusted friend and co-labourer with whom I often shared my thoughts. His ministry at Bezek was a quality work of the Spirit and Bern's counsel was much sought after. The other two confirmations came from people and places I had never met before, people who became part of a carefully, or should I say divinely orchestrated course of events that even took Alice and I on a roundabout trip to Virginia Beach in the United States only to witness the whole affair come to light during a speech I made to the University of Toronto's Women's Alumni. At the time I was president of the Toronto Amsterdam Twin Cities Association and I was often asked to speak at official functions. It was during this special meeting of the women's alumni when I met Marguerite Pellman. She was an accomplished musician and she had been asked to play some Dutch music to commemorate the event. No sooner were we introduced when we discovered our common hunger and thirst in areas beyond music, Amsterdam, and the Netherlands. We both shared a passion for God. Imagine the conversation that actually took place when I met Marguerite.


"A pleasure meeting you Mrs.Pellman."


"Call me Marguerite and the pleasure is mine."


"I'm looking forward to your presentation, Mr.Verstraete, but I confess I had a rather 
difficult time to find appropriate Dutch music to introduce you."


"Why is that Marguerite?"


"Well, every time I looked through my books all I could find was sacred music."


"That's fine with me. In fact, my wife and I just returned from a trip to Virginia Beach and 
all we did was listen to sacred music while we drove the distance."


"Oh, are you a Christian?"


"Yes, I am."


"Are you one of those 'born-again' Christians?"


"Yes, I am."


"Are you one of those 'Spirit-filled' Christians?"


"Yes, I am!"


"Oh praise the Lord."


"Why?" I asked.


"Because when our alumni president asked me to play for you I refused. Then God told 
me to play for you because He wanted me to meet you. So I phoned our president to tell 
her I would play for you after all. So now tell me your story."


In the short time we had before the evening started I told her of my spiritual journey and that Alice and I had just returned from visiting CBN, Christian Broadcasting Network in Virginia Beach, USA. I had wanted to see for myself what a large broadcast ministry looked like, being so familiar myself with the advertising and broadcast industry. I was simply curious. When I contacted CBN they were excited and very hospitable. They gave me a royal, in-depth, behind-the-scenes tour, while Alice joined a studio audience during one of their broadcasts which was being taped at the time.


"I suppose that is why we had to meet," said Marguerite, a twinkle in her eyes.


"Why?" I asked.


"Because my husband is the Canadian director for the Christian Broadcasting Network, 
and I am sure he'll want to hear your story."


A week later Alice and I had coffee at the home of Ross and Marguerite Pellman in the east end of Toronto. Both Ross and Marguerite were retired and in their retirement years they devoted their lives to blessing others on the same spiritual journey. Ross was a retired lawyer and Marguerite a retired teacher. When the coffee was poured in cups, we began to share all that was happening to us. We all got very excited. We were encouraged to take our steps of faith together as husband and wife. Then Ross Pellman spoke prophetic words he could never have known because I had not told him, or Marguerite, anything about that part of the journey, when I asked God about three confirmations for the call to ministry. 

Ross said, "you shall have the Christian Communications Centre ( the name I had given the ministry ) for God wills it for His people." When he spoke those words, I felt dizzy and my heart felt as if it were actually skipping.


Later, in the car, I asked Alice, "was that a prophecy?"


I had never heard a prophecy spoken before but Alice knew about this thing called prophecy. She said Ross Pellman’s words were a prophecy.


What made the whole event particulary sweet was the fact that while we drove back from Virginia Beach, on April 28, 1982, we were forced to make an unexpected stop in Gettysburg, Pennsylvania, because the weather had turned absolutely foul. Torrential rains and threats of snow and ice made driving perilous. I got a room in downtown Gettysburg at a Holiday Inn. That night, unable to sleep soundly, while Alice slept peacefully, I had a vision. I had never had a vision before, nor did I know what visions were. Dreams I knew but visions I did not. Imagination I had plenty of, but this was different. The difference was when I woke up from my troubled sleep the vision continued. Not knowing quite what to do, I grabbed my sketchbook, a trusted companion on all my travels, and sketched what I could see. What I saw was a large, square teaching centre standing amidst fields of trees. I knew it was my second confirmation but it scared me so much I closed the sketchbook and except for Alice, I did not share its contents with anyone for over two years.


Ross and Marguerite Pellman were the icing on the cake. I did not tell them about the vision, which coincidentally came in Gettysburg, the birthplace of American freedom, to herald the birth of a vision for ministry and my road to personal freedom.


Needless to say, the ride home was filled with the sense of adventure. 


I waited a week before I told my partner Joe that I was leaving our business partnership. Although shaken and upset because our partnership had been such a fruitful one, he respected not only my decision to leave but also my decision to enter the ministry. I promised him I would take eight months to make my departure smooth and that not one client would be affected. Alice was as excited as I was and together we somehow knew the road ahead, although completely unknown to us, would be filled with the greatest adventure ever. In September of 1982, I said goodbye to my partner and staff at the agency, as well as to a large number of clients I had served over the years. Some understood, some did not. Surprisingly, everyone respected my decision and wished me well. A month later, on October 4, 1982, the doors to the Christian Communications Centre opened full time as our fledgling ministry began to fulfill its teaching mandate. There was no time to contemplate my journey in the arts. Ahead lay a unique season of my life, which perhaps one day in the future, would provided more than enough strength and creativity to pick up any pieces of my fine art life with a renewed zeal and passion. When that finally happened in 1993, I discovered another miracle. I had not grown "rusty" with age nor did I lose any of my artistic abilities, a claim most frequently made by the “experts,” when they speak those infamous words, “use it or lose it.” Those words may very well be true in a world of reason, but they are not true in God’s world of faith. Instead, I picked up pencil and brush as if no time had passed at all, and as if I had never put them down. I did not need to make up for "lost time."


Here I stood with Alice in the fall of 1982, ready for a big adventure.


With three confirmations, I knew my calling into ministry was real and secure. 


God had said it three times and it was now sheepsrecht.


I also knew that putting my art on the back burner was ok. I was convinced God would look after those artistic details in years to come. He did "big time" when we made our family and ministry move to British Columbia in 1993, even though I had picked up brush and pencil again six years before our move west and five years after I put the who art-thing on the back burner. When, however, I did pick up art again in 1987, it was only part-time. Not until British Columbia and my spaceous Gabriola island studio did I return to fulltime fine art.

The six hundred dollar fool
Leaving a successful business was not simply a matter of emptying my desk and walking out, especially when I wanted to leave with honour and integrity. I had promised Joe that I would take all the time necessary to bring about a sincere settlement of our affairs and partnership. Our agreement included a financial settlement as well, because we both owned a holding company that held title to a small downtown office building which served as our corporate home in Toronto. In addition, we owned other business assets in both the Toronto and Ottawa offices, as well as a generous inventory or portfolio of valuable clients and advertising contracts. After much prayer and discussion with Alice, I decided that I would give Joe my half of everything, except for some change that would carry me over for a month or so, as I set up my new ministry office. I also assured Joe I was not planning to set up another advertising agency, even though one client insisted he stay with me because we had had such a long and personal friendship. All the other clients stayed with Joe and Folio Advertising Agency Ltd. Joe readily agreed that the one client could stay with me. It was not a big client as far as size of advertising media contracts was concerned. The client, however, required ongoing graphic design for his industrial catalogue which I had personally designed and maintained over many years. Therefore, throughout the spring and summer of 1982, I prepared for a smooth and professional exit.


Joe, however, was shocked when I told him I was giving him my half of all the holdings and assets. I told him I wanted my private and public witness as a Christian to be one of honour and respect. Never would anyone in the business community, and I knew many, nor any of my family and closest friends, ever be able to accuse me of  "taking Joe for all I could get." With the help of Norman Griesdorf, our corporate lawyer for over a decade, I signed all the necessary legal papers that secured Joe one hundred percent ownership without a massive buyout of my shares. 


I will never forget the look on Joe's face when it was all done. 

There were no hidden surprises, no secret deals. It was all his. When it was all over, I took only six hundred dollars in cash and my personal office belongings including an executive desk and large drafting table. Needless to say, when news of this settlement reached my family and some friends, an endless parade of phone calls and personal visits invaded our home to announce I was the greatest fool who ever lived. It was one thing to tolerate my decision to leave the business world and some even consoled themselves into believing the ministry world I was going to was as much or more profitable than the world of business. Some friends became enemies. Some just left Alice and I, never to return. It's an odd feeling to have friends leave because of money which wasn't even theirs, but that is one of the perils of living by faith. Some thought I had forced Alice to accept my decisons, with no consideration of her thoughts and dreams. Others thought it was Alice who persuaded me to do things her way. Few understood that our new adventure of faith was a joint decision, made without coercion, pressure, or any attempt by one to persuade the other. We both agreed and were “in it” one hundred percent of our own freewill. Yet, deep inside I knew somehow that even this "six hundred dollar fool" would see his decision, a decision he shared openly with his wife and to which we both prayerfully agreed, turn into a very special fruit, especially for my suddenly former partner Joe.


Two years after I left the partnership, Joe was diagnosed with terminal cancer. 


Slowly the agency ground to a halt. Joe was hospitalized. I went to visit him and prayed with him in his hospital room. We had tears in our eyes. Joe accepted Jesus into his life. I assured him God would not let him slip through His fingers. Joe's cancer went into remission, long enough to wrap up all business affairs and close down Folio Advertising Agency for good. Then the cancer returned with a vengeance. AIDS began to complicate any hope of recovery and soon medical expenses began to mount. Joe sold all his business properties and assets, and was able to buy a modest townhouse as well as expensive treatment in Toronto's Casey House. 


Little had I known that my decision to leave with only six hundred dollars, would leave Joe able to live his last few years of precious life in comfort and financial security. He got the best treatment available. On September 14, 1988, the ravages of cancer and AIDS claimed Joe. We said goodbye at a special service nextdoor to the agency in Deer Park Anglican Church. Somehow in my grief, I knew I would see him again one day. Never have I regretted being the fool who gave it all away. 

The Centre Years

The period immediately following August 1981, spiralled into a meteoric journey that witnesses so many events and so many special people, I simply cannot begin to recall all of them, and any attempt to do so would be vanity. Sometimes when I lie awake, even decades later, I will wonder “whatever happened to Peter, or Londis, or Ed Yamada or Fiona?” In 2003, I received an email from Ed Yamada who somehow found me on the internet. He had been an employee in 1975, twenty-eight years ago, and now lived as a professional copywriter in a remote forest region north of Tokyo Japan. 

I have called these years "The Centre Years," simply to account for the time between 1981 and 1994, a time which also marked the birth of my Masterpeace Fine Art Studio. I had named my new journey Christian Communications Centre, in a typical business fashion to help me sort through this new adventure called "ministry." At the centre’s core was my calling to be a teacher, specifically a deep desire to be a Bible teacher. After that event on a cold February highway just south of Keswick, when I asked for three confirmations to know beyond a doubt I was to leave the business world, I became acutely aware of what can best be described as a calling. At first, indications of such a calling came in the form of a hunger and thirst for Godly truth. I spend hours of spare time each day reading the Bible. I began making comprehensive notes. Additional time was spent in prayer. After about a period of two years of immersion, I wrote my first teaching. Naturally it dealt with communication, the experience of my many years in the advertising business. Opportunities to minister and teach began to open during the following year. In 1984, I was asked to be guest speaker at youth rallies and to teach a number of special workshops for young people throughout southern Ontario. I studied both formally and informally, completing a total of six years of correspondence Bible college. The ride was a fast and exciting one. Things began to snowball. No sooner had I spoken at one event, I was sked to speak at another. I began preaching in so many churches throughout southern Ontario I cannot remember them all. 


In every case and at every invitation to be guest preacher and teacher, I do remember speaking about the Kingdom of God and a life led by the Spirit of God. My most frequent "guest spots" were with pastor Brian Mahood and his wife Kathy in their large charismatic church in Peterborough, as well as in my home church called Meadowvale Community Christian Reformed Church, in the Ebenezer Reformed Church in Mississauga, and a small fellowship in Pickering under the pastoral care of Jack de Vries. 


I am compelled, however, at this time to interrupt my speeding train of thought.


Because I was professionally trained with over fifteen years of practise to effectively market and advertise just about any product and service, I became painfully aware of abusive advertising and fundraising practises in Christendom. Much fundraising was initiated under such noble guises as sacrificial giving, tithing, and "prayer support." Alice and I spent many hours discussing this difficult issue. Then one day we both decided that there was only one way we wanted to know God and that was the way He had revealed Himself in His word. God, not man, would be our source for all our daily material, physical, and spiritual needs. Private prayer between the two of us or alone with God would be our only "advertising campaign." We agreed we would never solicit funds for the sake of personal or ministry needs. Our master plan would indeed be, as one brave pastor once told us: "if God orders the pizza, He pays for it." Faith would be the only "marketing strategy," as we decided to depend on no one but God for all our needs. Only He would know our needs. Our needs were shared between Alice and I and God in that secret place called prayer, and never publically.


It was not an easy task to tell no one of our needs, especially when we had a large family of six children, and by all accounts ( of which certain family members and friends made us painfully aware ) no visible means of income. They lamented the fact I had left a good paying job for no further gainful employment. They judged us to be rather presumptuous at the time to begin speaking about "invisible" means of income, when we had no income. But that was our decision nevertheless. We made that decision in the spring of 1982. Time would prove God's word right concerning our decision in 1982, to "live by faith and faith alone." 


As I write this account it is now over twenty-two years later and we have still not told anyone of our personal needs. Needless to say if someone asked, "do you need baby furniture," as was the case when Suzanne was born, we said "yes," because we had given all our baby furniture away. But we had told no one we were without baby furniture when news of Alice's pregnancy spread. Nevertheless, a van came to our house and delivered brand-new baby furniture. Some came late in the night. Others came in tears because they knew a year earlier they were to give us a gift, yet they had refused. None of this was known to us, nor had we asked anyone for anything. If I border on boasting when I relate these accounts, the facts remain true nevertheless. People came giving small amounts, large amounts, unusual gifts, spectacular gifts like a holiday in Hawaii and a brand-new van, just to mention some of the provisions along the way. There is no record anywhere of a fundraising letter or desperate plea for money or any other kind of plea. Through it all God has been our only source, even when we shared publically what we were believing for, but never ever was such sharing with compulsion, pressure or unfair advertising. 


This aspect of the journey brought us as often to tears as to laughter. Many times we were deeply humbled, and other times we could barely contain our enthusiasm. Often we fell short of being able to find the right words to really express what we felt in our hearts, instead we settled for a "praise God," or "thank you Jesus." In my introduction I spoke of three maps that illustrated our journey. The map of our spiritual journey winds over the tallest mountains and through the deepest valleys, with discoveries and experiences we would have never thought possible. It remains the greatest adventure yet, this journey of faith. Years later I discovered God was as interested in the arts as an integral part of this journey of faith as He was interested in the preaching and teaching of His word.


In 1987, we began organizing teaching conferences with a special focus on spiritual life. These grew into yearly all-Ontario conferences and smaller regional ones. Over a thousand people attended the large conferences. Hundreds came to the regional ones. I discovered the wonderful world of teaching videos. Alice and I scoured Christendom for quality teachings on video. These we organized into an informal curriculum of study which we circulated among eleven "video-cells" we had formed throughout the province. Some video-cells began as far away as New Zealand, Jamaica, Ghana, and Mexico. I made the rounds of each Ontario video cell on a monthly basis, to provide pastoral counseling and teaching on the Kingdom of God. Our first teaching centre opened in Missisauga, Ontario, on September 8, 1987, in renovated industrial space. Birthed in creative thought as early as 1979, but legally incorporated in 1981, and operational in 1982, the Christian Communications Centre was granted full charitable status in January 1988.


Not long afterwards we began Friday evening fellowship services for teaching and renewal. The numbers grew and we moved to various locations to keep up with people growth and with short-term leases. Eventually the Friday evenings shifted to Sunday evening and so in 1992, we began the "Church In The City," on Sunday evenings in Mississauga’s Ebenezer Reformed Church, and later in an upstairs commercial space in downtown Mississauga. I even had the pleasure of expanding our work into the USA where we partnered with Dr.Marvin Baker of Muskegon, and founded the Christian Communications Centre of Michigan. Our regular newsletter "From His Good Storehouse" grew into a magazine called "SpiritWind." I rally my thoughts not to burden you with excessive details, but I cannot forget many years on cable TV with my own show, "This is the Day," as well as occasional guest host or co-host of 100 Huntley Street's nightime live broadcast called "Nightline." How can I forget Robert and Laura Thody who were so helpful in breaking artistic ground at YWAM, the Youth With A Mission base in Cambridge, Ontario, and who prepared the way for me to teach regular studio drawing sessions for many years, as well as assist the mission in establishing a fulltime professional theatre in downtown Kitchener Waterloo. It seemed God never had the arts far removed from my journey in ministry and teaching.


During "The Centre Years," I served as elder in the Meadowvale Community Christian Reformed Church and saw monumental growth among our young adults. We began with a dozen young people in our home as we searched the Scriptures together. Within a year we moved to the church's main facility as over seventy-five young adults came every Friday evening just to worship and study together. When the numbers continued to grow we organized young adult teaching retreats at nearby Camp Shalom, where in the intimacy of Drost Lodge we sang, prayed, cried, hugged, studied, and rejoiced together. We saw many miracles during those centre years. Healings were common, some a matter of the heart by faith, others clearly demonstrated and tangible proof of God's healing power. We experienced abundant provisions but most important we saw the lives of many young adults change forever and for the better. Today some still come to visit only they are no longer young adults. They are adults complete with families of their own. Some were launched into their own ministries such as Colleen Reinders and Grace Moes in their Unity Music Ministries. Others continue to serve full or part-time in a variety of Christian organizations and churches. So, whatever happened to Bernice Stegenga and Karyn-grace Hunnerson, two of so many special young adults? Bernice moved to Gabriola with us and married Dave Dewinetz. Both serve in the church. Karyn-grace married Wayne Clark, and in 2001, some sixteen years later and after a holiday visit to Gabriola they moved with their three children to this island as well. God is indeed good as He promised me many years ago that I would see the fruit of all my ministry.


Despite an increasingly busy teaching schedule, I was often invited to fill in for vacationing pastors. In some churches this is strangely called “pulpit supply.” I will never forget the warmth and hospitality with which I was received in many churches of many denominations. When Alice and I  left the Christian Reformed Church to set out on our own adventure in church-planting, we continued to experience daily the fruit of that decision we made years earlier. Many of those we touched became students in my regular weekly teaching classes where I taught the Kingdom of God and life in the Spirit.


In 1991, I was officially ordained into the ministry through ECA, the Evangelical Church Alliance, and licensed with the province of Ontario. Alice was ordained in 1995. When we moved to British Columbia our licensing was changed to BC. When we realized we wanted pastoral fellowship and accountability "closer-to-home," especially since we lived on such a small island as Gabriola, we joined our ordination to CCCC, the Christian Congregational Churches of Canada, who had a number of churches on Vancouver Island. We have remained ordained with both ECA and CCCC, also to help ECA’s need for a “home church” on the west coast.


Recently, I was told by the pastor of the Bay Community Church, a “4-C’s”, Christian Congregational Church in Comox, BC, on Vancouver Island, that I was voted "the favourite of all guest pastors," an honour I cherish but did not ask for or seek, yet an honour that warms me.


So, whatever happened to fine art during this whirlwind adventure of ministry?


After all, I had put my drawing and painting on the back burner in 1982.


It was impossible to find time for fine art in those days, but the fires of creativity never completely ceased to smoulder. After five years on the back burner, the artistic gifts and abilities turned to bright flames again in 1987. It was the year I rejoined my friend and mentor, and Canadian drawing master, David Owen Campbell, for mid-week life drawing sessions at the Ontario College of Art & Design. David had remained an instructor at the college since the seventies. He welcomed me back with open arms, delighted to see my face again in his drawing sessions. To this day, he continues to be a real encouragement as I venture along creative roads on my artistic map.


These were "The Centre Years," when Alice taught the children at home and I taught the other "children" wherever doors opened. Many doors opened to Sunday services, video cells, conferences, both ours and those conferences and workshops organized by other ministries, as well as our special workshops and our regular teaching sessions at the centre. To help Alice with homeschooling and also free her for counseling and teaching of our other "children," we received another miracle. A young woman named Bernice Stegenga, joined our family. It remains her testimony to this day that she felt led by the Spirit of God to join our ministry and serve wherever needed. She became like a daughter to us and remains a wonderful blessing to this day. She served as assistant in home-schooling our children, and she participated in the music ministry of our services, conferences and workshops. She was also a most diligent student of my teaching courses, graduating from both major courses. Our children all adopted Bernice as one of their own and love her still very much. Her casseroles were a real adventure. 


Our joy was made complete when in 1993, and as I have mentioned earlier, she moved to Gabriola with us and a few years later we married her in our home to a local businessman, David Dewinetz. The two have been a blessing to us and pillars of support in our island work. 


All in all, the centre years were exuberant and alive years. Our family fared well, as homeschooling and most of my teaching assignments were confined to evenings, keeping us all close together during the day. They were exciting and happy years.


Having jouneyed through these years rather quickly, I do want to pause and reflect on a number of very unique events that took place during the centre years.

In touch with the supernatural

One of the great landmarks of this stretch of my journey was my firsthand experience with the supernatural. In all my previous years, supernatural meant myth, legend, lore, and the stuff of fairytales. Since childhood some awareness of a devil had been drilled into me, but I had no knowledge or experience of any such being. Reason simply would not allow me to step beyond empirical evidence and intellectual understanding of such concepts as good and evil. As a child I was fascinated by an old Dutch book about legends and sagas around Zwolle, my city of birth, and Overijssel, the ancient province in which our family lived. It was a book full of lurid tales of deception and betrayal, dark forboding events in the middle of stormy nights on naked hilltops, bloody battles and frightening sounds lurking around ancient castle walls. One such tale was the alleged murder of an innocent man, whose gruesome death was told in as many gruesome words as possible. The story played tricks with my young mind. 

This is what happened when the murder story took root in my head.


One day, sometime during the late 1950’s, a group of kids and I decided to ride our bikes into the countryside, specifically to visit a field where some abandoned World War II German bunkers still dotted the green pastures. We left our bikes along a fence and started the long walk to the nearest bunker. As the grey cement structure rose like a monolith before our eyes, some of the kids began to talk about alleged murders that had taken place in this bunker, including the murder of that innocent man mentioned in that big book of sagas and legends. Soon the conversation included many old legends and sagas of the area. Shivers began to run over my spine. We stuck close together as we walked over the last low hill towards the bunker. A dark slit, through which guns once poked, stared at us like some evil eye. Somehow the thrill of adventure and an unexpected adrenalin rush kept us walking, even though we were trembling in our rubber boots. Would we find ancient human remains in the forbidden bunker? Would the skeleton of a murdered soul greet us as we stepped into the bunker's secret interior beckoning like some dark medieval fortress from which friend and foe never returned? My twelve-year old knees were shaking. Suddenly a gunshot tore through the air and the sound seemed to whistle overhead only to strike instant panic into our hearts. Without hesitation the whole group turned around and as fast as our little legs could carry us, we made a frightened dash for our bicycles. 


We never looked back. We didn't dare.


As complete fear drove us to push our pedals faster than we had ever biked before, I did look back just in time to see a farmer way back at the end of the field. In his arm was a rifle. He shook his fist as we disappeared down the winding country road. When we reached the end of the road, having passed many small farms, we were assured we were outside the range of bullets. We slowed enough to see the familar sign, of which thousands dot the Dutch landscape - Verboden Toegang, Entry Forbidden or No Trespassing. 


We had been trespassing on a farmer's field.


Once our fleeting bravery returned, we all dismissed the incident as never having happened. After all, what would our friends say when they found out we had run like chickens. Maybe the rifle in the farmer's hand was no more than a walking stick and the "gunshot" we heard was no more than a sharp slap on the side of a gate or fencepost, as a loud warning shouted in our direction.


Any real supernatural manifestations would have to wait many more years.


When our family immigrated to Canada I was introduced to that greedy celebration called Halloween, a celebration whose intentions, whether good or bad, have become a merchant's boon and a parent's nightmare, a celebration where fear of sharp objects and other poisons has long since robbed the event of any fun. I never did believe there were headless riders on horses, or goblins, or demons, or witches on broomsticks, black cats that brought bad luck and other tales from the crypt. Halloween was a feast of candy. Any supernatural on that night meant no more than a healthy imagination and an occasional good scare during a horror movie or some friendly prank in the middle of the night.


All that would change the day I first touched the supernatural. 


Needless to say, for many the supernatural remains as superstition and fertile imagination, even vain imagination, yet the world of real supernatural events opened to me. I must emphasize that this awareness came hand-in-hand with intense study of the authority believers have in supernatural circumstances, an authority backed by an increasing knowledge of God's very own supernatural power. These were not figments of my imagination. I began to experience hard-core evidence. 


My first taste was in the area of supernatural healing. 


Reason suspected that adults could be coerced into faking healing under the guise of many a "praise the Lord," but one cannot fool a sick child in need of healing. When I saw that broken child get out of his wheelchair one day and push it right out of the auditorium, I believed healing to be supernatural acts of God. Even though I risk sounding boastful, I cannot begin to recount all the healings I have seen take place since that young child was healed, an event I witnessed with my own eyes and to be followed by many more during the centre’s years. By "healings" I do not mean simple aches and pains invisible to the naked eye, and nothing a good night's rest or the loss of some excess weight cannot cure. I mean healings where the deaf heard again, the lame walked, wounds were healed, diseases stopped in their tracks, as well as those very precious times I personally witnessed the joy of seeing a person made whole again. Whether the experiences came because we prayed, laid on hands, or anointed with oil, they nevertheless remained concrete evidence of God's presence in our midst. I have experienced the same supernatural power as God brought healing into my own life. Alice and I have seen God's power in supernatural provision for our family and a strength to live by faith for over twenty-two years, since we first began our supernatural journey in 1981.


There is, however, another side to the supernatural. It is a dark and ugly side of demonic powers that infiltrate the mind to sow confusion, despair and terror. It is a power so bent on stealing, killing and destroying everything in its path, it leaves families broken, relationships torn to shreds, individuals tormented by all sorts of "personalities, syndromes, and disorders," and bodies ravaged by the effects of disease, bitterness, and unforgiveness. It was in this dark arena where I learned quickly to stand by faith and call upon God's power and not my own. It was in this dark arena where I touched the supernatural without fear, yet touched it with a healthy respect for the devil and his demon hordes. Those who subscribe to laughter when these events are told and who dismiss it all as poppycock, face no other choice but to laugh at me and dismiss me as poppycock. Yet, it is I who will continue to hold fast to the evidence of many such incidents and the testimony of hundreds who were profoundly changed by the experience. It is not the fodder of Hollywood to which I subscribe, nor the assumptions of ambitious horror authors. It is none other than the testimony of a cloud of witnesses that surrounds me to say, "it is so!"


The supernatural is very real.


One summer day I was called to the home of friends. They lived on a farm northeast of Toronto. I had known them for many years. Over the phone, they explained a frightening problem with their oldest daughter. She was about ten years old. She had begun to suffer from dreadful night terrors that shook her frail body and terrified both parents. Nothing seemed to help. Would I come over and pray over the girl. I decided to take my good friend Bruce with me. As we drove to the farm, I felt a growing need to treat the matter in a different way. Prayer and laying on of hands were not the answer. Somehow I knew the problem was not with the young girl. When we arrived I asked the father and mother if they could remember any event that had taken place in the one hundred year-old farmhouse that could possibly shed some light on the problem. I began to sense a forboding presence of death in the place. It held my stomach in a tight grip. Both parents knew the house very well but remembered no such incident, nor any other association with death. However, my sense of a spirit of death in the place, would not leave me. Then I knew for sure that it was God who was telling me the nature of the problem. 


I instructed Bruce to go to the top floor of the two-storey building. Father and mother would stay on the ground floor, and I would resign myself to a very musty and smelly old basement that felt more like a dungeon than a basement, complete with a single bare lightbulb dangling from the ceiling. I smiled thinking of old horror movies. I gave the signal and we all began to pray. Our prayer was aimed at identifying a specific suspicion of a presence of some unknown and unwanted spirit. Suddenly my mind felt clear. I knew I was dealing with a spirit of death who had decided to come out of hiding and make life miserable for this God-fearing family of mom, dad, and three children. We ended our prayer and gathered in the basement to confirm we all felt the same presence. Everyone had felt the same thing. Prayer had also brought to remembrance in the father that long ago a woman had died an agonizing but natural death in the house and her body had stayed there for some time. Confident this spirit of death was the unwanted guest, we proceeded without fanfare. We exercised our God-given authority and cast the spirit from the old farmhouse. Was it real or did we just imagine things?


From that very moment, the young child never had a night terror again.


Then there was Carol's house.


Not long after a special conference we held to teach on the supernatural, I was asked to come to the home of a woman who lived about ten blocks from our home. I asked Alice to accompany me. We were greeted by a woman at the door of a fashionable home. Her name was Carol ( not her real name ). She led us into a beautifully decorated home, a place were taste was worth a lot of money. The moment I stepped through the door I felt a peculiar heaviness come over me, but I kept silent. Carol's story was a convincing one. For years she had loved a man who was already married. When the man's wife died of cancer, he began dating Carol. It was a relationship she had dreamed of and now suddenly it began unfolding before her eyes. He was a professional consultant with a high reputation and he traveled around the world to consult with foreign dignitaries and others "in high places." He was also a wealthy man. They fell wonderfully in love and were married some time later. Both were very intelligent and professional in everything they did. Everything seemed in perfect order as both looked forward to a long and blessed life together. There was, however, one problem. When Carol moved into his home, she became very ill. Doctors' appointments and a lot of medicine did not help. Yet, whenever they traveled together she was perfectly well. It seemed this sickness had something to do with the house in which they lived. To remedy the situation, they cleaned the air circulation system, installed elaborate filters, and kept the place hospital clean. To no avail. Carol became seriously ill, so much so that her husband feared his new bride would succumb to the same fate as his previous wife. Carol had been to our conference where she heard Alice and I teach about a believer's authority and the real world of supernatural experiences.


She felt encouraged to phone us at home.


As we sat down in her livingroom she explained that her husband was not a "believer," but their marriage was strong and alive. They were definitely in love. Her husband was overseas at the moment, so she felt comfortable enough to invite us over. By this time I knew the problem lay with the countless foreign objects standing on numerous shelves throughout the house. Carol's husband was a collector of expensive and not-so-expensive works of art, especially antique artifacts. Every room was decorated with artifacts gathered from many countries on his travels around the world. I was impressed by the quality of his collection. There were fertility goddesses, cult symbols, carvings of infinite variety, many of them true objects d'art, and many were very valuable. I saw carvings and sculptures in jade, pure gold, silver, precious stones, and earthenware. It was a collection that would rival a small museum. No doubt, Carol's husband was proud of his small fortune in artifacts. 


As the three of us prayed together for wisdom, I asked Carol if she understood that her problems had something to do with the artifacts. We talked for a bit about objects dedicated to foreign gods, cult worship artifacts, and how such objects could become a legitimate entrance for supernatural powers into one's life and home. She understood. We decided to put the matter to the test. She was leaving with her husband on a Florida vacation the following week. Carol would mention nothing to her husband about our visit. We agreed to monitor her situation carefully and the results were astounding. She was sick until the day they left for Miami. At first her husband wondered if it was the right thing to do, to leave for Florida while Carol was so sick. She insisted she would recover in time to enjoy the trip. As it turned out, she had a wonderful time with her husband as they vacationed in Miami. The minute, however, they returned home and she stepped back into the house, she was sick again. Carol phoned us the next day. Alice and I agreed we had discerned rightly. The house was in desperate need of a "house cleansing."


A couple of days later when Carol's husband had left for a short business trip, we were back at their home.


With Carol following us through the house making careful notes of what we said, Alice and I identified each and every object as to whether the object had been put to ill use or was used for some foreign cultish worship or secret ceremony. Without any regard as to whether the object was precious, valuable, or of great historic significance, we went from room to room saying "yes," and "no" as we examined each object. Alice and I agreed our discernment as to whether an artifact was "yes" or "no," was by the power of the Spirit of God. When it was over, our list had both surprises and disappointments. Sometimes what we thought would be a "no" turned out to be a "yes." Some very valuable pieces were a "no," meaning do not keep, and other valuable pieces were keepers. The next step, however, would be more difficult. Would Carol's husband agree with such a seemingly wanton method of ridding the house of evil, if indeed he was even willing to accept the fact evil was very real? Carol had no idea about her husband's emotional and financial attachment to various objects or whether certain artifacts had special meaning. One special and valuable sculpture in the shape of a probing eye ( a "no" ) was a gift from some very senior business executives in Japan. We prayed a prayer of faith together and left. 


Two days later we got a phone call from Carol. It was obvious she was having a difficult time containing her excitement over the phone. Her husband had said that his love for her meant more than any object in the house. I didn't know whether to cry or jump for joy. All the "no's" were disposed of, how and where I do not know, and all the "yes" artifacts stayed as objects of value and beauty in the house. It was a thorough house-cleansing.


Carol never got sick again.


Late one night a young adult asked me for help. She had joined our group at the church and was touched by the friendliness of our seventy young adults. Everytime she joined us for an evening of fellowship, she remained very agitated and sat at the back. One such evening I knew something was up when she stayed behind after most had left. She told me her story of despair, of torment and sickness. Again I knew I was dealing with the supernatural. As is often the case with those who are guilty, give them time enough to speak and they'll reveal every detail of their guilt. The young woman was not the guilty one, however, a demon spirit was. And it spoke up, loud and clear, in a voice I knew was not the young lady's voice. As I encouraged her to share more of her story her voice suddenly changed. A slow and dark voice spoke as if irritated it had been "found out." A shudder ran down my spine. I knew I was hearing the demon speak even though the young woman was fully conscious. She laid down on the carpeted church floor and a few of us who were still in the church, gathered around to watch especially for any possible violent behaviour. She appeared to be in great distress. I placed my hand on her forehead and commanded the demon to come out. She coughed, sputtered, and groaned, as she moved over the carpet as if having difficulty getting rid of a heavy load. 


Suddenly she let out a long deep sigh and just lay there smiling. When the time had come to leave the building and turn off the lights, seeing it was way past quitting time for the young adult's group, I said, "you're going to have to go home sometime, Mary ( not her real name). You can't stay here all night." Mary simply did not want to leave the peace and joy of her deliverance. Smiling she got up and went home. Week after week she joined us on Friday nights. What a joy to see someone delivered from such oppression.


Some still question whether the supernatural is real, while others mock it and dismiss it as old-fashioned superstition, but then they'd have to call me a liar, for real as real can be were my encounters with the supernatural.


Although such events as I have shared were quite frequent during the centre years, I cannot share all of them because many such events and people remain confidential. Regrettably, the matter of supernatural powers is still a forbidden discussion in many churches and those who agree and who of their own freewill want to be "ministered to" in areas of the supernatural, are often thought of as unstable and "flaky." Neither is the matter of demonic oppression gender respective. I have seen as many men as I have seen women demonized. We have helped equally as many men and women. Call it possession, oppression, demonization, or downright harassment, the argument is not what we call it or even how it can possibly happen, especially when the supernatural has very little "theological" support. The fact remains, oppression of any sort by a demonic spirit is a terrible experience, an experience that can last for many years. It’s what we do with the possession, oppression, demonization, and harassment that matters. What we do is called deliverance.


I shall close this chapter with a truly frightening experience in 1990, in Tijuana, Mexico.

 
I had gathered a group of people to travel with me to Mexico, where CSA, Christian Services Association, an organization we knew well had started a "Mission to Mexico." The mission involved relief programs, spiritual teaching programs, and building programs, among the poor and destitute of the region. In addition there were numerous outreaches to prisons including the notorious Tijuana Jail. In total, our group was fifteen adults, which when added to the permanent group stationed in the mission in Tijuana, made for a sizeable company. The men stayed in a large dorm house down the street from the main mission building and the women stayed in dorms inside the mission building. I had been told by the "regulars" that demonic activity was quite normal in these parts of the world, as the world of supernatural occurrences and demonic beings were well integrated into daily life. 


One night we all retired early to our comfortable beds after a long day in the colonias. Windows with iron bars in front of them were tightly shut and the front door was doubly bolted. After all, this was downtown Tijuana. It was February, so we were not concerned about muggy nights. I slept in the livingroom on a long couch. The bunkbeds were too small and too short for me, so I chose the sofa. Soon we were all sound asleep. I don't know what time it was, but it was quiet and dark when I awoke with a gripping fear that paralized me on the sofa. Half asleep I wondered if the door was left unlocked and some intruder was sneaking his way through the dorm. I managed to get up to check the door and felt its locks securely in place. The windows were all shut. I crawled back under the covers unable to escape a forboding sense that someone was in the room. I closed my eyes tight, but I could not sleep. I felt unable to do anything. That paralizing feeling crept all over me. I was unable to shout or run for help. When I opened my eyes I was terrified. There before me stood a large dark shape, whose figure was neither human nor animal but definitely a presence. It just stood there as it watched me gripped in fear. Thinking it may be a bad dream I managed to "wake up," but when I awoke fully I found the room still dark and the figure still standing there. 


In my head I heard the words, "the blood, the blood - it's your authority!" 


I knew what I had to do. 


I stood up slowly, trembling, and facing the dark figure I said, "in the name of Jesus and by His blood I cast you out of this room." 


Whoever or whatever it was, left in an instance. 


Suddenly the room felt clean and bright even though it was the middle of the night. A peace that can only be described as heavenly overwhelmed me. I sank into the soft cushions of the couch and fell blissfully asleep. The morning dawned in a beautiful orange-yellow light as the sun peeked through the windows. I shared my nightly experience with the others. One young man grinned as he told me how when they first arrived in Mexico they slept in tents. One night he could see the shadows of demons dancing on the canvas of the tent. These are not delirious acounts of deranged people, pumped by alcohol, drugs, and superstition. These are legitimate and confirmed accounts of very ordinary people.


Even though the supernatural world is real and I have experienced it again and again, the power of my authority in Christ is greater. This is not fuel for tales of self-glory and attempts to make me sound greater than I am. I am painfully aware that against the powers of depression, anxiety, fear, and oppression, I am very weak with little recourse but to run and hide. Some take alcohol and drugs to ease the pain of demonic oppression. But I do not stand alone. In my authority in Christ I can walk with confidence that no weapon formed against me will prosper.

The road to trust

One day during a ferry ride from Nanaimo to Gabriola a man came and sat in my car. I knew him and we both served on a community board. Soon our conversation turned to people and events. He was a small man who thought he was big. His self-righteousness was surpassed by his arrogance. In some mysterious way he believed his destiny was to keep me on the straight and narrow. In fact, he hated me. Perhaps he still does to this day. Everything I stood for he hated. Needless to say, serving on a community board together had its precarious moments. Every time he tried to "put me in my place," it backfired. Every time he spoke against my proposals in order to promote his own cause, he failed. His favourite passtime was to try and trap me with words. He never did understand how a fulltime professional artist could write columns about the Kingdom of God in the island's local paper. He also hated Christianity. He said he was a tolerant man and promptly told my wife he would never expose his young daughter to Christianity. As the ferry pulled away frow her berth, he sat down in my car and fired broadside.


"Gerrit, you're full of sh…t!"

I decided not to throw him out of the car and instead allow him to vent his anger knowing it wouldn’t be long before he’d put his foot in his mouth, again.


"Why?" I asked.


"You said in your column that every child deserves a loving father and loving mother."


"You mean to say they don't?" I asked.


"No," he replied. "I mean you are so intolerant of gay couples."


"I never said that, so why do you choose to interpret my writing in that way?"


Silence.


"I trust everybody, do you?" he continued.


"I only trust those who have earned the right to be trusted," I answered.


"That's being intolerant of those who disagree with you," he fired.


I asked him, "Would you let your young daughter stay with a babysitter who is a repeat 
sex-offender?"


Silence.


It was time to switch gears and show him for who he really was.

"What about that mess in the Middle East, eh?" I asked. "I mean, look at those dictators and agitators. And all that terrorism in Israel? Where will it all end. And then there’s that dictator in Bosnia, right?"


"What, that no good ( expletive ) ( expletive )!" he replied angrily.


"Aren't you being rather intolerant?" I asked.

"After all, you trust everybody right? Do you trust those dicators too, and if you do, then every child deserves an oppressive evil dictator, right?"


He left the car.


Our sparring had ended and as other such encounters had ended before, he left defeated. 


When I shared with him years before that my source of trust was not man but God, he always searched for ways to prove me wrong. If he could not win against me, he would try Alice. That was his second mistake. Alice and I have lived a life of faith that is not open to public scrutiny, much to the shagrin of this man. As much as he tried to find out how we lived and why we were so respected in the community, he came up empty-handed. Whenever we shared with him our trust in God he plugged his ears. One of my regrets in life has been that so many have wasted so much valuable time fighting windmills fueled by hatred, suspicion and gossip. He was one of them.


Regardless of this man, and others like him, the matter of trust has been a personal issue that has been part of my journey for many years. The road to trust has been a perilous road. I have not and do not trust mankind, science, technology, money, and other man-made programs and institutions. However, I have not believed in a world-wide conspiracy either. I have simply not trusted anyone but God to consistently has given me truth. Those people, however, who have earned my trust, I respect and honour. I remain thankful that my life is filled with a number of people, places and organizations, who I trust. But the greatest challenge has been not to limit my trust to just the trust of man. I aimed to grow in faith and put my trust in God. I have not claimed either that I have discovered everything there is to know about trust and I certainly cannot lay claim to having trusted God completely. That is not to say He cannot be trusted. God has demonstrated beyond any shadow of doubt, endorsed by millennia of history, that He has been and is completely trustworthy. Would I abandon my ways and trust His ways? That remained at the very heart of my journey.


In 1990, I completed the writing of a comprehensive study course on the Kingdom of God. In 1992, I published the course as "Glimpses of the Kingdom." It became the study text of many of my students in the communities where I taught them. I managed as well to reach as many students elsewhere, both young and old, even overseas. I will never forget the night I walked along a dimly-lit path on the outskirts of Accra, the capital of Ghana in West Africa. My host had a surprise for me. He was the founder of a local Bible college who had learned of my course and enthusiastically taught it to his students. After a short walk it appeared we were lost. It was very dark. Then suddenly around a bend in our path I saw a small building. A single lightbulb lit the small space. Seated were fifteen young students. Each had a copy of "Glimpses of the Kingdom" in their laps. I was overwhelmed. They had come together to wait patiently for my arrival in order to hear me teach the Kingdom of God.


Chapter six in this course called “Glimpses of the Kingdom,” was titled, "The Road to Trust." It was a good chapter. 


In 1997, however, I began a major re-write of the original course. I titled the new book, "Homeward Bound." On page thirty-nine in my draft manuscript I began the chapter, "The Road to Trust." It has been stuck there ever since. In 1999, I chose the same title for the book you are now reading. The point I make is simple. As much as I wanted to write about trust, a matter in itself worthy of writing about, trust remains as something that can only be lived. My "chapter" on trust has been the life I have lived and continue to live. That is easier said or easier written than done.


Nevertheless, I have chosen three episodes that demonstrate at least my desire if not always the greatest willingness to trust God. At times that desire found little response or support in my mind, yet, at other times it had been easier to trust God.


The first episode demonstrates trust for provision. 


During the early nineties, Alice and I were in a time of transition, waiting for news from above as to where our next steps were to be directed. Five of our six children were living at home and a young lady, named Bernice, had joined the family to help out with homeschooling and ministry. Our daily food budget was a sizeable one. Many times our diningroom table seated not only family but friends as well, especially those friends who had discovered Alice's great homecooked meals and my traditional Saturday morning pancakes.


One particular season, two of our daughters were offered jobs as hostesses at a nearby professional training centre, operating in Mississauga on behalf of the University of Windsor. The director of the centre knew our daughters through a local church youth group. He also learned our daughters were homeschooled. It was a perfect match. He needed someone to open the centre doors in the morning and let the caterers in. All my daughters had to do was look professional and make sure there were plenty of cups and saucers for coffee. The caterers did all the rest. While the conference guests feasted on breakfast and lunch, my daughters were to "keep an eye on things" with little else to do but use their spare time to do their schoolwork. The centre had many state-of-the-art computers on which my daughters could do their schoolwork. It was a win-win situation. Wayne, the director of the centre, made sure everything ran smoothly. He spoke highly of Angela and Karen’s attentiveness and willingness to serve. He also knew we had a large family with many mouths to feed. By law he was not allowed to give leftover food to any conference staff . Only unopened, packaged goods could be sent home with employees. The caterers, however, took none of the food back. Wayne thought it a shame to throw out trays of untouched muffins, and mile-high, open-face sandwiches as well as many other delicious foods. However, he trusted our daughters not to fabricate a tale of food poisoning only to get some ill-gained financial settlement from the centre. As an aside, I ran into the same situation in 1994, while I was Executive Director of the Chemainus Theatre for two-and-a-half years. The theatre had a state-of-the-art kitchen and diningroom, and served buffets that were surpassed by no one anywhere on Vancouver Island. The Playbill Diningroom's reputation was five-star. Yet, there was always someone trying to take advantage of laws relating to public restaurants. It was quite common to get calls from people who claimed food poisoning and who wanted immediate compensation complete with threats that otherwise "they would go to the authorities." To these I replied ( I had chosen to handle these cases myself ) with a standard procedure adopted by the food industry to distinguish between real food-poisoning and a hoax. Every case at the theatre was a hoax. 


Back at the Mississauga professional centre, Wayne did not want real food poisoning or hoaxes, But he trusted Angela and Karen. There were no other employees at the centre.


For over a year, as long as Angela and Karen worked at the professional centre, the scene around supper time at the Verstraete residence was a scene of heightened expectation. Just before six, Alice or I would leave to pick up Angela and Karen. The others set the table and waited for us to return. When the front door opened, we came into the house carrying many trays filled with big fresh muffins, croissants, huge open-faced sandwiches stacked high with pastrami, ham, roast beef, and a variety of cheeses. Then there were trays of fresh fruit and veggies and dip. Other trays were filled with fresh green salads. There was more cheese on another tray. Hot trays were put in the oven and soon bubbled with the aroma of lasagna, fettucini and other hot delicacies. Needless to say, it was a king's banquet every night. The food was always of highest quality and very fresh. We had so much food there was plenty to share with the neighbourhood. We enjoyed rearranging whole trays to make them look like spectacular meals. The trays were large black marble-look-alike, acrylic trays some twenty inches in diameter and very impressive. Off we went, delivering trays to neighbours and friends who trusted us. These times were some of the most heart-warming moments in our family's life as we saw those big surprising eyes of neighbours and friends whenever we delivered trays of food. In our hearts we knew that there were more times than we can remember that those food trays were manna from heaven for a family who had barely enough food to eat. We ate sumptuously for over a year, so much so, that our kids began to complain because they missed Alice's simpler meals of potatoes, vegetables, meatballs and gravy. I think I put on a few pounds that year. In a way it was as if we were re-living the days of the Israelites when they had to trust God every day for food on their tables. 


The second demonstration of trust I have chosen is in the area of finances, especially when a special project involving international travel loomed on the horizon. 


Even though I have trusted God for provision to travel to the Canadian Arctic, Mexico, Africa, and throughout Canada, to teach His Kingdom, the trip to Africa remains as the most poignant of demonstrations of trust. Years before, when Rosina Konua became a student of mine, I sensed a special bond growing between Rosina and I. She was over seventy years old and she had come to Canada to spend time with her daughter Joan and family, but more important she came to Canada to be taught in the things of God. She told me about a unique sense of God's call to come to Canada. While in Ghana she served as elder in the local church and it was during her time of service and after the death of her husband that she felt a growing sense of God’s call to move to Canada, specifically Mississauga. At some gathering somewhere in the city, she had seen our flyer about a course I was teaching on the Kingdom of God. Soon she became one of my most zealous and faithful students.


"One day you will teach my people," said Rosina one evening during class.


I remember the feelings of excitement that ran through my mind.


In 1993, Rosina returned to her people. Her people are the many tribes of that West African country known as Ghana and formerly the Gold Coast. She and her family lived in Accra, the capital city. John Mensah-Acquaye was a bright young college graduate who had started his Bible college in Rosina's home. He was the same young man I spoke of earlier who took me to see that group of students eagerly waiting with a copy of "Glimpses of the Kingdom" in their laps. When Rosina returned home, John moved out and found larger premises elsewhere. Soon I was corresponding with Rosina, John, and many of their students and friends. I began receiving word that students were graduating from my course. With great joy I signed their "certificates of completion," and mailed them to Ghana.


By late 1993, Rosina had arranged that I would come to Africa and teach at a special pastors' conference organized just for me. The date was set for February 1994. We never spoke about money. Rosina knew where Alice and I stood on the matter of money and faith. God had always been our source and He knew our needs. We never solicited for the Africa trip. In October of 1993, we held another one of our Holy Spirit Conferences and I secretly hoped enough funds would be left over to pay for Africa. I did not make any pleas for money during the conference. Only five hundred dollars were left over after all conference expenses were paid. I never paid myself for organizing or teaching at any of our conferences. Whatever was left over went into our ministry organization to pay for a host of other needs. Nevertheless, I was committed to go to Ghana. The flights were booked, the Accra conference arranged, and all other preparations were completed.  But still no funds. I waited until the last possible minute. Only Alice and I spoke of our need to trust, as impossible as it seemed. There were, however, still no funds when the deadline for making a final painful decision to cancel the trip arrived.


With three weeks to go and no money, I canceled the trip. 


With a heavy heart, I phoned Africa and apologized mentioning at the same time we did not want to go into debt over the trip simply to prove a point, namely to honour the "call" to Africa. I was disappointed. I phoned my travel agent and canceled all flights. Hours later, all wind of enthusiasm left and my sails hung limp. There was nothing left to do but build the family house. We had moved to Gabriola Island, and part of our plan was to build a family home. I had planned to begin building our family home right after my trip to Africa, but now I might as well start earlier. But the story does not end here.


One week after I canceled the trip, I received a fat envelope in the mail. It was postmarked somewhere in Ontario. In it was a card with a long fold-out drawing of a giraffe. A hand-written message said "going to Africa, eh?" Enclosed were also a thousand dollar bill and ten one-hundred dollar bills. I rejoiced and panicked at the same time. Had I inadvertently slipped a word in here or there among friends that revealed my need for money to go to Africa? A few phone calls to key people affirmed the donation was completely anonymous and to this day we never did find the source. Those whom we thought might be the ones, all turned up negative. Neither did the money come from Africa. But, I had canceled the conference.


Then, to rekindle the fires of enthusiasm, in addition to the financial miracle, God gave me another miraculour surprise.


I may have canceled the trip but everyone else seemed to have fotgotten to cancel.


I phoned Africa to ask if they could still organize a conference. They apologized because they had literally forgotten to cancel the conference. I phoned my travel agent to re-book the flights. He apologized as well. He had also forgotten to cancel all flight arrangements including a surprise upgrade at no extra cost that would allow me to fly first-class in a big 747, across Canada, and over the North Pole to Europe. There were no first-class seats available from Europe to Africa, however, all my original flight arrangements were still in order and in place in the agent's computer. 


Words cannot describe my joy when but a few days later I arrived in Accra and stood in front of over two hundred pastors who had come to hear me teach. We spent a glorious two weeks together.


For a moment I had wavered in my trust as things did not appear to go according to my plans. God, however, was not about to dishonour Rosina's prophetic words that "one day I would teach her people." The trip to Africa remains vividly etched in my mind. To this day, the Kingdom of God is still being taught from my study course at John Mensah-Acquaye's Bible college. I still sign and send "certificates of completion" to Ghana.


The third demonstration of trust I have chosen is our call to the westcoast of Canada, to British Columbia to be exact. Our call to western Canada also began a new adventure of faith the likes of which I could have never imagined. Faith combined with the thrill of adventure to send us along a new road on our journey and a new chapter in our book of life, the Verstraete Venture.


In many ways, I have always regretted selling the family house on Gatineau Avenue in Mississauga, although I say "regret" with no lament over any particular loss of property or neighbourhood while we lived there. It was not the first time we sold our family home to finance our ministry. A number of years earlier, we had sold our family home "down by the lake" on Pine Avenue in Port Credit, a municipality amalgamated into greater Mississauga. The sale freed necessary funds to pursue our call to leave the business world of Folio Advertising Agency Ltd., and enter the unknown world of ministry. After the sale of our house on Pine Avenue we rented a large home on Chalkdene Grove for a couple of years in which we began many ministry programs, including the one that eventually birthed a large young adults group. After our rental residency on Chalkdene Grove, through what can only be described as another financial miracle, we were able to buy a new family home again. It was a spaceous brick home on Gatineau Avenue in a brand new subdivision. On moving day, we managed to load everything from the moving truck over slipppery board walks as sod had not yet been put down on our property. When the day was over, I said to Alice, "I will never move again!" Enough was enough. I was getting downright tired of all these giant moves. When I added together all the family's furniture, furnishings and belongings, as well as a growing inventory of ministry stuff, some thirty boxes of just books, each move got bigger and heavier, especially since I did most of the work. Gatineau was not only a beautiful home on a beautiful street with a large park as our backyard, it was also a place of bountiful memories of children, friends, and growth in our faith. We lived there many years. During those years, we clung to the belief that God wanted us to have a teaching centre. 


We spent many a day and night dreaming about such a teaching centre.


Whenever Alice and I went for long drives to stay in touch with all the activities of a busy life of ministry, we would dream of country properties, retreat centres, and city places, to facilitate our dream. It soon became a rather irritating habit of mine to drive by good looking buildings and say, "that would make a nice teaching centre." I think I said that too many times to sound like any voice of faith. I uttered those words throughout our drives in northern Ontario, on our drives to the west coast, through northern United States, and anywhere else our travels took us. I fantasized about a teaching retreat centre all the way from Ontario's Caledon Hills, to the Ontario Northland, Algoma country, the prairies and British Columbia's Rocky Mountains. Nevertheless we clung to the vision of a teaching centre.


Round about 1990 and 1991, we entered a period of restlessness that can only be described as very agitating. We tried to sell our home on Gatineau Avenue but got absolutely no response. Even real estate agents stayed away in droves. Looking back, it was a measure of God's grace, because, had we sold our home, we would no doubt have made a big mistake to try and purchase one of the many properties we had seen along the way. God had bigger plans which we were not aware of at the time. When we realized our mistake we took our house off the market and waited. Waiting was difficult when we did not know what we were waiting for. This was that time of transition I mentioned during the first episode of trust, a time we nevertheless ate like royalty.


Deep in our hearts, both Alice and I knew a major change was on the way. We also knew it would involve moving. We had no idea where, nor did we share our restlessness with anyone lest we be influenced by their thoughts. It was a time of intense prayer to ease our questioning minds and restless spirits. In the meantime, we moved ahead steadily with homeschooling the children, teaching a number of groups of disciples, organizing Holy Spirit Conferences, and pioneering our small downtown church. Regardless of our restlessness, these were exciting times with enough mini-adventures, to fill many volumes. Four people were permitted to share in our restlessness because we trusted them not to influence us with personal opinion, as each allowed us the grace and space to discover our own journey. They were our dear friends Bruce Burrows, Bernice Stegenga ( later Dewinetz ) our faithful co-labourer in ministry, and Tom and Penny Muza, pastor and wife of a local Foursquare Gospel church we had gotten to know and love. Tom and Penny, and their two little girls, were from Zimbabwe. It was he who gave me the memorable line, "If God orders a pizza, He pays for it." Theirs had also been a journey of restlessness before coming to the American continent to eventually settle in Mississauga and pastor a small fellowship. We shared a mutual kinship and friendship that nurtured much respect for our respective journeys without the usual barrage of "God told me to tell you..." 


These four shared our restlessness but did not necessarily share our private dream for a teaching centre. 


When days and weeks began to press in harder, we met with Tom and Penny and discussed merging our two small fellowships into one church. It seemed right to everyone. Tom would remain as pastor and Alice and I would assist in associate roles in order to free us up for the pending move, wherever and whenever. The merger was discussed with everyone in each fellowship and approved with much joyful expectation. The day we merged became a wedding ceremony the likes of which I had never seen in a church. There was endless celebration and a joy that overflowed in tears and generosity. We were an infectuously happy bunch, a family that laughed and cried together. We grew strong as a church. Alice and I felt a release as well to share our growing sense of awareness that our season with them would one day end, but we were in no hurry. Tom was a good pastor and friend of everyone. In fact, I felt rather snug in our new fellowship. The sale of our home on Gatineau Avenue was behind us and we had rented a comfortable home on Mesa Crescent in Mississauga. Our church and teaching centre courses were held in a small church building right by the railroad tracks running through the southern part of the city.


One day British Columbia beckoned again.


In 1992, we received an invitation to come and vacation out West. Irene who was Alice's older sister, lived with her husband Bill on a Gulf island called Gabriola, nestled in the Georgia Strait between British Columbia's mainland and Vancouver Island. I had visited the island only once before when Irene asked me to come and teach on the Kingdom of God. It was a brief visit, and I vividly remember my parting thoughts. I quietly thanked God I did not live on an island that seemed so remote from the pulse of life. However, the prospect of spending the whole month of June on Gabriola was an unexpected bonus. It was to be the family vacation of family vacations. We were able to borrow my dad's luxurious touring van for the drive across Canada. The oldest two children stayed behind. So, off we headed west one sunny morning in late May with Alice, Bernice, Angela, Karen, Suzanne, Matthew and I, comfortably seated in a big Dodge Ram van.


It was a special trip packed with great memories through Ontario's awesome north, a long drive that took us through the night under prairie skies filled to overflowing with bright stars, only to catch daylight on a spectacular Columbia Icefields Highway. When at last we stood on the sunny decks of BC's superferry to Nanaimo, we wondered if it could get any better. But little did I know how much of a cityslicker I was. 

What, me, stay on a small island, and for a whole month? Guess again! 

I managed to last a week on Gabriola Island, only to "flee" to the interior by taking the ferry back to Vancouver and driving the "Sea-to-Sky" highway to Whistler. I had brought my watercolour paints along, just in case, and spent five day in BC's spectacular outdoors drawing and painting to my heart's content. During our Gabriola holiday we stayed at Irene and Bill's large waterfront home as the south end of the island right next to the motel at Silva Bay Marina and with a panoramic view of distant Vancouver. 


One day during our holiday, we mentioned to Irene we still had a bit of our savings left from our Gatineau sale, twenty thousand dollars to be exact. She began to talk about Gabriola's real estate bonanza and if ever there was a good time to invest in a building lot, now was that time. In fact, we would be able to double our investment in a couple of years, giving us more money for our eventual dream of a teaching centre. We looked at many lots on the island and decided to buy a undeveloped lot for exactly twenty thousand dollars. The lot was on Lockinvar Lane just up from North Road in what has been affectionately called “village central.” Revenue from harvested trees, and I had never seen so many big ones all on one lot, would pay for clearing the lot. It seemed like a good investment.


We left Gabriola for the drive home feeling we had done the right thing with our money.


I was glad, however, that the month-long vacation was over, and as I stood on the deck of the Gabriola ferry I quietly muttered, “thank God, I don’t live here.”

After all, our journey of faith still remained a priority but we believed God was not against wise investments either. When the dust settled on our vacation west, all that was left were many slides and many memories, and a growing satisfaction we had invested our money wisely. Who knew that perhaps in a year we could possibly sell the lot on Gabriola Island and make a down payment on a teaching centre or a new family home. But no sooner did we arrive back in Mississauga, our restlessness returned with a vengeance. It lasted throughout the rest of the summer, all through the winter, and into early next spring. By the early months of 1993, we both sensed our journey was about to take a dramatic turn. The time had come at last. Our building lot on Gabriola had already doubled in value. It was a good time to sell and prepare for whatever move God had in mind. But where?


One day, Alice and decided to spend the next forty days praying separately about our restlessness and pending move. We also decided to share our prayers and thoughts with no one, not even Bruce, Bernice, Tom or Penny. These forty days would be an extreme test of our faith and trust in God. For forty days my mind swam with thoughts and ideas, names and places, until I exhausted my supply of potential destinations, destinations that included a miriad of local places within driving distance of Toronto, as well as such exotic places as the Canadian Arctic, Youth With A Mission bases in Amsterdam, Hawaii, and Ghana, West Africa. Staying focussed for forty days was difficult and it was equally difficult not to talk to anyone about my prayers. It seemed strange for Alice and I not to share our thoughts and ideas, as we had grown accustomed to starting each day together in prayer. We had also decided that after forty days we would have breakfast at The Golden Griddle Restaurant and share the outcome of our prayers. When about thirty days had passed, my trust was sorely tested. I seemed no further ahead than when I began praying a month ago. For one of the few times in my life, I was truly at a loss. Then for some profound reason I do not understand, all became quiet in my prayers. I would sit for hours and say nothing or think nothing. As I continued my daily and evening teaching activities I was acutely aware of a silence in my spirit. One morning with about three days to go, I heard a still small voice say, "Gabriola Island". The voice unsettled me as the thought had never occurred to me. After all, I had said in my heart, "thank God I did not live on Gabriola or on any other island..."


Yet, I could not escape a growing witness in my heart that Gabriola was God's choice. At the same time as I heard those words, an unprecedented excitement about a pending adventure began to stir in me that reminded me of a similar excitement and adventure when as a young boy of thirteen I was told by my father that the family would be immigrating to Canada. But that was 1958, thirty-five years before. This was 1993.


When at last the day came to have breakfast at the Golden Griddle, we ordered bacon, eggs and toast. We both had big smiles on our faces. It was obvious we each "had heard." But heard what?


"You share first, Gerrit," said Alice.


"Well, to put it simply," I said, not wanting to prolong the suspense, "I believe we are to move to Gabriola Island and begin a new adventure in our life of faith and trust."


Alice could barely contain her excitement.


"That's what I got, but I wanted you to share first because, in no way did I want to influence any decision on your part, because some will construe this decision as my sneaky influence because my sister Irene lives there."


"Irene is the furthest from my thoughts in this decision Alice, " I replied. 


"It will be nice to have her there, but her place is no more than whatever God has in store for her or anyone else we meet, as we move to Gabriola."


We finished our breakfast, went home and spend considerable time together in prayer to make sure this new adventure would not sweep us into areas of temptation to do the wrong thing. The first people with whom we shared our prayer of forty days, were Tom and Penny. He grinned as only Tom could grin when he was pleased.


"God already told me six months ago, you'd be moving out west. We'll hate to see you leave our fellowship but we send you with joy."


Later that spring, we had another celebration at the church. It was a special "sending" service. Many spoke words of encouragement. Many prophesied. These were carefully recorded to test their validity. Years later I read them again and realized each prophecy was fulfilled. There was even one prophecy about me picking up tools and a tool belt to build a house. I chuckled on the inside, like Sarah, when God told Abraham she would have a baby at age eighty. My dad had been a builder, but me? The thought of building a family home was as remote as the other side of the world, but one year later in 1994, and true to the prophecy, I began building a beautiful family home on our lot on Gabriola Island. Some were angry because we were leaving. Their anger, however, was the prospect of losing their favourite teacher and mentor. Nevertheless, they all sent us off with a mountain of prayers and hugs. Not only was God in the move we were now actively planning, He had put everything in place as early as a year ago by providing a loving "family" for all our church members. Tom and Penny would look after "the flock." As the marriage of our two fellowships had been a special and joyous occasion, so was the departure west.


Someone even ordered a huge cake.


We released Bernice from any commitments she had made to our ministry and family, but she had been praying herself, ever since she heard about our move west. 


One day, she announced, " I believe I am to go out west with you!"


What an exciting moment of joy in a friendship that was and that continues to this day. Little did Bernice know God had someone very special waiting for her on Gabriola. But that's another story. On July 17, 1993, a small convoy left the city of Mississauga. In front was my maroon 1987 GMC Safari minivan, followed by a huge diesel truck which had Bernice's small hatchback car in tow. Alice and Bernice shared the task of driving the minivan. I got the big truck, arggg!


We arrived on the island on July 23, 1993. It was a warm sunny day, and we promptly settled into a very small, three bedroom cottage, complete with a small log cabin out back which served as Bernice's home, together with many spiders. As early as the first evening on Gabriola, our backyard was visited by deer. We believed we had arrived in Paradise. When the move was over and without warning, six months of burn-out settled into the entire family as we "came down" from years of restlessness and years of busy ministry. It was, however, a wonderful time, as we all felt like TV's Waltons, and Little House on the Prairie, and occupied our time with baking bread, chopping wood, picking fat juicy blackberries, getting to know the island, gathering as one huge family around many a plenty table, and dark cozy nights in our wooded and secluded "hide-away" cottage. Sure, we were packed like sardines in that place but somehow were able to have abundant grace to overlook the cramped quarters, the spiders, and the mice. Every evening at about seven, we all yawned and went to bed early. I had not slept so well in many years. Heaven on earth was long cozy nights, sound asleep in my bed, and finding a rest seldom experienced before. Jeff, our oldest son, had moved to Gabriola as well. Except for Wendy our oldest daughter, the family was all together, counting eight people including Bernice. Each day we all sat around our large pinewood family dining table with plenty of space left to make room for Irene who visited every day. On Sundays we began gathering as a house church in Irene's home, while Bill went for a coffee with friends at Windecker's Restaurant. During the week we had two evening prayer meetings in our island home. I had managed to find a small office not far from where we lived. There I was able to store my huge collection of books, tables, and other ministry stuff. The office became a temporary island home for the Christian Communications Centre, just around the corner from our building lot in "downtown" Gabriola. The Village Market Square had just been completed during the twelve months between our 1992 vacation on Gabriola and our move to the island in 1993. All the conveniences of home were at our fingertips. I even bought a bicycle to "go to work" at the ministry office.


Amidst the serenity of our first six months on Gabriola, however, Alice and I were aware that as we continued to walk in trust, this was only the beginning of a new adventure. There was much more to come, much more.

Building a family home

Our new adventure included the building of our family home. In the spirit of pioneering and great adventure, Alice and I decided to sit down and design our own home and then build it. The year was 1994, and it was the first family house I had ever built. To prepare me for the daunting task, I joined an island friend in a small construction project, namely the building of a power and utility shed, which seemed more like a small cabin to me. Martin Vyn and his wife Anne and children were friends from Ontario who also felt a need to break with the past and move to Gabriola Island. Martin was a homebuilder, and a good one with a fine reputation. They had bought a building lot just up the street from us.


Sometime during the previous year, Martin had proposed that if my son Jeff and I would help him build his family house, he would build ours. The exchange of labour made for tremendous savings. It seemed like a good deal, but I still had to arrange to finance building materials and finishing trades for such things as plumbing, drywalling, painting, roofing, etc. Martin gave me an old leather tool belt and I bought the necessary contruction tools including a big hammer, a measuring tape, working gloves and steel-toed boots. The lumber yard gave me a baseball cap with their name on it. I was ready. Like some Silverado construction commercial I swung my gear into place and began to help Martin with the power and utility shed on his lot. The weather was spectacular as autumn followed summer on Gabriola. The smell of burning woodpiles drifted lazily through the surrounding forests. Martin was a good teacher as well as a good builder. Plans were made to build his house as soon as I returned from Africa in February of 1994.


When I came back from Ghana, a wet and cold west coast winter greeted me. We began the day after I returned. No time was wasted and jetlag would have to wait. I was in for one of the biggest surprises of my life. Building Martin’s house was painful and hard work. Nevertheless I shouldered the task with determination. Martin's house was a giant three-story place that towered over his uphill building lot. I contracted blisters the size of quarters and managed to tape most of them up with masking tape. My hands were covered with masking tape. With my hands jammed tight into construction gloves I swung and hammered, sweated and sometimes even cursed the day I let myself be persuaded to build my own home. From mid-February to early April, Jeff, Martin and I worked like horses to get the Vyn family home to a lockup stage. Martin had planned to take the rest of the year to finish his house. Just when I thought a much deserved rest lay on the horizon, Martin decided to go straight into building our home. We began early April and in one month dug the footings, poured the foundations and lay the first floor. Then at last we got a break.


We covered the construction site with large plastic tarpaulins and took a much-needed rest, while Martin went to Ontario for the month of May. That month my dad came to visit as well. It was a moving moment when father, son and grandson, stood on the tarp-covered first floor of our new house, especially since my father had taken up the building trade when we first moved to Canada in 1958, during the Wallaceburg years.


Our house featured a square design with two stories on top of a generous crawlspace and a top floor with a high vaulted ceiling. On the northside of the house we added a magnificent studio which would be my creative home. For the first time in my life I had a private studio that was not some converted bedroom or basement corner. My new studio also had a vaulted ceiling. The entire house enclosed some 2600 square feet including a 600 square foot studio. Alice got her huge dream kitchen and we both got an incredible number of tall and wide windows and five skylights. Surrounding the house were endless verandas, decks and steps. In addition, an almost 600 square foot sun deck gave us all the room we needed for those family barbeques and church lunches. The house had five bedrooms, two bathrooms, a large family room, livingroom and spaceous eat-in kitchen. The house sat squarely on the south slope of a very large rock at the top of our half-acre lot. Anyone who has ever driven past our house or visited us will admit that despite the house's rather plain design it is a spectacular place nevertheless. Just outside the house we drilled a 300 foot well, and the roof of our house is made of green steel.


Building our house was a joy and pain, but never dull. Martin loved pre-constructing exterior walls flat on the floor in as near a state of completion as possible. Then with added help from anyone we could conscript we hoisted the entire wall in place. It took nine grown men to hoist the giant wall in place that separated the house and studio. The wall was thirty feet wide and twenty feet high to support a series of engineered "I-Beams" to make a sloping roof. When the house neared completion, I had begun to develop a professional relationship with the Chemainus Theatre on Vancouver Island. Soon I was traveling back and forth between Gabriola and Chemainus to assist the theatre in its marketing and management work. In August of that year they offered me a contract to become Executive Director and assume all management responsibilities of the theatre. It was quite the stretch as our house was on the last few laps towards completion. So, Alice became construction boss and a fine one she was. She took over all the responsibilities of hiring and supervising the sub-contractors and trades people. Martin's work was done and he resumed work on his own house up the street.


With tales of blisters and height-fright too numerous to mention, as well as sore legs, never-to-forget sore arms, sore everything, a back that bent under the weight of all that lifting, and knees that finally gave in, somehow we managed to get the job done. In October 1994, about five months after we started building our house plus another three months for Martin's house, we moved into our new home. Wall-to-wall carpeting smelled new-home fresh, appliances sparkled, the white-tiled kitchen floor was immaculate, and the soft blue paint gave the whole place a heavenly look, aided by a panoramic view at every turn. Sunlight flooded our family home.


I stood in my empty studio for hours and hours just dreaming of all the work I could create there. But I had to catch the next ferry to manage a theatre. Fridays and Saturdays were studio days and thus in 1994, was born Masterpeace Fine Art Studio. Both Alice and I have loved our home. It became everything we could have asked for, but the story of financial miracles needed to fulfill that dream will have to wait for an evening when you come to visit and dream with us over an international coffee mixed with hot chocolate - mmmmm. Needless to say, faith built that house as we had no money to put into it. Even the bank gave us favour when it really wasn't supposed to, but they did anyways. When it looked like we were ten thousand dollars short of budget to finish the house, primarily because Martin had underestimated the cost and size of all those wooden decks we needed, as a result of building the house so high up from the ground, a friend lent the money and we paid it all back in a year.


Except for some scary moments when howling Pacific storms threatened to topple large trees on the house and branches flew everywhere, or times when a pump in the well failed and I had to haul up three hundred feet of heavy-duty hose and cable, or any number of island power-outs that made life a challenge, our house has been our special island home. Many who have become a part of our extended family have experienced our home's friendly touch and appreciate the fact that our door is always open and there's always a place at the table.

A Whale of a Day

As I journey through this rather fascinating epic, namely my life ( which at least appears to be fascinating to me ), I must skip ahead by some ten years to account for two incidents which, unless I tell them now, may lose some of their passion. One event was a happy one. It turned out to be "a whale of a day." The other event took place two months later. It was a tragic event as the world changed forever on a particular day in September 2001, a day I have named "bloody Monday." It was a day in which I was unable to draw even though I wanted to draw.


But first that "whale of a day."


Wednesday morning dawned with slate-grey skies and an ominous threat of rain. The whole week had been a weather surprise. During most years, the month of July has been dry and warm especially during the last weeks, but this year we had had our share of not-so-summery weather earlier in the month. By the middle of the month in July 2001, the weather was cold and wet. Of all days, this was the day I had set aside to go whale watching. My daughter had earned complementary tickets with a west coast whale-watching company and she had given them to Alice and I. Alice suggested I take a friend instead because she had already been whale watching the previous summer. She suggested Bernice, a close friend of the family for over ten years, and someone who on more than one occassion, often spoke of a real desire to go whale watching. We left Gabriola Island on the 7:50 am ferry, and after an obligatory coffee and muffin at Tim Horton's, we wound our way along highway 4 to Tofino, on the northern tip of Pacific Rim National Park, on the spectacular west coast of Vancouver Island. After a quick picnic lunch at Comber's Beach ( that special place I call, "Valley of Dry Bones" ) we arrived in the bustling oceanside village of Tofino, one of the most sought-after tourist destinations in the world. The threat of rain had subsided into a high ceiling of overcast skies. The temperature was cool. Our guide was Doug, one of the principal drivers with Adventure Pacific, known throughout the region for a thrillride to remember and guaranteed sightings of whales.


I had never seen my favourite coast from the ocean. Most of my artistic inspirations have come from the sandy shores of Comber's Beach, the "Valley of Dry Bones," where so much of my creativity was birthed everytime I visited the log-strewn, deserted beach. Today, however, I was about to experience a whole new way of looking at my beach. I was somewhat apprehensive about our whale watching trip, not because of the unknown of our adventure, but because there was no washroom or any other facility on the vessel that would take us to the whale’s territory. The trip was estimated at three hours. Would I last? We climbed aboard a fire-engine-red, state-of-the-art Zodiac tour boat, with no protection from the elements or the sun. Fortunately there was no blazing sun that day, yet plenty of visibility. Nine of us looked somewhat like a Coast Guard rescue team, donned in thick and protective all-weather suits visible for miles as the red of our suits matched the bright-red Zodiac. With a roar the open boat left dockside and within minutes we were flying at top speed over calm waters. As we ventured into the open ocean, the swells rose gently between two and three feet high. The Zodiac made sport of the ocean, skipping and bouncing in clouds of spray and back-bruising thuds, as we traveled some twenty kilometres into open water.


"Grab the rail and ride the boat! Hang on and ride the boat! Yahoooo!" shouted Doug over the roar of the engines.


Like children on a high-speed themepark joyride, we "rode" the boat, standing, sitting, and slumping with each wave as we sped to Clayoquot Sound, our destination and one of the last remaining temperate rainforest ecosystems in the world, as well as the site of frequent anti-logging protests.


Words cannot describe the thrill of the ride. Any notion of artistic inspiration soon left. This ride demanded a narrow focus, one that would keep my back from hurting too much and keep my bladder from wanting to protest too much. Bernice had trouble containing her enthusiasm. She abandoned any attempt to keep her hair looking nice as she relinquished control to the wind and salty spray, shouting and screaming, feeling great just to be a child again. I managed to discover that a child in me was equally willing to shout as well. The others in the boat just bobbed passively along. Perhaps the child in them had died somewhere along the journey of life. Soon we reached the first of our many stops, a small island just off the shores of Meares Island. The rocky outcropping was a bird sanctuary. There were many birds and seals. Other islands in the sound were home to big fat sea lions, weighing up to a ton each. They didn't care if we came too close. The Zoziac cut its engines and tossed on the high waves just before they came crashing on the island. The sea lions just lay there basking in a pale sun that had managed to peer through the clouds. One lifted a flipper and groaned as she blubbered her way to a better spot in the sun.


The ship-to-shore radio began to crackle. 


"Whale sightings," were the excited cries of other boats in the area. 


Seconds later we were at top speed again, flying and lurching over the growing ocean swells. Vancouver Island began to fade in the background. About ten kilometres out we came upon a solitary Humpback Whale who swam in great circles, coralling an endless supply of fish. It was feeding time. He barely surfaced and his big tail fin managed only to appear one-half at a time as he dove deep to corral the fish from below. My Pentax camera, armed with a Tamron 1:38, 210 mm, zoom and telephoto lens, searched the heaving waters looking for the telltale spout of a surfacing whale. I managed a few good pictures but the Humpback remained elusive. Doug said we could not get closer out of respect for the whale's territory. One young woman got sick and vomited over the side of the Zodiac as we rolled and pitched gently while waiting for the whale. Our engines were silent. Another woman couldn't hold out any longer and had to relieve herself in an emergency bucket at the back of the boat. She was a bit embarrassed having to climb out of her Zodiac suit, pull down her pants and sit on a bucket. Doug startled everyone when he shouted, "hey, look out front, there she blows again!" We all strained our eyes ahead of the boat and laughed when we realized he was just being helpful to the the passenger with her pants down. The woman smiled as she returned to her seat.


"California Gray Whales off Flores Island, just south of Rafael Point," interrupted the crackling radio. 


Doug roared the Zodiac's engines into life. If we had had wings we would have flown. The other boats had left the area when we arrived. A lone Gray Whale wallowed in the shallow waters close to shore, diving after every fifth breath to scoop a mass of sand and food from the ocean floor. We bobbed and floated in silence for about fifteen minutes. The air was warm and fresh. The sky was intermittant cloud and sunshine and perfect for whale watching. We all unzipped our suits and enjoyed the view. After the Gray Whale moved on, we began the journey back to Tofino. I was not impressed with the whales, but the view of the rugged coastline was breathtaking. I leaned back to soak in the spectacular images of long deserted beaches, endless waves that crashed on rocky outcroppings and over shallow islands. In the distance, rich rainforests climbed in dizzying heights up gentle slopes of dormant volcanoes. Beyond these rose the snow-capped ridges of Vancouver Island's interior mountain ranges. My mind began to wander. I caught glimpes of gateways to heaven. I saw drawings and paintings. I longed to have even more time to travel and explore this north west corner of Paradise, both from an ocean view and forest view. As words cannot describe our turbulent Zodiac, they fall even further short of describing the awesome view. I rested peacefully on the tossing waves, assured that the view was not only mine, but that it belonged as well to my Creator whose plan included an eternal Paradise complete with a new heaven and a new Pacific west coast. If I had waited any longer I would have fallen blissfully asleep in my temporal dream. My dreams were interrupted by our thunderous high-speed ride back to Tofino. About halfway back, the clouds thickened and temperatures dropped. I bundled deep into my protective gear that came complete with a black wool fisherman's hat pulled over my ears. In the shelter of the bay just east of Tofino, Doug surprised us with a long, high-speed donut turn in the water as he tipped the Zodiac precariously on its side to give us one last thrill.


My legs were trembling as I stepped on the dock. I had a few moments to spare and the lineup at the bathroom was short. It had been a whale of a day that not only fed my spirit of adventure, it nourished my artistic spirit as well.

The day I could not draw
Tuesday, September 11, 2001, dawned as many other Pacific westcoast late summer days do, bright and sunny, with the air as crisp as an autumn day.  I was looking forward my morning in the studio. I had contemplated the concept of a new drawing for a number of days. On this particular day I began my studio time with an hour-and-a-half of private devotions. Refreshed and eager to start my new drawing, I was about "crack open" a fresh sheet of white paper when the phone rang. It was my daughter Angela, calling all the way from Colorado Springs. 


The time on Gabriola Island was 8:30 am.


"Haven't you seen the news dad?" she asked with great urgency. I detected a lot of stress in her voice.


"It's on every network, dad!" 


A chill ran down my spine. 


"Terrorists," she said, "have hijacked four commercial flights, crashed two of them into New York's World Trade Centre, one into the Pentagon in Washington, DC, and another crashed at a place called Somerset in Pennsylvania." She also mentioned that rumours were mounting about a possible fifth airplane bound for Colorado. Angie, her husband Jeff and and daughter Hayley, lived in Colorado Springs at the time just minutes from a US Airforce base and command control centre.


I was dumbstruck. I didn't know what to say. I said goodbye and turned on the TV. 

There in living colour and on every network were gruesome images so surreal, it looked like a Hollywood movie. This time, however, the events were real. Suddenly, our island electrical power went out. Only the phone worked. Many islanders, I found out later, panicked when the power went out. Coincidence, or had terrorists managed to sabotage the entire North American power grid as well?


I phoned a friend who was watching the news as well and who was also upset because the power had gone out. There had been a planned power-out announced for our island to occur the next day but not today. I even began to wonder if terrorists had managed to bomb the entire power grid of North America? I phoned BC Hydry and they said they had made an error in announcing the date of the power-out. Today was the day, not tomorrow. Somewhat ridiculous I thought, that in the face of a terrible human tragedy they could not have canceled the power-out. Nevertheless, I took advantage of the power-out to call my daughter in Colorado and pray with her over the phone. Then I checked all my six children to see if they were ok with all this terrible news. My wife Alice was in Toronto for a week's conference. No doubt she had heard as well. She phoned me later in the day to say she was fine.


When electrical power resumed an hour-and-a-half later, I sat transfixed in front of our television. Image upon image, graphic, extreme, big jets crashing in balls of fire through the sides of the World Trade towers, bodies thrown from buildings, the collapse of both towers, and a third building crashing in horrendous clouds of dust and ash, a virtual warzone everywhere, the scene an eery reminder of nuclear winter. Then there were the endless commentaries by every newscaster around the globe with everyone trying to get a handle on what was going on. Finally I turned the TV off. I couldn't focus on anything. I did some grocery shopping but kept forgetting to buy the items I really needed for supper that night. I tried to get ready to draw but to no avail. I puttered around in the studio looking for something to do. I felt extremely insignificant. What possible good could a piece of art do in comparison to such demonic acts of terrorism that had just been perpetrated on our neighbours to the south. Even our so-called "soft-lumber war" with the United States seemed like child's play. No cause, no religion, no motive, warranted such mass destruction. Whoever the terrortists were, they had just lost their cause. 


I felt that ominous cold chill all day. It reminded me of another day I felt the same way. It was November 22, 1963. I was eighteen years old. I was writing my last final exam for the fall term in highschool. That afternoon, John F. Kennedy, the 35th President of the United States was brutally assassinated in Dallas, Texas. I sat transfixed then as I was this day in September, along with the entire world, before our small black-and-white television to watch the events that dramatically and graphically touched our southern neighbours. Their visions of Camelot had just been shattered. John F.Kennedy was shot dead.


Today, two great towers that symbolize the American spirit of freedom and democracy, lay in rubble on the ground. The skyline of New York lost its most prominent and tallest buildings, leaving the honour once again to the former "king of the sky," the Empire State Building. New York lay shrouded in a thick cloud of dust and smoke.


I could not even think about my drawing let alone put any pencil or pen or brush on paper. The death toll remained a mystery. No one could put a number to it. The final toll was estimated in the thousands and American leadership named this tragedy an "act of war," calling it the “Pearl Harbour" of the twenty-first century. I attended a prayer vigil on our small island that evening, but other than that, felt I could do very little. My mind screamed revenge, my emotions wanted an "eye for an eye," but my spirit said, "vengeance is Mine says the Lord." 


Tomorrow was another day. Perhaps I'd start a drawing then.


And I did start another drawing, but it was difficult to get my head into the work or the work into my head. It was difficult to shake loose from the media images of that bloody Monday. Nevertheless, I knew I needed to press on.


I wondered what would happen if I returned to a series of small experimental drawings I had begun in 1998, a series I titled "les petites noirs," because the majority of the drawings were small figure studies in black and white. I found a quantity of mixed media paper I had prepared some time ago, and somehow I felt I could handle the paper in such a stressful time. Perhaps it would inspire me. The paper had been treated with a mixture of india ink and rubbing alcohol, "printed" on the paper through a method called monoprinting, when ink or paint is placed on a large sheet of glass and paper is pressed on the glass and carefully pulled away to make an original print. The paper was no more than 10 x 14 inches. The prospect of a large major drawing somehow had lost its appeal. I needed to get deep into my head and draw freely from images that had not been contaminated by media exposure. I put a piece of monoprinted paper on my drawing board and began to doodle. I simply trusted that somehow I would connect with a peace and joy unavailable in the world around me at that moment. After some time of doodling with Wolff's carbon pencils and soft graphite, accompanied by brisk stumping and tissue blending, an unexpected image appeared, as if hidden from my conscience, yet wanting to comfort me with the encouragement that no world tragedy can kill the creative spirit. The image soon grew into a figure of a young woman, a soft fabric skirt billowing around her waist. I tried my best not to become realistic or representational in the drawing. I stayed safely in the realm of expressionism as my mind wandered to the beaches and lush forests of Hawaii, a paradise I had visited just eleven months earlier. I began to dance and rejoice as the image continued to grow. When it threatened to become more than it needed to be, I quit. That night I dreamt of trying a second drawing. Could I repeat the process? I placed a second sheet of paper on my drawing board the next morning. About an hour later a second image grew before my eyes and my pencils wandered over the surface of the paper, gently touching the shapes and textures of the monoprint.


Somehow, I felt that I had succeeded in allowing my creative spirit to deal with the tragedy in New York. In retrospect, the small drawings may have seemed insignificant but they formed a rampart around my frayed emotions. I felt secure in the pleasure of an unsolicited image, as the joy of inspirational drawing, the pneumaism I have written about before, brought sunshine on a cloudy day. The only question that remained, however, was crucial. Could these petites noir drawings pass on that feeling to a viewer without a lengthy dissertation or thesis to explain my special moment of inspiration? Only time would tell.


The process is not new. John Gould had spoken to me about the same inspiration as had Jackson Pollock through the movie of his life's artistic journey. Michelangelo called it concetto and levare. I have chosen to call this mysterious process "art of the spirit," or pneumaism. As I continued to create more small black-and-white monoprint drawings, a temptation to create yet another "series" of these drawings loomed over me, but I felt that would have been a mistake. So after a few days of creating these unique drawings I quit, hoping instead, to wait patiently for the next time when I would feel again a need to let that inner voice speak and comfort me for another moment to carry me through through other issues of life.


The final deathtoll of what became known as "911," continued to hover around 3500, according to news sources. On Thursday, May 30, 2002, just over eight months after the terrorists' brutal attack, a solemn ceremony at Ground Zero in New York marked the official end to the recovery effort and clean-up. The last steel girder of what was once the World Trade Center was ceremoniously carried away on a long flat-bed truck.

A legacy of pancakes

Although the trail of batter dates back to my childhood, it wasn't until our children were young when I began my own legacy of pancakes. But it warrants telling the story again from early beginnings on Abel Tasmas Straat in Zwolle, the Dutch city of my birth.


My grandmother was reputed to have made some of the best pancakes a person could ever eat. These were huge, inch-thick pancakes that filled the frying pan to the edge. Known affectionately as spekpannekoeken, her pancakes were a heavy recipe of thick batter with a large quantity of juicy chunks of bacon. Each pancake was a full-course meal in itself. Usually she made one pancake and divided it into two, three, or four, depending on who was over for dinner or lunch. Accompanied by milk, syrop and tea, the bacon pancake was a favourite of her hungry children and grandchildren. Over the years, my father and mother modified my grandmother's recipe. The pancakes became thinner only without the bacon, but still as large as a our frying pan.


When I was twelve years old, I began making pancakes over an open fire in a field across the street from our family home on Abel Tasman Straat. Somehow I believed these pancakes would become a source of ready income. Together with a friend, we dug a small hole in the ground in our vacant field and stoked a small fire. I borrowed my mother's frying pan and solicited the ingredients for the batter from her as well. Armed with a pail of thick and creamy batter, I began frying pancakes over the open fire. Soon a trail of smoke and a mouth-watering aroma spread throughout the street and hungry mouths responded. For the price of five cents anyone near our little "kitchen" could buy a hot pancake, roll it up, and enjoy the taste. My pancakes tasted very good as I remember. I was also aware that building an open fire was illegal, but I was too young to realize I needed a vending permit. I kept the fire small and well contained.


One day I saw the local policeman appear on his bicycle at the very end of the street. He was in no hurry. Slowly he rode his bike, sitting upright as behooves a member of the constabulary. A single bell on his handlebars was the only warning device he had. As he came closer to our little stand, my mind raced. What could I do? Would he arrest me? 


A streak of marketing savy hit me as I watched the policeman come closer. It was a streak of genius that eleven years later became my career. 


"Quick," I said to my friend. "Make me a big one!"


Within minutes the biggest and juiciest pancake lay splattering in hot oil. The policeman was almost at the intersection of our street and the corner on which stood our home. Quickly I flipped the pancake over. I could hear the bell ringing on his bike. He came to a gracious and slow halt and as he put his feet on the ground to balance his stationery bike, he looked down at the two boys, feverishly finishing a special pancake. He didn't say a thing. He always grinned. He knew the fire was small, contained, and no threat to the surroundings, or to the many children who played in the field. The air was filled with the aroma of homemade pancakes.


Carefully I rolled up his special piping-hot pancake. Gently I laid it on a piece of paper and handed the steaming delicacy to the policeman. He took it from my hand and said "thank you."


Then with great pomp and ceremony he began the slow task of eating our pancake one delicious bite after another. He seemed to take forever. When he was done, an apparent look of great satisfaction fell over his otherwise official face. 


He put one foot on the bike's pedal and just before he lifted the other foot to resume his gracious patrol, he looked at both of us with a broad smile. After all, he was a policeman and policemen do smile, even when on duty. 


"That was very delicious boys. Thanks again!"


"Be careful now, you hear!"


Thus he rode off to leave me free from fears of handcuffs and imprisonment.


It was that special moment in history that became my coronation to the prestigeous position of master pancake maker. I have worn that mantle with honour over some forty-five years since the early pannekoeken days on Abel Tasman Straat. When at last my own children were old enough to experience these pancakes for themselves, I began making them every Saturday morning. The pancake breakfast event soon grew into a tradition whose reputation spread far and wide. The sight remained etched in my memory as little children gathered around our kitchen table, their eyes fixed on a hot frying pan from which whisps of steam and smoke filled their little noses, one pancake at a time. The children had to be patient, because each pancake was a work of art, yet worth waiting for. The ceremony included weighty decisions as to what to put on the pancake before rolling it into a long steaming meal of epic proportions. Although the secret of my pancakes has been carefully guarded, the toppings were no secret then or today.


Favourite toppings included CheeseWhiz, or brown sugar with a dash of lemon juice. Some preferred peanut butter, others liked butter and brown sugar. Cheddar cheese became a later favourite. On special occasions we feasted on fresh strawberries and whipped cream. The alltime favourite, however, was butter and syrop.


We told our friends, if ever they showed up at our door on a Saturday morning, they were welcome to join in our family pancake feast, but they had to bring their own syrop as a token of friendship. Many friends showed up over the years, but usually it was just me and the kids. One Saturday morning the doorbell rang just as the first of many pancakes made it from the frying pan to the table. Alice opened the door to find Don Gees, a good friend, standing in the doorway holding a large can. 


"May I come in," he said, "or is it too late for pancakes?"


"No, we've just started, c'mon in," said Alice.


"Here," said Don, " this is some syrop for your pancakes."


By "syrop" we only knew the store-bought extra sweet kind, which was usually a commercial and inexpensive blend of flavours with possibly a hint of maple syrop. Here stood Don, however, holding a two gallon tin of genuine maple syrop. He had purchased the container at a roadside stand belonging to Mennonite farmers some distance northwest of Toronto. It was pure maple syrop, "the genuine, real McCoy thing," and absolutely delicious. Don had paid over one-hundred dollars for the large tin. We feasted that special Saturday morning as we poured the syrop generously over plates of pancakes. The following Saturday, our children announced they preferred the "store-bought" kind. It took Alice and I along with a few friends, a long time to finish that large tin of real maple syrop.


When our family moved to Gabriola Island, I took the pancake tradition along.

 Within days of our arrival, the Pacific northwest forest around our small house filled with the aroma of my special pancakes. Soon, others on the island heard about my pancakes and the legacy began to take root in British Columbia. However, by about the year 2000, some thirty years after I began our Saturday morning breakfast tradition, things slowed down. Matthew and Suzanne, the two children still left at home, either slept at friends or slept in. When they awoke they usually did not want breakfast.


For a moment it appeared as if my pancake legacy would die a quiet death, to be buried somewhere in the exotic history of British Columbia's gulf islands. But then I met a little girl named Ciaran.


Ciaran is the daughter of Alisha Bennett, a young mother who is not only part of our church fellowship but also part of our extended family, as have been so many become over years of ministry on this small island. During the summer of 2001, Alice and I became godparents to Ciaran as well as legal guardians. Ciaran was six years old when she first tasted my pancakes. Soon my reputation spread throughout Gabriola Island's elementary school. Whenever she was coming to visit me and pancakes were on the menu, which they usually were, she made sure everyone in her class knew about it. 


When school began again in September of that year, I had offered to pick up Ciaran from school on Tuesdays to look after her until Alisha was finished work, sometime around six thirty. Alisha managed the after-school program for children at The Gathering Place, the island's youth drop-in centre. I will always remember the look on Ciaran's face, a treasured look every Tuesday afternoon, when I waited for her at school. I didn't make pancakes every Tuesday evening, because the alternative, a good old-fashioned home-cooked meal by Alice, was worth the wait as well. 


A word about my secret recipe. 


For those who wish to create their own legacy of pancakes, it is really a simple one. I mix flour, salt, eggs, milk, water and some cooking oil to the right consistency and that's all there is to it. An average batch of batter is three cups of white flour, a cup of milk, two cups of water, one egg, one teaspoon of salt, two tablespoons of vegetable cooking oil, and a generous portion of love. If the batter is too runny I add a bit more white flour. If it is too thick, I add more water, because the batter must be just right. When Ciaran watched me mix the batter, usually by climbing on the kitchen counter, I would lift a ladle full of batter high in the air over the mixing bowl. Then with great ceremony I poured a long stream down into the bowl of batter. 


Then I spoke my famous words, words that remain the real secret to my pancake recipe.


"If it don't splatter it is good batter."


Alisha always appeared on time to pick up Ciaran, as well a heaping portion of my pancake legacy.


Ciaran followed in a long line of heirs to the pancake inheritance, heirs who include Jeff, Wendy, Angela, Karen, Suzanne, Matthew and a miriad of friends such as Bernice, Bruce, Martin and Anne and their children, Aliah, Katherine, Donna, Ryan, Trevor, and a host of others, from as far east as Ontario to the far west of Gabriola Island. Last but not least are the children who come to The Gathering Place on Gabriola for Alisha's daily after-school program. I began to spread the legacy of my pancakes among them as well, as they patiently waited for the next pancake to slip from the hot frying pan on to their waiting plates.


During our first years on Gabriola Island, when I was Executive Director of the Chemainus Theatre in Chemainus, "the little town that did," I introduced the entire staff and resident cast members to my pancakes. They too will never forget that breakfast morning. I won all their hearts. Maybe I should have marketed the event as some secret tool for successful management.


When my journey as artist, teacher, poet, author, and pastor, ends on this mortal soil called earth, hopefully there will always be a frying pan somewhere, to guarantee that my secret recipe continues, trusting the legacy of my pancakes will always find a hungry young mouth to feed. But then I wonder, do angels and the saints in heaven expect the legacy to continue when I arrive?

Opa is cool

On the afternoon of Tuesday, October 2, 2001, Haley Joy Anne Jaggard was born to our daughter Angela and her husband Jeff. The bouncing eight pounds eight ounces little girl entered the world in a home birth attended by a professional midwife. Haley now enjoys dual citizenship as both mom and dad are Canadian citizens residing in Colorado Springs, Colorado, USA, where Haley made her grand entrance. Her dad was so proud, he celebrated his blond little beauty in an impromptu email that said, "she's got a nice round head - no conehead!"


The birth of Haley Joy Anne marked the birth of our first grandchild. Alice and I are now officially oma and opa. Both words, oma and opa, are Dutch terms of endearment that date back a long time. Other cultures favour words such as grandfather, grandmother, grandpa, and  grandma, but ours is exclusively oma and opa. Their meaning no doubt originated in the phrases olde pater, or oude vader which translated into "old father, old papa" or simply “opa.” I have not encountered these terms of endearment in any other culture. Therefore I am proud to perpetuate a true Dutch heritage by being opa to my first grandchild. Needless to say, some fathers take less kindly to being called opa, or grandfather, because it is an often painful reminder that they are getting old.


I became an opa at age fifty-six. Alice became oma at age fifty-three. Male and female mid-life crises have come and gone with lingering hot flashes still at inopportune times. Menopause ( a strange term for a woman's physiological transition at mid-life ) or should I say, womanopause, came knocking years ago and has since left. Whatever mid-life transitions I was supposed to have experienced have been somewhat nebulous with no clear manifestations of a beginning and end. My feet ached occasionally especially when I first get out of bed. I was a “few” pounds overweight and sitting and standing from a crouched position on the floor required a bit more effort. However, I still spent much time on my kneews on the floor of my studio creating mixed-media papers and stretching canvasses for my paintings. My mind was still sharp, which I demonstrated by completing twenty-one credits of university studies during the years 1999 to 2001. When I successfully completed my studies I received a Bachelor of Fine Arts Degree. The only thing "rusty" was my handwriting which I had abandoned long ago with the advent of typing and word processing. My hands are used exclusively for fine art drawing and no longer for long-hand writing. I do not contemplate "getting old," nor does the word "retirement" enter my vocabulary. Physically I am in good shape. I have taken an annual complete physical for each and every year after I turned fifty, and all systems have been fine, with no drugs, no alcohol, and no tobacco in my life. Later in 2003, my doctor informed me that my cholesterol was too high. It prompted a complete change in the way I think about and eat food, and with the healthy change came a drop of thirty pounds in weight. Needless to say, the sex drive isn't what it used to be, but perhaps after reaching quota there is no need for it anymore. Robertson Davies, a famous Canadian author, rejoiced over his old age when at age eighty he said that at last he was "free from the tyranny of sex." 


Nevertheless, both Alice and I are still blissfully married, and still deeply in love. After thirty-five years of marriage, since the day we first said "I do" in 1967, we still hold hands as we go into town together, or go out for breakfast on Friday mornings.


For those reasons and more, the word "opa" does not cause alarm nor does it deal a decisive blow to my male ego. As a matter of fact, I have come to understand that my season of harvest has arrived. After some fifty years of sowing and cultivating, I am in the process of reaping a creative harvest I would not have thought possible decades ago. In other words, I am not only proud to be an opa, I am am ready.


In fact, I had a few months of "opa practise" with Ciaran our godchild before Haley was born. Every Tuesday at three in the afternoon, I watched her play in the school playground as she and her friends enjoyed a time of energetic outdoor activity. Then we slowly sauntered to our house just a block away. After a snack and drink we settled down for a wonderful time of playing with Suzanne's old collection of Barbie dolls, or we just snuggled with a video or watched a children's television program. At other times, while Alice prepared supper, we have also spent some time building castles and other things with Matthew's Lego blocks. Many Tuesdays I prepared Ciaran's favourite pancakes. And as I have mentioned before, Alisha dropped in after work to join us for a pancake dinner or help herself to steaming leftovers left on the table for her. Sometimes she stayed to visit a while longer. By around 8 pm it was time to get Ciaran off to bed. Opa gave hugs and kissed goodbye as Ciaran and Alisha left for home. 


Suzanne and Matthew were getting too old for snuggles and kisses.


Just when I thought I would have no one left to snuggle with, along came Ciaran and now a grandchild named Haley Joy Anne. Matthew asked me a couple of years ago not to call him "little big guy" anymore as he entered his teens and therefore no longer required dad's snuggles in front of a favourite video or Star Trek movie Were my snuggling days about to expire the same way my pancake legacy threatened earlier? Fortunately, no! Hopefully there will me many more grandchildren to come, for my snuggling days are not over yet.


Yet, here I am, a real opa and enjoying the prospect of holding Haley in my arms, fussing over her and making pancakes for her, as well as for any other grandchildren we may be blessed with. Friends and their children have always been welcome too.


But there is another aspect of being opa that can be quickly overlooked. That aspect is that I have lived through a journey of some of the greatest technological achievements the world has ever seen. My world in 1945, started and black and white and only years later turned to colour. I am speaking of course metaphorically about television. Not until I was about ten years olf did I ever see a television. As a child I peered through the bushes of a neighbour, the first ones in the entire neighbourhood to have a television. I grew up with “distribution radio,” an early form of cable radio, which amounted to two state-controlled radio signals, Hilversum I and II, which we accessed with a dial on our livingroom wall and a single speaker. Those who could afford it had radio receivers, the old glow vacuum-tube kind. When we moved to Canada in 1958, most homes had black & white television sets. We had to wait another two years before we could afford a small set. When I began my artistic career in 1968, as a businessman and owner of an advertising agency, I wrote all my copy on an Underwood manual typewriter. It was a challenge years later to switch to an electric typewriter. I listened to music on vinyl LP’s ( which means Long Play ). Tapes in the forms of reel-to-reel, 8-track cassettes, and the smaller audio cassettes followed. My favourite camera is still the ol’ Pentax Spotmatic with an assortment of high-quality lenses that all date back to the nineteen- seventies, and can still outperform digital any day. My first computer was a small 264 kb ( that’s one-quarter of a megabite ) with an amber monochrome monitor. But times have changed. Opa has learned to work with Pentium computers and gigabytes, high-speed internet, information technology, digital imaging, CD’s, HDTV, DVD’s, Global Positioning, and yet none can match, mimic, or reproduce, the awesome beauty of a delicate pencil line or the texture and tone of a classical fine art drawing. Technology to accomplish such a masterful feat does as yet not exist.


It’s cool to always be one step ahead of modern technology.


After all, opa is cool!

Church On The Rock
It seemed as if our first six months on Gabriola Island would last forever. We were all caught in some sort of time wharp, soaking in the joy of relaxation and a considerably slower pace of life each day of the week on this northernmost of the gulf islands. The only moments of more frenzied activity were the prayer meetings we had begun in our little cottage on North Road. We gathered to pray as family and friends every Wednesday evening. We were joined by Alice's sister Irene. On Sundays all nine of us got together as a house fellowship in Irene's home at the southern tip of the island, overlooking the Georgia Strait and with the skyline of Vancouver visible on the distant horizon. Irene's husband Bill usually found time to sneak away before we arrived. He disappeared to Windecker's Restaurant at the other end of the island to have coffee with friends. In October of 1993, we were joined by the Vyn family with Martin, Anne and four children, who were also immigrants from Ontario. They parked their huge fifth-wheel trailer and pickup truck in our driveway, hooked an electrical wire and water hose to our cottage, and stayed there until they could find a rental home. Martin and Anne were planning to build their family home on the island, But I have told that story already. Not long after the arrival of Martin and Anne, a few other families joined us for Sunday mornings at Irene's place and not before long, seeds were sown of what would be called Church On The Rock. Alice chose the name. We began our little fellowship as four adults with Alice, Irene, Bernice, and I, and five children including Jeff, Angela, Karen, Suzanne, and Matthew. Along with the Vyn's and other families we soon became a group of eleven adults and sixteen children. I had been ordained since 1991, with the Evangelical Church Alliance, and therefore served as pastor of our small Church On The Rock. It needs to be understood, however, that I never considered myself a "lone ranger" in ministry, nor did I ever think I was "lone pastor" of our small island fellowship. From the day Alice and I founded and opened the doors of our teaching ministry, inaugurated in 1982, as the Christian Communications Centre, I always believed and practised my belief that Alice and I were a team ministry. That did not mean, however, that we did everything together, but a team we were nevertheless. Our respective giftings were in different areas but with plenty of overlap. As a result, in 1995, Alice was also ordained with the Evangelical Church Alliance, during a wonderful ordination ceremony and church service at the community hall on Gabriola. The service was officiated by Rev. Madge Bowes, who along with her husband Norm, had become close friends. They have lived in Victoria and as often as we traveled to BC's capital, we have enjoyed wonderful times of fellowship and comradery.


It was not long after our early beginnings as a church fellowship, when it became very obvious that Irene's place was not only too small, it did not serve a sizeable group of adults and children very well. Not all children sat quietly on chairs, especially when there were vases, plants, curtains, and other vulnerable household and furniture items throughout the home. Therefore, we made plans to find a more suitable facility. A better place was the community centre which had a large auditorium upstairs and a less imposing, smaller meeting room downstairs, complete with kitchens and washrooms. However, the space was being used on Sundays by Jehovah's Witnesses. Instead, we settled for the gymnasium at Gabriola's Elementary School. If the upstairs hall at the community centre was imposing, the gymnasium at the school was cavernous. We managed, however, to set up our chairs and pulpit in a corner of the gym and for about a year the place was our church's home. We had no musicians and no instruments. Our worship time was a cappella, with only our voices as instruments, reminding us very much of what it must have been like in the early church, somewhere around AD 60.



One Sunday morning during the service, while the children played outside, the fire alarm went off. The alarm was so loud in the huge gym, we had to plug our ears. Within minutes the sirens of Gabriola's Emergency Response Unit and the Volunteer Fire Department wailed across the island. We all went outside not quite knowing what to do. As a typical example of bureaucratic red tape, no one could turn the alarm off except official school personel, who of course were not around on Sundays. There was no smoke and no fire. The alarm had been tripped by Matthew who was seven years old at the time. But it was not an act of mischief. In fact, the reason was quite amusing. Matthew was being homeschooled at the time, as were his sisters. He was learning to read and write. That Sunday morning he noticed a big red thing on the wall of the gymnasium and he read the word "Pull." 


So he did!


Amidst a screetch of engines and wailing sirens, a huge yellow firetruck arrived, carrying a crew in full battle gear. The truck was followed by the Fire Chief in his truck, and other response vehicles made up the lively procession. I found Matthew trembling in holy terror while hiding in the bushes beside the school. No doubt he thought he had committed the unforgiveable sin as well as a serious crime, punishable by a long prison sentence. I knew he was not to blame, and I felt for him as terror shook his young body. Determined to quickly turn this whole episode into a positive event, I picked Matthew up and held him tightly in my arms as I explained to him what had happened. When I took him to the front of the school he continued to shake with fear as he saw the firefighters' entourage. No doubt he felt some comfort that his dad was not about to let him go to some musty, dusty jail with spiders and bars of soap for food. Bars of soap were a childhood nightmare of mine as some relative once told me that soap was the official food of Dutch prisons. The Fire Chief, however, was very kind and reassuring as he calmed Matthew down. It turned out to be a good experience after all. It cost us one hundred dollars to turn the alarm off. Love that bureaucracy.


After a year in the school gymnasium, we got word that the Jehovah's Witnesses had shut down their island gathering and the community centre's board were pleased to offer us the space. During a warm autumn Sunday in 1994, we held our first service in the upstairs hall of the community centre. By this time we had one guitar player. Gary was originally from Prince George, who along with his wife Colleen had moved to Gabriola. He played a kinda "down home country" guitar. Yet, upstairs at the community centre was as cold and cavernous as the school gymnasium, so we decided to move downstairs. Dowstairs is not a basement, but more like a ground floor as the community centre is built on a sloping property. Access to downstairs is through large convenient doors along Garland Road where we park our cars on Sunday. We have plenty of windows and the centre's piano was located there. That turned into a real blessing as we soon discovered that our daughter Angela had begun to blossom as a piano player. The space also featured a small kitchen, two large public washrooms, a large pre-school room which we used on Sundays for the children, and last-but-not-least, a state-of-the-art outdoor playground. It was a great arrangement at a price our little fellowship could manage, and at a price infinitely below the cost of owning our own church building. Downstairs at the community hall has been home of Gabriola's Church On The Rock ever since.


One year, we organized a special committee representing the island's five churches. Our task was to organize the design and building of a large sign welcoming residents and visitors to the island's churches. We were given permission to put the sign right along "the big hill" coming from the ferry up North Road. It was one of the first signs visitors and residents saw when they traveled up the big hill towards Gabriola's village centre. The signs suffered occasional vandalism, especially during Halloween. One dark night someone backed a vehicle up to the sign, wrapped a rope or chain around the large sign and toppled the whole thing to the ground. Remarkably, all the island's churches remained standing.


Over the years some one hundred and fifty adults and children have "come through" the Church On The Rock. "Coming through," is in keeping with the island's reputation as a very transient place. Hundreds arrived each year to hide on Gabriola. They hoped to escape whatever physical or emotional peril that threatened them. Many were on welfare. When they realized that after about six months their troubles soon caught up with them, they moved on. This has been our experience in the church as well, except for a core group that remained at about twenty-five people.


Nevertheless, it has been Alice and my belief that our ministry as a church has been to serve the community at large and not just a handful who attended Sunday services or who came to prayer meetings. For that reason, we have remained deeply involved as volunteers in the affairs of the island. Some of our church family still are employed in the community's social services organizations as well. Not only have we served those who attended our fellowship when we gathered for worship, for encouragement and teaching, or when we prayed together and loved one another, we have also served in the community as counselors, youth administrators, volunteers and directors, in areas that involved the needs of many adults and youth in the the arts, business, and community services. In all our public service we have remained strong advocates of the family and sound family values.


Even though Alice assumed the lion's share of pastoral duties in the church, a task to which she has risen with zeal, excellence, and authority, I still enjoy my "co-pastor" status, especially when I teach about the Kingdom of God, and what it means to be led by the Spirit of God. Seeing Alice shine in her giftings as pastor never was a sore point to my male ego, although it took a lot of adjusting particularly in the area of public perceptions. It took a while for people, especially male pastors on Vancouver Island, to stop calling Alice a "pastor's wife," and start calling me a "pastor's husband," a term which still is foreign to the church at large. In a relatively conservative church landscape here on British Columbia's west coast, the church scene is still ruled by a male hierarchy. When Alice attends the annual prayer retreats for Vancouver Island pastors, held at Capernwray Retreat Centre on Thetis Island, she is still one of only two or three women in a male gathering of many pastors. Needless to say, it took the men a long time to quit asking where I was. I believe that finally, after some eight years of retreats, they have accepted Alice as a pastor. Of course, it helps that Alice has always been accompanied by our friend Madge Bowes, who ordained Alice in 1995. Madge continues to be a strong supporter of Alice's ministry.


As I write this account we are just three weeks away from entering our tenth year as Gabriola's Church On The Rock. We also recognized 2002, as the year we celebrated twenty years in ministry. It seems so long ago when we first began teaching God's word and when we opened the doors to our first teaching centre in Mississauga, upstairs in an industrial unit with a food laboratory next door, who on more than one occasions filled our centre with terrible putrid odours of cheese they were "putting through the tests," for various clients. Cheese was the worst of foods they processed. 


It made for some very unusual prayers. 


I will never forget walking through the centre before people arrived, rebuking everything I knew how, just to minimize the pungent odours of cheese-gone-bad.


The Church On the Rock on Gabriola Island suffered no such calamity. 


The only unusual prayers we have had to offer were prayers to rid the hall of partygoers who had bunked down in our fellowship hall, hung-over from the night before as they celebrated upstairs in the community centre. One Sunday we arrived at church to find bikers and their motorcycles downstairs in our space. The bikers were asleep on some couches. I woke them up and invited them to come to church, which I said, "is about to start in ten minutes."


They left as fast as they could push their motorbikes outside.


One Sunday a young girl came to church on her horse, and on another Sunday, Jessica’s dog Toby joined us. Toby once managed to make it to the front, where a few cups of grape juice and some pieces of white bread left over from communion, tempted Toby. He gave in to the temptation but no curse or bolt from heaven struck him down. Some Sundays, Lorraine or John and Jane brought their smaller dogs as well. On other Sundays we have been visited by wasps, crickets, spiders, and other strangers who stumbled into our service thinking it was another community event. Occasionally summer cottagers and visitors have joined us for Sunday services.


But, other than heaters that didn't work at times, or a mess from other activities that never got cleaned up, tapwater that had gone bad and needed to be boiled, and even stranger visitors, we have been a happy lot in our church home.

New beginnings - again

Our move to Gabriola Island became an adventure the likes of which we could not have imagined while living in Ontario. Beyond the obvious changes such as an environment unparalleled anywhere and a lifestyle remarkably different from the fast-paced, hustle and bustle of metropolitan Toronto, our new journey also included a deeper search into the hidden corners of our hearts and the meaning of life. But our deeper search would be from experience and not from books, of which I had many.


I once said to Alice, "I feel as if I came across on a small ferry from Nanaimo to Gabriola only to throw all my books overboard." 


Whatever I had learned about living by faith, trusting God, hearing God, and understanding the Kingdom of God, all seemed so inconsequential to the daily needs of everyday life "on the coast." That is not to say I was tempted to abandon the roots of my faith or give up on a continual study of God's Word. Instead, I found myself drawn even closer and deeper into the mysteries of the Kingdom of God and my place in that Kingdom. Often the truth became painfully obvious. At other times truth was blissfully comforting. My journey and our journey as a family were indeed new beginnings all over again. Slowly the notions of formula faith, religious observances, and pious duty, began to die. Slowly there rose from the ashes a new faith, a new trust in God, and a trust one great religious author once called, "abandonment." I was beginning to learn what it meant to abandon my life to God and yet at the same time enjoy all life's accomplishments and possibilities. Somehow being human was part of the Master's plan for my life, a life I longed to be fulfilling.


I recognized that even an accepted word such as "ministry," a word used generally to describe anyone who feels called to pursue religious activities as a vocation, would acquire new meaning. Even though I thoroughly enjoyed the adventures of traditional ministry, such as teaching, preaching, writing, and counseling, especially when such activities yielded that precious fruit of seeing God move in people's lives, traditional ministry remained robed in traditional definitions complete with its own language of "Christianese." Nevertheless, I had studied for the ministry and was officially and traditionally ordained into the ministry. I have been a recognized member of a ministerial association and my credentials have been authorized by a provincial government which designated me as a “minister of religion.” Short of wearing any physical reminders of my ministry, such as black shirts, clerical collars, and robes, just to name a few, the only telltale sign that I have been in the ministry, has been the study Bible I carried with me whenever I preached or taught. However, our move west brought a new definition to the word ministry as well. Together with the images I had of all those books that were thrown overboard, there also came the abolition of any notions that ministry was a career. I had known that for years but never experienced the liberty of knowing ministry as a wholelistic way of life. In 1996, after fourteen years in ministry, I finally understood that my art was as valid a part of ministry as were traditional religious pursuits. Neither would my art have to conform to any religions canon, doctrinal orders or Christianse. I had been free to preach and teach. Now I was free to draw and paint. Thus began the rebirth of my fine arts as part our ministry. Whether some chose to differentiate between conventional ministry and any other career, in my heart and mind I saw them as one. To hold a Bible in one hand or to hold a pencil or paint brush in the other hand made no difference to God. Either way, the calling was nevertheless a calling to ministry, that is, to serve Him by obeying the leading of His Spirit in order to "minister" to others, which literally means "to meet one's needs." In turn, by ministering in such freedom I would be blessed myself.


My first office on Gabriola was a small commercial space I had rented until our family home complete with a study and a studio were completed. Not long ago I watched a video one of my children had made of our early days on Gabriola Island. The year was 1994, and the occasion was the June visit of my father. I took him on a quick tour of my small office where signs of my shift in understanding traditional ministry were evident. When I looked to the left in my office, I could see most of the space was filled with shelves containing a large library of books on every aspect of faith. A long table sported my closest companions: a computer, a printer, and large volumes of commentaries and dictionaries. Any additional space was occupied by a videoplayer, TV monitor, and cassette player. I was fully equipped to keep abreast of the latest teaching videos and audio tapes. In front of my bookshelves, which stood along the wall looking like some typical "book set" in a television studio complete with large green silk plants, stood a few comfortable chairs, reserved for meetings and counseling sessions. 


However, when I looked right, I could see evidence of my new understanding of ministry. The small area left vacant under an even smaller window became home for a wooden drafting table, a left-over from my advertising agency days. On the drafting table I had begun drawing again, only this time with a different passion. My new passion was to experience a rebirth of drawing. The results were small but rewarding. Eventually, I switched effortlessly from the book side of my office to the fine art side. I will never forget my new-found enthusiasm for fine art as well as my renewed spirit of joy in my ministerial studies. When I began drawing again, I decided the only route to follow would be to draw, draw, and draw some more. In the process, I believed that somehow there would emerge a personal style, a style that would lead to a voice, a voice of my spirit, a voice expressed in fine arts. I plunged into my rebirth of drawing with great zeal. Somehow I felt a great need to fast-track my work because I had some catching-up to do.


Needless to say, voices of opposition soon found unwelcome space in my mind and heart as I doubted my return to fine arts. After all, it was 1993 when we moved to the island and I was forty-eight years old with no plans for yet another career change from ministry to fine art, having experienced such a major change once before in 1982, from business to ministry. But my doubts were groundless if I truly believed the distinction I had made between ministry and art was non-existent.


While these thoughts were cooking in my brain, in February 1994, I traveled to Ghana in West Africa, to teach at a pastors' conference organized specifically for my visit. My topic of teaching was the Kingdom of God, a topic that turned into yet another adventure as some two hundred pastors attended. Besides pastors, I also got to meet many ordinary people, both in Ghana's capital city of Accra and in the villages scattered throughout the countryside. One Sunday I was guest preacher in an open-air church were hundreds gathered under a tin roof and dogs wandered in and out of the sanctuary. In a remote village I met the chief and village elders who escorted me on a tour of the area. I stood in dismal surroundings of what was supposed to be a medical clinic while hundreds of large lizards scurried over the roof, some jumping over my shoulders just inches fom my head. That trip to Ghana shaped me more than I had thought possible as I returned confident and assured my understanding of ministry and art was sound. That same year in November, I traveled to Israel, arriving in Tel Aviv just two days after a bomb exploded on a bus killing twenty-five people. The blast was just two blocks from the hotel I was staying at. I did not preach or teach anywhere. Instead I explored the Israeli countryside visiting tourist and historical places as far north as the border with Lebanon to the southern tip of Israel along the shores of the Dead Sea. Whether as teacher or artist, my mind became a thirsty reservoir for ideas and concepts that would hopefully shape my voice as an artist. Despite the weariness of long-distance travel, endless hours in airports with strange languages and cultures, I returned safely to Gabriola Island, full of zeal for my renewed mission.


Zeal soon turned to despair. 


Within months my whole journey ground to a halt. 


I was out of money.  


We had seen miraculous provisions designated for both Ghana and Israel, but income for the family as well as any attempt to return to fine art, dried up. No sooner had I returned home, when that old battle of finances, that is, the lack thereof, stirred up again. I was back into the thick of a struggle between trust and doubt as to whether I would make it through another year. But, I remained committed, as I had been at that time for some fourteen years, to tell no one of my struggles except God Himself and in discussions and prayers about our finances between just Alice and I.


One day it got so bad, I went to my office-studio and shut the door. I took the phone off the hook. I cried out with a lot of noise and tears. I remembered saying, "God you didn't bring me all the way to Gabriola Island to make me a laughing stock and to create a bad image for your name. After all, Alice and I have chosen to trust only You and let You know our needs, and not use our needs as an opportunity to pressure others into giving. Lord, it has been fourrteen years since we made that decision and the battle still wages. Here we are on Gabriola, a year after our move, and if this is all there is to it, I could have stayed in Ontario." 


I began harbouring thoughts of returning to familiar territory, such as the sights, sounds, and people of my Ontario, a place that had been home for thirty-four years. I longed for family and friends "back home." 


I cried most of the day and into the evening. Finally my eyes were dry enough to go home to our little cabin in the woods along North Road.


It had been a tough day.


There were no voices from the sky nor was there immediate relief from heaven.


Determined not to get too down on myself, I did what I usually do when depression knocked at my door. I withdrew to read a book, glanced through a magazine, skimmed the pages of a newspaper, or wrote in my many journals. This time, however, I decided to investigate an announcement I had read in The Christian Herald, Vancouver Island's Christian newspaper, a publication produced and edited by our friends Norm and Madge Bowes in Victoria. We did not know them at this time but would later when we met them at the Chemainus Theatre. I glanced at the pages of The Christian Herald. Somebody in Alberta had announced the start of a Canadian coalition for the arts and urged all artists of our common faith to become a voice of renewal in the arts. That someone was a complete stranger to me. I became curious as my journey of art was now intertwined with my journey of ministry. A partnership of faith and art seemed plausible to me. I read that an organizational meeting was planned for early spring of 1994, in Calgary. 


I decided to phone and ask for more information. It was then when I met that “someone” on the other end of the line. The phone call turned out to be most informative because one of the chief organizers of the proposed coalition, was a certain Laverne Erickson whom I had never met, but it was he who explained the whole concept to me over the phone. In fact, he personally invited me to come to the organizational meeting in Calgary. I had some doubts, plus Calgary wasn't next door either, and remember, I was broke. I kept all these thoughts to myself except for Alice.


Weeks later, while reading yet another issue of The Christian Herald, Alice brought to my attention that she had read an announcement that this Laverne Erickson would be attending a prayer meeting in a Vancouver Island town called Chemainus at a place called the Chemainus Theatre. I knew the town of Chemainus was about half an hour south of Nanaimo but I had never been there. The Chemainus Theatre was a complete unknown to me. Alice and I agreed that it would be prudent to check this Laverne guy out in Chemainus, rather than risk a major and expensive trip to Calgary. I phoned Laverne Erickson in Alberta and arranged to meet with him after the prayer meeting. The prayer meeting turned out to be friendly and small. However, far from any thoughts of prayer, my mind and eyes were curious as I stared at the opulence of this spectacular venue called the Chemainus Theatre. Someone on my left whispered in my ear, that the man sitting next to Mr.Erickson was Ken Smith, owner of the theatre. When the meeting was finished, I met Laverne for the first time. We shook hands and he introduced me to Ken Smith. Laverne had scheduled the remainder of the day for our meeting. Somehow, as I learned later, he had a strong feeling to give our meeting as much time as it needed. That first meeting seemed so long ago now as I write about it, but it was the answer to my prayer of months before, when I sat crying in my office-studio wondering why I had ever come to British Columbia. 


Laverne Erickson and his brother Tim, were founders of the Rosebud School of the Arts, a one-of-a-kind prairie theatre and school in the middle of nowhere about an hour east of Calgary. The two brothers as well as others at the Rosebud School of the Arts, "had been praying for a person just like me." These were Laverne Erickson's exact words. I was stunned. Me? Yes, they were looking for someone with ministry experience and business experience, especially marketing, to help out at the Chemainus Theatre. When Laverne heard of my fifteen years as owner of a national advertising agency where I managed offices in Toronto and Ottawa, he decided this Gerrit ought to be examined a bit closer. When he learned that in addition to being the owner, I was also the agency’s creative director managing a fulltime staff of nearly thirty and a large number of business accounts, his ears perked up even more. To his delight he discovered that I personally handled many major performing arts clients. I was no stranger to the theatre. In addition to these business years I had the experiences of an additional thirteen years in active ministry. It seemed that God was on the move in my life after all.


Oh yes, I did go to Calgary to attend that conference. However, the focus of that meeting was very much performing arts despite noble efforts to convince me that visual arts would get equal billing. Alice and I spent an afternoon and night in Rosebud and were thoroughly impressed by the people and facilities at the Rosebud School of the Arts, especially their "Opera House" theatre. I declined becoming involved in the arts coalition. A few years later I learned that the coalition had become the Canadian chapter of an American Christian theatre group. No fine arts in other words.


Time does not permit me to tell the entire story of the Chemainus Theatre. Suffice it to say, it began as a vision of one man, Ken Smith, executor of the Oswald Smith Family Foundation. Ken Smith had dreams of an arts school on the coast. When he met the founders of the Rosebud School of the Arts, he proposed that they form a western campus for their prairie theatre and school. In 1993, these visionaries built a multi-million dollar Chemainus Theatre with a state-of-the-art performing arts facility. They hired local staff to operate the theatre. By 1994, management of the theatre was running out of control with huge deficits. Somehow the board of directors had to find a way to curb expenses, trim operations, and nurture a sound spiritual climate alongside sound business and management practises, while the new theatre grew and found its niche in the performing arts world. I felt a real urge to become involved as a volunteer.


Their marketing director was Mike Mulder. We soon became friends and planned and strategized together to oversee the theatre's marketing. Mike would do all the work and I would act in an advisory capacity offering my marketing and advertising experience to the theatre. I had not asked for any contract nor any fees. My only expenses included travel to and from Gabriola and lunch. The marketing department offered to cover my expenses. I agreed and we ate many sumptuous lunches in the theatre's Playbill diningroom - working lunches of course.


Things were really working out. In fact, I had almost forgotten my depression. I may not have been back in Ontario, but I was on familiar ground. Marketing and ministry were in my blood, and my previous marketing expertise turned into a willingness to help the theatre's management.


In the late summer of that year, the board of the theatre offered me the position of Executive Director, a position directly responsible to the board of directors. There would be no other management position above me. Alice and I prayed and I accepted the offer. Mine would be the top position, managing a total staff of about fifty people, including office staff, production staff., and a resident group of actors. My immediate task was a most unpleasant one. I had to restructure the theatre’s management which meant letting a numer of people go. In addition, I had to manage the complete financial overhaul of all budgets to reduce a nearly one million dollar deficit. The theatre had no choice but to agressively plan for a manageable budget amount, and the elimination of debt over a period of years. My contract was for one year. After a year the board asked if I would continue for another year. I agreed.


In addition to the six months I worked with the marketing department before becoming Executive Director, I remained in my management position for two years. During those two years I was tossed to the highest heights and I plunged to the deepest depths of my will and strength. There were miracles of people and productions, budgets and boards. Of immense value was the fact that the Chemainus Theatre journey confirmed my resolution that indeed it was God's way of introducing me be back into the arts - full time.


The family home was completed that same year, including a large spaceous studio. However, with a theatre management contract requiring me to be in Chemainus four out of seven days each week, it was tough to rekindle the fires of drawing, yet I managed to begin the journey back to full time fine arts. Through the theatre I got to know the community education people at Malaspina University College, and as a result was asked to teach a number of evening drawing courses. Somehow I sensed even more exciting times were in store.


But, the two-and-a-half years at the theatre burned me out spiritually, emotionally, and mentally. But they were successful years nevertheless. I liked and respected the team with whom I worked and they liked and respected me. They held a big birthday celebration for me when I turned fifty. The staff hung a huge banner in the theatre's grand lobby, just before showtime. Everyone soon knew I was fifty because that same day it became public knowledge when theatre goers crowded the lobby just before curtains and in full view of the birthday banner. My birthday celebration was also marked by a another special event. My fiftieth birthday coincided with 50th liberation celebrations in the Netherlands. To commemorate the event, I had managed to secure production rights to The Diary of Anne Frank. It would be the theatre's very special production to commemorate fifty years of liberation since World War Two, as well as my personal celebration - fifty years since two Canadian soldiers, Vincent and Leonard, entered our family dwelling in Zwolle, the Netherlands to participate in naming me, Gerrit Vincent Leonard Verstraete. I will never forget the gala opening night of The Diary of Anne Frank. It was an emotional night. The front row of the theatre was filled with war veterans who had been invited as my special guests. When I walked on the stage to welcome everyone, I nearly choked when I saw those veterans. Many wore their service decorations. Fighting back tears, I paid special tribute to the row of liberators in front of me. Some were in wheelchairs. Our production of The Diary of Anne Frank was a first class performance and one of the theatre's best. There were many tears that evening.


While I was Executive Director of the theatre, there were many other memorable and fabulous productions. I introduced each one of them from centre stage to thrilled audiences. Every time I stood in front of the audience on opening night I was equally moved by the knowledge I was standing there by God's grace. The successful results of my management also included balanced budgets, reduced deficits, solid marketing plans, and the accomplishment of nearly all objectives set by me and my staff during my tenure at the theatre.


When it was over, I was fifty years old, burned-out, and very tired.


The theatre’s board and I mutually agreed to let our management contract expire the following year. It was time someone with other talents took charge, especially if those talents included acting. My portfolio of Friday and Saturday drawings was beginning to grow and despite the comforts of an income from my management contract with the theatre, my season in Chemainus was coming to an end. In the summer of 1996, we parted as friends and fellow travelers in the Kingdom of God. They let me keep the 1981 Cadillac I bought as a second car, and for which they had lent me the money. Sure the Caddy was over fifteen years old, but I loved that "livingroom on wheels." I remained my "travel companion" for another four years.


So, I returned to full weeks on Gabriola Island.


Tired and weary I sat in my studio, staring at blank paper.


Alice and I prayed and agreed that this new season, despite weariness and blank paper, would be a new beginning-again in my journey of fine arts, a journey that began in 1964, when I enrolled at the Ontario College of Art & Design. Within weeks the fires of creativity became rekindled with a long and lingering passion for fine art. Only this time it was all part of a greater calling, a calling of art and ministry as one.


Ahead lay a solitary journey of renewal and inspiration as I worked hard to build a substantial body of work. I named my studio Masterpeace Fine Art Studio.


Ahead lay the Masterpeace years.

The Masterpeace Years

Should anyone ever ask or wonder about the studio’s name, my choice of masterpeace instead of masterpiece, was deliberate. I intended a simple play on words to honour the two paths of my creative journey. One path was my passion to create masterpieces of fine art, the other was a path that gave recognition to the Master who had given me so much inner peace on this journey. Had it not been for Him, I would have quit a long time ago.


As I begin to approach the end of this epic and this chronicle of my personal venture, I am aware that en route I have met some incredibly wonderful people, some of whom have become dear friends. The risk of course was, if I mentioned one I would have been compelled to mention all. Doing so meant inevitably forgetting one or more. Therefore to minimize my risk, I have chosen to mention only those who were personally involved in a specific event that I have written about in my story. However, for those who have read this story and who have been my dear friends as well as immediate and extended family, I apologize if I have not mentioned your name. Please rest assured, however, that I have not forgotten you, and you will always occupy a special place in my memories. 


The Masterpeace years are still very fresh in my memory because they began in 1993, even though I did not give it the name Masterpeace until three years later. The account of these years has been carefully chronicled in my extended resume. It remained therefore a daunting task to highlight only those events that would indeed be interesting to those who read this account. Needless to say, these years have been and continue to be very productive. My latest count, in the Fall of 2001, was 210 major drawings, as well as a number of smaller portfolios with as many as 200 drawings. By December 2002 that “body” of work grew to over 1000. I am aware as I write about the Masterpeace years, I need not write in the past tense. After all, when this account is shared with family and friends, I will still be very much in the present tense, drawing and painting in my studio. Therefore I shall continue to write in the present tense.


In addition to my portfolios of drawings, there are a substantial number of sketchbooks each with their own record of drawings that date back to the 1970's and continue right to the present. These sketchbooks contain hundreds of rough sketches completed during Monday evening's life drawing sessions, as well as many smaller sketchbooks full of faces. One such small sketchbook can contain as many as 600 faces, usually the result of quiet hours of coffee, muffins, and observation at Tim Hortons. I call these live snapshots of faces, my "coffeeshop people." My favourite time to sketch is early in the morning, usually on Mondays. After a busy weekend of ministry and family on the island, I need to get off the island. This is quite a regular occurrence, one which I simply ascribe to a natural result from living on a very small island. I will catch either the 5:45 or 6:45 am ferry for the twenty-minute trip from Gabriola Island to Nanaimo. This is a time of day when spectacular sunrises are an almost daily occurrence unless of course it rains or the Georgia Strait is buried in fog. During such an early start I will also make up my mind about what to do with the rest of the day. Some Mondays mean lots of errands. On other Mondays I will head south to Victoria to stock up on art supplies. When I have no errands to run, I will have the whole day to do some concentrated en plein air sketching in Cathedral Forest or down by the waterfont in Pt.Alberni. If the weather promises to be great all day, and the sun sets late, I will head west to Combers Beach in Vancouver Island's Pacific Rim National Park. My other choice on such a fine day is to head north to the Forbidden Plateau and Mt.Washington. If I feel particularly ambitious and in need of a very long drive and major inspiration, I will head to Pt.Hardy on the northern tip of Vancouver Island, or perhaps venture west from Campbell River and visit Gold River, on the Pacific side of Strathcona wilderness park. These off-island day trips, off Gabriola that is, are very necessary for creative flames to remain bright. Gabriola is a very small place and the whole "circle tour" of the island can be driven in forty-five minutes or less. I have seen all of Gabriola's beaches and shores many times, and yes, despite the outcry of some naturalists, it can get boring. Perhaps the reason I need to get off the island is also because I am so close to the island's people. Alice and I are involved with a number of people, pretty well every day.


So, the Masterpeace years are a mixture of en plein air work in my favourite locations, and concentrated studio work. I might add that nothing compares to standing deep in a dark temperate rainforest, among some of the tallest trees, stringiest mosses, and a brooding deep-green canopy that stretches hundreds of feet overhead. All is quiet except for the noises of the forest. Even the scratches of my pen on paper seem like an intrusion. Light filters in spotty patches through the trees to randomly touch the forest floor. Winter months are my favourite when no tourists crowd the pathways and the noise from a nearby highway is very little. My breath hangs like whispy clouds in the air as I keep myself bundled in many layers of clothes and press a woolen hat on my head. When spring begins to warm the air, the forest floor becomes home to one of the bravest species I have known. This is the Western Trillium, whose single-stemmed flowers push through the moist forest floor to briefly bloom in bright green leaves and bright-white flowers touched gently with some shades of lilac and purple. The only other en plein air experience I deeply value, perhaps as much as the temperate forest or Combers Beach, is the times I stand on a flat open prairie, to let the wind reap havoc with paper on a clipboard. I usually abandon any attempt to draw and stick to photography instead. Instead of giant trees that threaten to close me in completely, on the prairies I enjoy the freedom to see forever.


Over the years, my drawings have improved much and three styles have emerged. 


I have also given these styles three names. There are "academy drawings," which are a revival of early Italian and French academies, when discipline and careful structuring of drawings according to classical tradition, were a noble pursuit. There are "renaissance drawings," especially my figurative works, which feature a reddish "sanguine" look so familiar to Italian Renaissance art. The third style is what I call "mixed-media drawings," which range all the way from experimental works to a combination of academy and renaissance drawings created on a variety of special surfaces which I prepare on paper. These surfaces offer a rich texture for drawing from rough to smooth, using paints and inks and a number of techniques to make very interesting paper. This is the "mixed media" part of the drawing. On that mixed media I draw in graphite, colour pencil, and carbon pencil. I am especially fond of the ancient technique of metalpoint drawing, particularly silverpoint, a technique that dates back to the fifteenth century, and a technique I believe I have mastered quite well. Some form of silverpoint, often unseen to the naked eye, appears in many of my drawings.


After a number of years drawing in all three styles, the time had come to consider exhibiting my work and to begin the perilous journey of creating awareness of my fine art drawings. I say "perilous journey," because rejections outnumber acceptance by a huge margin. Details of this part of the journey are written in my essays with the title "Art of the spirit." 


My first exhibition was a group show in 1998, at the Red Gate Gallery on Gabriola Island. That same year I began showing my work in my own studio during the island's annual Thanksgiving weekend gallery and studio tour. Other galleries soon followed: a group show at the Artery Gallery in Nanaimo, the Dales Gallery in Victoria, the Jack & Marilyn Hodgeman Gallery in the Port Theatre in Nanaimo, as well as group shows made available in a variety of exhibition spaces managed by the Gabriola Island Community Arts Council. In October of 2001, I held my first one-man show at the Portfolio Gallery in downtown Vancouver. My work has also been accepted by the Webster Galleries in Calgary, Alberta.


During those years I completed a number of special commissions including "Carlos," a client's favourite yellow lab dog commemorated in a very large drawing, and "The Homecoming," a large drawing that features Christ with His arms around the late Mother Teresa and Diana, the late Princess of Wales, who both "went home" in 1997. The drawing was first exhibited on Gabriola for a week, then for a year in British Columbia's Government House and later in Ontario's Government House. Other commissions include two drawings for a Toronto businessman who keeps thinking of himself as a little boy with a red wagon, pulling his life onward and upward towards greater success. In 1998, I founded the Drawing Society of Canada and was soon joined in this new venture by fellow artist and friend, Peter Leclerc. Since 1997, I have been guest artist at the local art club of Gabriola's Elementary School. I love all those little munchkins as I teach them to draw, especially cartoons. Each January for as many as five weekly sessions from 3 to 4 pm, I am GeeVee, celebrated cartoonist in the Sounder, our island's newspaper, an honour I have held since 1993, and now special guest to a classroom full of grade schoolers who want to learn how to draw.


Oh yes, I did go back to school and through distance learning at the Open University of British Columbia Open I completed my Bachelor of Fine Arts degree. Not bad for a fifty-seven year old. Who knows, maybe God will prepare a way to complete a masters degree as well. And last but not least, my creative output includes a large amount of writings from essays to poetry, from newspaper columns to teaching outlines, and from articles about the Kingdom of God and drawing, to lengthy letters and emails to encourage fellow artists and spiritual so-journers in Canada and overseas.


Awarenes of my artwork also continues to grow through teaching at workshops and special guest-artist invitations. In March of 2000, I was guest lecturer at Acadia University in Wolfville, Nova Scotia, a university where my older brother Beert is department head and classical languages professor. Yes, and unashamedly, family connections do play a significant part in one's life. At Acadia University, I premiered my lecture and slides titled, " In the footsteps of masters." This in turn has led to guest spots with the Federation of Canadian Artists, including a special workshop on actual hands-on studio life drawing in February 2002. I share these accomplishments not so much to boast of my own, but to give credit where credit is due. For years I thought God would only pave and pay my way if I stayed in what is still known as cenventional or traditional ministry. However, on our journey of faith together, Alice and I discovered that God is as interested in art as He is in evangelism. He is as delighted by excellent drawing and painting as He is delighted by excellent preaching and teaching.


On July 1 and Canada Day in 2003, I launched a Canadian first, namely the first-ever online, non-profit, non-retail, educational-only, Gallery of Canadian Drawing Masters.

The Masterpeace years, however, are much more than art. 


They are a journey that comprises a sometimes indistinguishable blend of my adventure on earth and my spiritual journey that is heaven-bound, or Homeward Bound. As much as my time and thoughts are occupied with Alice, my wife and life's companion, my children and grandchildren, my extended family-at-large, my community, my art, and my writings, my time and thoughts are also occupied by matters eternal, especially those spiritual matters that are the fuel of my life and "art of the spirit.". When I ponder my earthly and heavenly adventure, I cannot escape the pressing question of why? Why all this activity on planet earth? Why all this activity in my life? Whenever I consider that question of why, the answer somehow always ends up with a truth that was planted in my heart at birth - the truth of eternity. The answer to why keeps coming back to an eternal spiritual journey that in some way manifests itself in my earthly existence. For that answer I am thankful. As an adult I will remain forever curious like a child wondering how God is going to make it all worth while. Therefore the Masterpeace years are not an isolated series of events, separated from the people I know as family and friends, both past and present. Instead, they are years of fulfillment and years of harvest as I reap the fruits of decades of preparation.


As I sip a steaming fifty-fifty, you may remember those as being half hot chocolate and half international coffee - Kaluah flavour, and I settle into my favourite corner on the livingroom couch, I have reasons to be filled with joy. I have grown accustomed to the view from my spot on the couch, yet it never fails to remind me that things and people change. Through windows along the top of our cathedral ceiling I can see treetops gently waving and so tall they still manage to obscure the sky above. Yet, the view changed when my neighbour cut down his tall trees as a precaution against the next windstorm. The only trees that have ever fallen on my property during a windstorm came from my neighbour's yard. The view has changed. People change. To my left I have a partial view of the forest next to our house, and to my right our giant picture window offers a panoramic view of more tall trees and a bit of sky. Sometimes my neck hurts from looking at the blue sky or when I look at a stormy winter sky, or those briliiant nights when the moon is full. It hurts my neck because much of the view above is hidden by dark trees. At times the view is peaceful and gentle; at times the view is stormy and threatening. Sometimes, during a cold and starry night the sky is filled with blue-green waves of northern lights. Yes, I have reasons to be filled with joy regardless of the weather outside.


Alice has risen to the task of pastor over the years with an anointing that is bright and hopeful to those who submit themselves to her pastoral care. She pastors like she mothers, with infinite patience, profound wisdom, and unconditional love. She remains an encouragement to those men and women who somehow believe life after fifty is a menopausal slide downwards into the dark valleys of uselessness. Some believe blindly that once the kids have left home, all that is left is a decline that soon ends at retirement, with endless hours in shopping malls pushing a walker or being pushed in one. Gabriola Island is home to many retired people. I have not met very many who are truly content with their retirement. For Alice, life after fifty means the kindling of smouldering fires that once dreamed of a centre of hope. The Hope Centre is her retirement which is by choice no retirement at all. My retirement is also a choice not to retire, but to spend all my waking hours in my studio, en plein air, or teaching Biblical truth about the Kingdom of God. While I pause to marvel at my life after fifty, a life that seems to have just begun, I marvel as well at Alice's life after fifty, a life filled with satisfaction and purpose.


Although all of our children deserve many individual chapters just to tell their stories, I shall reserve that epic for the next ambitious writer who will undertake to continue the story of our Verstraete Venture. Jeff continues to map out the journey of his own life, looking for hopeful signs that the season of his creative expression has arrived. Wendy prays and ventures into the realm of faith to believe for answers to so many questions about life and happiness. Both Jeff and Wendy live in Nanaimo. Angela and Jeff were married in 1999, and a short while later moved to Colorado Springs, USA, to set up "home" there. I know one day they'll be back to their favourite spot on the planet, British Columbia. The birth of Haley Joy Anne in 2001, marked a special milestone in their life together. In the summer of 2003, Jeff, Angie and Haley moved to Kelowna, Brityish Columbia. I knew it! Karen and Doug were married in 2002, as they too look forward to experiencing the adventure of a new beginning, an adventure that somehow must find a reasonable path between Karen's artistic desires and pastoral giftings and Doug's technical wizardry. At home Alice "the teacher" still must contend with the challenges of homeschooling Matthew. Suzanne finished highschool in 2002, and attended university for a season. She now lives in Nanaimo as well. For both Suzanne and Matthew, the biggest challenge facing them is how to find happiness as a teen in Nanaimo and on this placid island where the most exciting event is still a siren-driven ambulance run to the ferry. Is Suzanne a mysterious media mugul and video producer waiting to be discovered? Is Matthew the skateboarder he thinks he is or is he really a musician?


And to all the grandchildren as yet unborn, one day you too will have a chapter in a book, as I trust this account of mine will encourage and inspire all my children and grandchildren to add their own contribution to the story of a family called Verstraete. 


When the whole gang assembles around our large diningroom table to savour the taste of yet another turkey dinner, be it Thanksgiving, Christmas, or Easter, joined each time by Dave and Bernice, and Alisha and Ciaran, the closest to "family" we have on Gabriola, I marvel at what God has done. I am humbly mindful He has done much. In the end, it is not so much the story of the Verstraete family that matters as much as the story of what God did in and through the individuals who make up this special family. Alice and I have worked hard at making special times each year a family tradition. In an age when traditions die an agonizing death in a post-modern world, some traditions are worth preserving. These are the family get-togethers at Thanksgiving, at Christmas, and at Easter. These are the times when we all snuggle on the couch and livingroom floor to watch slides. What a hoot to see ourselves when we were little or to see dad's endless slides of ocean waves and sunsets. When I grow impatient or when I am filled with discontent, all I need to do is look at a family picture and thank God for an adventure no money in the world could have bought. Even Wendy's special little friend, her "puppy" Bennie, will always have a place in my heart. He first earned that place when I met him as a little puppy. The bond grew during a lengthy time we looked after him when Wendy returned for a season to Ontario. Alice's sister Irene and her husband Bill in Nanaimo, as well as a cousin named Paul Jager and his family in Sproat Lake just west of Pt.Alberni on Vancouver Island, are the only "blood" family that lives in British Columbia. The rest of Alice's brothers and sisters, as well as my brothers and sisters, are scattered throughout Canada's provinces, primarily Ontario and the Maritimes. One of my sisters and her husband have just moved to Calgary, Alberta. One of Alice's brothers lives in Texas. My older and younger brothers, Beert and Baldwin, faithfully make the trip to British Columbia to visit our island home. None of my sisters have ever visited, even though Alice and I return frequently, at least once a year, to visit them in Ontario. That is partly because I just love to drive and any reason to drive across this fabulous land called Canada, is good enough for me. 

Needless to say, I am partial, however as well, to visits with my special friends in Ontario who are artists. How can I ever forget John and Inge Gould or David Campbell. They have been a real encouragement to me, especially in this remote corner of the country where art is so abundant as mere tourist art. Visits from Alice's family are as infrequent as my sisters with one or two exceptions in a span of over ten years since we moved to the west coast.


There remains, however, an event in the Masterpeace years that bears telling in more detail. The event is my discovery of what I have named "the valley of dry bones." 

The Valley of Dry Bones

As an artist I had reached a point in my life where I found myself standing face to face with a reality of growing older. I was growing older, yet I began to experience a resurgence of creative ambition and artistic achievement that reminded me of my artistic output of the seventies, both commercially and in fine arts, a time when I was much younger. I also found myself on the cutting edge of a renewed and personal spiritual growth, much like the times of personal revival in the early eighties. The year, however, was now 1996. I turned fifty-one that year. I had made a decision just three years earlier to devote more time to fine arts, specifically drawing. It was a decision that eventually turned fulltime. By the year 1996, I had counted over thirty-two years of professional drawing including my four years at the Ontario College of Art & Design. My road to complete freedom in art and drawing journeyed through marriage, responsibilities of a young and growing family, and a career in advertising. In the community I served on many boards and committees ranging from municipal, arts, and political organizations, to many professional associations and even a marriage counseling bureau. My drawings numbered in the thousands. These drawings were a broad collection of magazine layouts, illustrations, brochure designs, corporate images, story-boards for video, film and television, billboards and package designs, and thousands of cartoons for slide presentations. Perhaps one could argue if such a legacy were the equivalent of "collections" or "bodies” of works of art left by masters, but I did not argue the matter. In the collections of masters of yesterday were often many preparatory drawings for commercially solicited works of art just as mine were preparatory drawings for commercially solicited creative works. Many of my commercial sketches were turned into finished products. The only difference was that all my thousands of drawings are gone, thrown out to make room for the finished product. The masters, however, managed to preserve their works. These works now grace the walls and vaults of museums, galleries, and private collections.


At best, those who read this account, can only take my word for it. I created thousands and thousands of drawings over a period of many years after I graduated from art college, from conceptual designs and layouts to “camera-ready” art. Perhaps I was equally naive to think these drawings somehow did not count as valuabe in my creative journey or as a legitimate record of my artistic journey. Looking back, I wish I had kept many of the drawings.

When I turned fifty-one, I looked back and asked myself the question, "when did my creative fine arts journey actually begin?" I asked this question taking into account that the record of my fine arts journey dates back to 1955, but I was thinking more of a fine arts journey after fine arts education. Would I be presumptuous if not downright arrogant to say my real fine arts journey began in 1964, when I enrolled at art college, only to see fine arts interrupted for a season by commercial art? Is commercial art an interruption of fine art? Not really. All art is commercial as in the end every artist hopes, sometimes beyond hope, to be recognized and make a decent living at creating art. No artist makes a deliberate choice to be a starving artist. Every artist wants to be commercial enough to sell a few works to at least put food on the table, a roof over his head, and have some left over to buy more art supplies. Therefore, if both my commercial art and fine arts are all art, then I would like to think my artistic journey began in 1964, when I first enrolled at the Ontario College of Art & Design, presuming formal studies to be a formal start, and not counting the childhood years in Zwolle and Wallaceburg. Others may argue that insufficient evidence or any record of a "body of work" from 1964, to about 1996, pushes the date of my journey to 1996. But I challenge that position because even during the commercial or Folio years, between the time of 1968, the year of my graduation, and 1996, I created a fair number of oil and acrylic paintings as well as many watercolours and some drawings. I may have given too much time to commercial work and not enough time to personal artistic development, because I saw no immediate need to develop a personal style or specific voice in my art, but it was still art. This crisis of artistic identity caused great doubt as to the validity of my creative journey.

There was no one to tell me that I was an artist. Most people, including family and friends, called me a businessman because I owned a national advertising agency. They thought my fine art was just a hobby. I had no mentor to encourage me in fine art. Neither did the church have any true role for fine arts. Art had little value in the overall scheme of things. As one friend once said, “building house, now that’s a real job.” We had been talking about art. Therefore, I threw nearly all my early artwork out. Would that I had kept most of the actual drawings I had completed since 1964. Even the bulk of my student work ended in the trash can - pity. Would that there was better recognition in the world of fine art for my contribution to that unique artform known as advertising and communication. But that is all hindsight. Those years and all that work are gone. All that remains are my memories. Nevertheless, in 1996, it seemed odd to think of myself as an "emerging artist" at age fifty-one. Was it really too late to start all over again? Would my family and the world believe my story of a journey that began long before I turned fifty-one?


Have I squandered my creative abilities, therefore I am now resigned at best, to simply make a few nice drawings in the years that are left? And how many years will there be to create a sizeable portfolio or "body" of original drawings and paintings to affirm my personal experience of a rebirth of drawing, and the art movement I have called pneumaism, which is art of the spirit? Those questions weighed heavy on my conscience as visibility and recognition of my work during 1996, was painfully slow. I did not doubt the skill with which I could draw. After all, I was classically trained and well trained for any work of art. I had been instructed by some of Canada's finest drawing masters. But where would it all end up, on some small island far from the heartbeat of fine arts, especially classical arts? Then one day I discovered a place where I could face the inner turmoil with confidence and hope. I discovered "the valley of dry bones". To understand my discovery, I must explain the name "valley of dry bones."

Over two and a half millennia ago, the ancients spoke of a valley unlike any valley ever known to man. The exact location of that valley was not known, yet the record of its appearance was carefully recorded in the writings of the ancients. The valley of dry bones was first mentioned in writings that date back to about 590 BC.


Ezekiel, one of the ancients of that time long ago, was a prophet who lived along the river Chebar in a village near the town of Nippur, close to the ancient Chaldean capital of Babylon. He was thirty years old when he began his prophetic ministry. He was the first ever to speak of this valley. His account remains a profound spiritual vision seen while "the hand of the Lord was heavy upon him." To keep the valley's location a secret, lest any man or woman would seek its treasure and abandon its true prophetic meaning, Ezekiel did not set out with a map in his hand to discover the valley for himself. Its exact location was immaterial, but its meaning was profound. It was the Spirit of the Lord who took the prophet and brought him out to "set him down in the middle of the valley." When the prophet opened his eyes, there lay before him "The Valley of Dry Bones." As far as the eyes could see, the valley was filled with an endless panorama of scattered bones. Bleached white in the hot sun, millions of bones had drifted together over countless ages. In the middle of this dry valley of bones Ezekiel was asked a most mysterious question, a question whose answer would take five hundred and seventy years to unfold. 


Speaking to the prophet, God, the Ancient of Days, asked, "son of man, can these bones live?" Can these dead bones live? Can something presumed to be dead for thousands of years live again? 

Now I skip to 1996. 

Two thousand five hundred and sixty years after this valley of dry bones was first revealed, I was privileged to gaze upon this mysterious valley. The Spirit of the Lord had not caught me up to carry me there and yes, I did have a map. In fact, there had been many visits to this "valley" between 1994 and 1998. I knew its location simply as Combers Beach in Pacific Rim National Park on the west coast of Vancouver Island, British Columbia.


But I first "saw" the spiritual meaning of this valley in the fall of 1998.


Combers Beach is strewn with huge driftwood logs that lay scattered as far as the eyes can see. All of the logs are a pale grey-white from exposure to the sun. They look very much like a huge graveyard of ancient whales, other creatures of the sea, and dinosaur bones. They are in fact the bleached “bones” of ancient and fallen trees.


It was during one of my visits to Combers Beach, when I recognized it as Ezekiel's valley of dry bones. Therefore, I made up my mind to do as Ezekiel did.


As I stood on top of a very large log, I could see the entire "valley" spread out before me.


I asked myself the question, "can these bones live?" 


Could I at age fifty-one, begin drawing full time and expect a rebirth of drawing in me? Could I use my God-given talents to do what I had dreamed about doing my whole life? Could I believe for a synthesis of both my creative and spiritual journeys to honour the Creator who gave it all to me? Could I really be a voice for the Kingdom of God as an artist? Could I make it to the top and make an impact in the world of fine art? Could my body, soul and spirit, respond to the discipline and loneliness of such a new journey ahead and accomplish such a task of rebirth? Is there really life in my dry bones or should I be content to simply grow old graciously and draw a few nice drawings along the way? How can I share with others my artistic visions in the valley of dry bones? This is more than one artist's journey through the valley of mid-life. This is my journey through the Valley of Dry Bones, and what do I hope to discover in this valley? The questions loomed large and soon they became very intimidating. To date, I have only discovered a small portion of the valley's visions and with only glimpses of their meaning.


I believe that my visions from the valley are the creative efforts of my personal journey through the Valley of Dry Bones. I first discovered Combers Beach on Canada's Pacific west coast in the summer of 1994. After that first visit, Combers Beach became a quest to awaken my artistic desires that have lingered in the shadows for thirty-four years since I first attended the Ontario College of Art & Design. Despite a successful career of commercial application of creative talents as well as a persistent goal to excel in figure drawing, my venture into fine arts remained an elusive one with occasional works that offered a glimpse of distant hopes and fulfillment. Enthusiasm for my artistic venture was renewed in 1994 when I began visiting Combers Beach again and again. But now the time had come when I was able at last to devote full time to drawing. Two years later, in 1996 I discovered that Combers Beach was my Valley of Dry Bones, despite brutal accusations it was too late. The finger of time jabbed into my soul with biting words.


"Could I still excel and succeed in the fine art of drawing at age 51, and overcome all the barriers of such a late start? What could I possibly offer anyone at such a late time in my creative journey? Was it all a nostalgic pipe-dream?"


I wondered if I could truthfully answer the Creator's question of "can these bones live?" 


" Son of man, can these bones live?" He said.


My answer was a feeble, "only you know Lord!"

His question and my answer turned into a resolve to establish one clear objective, and that was to do as the ancient prophet Ezekiel was commanded to do, namely to "speak to the bones". Ezekiel was asked to prophesy over the dry bones and believe for breath to enter those bones that they might live. Ezekiel's challenge became my challenge. My objective became a determination to live and produce art of the spirit in order to fulfill my heart's desire and honour what God has created. My quest would be a revival of my own art with visions from the valley and new life in my dry bones. Many of these visions have become a preoccupation with eternal life and the promise of a heavenly city, a new earth, and a new heaven. In my drawings and paintings I have chosen not to attempt to create icons to symbolize these visions. It is sufficient that my love for drawing and my efforts to draw with excellence, regardless of what I draw, are a voice of my human spirit inspired by the Spirit of God. This is especially true for my specific passion as an artist, namely the drawing of the human figure. In fact, I prayed that such a special journey of drawing would become a celebration of holiness and an escape into beauty in a world and in an age that were growing increasingly darker.


Since 1994 and again in 1996, this journey has become a renewed artistic life in the valley of dry bones, a journey where my age is not a factor. I will draw and paint until God calls me home, and then I'll draw and paint some more in that studio I have reserved next to Michelangelo.


The Masterpeace years leave a great deal of my journey still to be discovered. The prospect of such discovery brings hope and peace, and an excitement in my life I trust will not fade for decades to come. This venture I have undertaken is not without its miracles as well. I have already mentioned some. But there are more. I will never forget the money that arrived miraculously to pay for major dental work, an amount of nearly seven thousand dollars. In 2001, my 1987 GMC Safari minivan suffered a major collision. It was beyond repair. A friend lent us an old truck to last us while we figured out what to do next. We could not do much because we had no money. We had chosen again, as we had chosen so many times during the past twenty years, not to tell anyone our need, other than pray to God. Four weeks later we were given an almost brand-new, 1996, Ford Aerostar XLT minivan.


But was it my life in ministry that secured the new van or was it art?


Can a life of faith, lived by the leading of the Spirit of God, include fine art? Could such a life of faith in ministry and art, include provisions for the Masterpeace years? I believe it can and it has. I am compelled to have the same trust in God whether I draw or paint or preach and teach. 


There is no end to this adventure of faith, as Alice and I have celebrated over thirty-five years of marriage to which can be added an additional three years since we first met. Thirty-eight years, as I write this account, of a very special journey to which much still needs to be added to make this account complete. No doubt, as I re-read and edit this manuscript, I will think of many more stories to tell. Not until 1981, when I was thirty-six years old and Alice thirty-three, did we commit our journey together to God's care, trusting that as the years passed, we would have a good story to tell our children and grandchildren. Needless to say, this is my account, and were Alice to give her account of the events I have written about, it would offer her unique perspective of our journey together. 


There remains a fitting conclusion to this epic venture.


Just when we thought the conventions of life meant a gradual withering away of hopes and dreams, people and places, only to resign to the inevitable spot on some "golden pond" of old age and body parts that no longer work, we discovered a secret.


That secret is the mystery of a mustard seed. Very small when sown into the ground, this insignificant seed of seeds, yields a growth so large, animals and birds find relief from the hot sun under and in the mustard tree's cool branches. Alice and I have spent the major portion of our lives sowing into the lives of other people. These people are our children, our grandchildren, and our extended family and dear friends, as we ministered to them through the church and our teachings. As we see a brilliant sun slowly beginning her majestic descent, the miracle of eternity appears. We are not doomed to old age and forgotten memories. Instead, Alice and I have just begun to live, and the sun has risen once again over the life of our tall mustard tree, now filled with many branches that continue to grow and give comfort to an endless list of children, forever.


This is not a metaphor for whimsical dreams and spiritual flights of fancy. 


This is reality!


Everyone who reads this story has probably been a part of our lives and in some way have therefore shared this journey with us. The thoughts of forever friendships and forever love in a forever family with forever heavenly bodies stirs faith within my spirit and Alice's spirit. This faith fuels the fires of my creativity and feeds the flames of Alice's dreams. 


Can these dry bones live?


Does this journey continue?


Yes! Forever!


I look down and see that Haley has fallen asleep, content to know somehow and somewhere her journey will also be homeward bound.


Some may ask why have I written an account all about me? My answer is not that I am the only one who matters. My account makes it abundantly clear that life is like a tapestry woven together by crossing many strands of fibre with one another. My life is a tapestry into which is woven the strands of many valuable and special people. To them I say, "why not write your own account?" Put all the accounts together and they become a beautiful history of the Verstraete family, woven with the accounts of those I am privileged to know and love, into an eternal masterpiece called the Kingdom of God.

The painter, Théodore Verstraete


During a search of my artistic roots I discovered I had a distant relative, who had become a renowned painter and who created some beautiful drawings as well. He was Théodore Verstraete ( 1851 - 1907 ), a painter in the naturalist style, a style that was overshadowed by the more media-thirsty impressionist movement. My initial discovery was made possible with help of The Rijksbureau voor Kunsthistorische Documentatie ( RKD ) or Netherlands Institute for Art History in The Hague, Netherlands. Further research took me to a publication printed in 1927, titled "Guide to Belgian Museums," published by S.S.d'Editions Commerciales et Industrielles of Antwerp Belgium. I found the guide in a used bookstore and I paid only a few dollars for it. That led me to contact with two Belgian national art academies in Antwerp and Brussels. My search was getting more and more exciting.


The Belgian authorities led me to the renowned American art historian and author Gabriel Weisberg, who had written extensively about Théodore Verstraete in his epic volume, "Beyond Impressionism - The Naturalist Impulse, " published in 1992, by Harry N.Abrams Inc, in New York. The book was out of print but through the internet I tracked down a sole copy. The book distributor wanted $150 US, which I did not have. Then I remembered our valuable library system. I contacted the library at Malaspina University College in Nanaimo and they tracked a copy of the book to the University of Alberta. Through an inter-library loan system I was able to have the book for the entire month of July. What a thrill, especially since the large coffeetable-size book included colour reproductions of his paintings and drawings.


As a result, I have begun a long-distance friendship with Gabriel Weisberg, because the New York publisher had said it would be ok to contact him direct. We thoroughly enjoy our mutually encouraging conversations.


What follows is a brief summary of the life of my new-found, artist relative of yesteryear.


Théodore Verstraete was born in 1851, in the city of Gent, Belgium, and died in Antwerp on January 8, 1907. He was a painter and etcher of realist scenes, concentrating on genre, landscapes and marine subjects. He was a student of the Art Academy in Antwerp. He was influenced by Millet and Corot. He travelled to the Netherlands in 1886 and didn't return to Belgium until 1890. He primarily worked in the city of Kempen in Belgium and was a founding member of the "Société nationale du Champ de Mars" in Paris and of the Societies Les XX" and "De XIII" in Belgium. Théodore Verstraete suffered from mental illness in the last years of his life. His work can be found in Museums in Antwerp, Brussels and Tournay. More information on Théodore Verstraete can be obtained from the Museum of Fine Arts ( Musée des Beaux Arts ) in Brussels and Antwerp.


Théodore Verstraete (or as his name appears on work: Theodor Verstraete) was part of a movement known as Naturalism, a movement that flourished briefly during the last quarter of the nineteenth century. Regrettably many of the naturalist painters were overlooked by collectors and critics who believed that the avant-garde, those artists in total opposition to an academic tradition, came to full ascendancy at the turn of the twentieth century. The movement began in the 1870's, reached its climax at the Paris Exposition Universelle in 1889, and subsided in the early 1890's. Reliance on photographic descriptiveness and reconstruction of reality marked the work of a naturalist painter, while the incursion of Impressionism favoured an emphasis on personal, subjective moods as well as advocating the elimination of academic tradition so that spontaneous creative expression could reign supreme. While the two, Impressionism and Naturalism, positioned for attention in the world of art, another issue emerged, namely that of Modernism. 


The naturalists, in an attempt to remain contemporary, chose themes from daily, ordinary life. These were "slice-of-life" images that froze time as did a photograph. Their images contain the elements of rural life, regional and city peculiarities, combined with excellent figurative genre, all blended into the plight of the common man and woman. Images were carefully constructed and composed from photographs and sketches, and assembled into an overall canvas that looked as if the whole scene had been casually caught on film, a glimpse of life frozen in a moment of time. Many of the people images were carefully posed for a camera in ideal settings such as an all-glass studio, where natural light could be captured without adverse weather and cold marring the creative adventure of the painter.


This was the world in which Théodore Verstraete painted, a world of naturalism that flourished in the Low Countries of Belgium and Holland. Verstraete painted large and striking canvasses that documented the passage of rustic traditions that had been in place for centuries. Stark images of peasants in often melancholy events were underscored in his work by the drudgery of daily life, a village burial, and the strange fatalities of everyday life. Verstraete's canvasses drew supportive comments from French critics. Verstraete maintained a close relationship with works by the painter Raffaelli, who was tempting many Belgian artists with his ties to exhibitions of Les Vingt ( The Twenty ), an avant-garde group in Belgium. 

Verstraete as did Raffaellli, often depicted figures in a desolate, vague terrain, carrying possessions or stooping to pick up rags. This allowed Verstraete to develop a working method that created a symbolic sense of isolation and despair. Throughout the 1890's his canvasses grew increasingly large. One oil on canvas titled: "Le Haleur" ( The Towman ) measured 41 X 85 inches. "Les Souches" ( The Stumps ) measured 59 X 100 inches.


In these works and others, Verstraete again played upon the larger implications of the Naturalist themes, such as a troubling social concern and man's place in the environment. Even though his works displayed precise detail, it is not known whether he was merely responding to current photo-realist influences, fashionable at the time. He knew rural life intimately, drawing his themes from life in Campine, near Antwerp, as well as other locations in the region.


If it had not been for the continuous generosity of his friend Van Cutsem, who provided the artist with a stipend and later paid for his funeral, Verstraete's life would have been considerably more difficult. Occasionally, however, Verstraete did produce canvasses with lighter and more acceptable themes, such as "Spring in Schoore, Zeeland," a painting bathed in gentle colours of an orchard, children and young girls in period costumes picking flowers, as he merged Impressionist sensibilities with an outdoor theme. 


Paintings lacking humour or cheerfulness, however, were the only works Verstraete completed during the 1890's. He had grown increasingly dependent and lived a solitary life. He suffered immensely in his later years, eventually dying of a mental illness that even affected his productivity. Nevertheless, when his canvasses were exhibited in a retrospective at the Cercle Royal Artistique in Antwerp in 1906, his works stood as a reminder of the honest painter he had been. 


Théodore Verstraete retained his own artistic direction, often creating difficult scenes of a life that was more depressing and monotonous than it was filled with "joie the vivre." He was fifty-six when he died in Antwerp. Belgium.


More than any other artists involved in the Naturalist movement, the Belgian painters, of whom Verstraete was one, created a wealth of varied imagery. They were driven by the grim reality of industrialization and the change it forced on its many workers, developing an imagery that effectively captured the misery of the times.

Epilogue

I have written about some of the people and places that have made this Verstraete venture homeward bound a memorable journey. It is summer of 2003, and I have completed the last edit and rewrite of this account. My life remains a journey that to date spans fifty-eight years. On that journey I have lived in the sweltering summers and cold winters of an Ontario town, the hustle and bustle of a big city, and the sedate and temperate climate of a small west coast island. I have tasted this magnificent land called Canada from shore to shore. I have felt my heart beat with excitement and my body tremble with adventure, when I watched the tides of the Bay of Fundy. My spirit soared whenever I touched the shores of Atlantic Canada, whether at a popular artist and tourist haven such as Peggy's Cove, in a fisherman's village miles from Halifax, or on the steep city streets of Saint John, New Brunswick. Places such as Montreal, Quebec's Gatineau Hills, Chateau Montebello on the Ottawa River, the National Capital Region, and a cheese factory in Nepean, flood my soul with warm memories. Ontario was home for forty-five years, a place where the spectacular sunsets over Lake Huron, the history of the Bruce Penninsula and Niagara Escarpment, are etched forever in my conscience. I cannot escape the heart-felt emotions of a young Canada in Niagara-On-The-Lake and behind the walls of Fort George in the shadows of Sir Isaac Brock's statue on Queenston Heights overlooking the Niagara River. In between these places lies a miriad of small towns with brick main streets, rolling farm fields and abandoned silos, ribbons of concrete and pavement that wind through valleys and orchards, and the taste of maple syrop. My eyes begin to fill with tears for reasons I still cannot quite explain, whenever I venture through Algonquin Park or cross north of Superior. 


Maybe it is that deep longing to have run with the Group of Seven, but then I never really was a landscape painter. Yet, I am drawn to the dark cold nights of northern Ontario as I drive through Waubaushene, Parry Sound, Sudbury, Sault.Ste Marie, Wawa, and Thunder Bay, en route to the vast open spaces of our prairies. 


I have stood under the stars that carpeted the night skies over Manitoba, Saskatchewan, and Alberta. I drank from the river of living water as a winter storm tore through the Arctic village of Rankin Inlet and snow heaved in waves from street to street right past the window of my bedroom. The temperature hit minus one hundred with a windchill factor. The next day, a brilliant sun blinded my eyes as I could see forever over the frozen fields of aboriginal dreams. The foothills in Alberta silence my voice, and when I venture into the heartland of the Canadian Rockies, I am awed by majesty and grandeur, as I weep in the presence of God's handiwork. Past rushing streams that tumble over mountainous crevices and the roar of the mighty Fraser, the sweep of a Marble Canyon, the endless terrain of dry near-desert conditions in Cache Creek and Savone, and the lush vineyards of the Okanagan, I finally arrive on the west coast. Places such as Coombs and its goats on a roof, Pt.Alberni and its Steamers Restaurant, Combers Beach and "the valley of dry bones," Campbell River, Mt.Washington and its Alpine meadows, the Forbidden Plateau, Gold River, the limestone caves of Spider Lake, and so much more, have shaped the creative vocabulary of my mind. At last I settle on Gabriola Island amidst hundred-foot trees, Brickyard Beach, and Drumbeg Park, only to discover that no one single place in this great land of ours has ever been truly home. Perhaps that it why I have never been a true landscape artist. 


I feel no attachment to a place and therefore I am not compelled to celebrate its virtues and natural beauty, even though I am deeply moved by both. 


It is said that "home is where the heart it."


My heart is people. My home is people, wherever I find myself on this journey called life. It is they who I celebrate. My passion in my art and life will always focus on people. 


They are the ones who make my place my home. Places without people are a wasteland, suitable only for inevitable depression and loneliness. I celebrate the men, women, and children whose lives have touched my life. Nature pales by comparison to the divine soulscapes that comprise the human family. With names too many to remember, and yet never enough to satisfy a thirsty spirit, I travel my journey amidst a fellowship of people, each a treasure, each a diamond, sometimes in the rough, and other times a brilliant jewel in a crown of divine accomplishment. Within the private rooms of my inner court are engraved the names of people who I am privileged to agape love. Alice, our six children, our grandchildren, a godchild, and friends whose love is so precious, they bring tears to my eyes as their respective journeys tug at the heartstrings of my emotions with memories that stretch far beyond the vast panorama of my homeland. They are my family.


I continue to feel committed to put people back in art and set my goals high, praying to bring hope where there is none, to be a father to the fatherless and husband to the husbandless, a counselor to the weary, and a big hug to the lonely soul. Yes, I am fully aware of the temptation to think of myself as God. It remains a paradox, however, that even though I am not God and I am profoundly aware I am not, He has neverthleless empowered and authorized me to be just like Him. That I do with humility and gratitude. That I do with trust in Him to be my strength when I am weak and comfort when I am rejected. Yet, throughout my journey of life including my artistic journey, I remain motivated and encouraged whenever I look into the faces of all these I have met on my path only to see agape for me in their eyes. What more can I ask for than to be loved by God and loved by those who have become family on this landscape called life?

Epitaph


Early in the afternoon of Friday, February 7, 2003, my father Christiaan Verstraete, passed away peacefully at Sarnia General Hospital. He would have been eighty-three on June 27th. He was born in 1920. Three of my sisters, Lida, Sylvia and Ingrid, were with him to comfort him during his last moments on earth. His final words were, "God be merciful."


He did not suffer in his last moments. He quietly stopped breathing.


The last time I saw my father was during the month of May in 2000, when he came to visit our island home. Some time later he sent me the entire photograph collection of his stay with us. I think he photographed everything he could find. There are pictures of our family home, our children and his grandchildren, Gabriola's natural beauty, the ocean, Nanaimo, our daytrip to Cathedral Forest, Englishman River falls, my studio, and lots and lots of flowers. But sadly there were no pictures of him. He was always behind his favourite camera. Dad loved flowers.


He left us a grand legacy of memories and images, confirmed by thousands and thousands of photographs and endless video footage. He was a gentle giant who chose to walk away from confrontations and conflict. He was a creative man, as master bookbinder and photographer. But, first and foremost he was a loving husband and true family man. Whether in the tough years as immigrant or in the affluent years as businessman, he was proud of his family. For forty-five years he made Canada his home and Canada he truly loved. He was privileged to have visited his adopted homeland from ocean to ocean. He was never one to strive for fame, but he nevertheless would tell you how he felt about many issues, whether of national significance or on a more personal level. He was also a faithful chronicler of The Verstraete Venture, an account he left in his small book by the same title.


To the best of my memory, and many memories there are, I always think of my father as a special man. Our journey as father and son was a mutually loving and encouraging one. My siblings may argue the point, but I believe that deep in his heart he was proud that I was an artist. When I left the business world in 1982, to pursue a calling to ministry, he was never in doubt as to the wisdom of my decision. He once said he loved to hear me preach. Some of his prized possessions were a few audio tapes he kept of the times he could attend the church where I was preaching. One day he made copies of the tapes and sent them to his brother Herman, who was living in the Netherlands. But most of all he loved my studio. When he visited us, I caught him early one morning, all by himself in my studio. The day had barely begun and the coffee was not even brewed, but there he was in my studio. I had shown him where all the portfolios of drawings were. I told him there were hundreds of studio drawings in those portfolios. So, there he was, on the floor, carefully thumbing his way through my artwork. He knew paper like the back of his hand and felt like he was at home amongst all my drawing papers. It was he who introduced me to the famous Dutch Bruinzeel pencils. I still have some left from a quantity he obtained for me from the Netherlands. In typical dad-fashion, he began to tell me what I should also draw and not to restrict myself to just a few subjects. 


One day he tracked down a copy of a book about the Dutch painter Stien Eelsingh, who was also my earliest art teacher. I was five years old when she taught me to draw. He purchased the book from Waanders publishers in Zwolle the city of my birth, and sent it to me. Inside is a label with the words, "to my son Gerrit." I have always been proud to be his son.


He showed a genuine interest in both my artistic and spiritual journey, as well as my family journey, even though he was painfully aware there was not a whole lot he could do to help other than encourage me. And encourage he did - often. He loved Alice's cooking, and even though he may have been "of the old school," where men did the work and women did the cooking, he was sincere and loved whatever Alice created in the kitchen, never failing to give abundant praise for yet another lasagna well done, or some fresh-baked French bread.


My comfort, however, lies in a deep-seated truth that dad is not dead. He left his earthly suit to put on a heavenly garment of praise. He knew Jesus as His Lord and had no doubt about his eternal home. During the last months of his life he prayed every night to be taken home. His last year was not a pleasant one. Confined to a nursing home, he soon became incapable of doing anything. He lost his dignity, his privacy, and his esteem. Then he lost his will to live. Sometimes it made him angry, sometimes depressed, but most of the time he just sat in his chair and laid in his bed. In his heart he longed to see mom.


My father had a strong faith about eternal life. He told me in confidence one day, shortly after mom had died in April 1987, he had visited her grave and heard God speak. My father was not a particularly charismatic man, prone to display spiritual manifestations, nor did me make any claims about "hearing God." But that day he did. As sure and clearly as he could hear a natural voice, he heard the words, "She is not here. She is with me."


It cemented his faith in God and the promise of one day seeing mom again.


That he has this special February day in my life.


It was truly his final homecoming.

As a tribute to my father’s life, I wrote the following article for the February 2003, issue of the Sarnia Observer. The article was called “Adventure of a lifetime, Chris Verstraete 1920 - 2003”


It was forty-five years ago when the S.S.Waterman docked in Quebec City just below a steep riverbank that led to the Plains of Abraham. She was an old converted troop and supply carrier of the Holland-America line, destined for her last trans-Atlantic voyage. Only this time her cargo was neither troops or supplies. She was filled with immigrants who had chosen Canada as their new homeland. Chris Verstraete, his wife Cornelia, and their six children ( a seventh would be born in Canada ), were among the ocean-tossed weary as they stood on deck watching a number of fellow passengers leave the ship. Chris would have to wait until Montreal and last stop of the S.S.Waterman. At last, about eight days after the ship left the Dutch port of Rotterdam, Chris and family touched terra firma, only to be whisked on to a bumpy train with just minutes to spare for a quick lunch of cheese, butter, bread and fruit, in a sunny downtown Montreal park. In his suitcase Chris carried a homemade passport to an adventure of a lifetime. 


For years he had meticulously collected all sorts of brochures about Canada. John Diefenbaker's Conservatives were equally eager to send Chris a deluge of printed matter with endless promises of towering Rockies, "big-sky" prairies, bountiful farmlands, magnificent cities, and nature's grand panorama that would sweep Chris off his feet for the rest of his life. Every picture was carefully pasted into a massive scrapbook. But then that was his profession. My father was a master bookbinder, trained in the old European tradition. He spent many hours dreaming about steep mountains, majestic headlands, tumbling waterfalls, raging rivers, natives in colourful dress, mounted police in scarlet, and a never-ending entourage of bears, cougars, deer and buffalo. Chris finally made it to Ontario, Wallaceburg that is. I believe he was as shocked as I was when he first laid eyes on southern Ontario's flatlands. Had he missed a page in his scrapbook?


Nevertheless, he set his heart and mind to creating a new life for his family. Despite formidable immigrant years with as many tears of anguish as tears of joy, he succeeded in making his adventure a living reality. He founded the Wallaceburg Bookbinding and Manufacturing Company, but in the late sixties he sold the business and moved to Point Edward to pursue the finer arts of hand-bookbinding. He called it Admiral Bookbinding, and soon he became a household word in the production and management offices of Sarnia's petrochemical industry. Those who bought his handsome presentation binders and commissioned him to master-bind years of industry periodicals will never forget him. He was an artist and a professional in every aspect of his craft. Yet, he always found time to bind an old Bible, a family heirloom, or some prized poetry collection, for whoever visited him in his workshop. Point Edward and Sarnia were his home. In 1978, he convinced me, the other artist in the family, to design Point Edward's official coat-of-arms, to celebrate the municipality's centennial. I was honoured when the design was accepted in a special ceremony.


Glimpses of his adventure of a lifetime soon became thousands upon thousands of images captured on film and video. You may have seen this tall and handsome gentleman and his camera searching for pictures along the waterfront, in orchards and gardens, and at "the point," where despite temptations of hot and zesty fries, he managed some spectacular photographs of the river and great-lake carriers as they passed under the bridge. But most of all he loved flowers. From east to west and coast to coast, he froze in time a myriad of bright and beautiful flowers, some of the cultured kind, others the endless wild kind that spread over the land like a carpet. He gave me an album full of Gabriola Island's wildflowers that he had photographed on a recent visit. Chris loved Canada and the adventure of his lifetime was filled with images of Cornelia, his three sons and four daughters, grandchildren, his Sarnia, and his Canada. One day he mounted a steel bracket on the dash of his van just so he could fasten a videocamera and tape everything he could see on his many drives, some as far away as California. Mind you, it can get a bit boring when all you see is swish swish of windshield wipers trying to maintain a clear vision during heavy rains. But that was Chris. He was never daunted by an opportunity to capture another precious moment on film.


However, his adventure of a lifetime took a final turn on February 7, 2003. Cornelia had preceded him sixteen years earlier, but now at age eighty-two, it was his turn. He left peacefully while his daughters held his hands. Imagine the grand heavenly panorama of what is now home for Chris. What a "photo-op!"

postscript 
On April 21, 2005, after sixty years of searching, I discovered one of my liberators, Leonard Clampitt, was alive and well and also living in British Columbia.

I was shaking all over, as I was about to make the call and hear my liberator’s voice for the first time. But any nervousness was needless. When the voice of the 82 year old former member of the Canadian 6th Field Company of Engineers, answered the phone, it soon became a wonderful conversation, a promise to meet soon, and for me, the most unexpected birthday present ever, and all just days after my 60th birthday. Details of the background to this story are told earlier in “The honourary war baby.” ( page 14 ).

On April 21, just days after my 60th birthday, I got call from my brother in Toronto. He had spoken with Albert Vanderheide, publisher of the Windmill Herald, in British Columbia. Albert Vanderheide was planning a special Liberation edition of the Windmill Herald including my story, first published in 1985 in a book by Albert Vander Mey,  titled “When a neighbor came calling” ( Paideia Press, Jordan Station, Ontario ). Miraculously, a few phone calls later, he discovered Leonard Clampitt was living right here in Langley, in the Fraser Valley just east of Vancouver. And so this unique story ends sixty years after it began and continues as I proudly wear the names of two Canadian liberators, Vincent Southrow and Leonard Clampitt.


On Tuesday April 25, a feature story by Doug Ward appeared in the Westcoast Section of the Vancouver Sun, complete with a big colourful photograph of me in front of one of my large abstract paintings, and a black & white photograph of my older brother Beert and I, taken in Zwolle in 1949. I was 4 years old.


The headline in the Vancouver Sun read: “Finding namesake a liberating event. Gerrit Verstraete finally gets to meet a Canadian soldier he was named after in Holland in 1945.”

A revised article by staff writer Bruce Mason and photograph also appeared on May 5, 2005, in our local Gabriola Island weekly newspaper, the Sounder.
Appendix: the immediate family:

Christiaan Verstraete ( born Zwolle, Netherlands, June 27, 1920 - died Sarnia, Canada, February 7, 2003 ). He married Cornelia Van Dam ( born Gouda, Netherlands, March 11, 1918 - died, Sarnia, Canada, April 9, 1987 ). They immigrated to Canada in June 1958.

Their seven Children:

1. Beert Christiaan ( born Zwolle, Netherlands, April 2, 1944 )

2. Gerrit Vincent Leonard ( born Zwolle, Netherlands, April 15, 1945 )


married Alice Koops ( born Zaandam, Netherlands, June 26, 1948 )


Their six Children:


1. Jeffrey Lyon ( born Toronto, Canada, November 7, 1969 )


2. Wendy Caroline ( born Oakville, Ontario, February 6, 1972 )


3. Angela Miriam ( born Oakville, Ontario, July 8, 1976 )



married Jeffrey Jaggard on July 31, 1999. 



Haley Joy Anne, born October 2, 2001


4. Karen Elizabeth ( born, Oakville, Ontario, September 19, 1979 )



married Doug Jordan, February 23, 2002


5. Suzanne Cornelia ( born Mississauga, Ontario, December 4, 1984 )


6. Matthew James ( born Mississauga, Ontario, January 26, 1987 )

3. Aleida ( Lida ) Anneke ( born Zwolle, Netherlands, May 9, 1946 )


Two children: Julia Christine and Mary Lisa

4. Boudewijn ( Baldwin ) Alexander ( born Zwolle, Netherlands, July 4, 1947 )


Married Lucy Gabrielle Munneke. Three children: Chris, Leanne, and Danielle

5. Adriana ( Annelies ) Elisabeth ( born Zwolle, Netherlands, March 16, 1949 )


Married Jack Wallace. Two children: Jason, Jennifer

6. Sylvia ( born Zwolle, Netherlands, April 3, 1951 )


Married Don Rose. Three children: Shawnda, Lindsay, and William

7. Ingrid Caroline ( born Wallaceburg, Canada, November 22, 1960 )


Married Marvin Banninga. Two children: Ryanne, Alyssa
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Other personal poetry and writings:


Poetry:


1976, Coach House Press, published a poem titled "The Argument," in a book titled "This

 
Is My Best"


1976, The Yearbook of Modern Poetry ( Young Publications, Knoxville, Tennessee ) 
published three of Gerrit's poems


1977, Quarry Magazine ( Kingston, Ontario, Vol.26, No.3 ) published "The Groundhog 
and the Eagle. "

1980,  Gerrit Verstraete published a selection of 30 of his poems in an anthology titled 
"Mid-Seventies Crisis," ( Admiral Press, Point Edward, Ontario )


1998, In Search of The City, an epic poem by Gerrit Verstraete, begun August 8, 1998


1999,  His poem "The City of Tomorrow " was published in "Island Impressions - 
Anthology of Verse" ( published by the Poetry Institute of Canada, Victoria, BC. )


2002, My poem, "The Western Trillium," was published in "Today's Famous Poems - On 
the Wings of Pegasus," Famous Poems Society, 2002, USA.
Writings:


Future Watch, by Gerrit Verstraete, a regular column on spiritual matters in the Gabriola 
Sounder newspaper, from 1993 - present


Island Time, by GeeVee, a regular cartoon featuring island life and politics by Gerrit

 
Verstraete, in the Gabriola Sounder newspaper, from 1993 - present


Art of the Spirit, a collection of essays by Gerrit Verstraete, on art and the drawings of

 
Gerrit Verstraete AOCA, BFA, Volume One, 1997 - 2001, Volume Two, 2001 - present


Art, Spirituality, and other Kingdom writings, by Gerrit Verstraete, 1999, including a

 
number of Gabriola Sounder newspaper columns begun in January 2000.


The Kingdom of God - a collection of writings from 1986 to 2003

Bottega - the official journal and newsletter of the Drawing Society of Canada, in which appear articles by Gerrit Verstraete about art.

Other writings and personal details about my creative journey can be viewed on two webpages. One is for my pesonal studio, Masterpeace Fine Art Studio at www.gverstraete.com and the other is in the files of the Drawing Society of Canada and the Gallery of Canadian Drawing Masters at www.drawingsociety.com and with Alice and my personal email address gverstraete@shaw.ca
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